
 TOWN OF FLORENCE 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 
Mayor Tara Walter 
Vice-Mayor John Anderson 
Councilmember Bill Hawkins 
Councilmember Karen Wall 
Councilmember Kristen Larsen 
Councilmember Michelle Cordes 
Councilmember Judy Hughes 
 
 
Monday, May 6, 2019 
 

Florence Town Hall
775 N. Main Street

Florence, AZ 85132
(520) 868-7500

www.florenceaz.gov
Meet 1st and 3rd Mondays

5:00 PM

____________________________________________________________________________ 
Pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the Town of Florence Council and to 
the general public that a Regular Meeting of the Florence Town Council will be held on Monday, 
May 6, 2019, at 5:00 p.m., in the Florence Town Council Chambers, located at 775 N. Main Street, 
Florence, Arizona.  The agenda for this meeting is as follows:    
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
2. ROLL CALL:     Tara Walter __, John Anderson__, Bill Hawkins__, Karen Wall____, 

Kristen Larsen___, Michelle Cordes__, Judy Hughes ___. 
     

3. WORK SESSION ON THE 2012 TECHNICAL CODES 
 

4. MOMENT OF SILENCE 
 

5. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

6. CALL TO THE PUBLIC Call to the Public for public comment on issues within the jurisdiction 
of the Town Council.  Council rules limit public comment to three minutes.  Individual 
Councilmembers may respond to criticism made by those commenting, may ask staff to review 
a matter raised or may ask that a matter be put on a future agenda.  However, members of 
the Council shall not discuss or take action on any matter during an open call to the public 
unless the matters are properly noticed for discussion and legal action. 
   

7. PUBLIC HEARING AND PRESENTATION 
 

a. Public hearing on an application received from Kevin Arnold Kramber, Green Tree Inn & 
Suites, located at 240 W. Highway 287, Florence, Arizona, for a new motel/hotel liquor 
license and for Council recommendation for approval or disapproval of said license. (Lisa 
Garcia)  
 

b. Proclamation of Appreciation issued for exceptional service to the Town of Florence. 
(Mayor Walter)  

 

mariah
Highlight



c. Proclaim May 6 – 11, 2019 as the 50th Anniversary of Municipal Clerk’s Week. (Mayor 
Walter) 
 

d. Presentation on the design concept report for roundabout improvements to State Route 
287 and State Route 79B and Discussion/Approval/Disapproval to enter into Amendment 
No. 1 to the Intergovernmental Agreement, JPA/IGA 12-541, A.G. Contract No 
P0012012001857, with the Arizona Department of Transportation, for proposed design, 
right-of-way acquisition and construction of a roundabout at State Route (SR) 287 and SR 
79B (CIP T-14). (Chris Salas) 

   
8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

a. Ordinance No. 672-19: Second reading and Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of AN 
ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING 
TITLE XV – LAND USAGE, CHAPTER 150 AMENDING, SECTIONS § 150.280(C) (D) (G) 
(H) and (K), ADOPTING NEW IMPACT FEES PURSUANT TO ASSUMPTION AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENT PLAN, ADOPTED ON JANUARY 7, 2019, BY 
APPROVING RESOLUTION NO. 1685-19. (First Reading done on March 18, 2019) (Lisa 
Garcia) 
 

b. Resolution  No. 1693-19:   Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of A RESOLUTION OF THE 
TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, DECLARING AS A PUBLIC 
RECORD CERTAIN TECHNICAL CODE DOCUMENTS FILED WITH THE TOWN CLERK 
AND ENTITLED “2012 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL 
EXISTING BUILDING CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE”, “2012 
INTERNATIONAL FUEL GAS CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL CODE”, 
“2012 INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY 
MAINTENANCE CODE”,   “2012 INTERNATIONAL RESIDENTIAL CODE”, “2012 
INTERNATIONAL SWIMMING POOL AND SPA CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL 
ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE” “2011 NATIONAL ELECTRIC CODE”, AND THE 
2009 “ACCESSIBLE AND USABLE BUILDINGS & FACILITIES CODE”. (Lisa Garcia) 
 

c. Ordinance No.  674-19: Second reading and Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of AN 
ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA ADOPTING 
THE FOLLOWING PUBLICATIONS WITH APPENDICES AND TOWN OF FLORENCE 
AMENDMENTS, AS LISTED HEREIN, ARE ADOPTED BY REFERENCE. REGULATING 
AND GOVERNING THE CONDITIONS AND MAINTENANCE OF ALL PROPERTY, 
BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES; BY PROVIDING THE STANDARDS FOR SUPPLIED 
UTILITIES AND FACILITIES AND OTHER PHYSICAL THINGS AND CONDITIONS 
ESSENTIAL TO ENSURE THAT STRUCTURES ARE SAFE, SANITARY AND FIT FOR 
OCCUPATION AND USE; AND CONDEMNATION OF BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES 
UNFIT FOR HUMAN OCCUPANCY AND USE AND DEMOLITION OF SUCH 
STRUCTURES IN THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA; PROVIDING FOR THE 
ISSUANCE OF PERMITS AND COLLECTION OF FEES THEREFORE; REPEALING 
SECTION 150.300 OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES AND ALL 
OTHER ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF LAWS IN CONFLICT THEREWITH. (First reading 
done on April 15, 2019) (Lisa Garcia)  
 

d. Ordinance No. 675-19: Second reading and Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of AN 
ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING 

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight



THE TOWN OF FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES BY MODIFYING SECTION 
150.301; TITLED BOARD OF APPEALS; BY INSERTING NEW TEXT AS UNDERLINED 
AND DELETING TEXT BY STRIKETHROUGH. (First reading done on April 15, 2019) (Lisa 
Garcia) 
 

e. Ordinance No. 673-19: Second reading and Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of AN 
ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING 
THE CODE OF ORDINANCE, ARIZONA, TITLE XI  BUSINESS REGULATIONS, BY 
ADOPTING A NEW CHAPTER 111 RELATING TO THE REGULATION OF MOBILE 
FOOD VENDORS; ESTABLISHING A PURPOSE; SETTING FORTH DEFINITIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR PERMIT REQUIREMENTS; ESTABLISHING OPERATIONAL 
REQUIREMENTS; IMPOSING FEES; SETTING FORTH VIOLATIONS; ESTABLISHING 
PENALTIES; AND SETTING FORTH AN EFFECTIVE DATE. (First reading done on April 
15, 2019) (Lisa Garcia) 

 
9. CONSENT: All items on the consent agenda will be handled by a single vote as part of 

the consent agenda, unless a Councilmember or a member of the public objects at the 
time the agenda item is called.  
 
a. Resolution No.  1697-19:  Approval of A RESOLUTION OF TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL 

COUNTY, ARIZONA, APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING MAYOR TARA WALTER, 
TOWN MANAGER BRENT BILLINGSLEY, AND FINANCE DIRECTOR REY SANCHEZ 
TO ACT AS SIGNATORIES FOR THE TRANSACTION OF BUSINESS ON THE TOWN 
OF FLORENCE BANKING ACCOUNTS, AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. (Lisa 
Garcia) 
 

b. Approval to enter into a contract with Continental Flooring Company to purchase flooring 
for needed replacements at the Senior Center, Town Hall-Administration, Fitness Center, 
Fire Station No. 1 Day and Dormitory Rooms using the Mohave Contract No. 15S-CFC-
0415, in an amount not to exceed $50,059.64, which includes a 10% contingency. (Chris 
Salas) 

 
c. Approval and ratification of the intervention and filing of an Application to Intervene by the 

Town of Florence (the “Application”) in proceedings before the Arizona Corporation 
Commission (ACC) (Docket No. WS-02987A-18-0329; Docket No. WS-02987A-99-0583; 
Docket No. W-02234A-00-0371; Docket No. WS-02987A-00-0618; Docket No. W-02859A-
00-0774; Docket No. W-01395A-00-0784; Docket No. WS-02987A-06-0077; Docket No. 
WS-02987A-12-0136) (the “ACC regulatory proceedings”) involving Johnson Utilities, 
L.L.C. and adding the Town of Florence as a party in the ACC regulatory proceedings, 
including the authorization for the Mayor, the Town Manager, the Attorneys for the Town 
and other officers of the Town, on behalf of the Town, are authorized and directed, without 
further order of the Mayor and Council of the Town, to do all such acts and things, including 
the full prosecution of appeals, and to execute, file and deliver all such notices, certificates, 
filings, pleadings, correspondence, proceedings, agreements and other documents as may 
be necessary or convenient to be executed, filed and delivered on behalf of the Town, to 
evidence compliance with, or further the purposes of, all the terms and conditions of this 
approval and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by, and may be 
necessary to carry out the terms and intent of this approval. (Clifford Mattice)  

 

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight



d. Adoption of an Interagency agreement between the Town of Florence Police Department 
and the Host Agency for our participation and response to call outs with the Arizona Child 
Abduction Response Team.  (Dan Hughes)   
 

e. Approval of accepting the register of demands ending March 31, 2019, in the amount of 
$2,658,857.05. (Rebecca Jimenez) 

 
10. NEW BUSINESS  

a. Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of Fiscal Year 2019-2020 Employee Benefit Program 
with United Healthcare of Arizona for medical, dental, life and vision insurance; Teladoc for 
24/7 physician access benefits; Jorgensen Brooks Group for Employee Assistance 
Program; AFLAC for supplemental insurance products; and Infinisource to administer our 
Section 125 Flexible Benefit Account Plan. (Scott Barber) 
 

b. Discussion/Approval/Disapproval to enter into a contract with Regional Pavement 
Maintenance of Arizona, Inc., to mill and replace 2.5” R12 asphalt for CIP T-69 Pavement 
Preservation, for the amount not to exceed amount $1,339,285.31 under Job Order 
Contract (JOC) 2014-007 for the City of Buckeye. (Chris Salas) 
 

c. Ratification and acceptance to Apache Underground Contract for the installation of valves, 
fire hydrants, tapping sleeves, concrete encased sewer and for replacement of curb, 
sidewalk and asphalt as necessary, in an amount not to exceed $721,008.11 for CIP WU-
83 Downtown 12” Loop. (Chris Salas)   
 

d. Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of entering into an Associated Partner Agreement with 
Electrum Foundation.  (Brent Billingsley)  

 
e. Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of the removal of Kendra Johnson from the Florence 

Youth Commission.  (Lisa Garcia) 
 

11. LEGISLATIVE UPDATE 
 
12. MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

13. DEPARTMENT REPORTS   

a. Community Development  
b. Community Services 
c. Finance 
d. Fire 
e. Police 
f. Public Works 

 
14. CALL TO THE PUBLIC  
 

15. CALL TO THE COUNCIL – CURRENT EVENTS ONLY 
 
 
 

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight



 
16. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Council may go into Executive Session at any time during the meeting for the purpose of obtaining 
legal advice from the Town’s Attorney(s) on any of the agenda items pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-
431.03(A)(3).  One or more members of Council may appear for part or all of the meeting including 
Executive Session telephonically.  
 
POSTED ON MAY 2, 2019, BY MARIA HERNANDEZ, DEPUTY TOWN CLERK, AT 775 NORTH 
MAIN STREET, FLORENCE, ARIZONA, AND AT WWW.FLORENCEAZ.GOV. 
 
***PURSUANT TO TITLE II OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA), THE 
TOWN OF FLORENCE DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF DISABILITY 
REGARDING ADMISSION TO PUBLIC MEETINGS.  PERSONS WITH A DISABILITY MAY 
REQUEST REASONABLE ACCOMMODATIONS BY CONTACTING THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE ADA COORDINATOR, AT (520) 868-7574 OR (520) 868-7502 TDD. REQUESTS 
SHOULD BE MADE AS EARLY AS POSSIBLE TO ALLOW TIME TO ARRANGE THE 
ACCOMMODATION.***  



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
7a.  

MEETING DATE:  May 6, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Administration 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town 
Manager/Town Clerk 
 
SUBJECT: Green Tree Liquor License Application   
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  
Subject:  Green Tree Inn & Suites Liquor License  Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 1 

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Hold a public hearing on an application received from Kevin Arnold Kramber, Green Tree 
Inn & Suites, located at 240 W. Highway 287, Florence, Arizona, for a new motel/hotel 
liquor license and for Council recommendation for approval or disapproval of said license. 
(Lisa Garcia)  
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
The Town received an application for a 011 Hotel/Motel liquor license.   The application 
was posted on site for 20 days.  No comments were received by the public during this 
period.  
 

4-205.01. Hotel-motel license; issuance; revocation 

A. The director may issue a hotel-motel license to any hotel or motel in this state that has 
in conjunction with such hotel or motel a restaurant where food is served. 

B. The director shall issue the license in the name of the hotel or motel upon application 
for the license by the owner or lessee of the motel or hotel, provided the applicant is 
otherwise qualified to hold a spirituous liquor license. The holder of such license is subject 
to the penalties prescribed for any violation of the law relating to alcoholic beverages. 

C. The holder of a hotel-motel license may sell and serve spirituous liquors solely for 
consumption on the licensed premises. For the purpose of this subsection, "licensed 



Subject:  Green Tree Inn & Suites Liquor License  Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 2 

premises" shall include all public and private rooms, facilities and areas in which 
spirituous liquors may be sold or served in the normal operating procedures of the hotel 
or motel. 

D. In addition to other grounds prescribed in this title upon which a license may be 
revoked, the director may revoke a hotel-motel license issued pursuant to this section in 
any case in which the licensee ceases to operate as a hotel or motel, as prescribed in 
subsection A of this section. 

E. For the purposes of this section, the licensee shall be subject to the standards and 
qualifications of a restaurant licensee as provided in section 4-205.02. If an independent 
person or entity manages and supervises the sale and service of spirituous liquor at the 
premises pursuant to section 4-243.04, subsection A, paragraph 3, the person or entity 
may contract with the owner of the premises to sell and serve food on the premises. For 
the purpose of determining whether forty per cent of the licensee's gross revenues are 
derived from the sale of food, sales of food made by the owner of the premises are 
deemed sales of food made by the licensee.  

 
A.R.S. §4-207: Restrictions on licensed premises near school or church buildings: 
definitions 
 

A. A retailer's license shall not be issued for any premises that are, at the time the 
license application is received by the director, within three hundred horizontal feet 
of a church, within three hundred horizontal feet of a public or private school 
building with kindergarten programs or any of grades one through twelve or within 
three hundred horizontal feet of a fenced recreational area adjacent to such school 
building. This section does not prohibit the renewal of a valid license issued 
pursuant to this title if, on the date that the original application for the license is 
filed, the premises were not within three hundred horizontal feet of a church, within 
three hundred horizontal feet of a public or private school building with 
kindergarten programs or any of grades one through twelve or within three hundred 
horizontal feet of a fenced recreational area adjacent to such school building. 

B. Subsection A of this section does not apply to a: 

1. Restaurant issued a license pursuant to section 4-205.02, subject to the 
limitations in section 4-205.02, subsection H for a permit allowing for the 
sale of beer for consumption off of the licensed premises pursuant to section 
4-244, paragraph 32, subdivision (c). 

2. Special event license issued pursuant to section 4-203.02. 

3. Hotel-motel issued a license pursuant to section 4-205.01. 

4. Government license issued pursuant to section 4-205.03. 

5. Playing area of a golf course issued a license pursuant to this article. 



Subject:  Green Tree Inn & Suites Liquor License  Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 3 

6. A beer and wine license at a not-for-profit performing arts theatre with a 
permanent seating capacity of at least two hundred fifty persons. 

C. Notwithstanding subsection A of this section 

1. A transferrable spirituous liquor license that is validly issued and that is, on 
the date an application for a transfer is filed, within three hundred horizontal 
feet of a church, within three hundred horizontal feet of a public or private 
school building with kindergarten programs or any of grades one through 
twelve or within three hundred horizontal feet of a fenced recreational area 
adjacent to such school building may be transferred person to person 
pursuant to sections 4-201, 4-202 and 4-203 and remains in full force until 
the license is terminated in any manner, unless renewed pursuant to section 
4-209, subsection A. 

2. A person may be issued a spirituous liquor license pursuant to sections 4 
201, 4 202 and 4 203 of the same class for premises that on the date the 
application is filed, have a valid transferable or nontransferable license of 
the same series if the premises are, on the date an application for such 
license is filed, within three hundred horizontal feet of a church, within three 
hundred horizontal feet of a public or private school building with 
kindergarten programs or any of grades one through twelve or within three 
hundred horizontal feet of a fenced recreational area adjacent to such 
school building and the license remains in full force until the license is 
terminated in any manner, unless renewed pursuant to section 4 209, 
subsection A. 

3. A person may be issued a liquor store license pursuant to sections 4-201, 
4-202, 4-203 and 4-206.01 for premises that have a beer and wine store 
license validly issued if the premises, on the date an application for such 
license is filed, are within three hundred horizontal feet of a church, within 
three hundred horizontal feet of a public or private school building with 
kindergarten programs or any of grades one through twelve or within three 
hundred horizontal feet of a fenced recreational area adjacent to such 
school building and the license remains in full force until the license is 
terminated in any manner, unless renewed pursuant to section 4-209, 
subsection A. 

4. The governing body of a city or town, on a case-by-case basis, may approve 
an exemption from the distance restrictions prescribed in this section for a 
church or a public or private school that is located in an area that is 
designated an entertainment district by the governing body of that city or 
town. A city or town with a population of at least five hundred thousand 
persons may designate no more than three entertainment districts within 
the boundaries of the city or town pursuant to this paragraph. A city or town 
with a population of at least two hundred thousand persons but less than 
five hundred thousand persons may designate no more than two 
entertainment districts within the boundaries of the city or town pursuant to 



Subject:  Green Tree Inn & Suites Liquor License  Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 4 

this paragraph. A city or town with a population of less than two hundred 
thousand persons may designate no more than one entertainment district 
within the boundaries of the city or town pursuant to this paragraph. 

5. A person may be issued a beer and wine store license pursuant to sections 
4-201, 4-202, 4-203 and 4-206.01 for premises that have a liquor store 
license validly issued if the premises, on the date of an application for which 
the license is filed, are within three hundred horizontal feet of a church, 
within three hundred horizontal feet of a public or private school building 
with kindergarten programs or any of grades one through twelve or within 
three hundred horizontal feet of a fenced recreation area adjacent to such 
school building and the license remains in full force until the license is 
terminated in any manner, unless renewed pursuant to section 4-209, 
subsection A. 

 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

The Town Council is making a recommendation to the State Liquor License Board to deny 
the application.  
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

The Town Council is making a recommendation to the State Liquor License Board to 
approve the application.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Not Applicable 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Liquor application documents 























 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
 7c. 

MEETING DATE:  May 6, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Administration/Town Clerk’s Office 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Lisa Garcia  
 
SUBJECT:  50th Anniversary of Municipal Clerks Week 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 
Subject:  50th Anniversary of Municipal Clerks Week  Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Proclaim the week of May 5 – 11, 2019 as Municipal Clerks Week 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
This May, Municipal Clerks Week will be celebrating its 50th anniversary.  Initiated in 1969 
by IIMC and endorsed by all of its members throughout the United States, Canada and 
15 other countries, the week is a time of celebration and reflection on the importance of 
the Clerk’s Office.   
 
The Town of Florence Clerk’s Office is proud of providing vital services to our Council and 
the community.   Some of our functions are to serve as the council’s foundation, prepare 
agendas, take minutes, maintain ordinance and resolutions files, keep the municipality’s 
historical records, process business licenses and various permits, provide public notices, 
and serve as the clearinghouse for information about the local government.  We also 
record the actions of the various commissions and committees appointed by the Council 
and administer local election functions as well as assure the transparency of the Town’s 
conduct of business.  
 
Tonight the entire Clerk’s Office is present to receive the proclamation.   
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

Not Applicable 



Subject:  50th Anniversary of Municipal Clerks Week  Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

Not Applicable  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Proclamation 



 

 

 

MUNICIPAL CLERKS WEEK 
50th ANNIVERSARY  

 
May 5 - 11, 2019 

Whereas, The Office of the Municipal Clerk, is a time honored and vital part of local 
government that exists throughout the world: and 

 
Whereas, The Office of the Municipal Clerk is the oldest among public servants; and 
 
Whereas, The Office of the Municipal Clerk provides the professional link between the 

citizens, the local governing bodies and agencies of government at other levels; and 
 

Whereas, Municipal Clerks have pledged to be ever mindful of their neutrality and 
impartiality, rendering equal service to all; and 

 
Whereas, The Municipal Clerk serves as the information center on functions of local 

government and community; and 
 
Whereas, Municipal Clerks continually strive to improve the administration of the affairs 

of the Office of the Municipal Clerk through participation in education programs, seminars, 
workshops and the annual meetings of their state, provincial, county and international 
professional organizations; and 

 
Now, Therefore, I, Tara Walter, Mayor of the Town of Florence, Arizona, do hereby 

recognize the week of May 5 through May 11, 2019, as “MUNICIPAL CLERKS WEEK,” and 
further extend appreciation to our Municipal Clerk’s Office staff, and to all Municipal Clerks for 
the vital services they perform and their exemplary dedication to the communities they represent. 
 

Dated this 6th day of May 2019 
 
       

 
 

_____________________________ 
Tara Walter, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
_________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 
 



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
7d.  

MEETING DATE: May 6, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Public Works Department 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Christopher A. Salas, P.E. 
Public Works Director 
  
SUBJECT: Intergovernmental Agreement, JPA/IGA 12-541, A.G. 
Contract No P0012012001857, Amendment No. 1, with the 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
Subject:  JPA/IGA ADOT – CIP T-14 Roundabout SR 287 & SR 79B                             Meeting Date: May 6, 2019 
Page 1 of 3   

Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT) for proposed 
design, right-of-way acquisition and construction of a roundabout 
at State Route (SR) 287 and SR 79B (CIP T-14 Roundabout 
Improvements SR 287 and SR 79B).

 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships     Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Approval to enter into an Intergovernmental Agreement, JPA/IGA 12-541, A.G. Contract 
No P0012012001857, Amendment No. 1, with the Arizona Department of Transportation 
(ADOT) for proposed design, right-of-way acquisition and construction of a roundabout at 
State Route (SR) 287 and SR 79B (CIP T-14 Roundabout Improvements SR 287 and SR 
79B). 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
This Design Concept Report (DCR) documents the development, evaluation and 
recommendation of improvements to address the operational and safety needs for 
vehicles, bicyclists and pedestrians at the intersection of State Route (SR) 287 and SR 
79B in Florence, Arizona. The project study area includes the functional limits of the SR 
287/SR 79B/Main Street intersection. The intersections of SR 79B and Florence Heights 
Drive, and SR 79B and Keating Street are near the study intersection and as such will be 
analyzed as part of the system. Approach segments of SR 287, SR 79B, Main Street, 
Florence Heights Drive, and Keating Street will be included in the study area as well as 
adjacent properties that may be impacted by the potential improvements. These project 



Subject:  JPA/IGA ADOT – CIP T-14 Roundabout SR 287 & SR 79B                             Meeting Date: May 6, 2019 
Page 2 of 3   

limits include SR 287 from milepost (MP) 142.65 to MP 142.75 and SR79B from MP 
132.65 to MP 132.85.   
 
The SR 287/SR 79B intersection provides access to the Town of Florence from 
communities located to the west and south including the cities of Phoenix, Coolidge, Casa 
Grande and Eloy as well as Catalina, Oro Valley and Tucson. The study intersection 
currently operates as an at-grade intersection with channelized movements controlled 
with yield and stop traffic controls.  
 
NEED FOR THE PROJECT 
The SR 287 /SR 79B intersection has been the southern entrance to Florence since the 
beginning of the 20th century. According to the 1932 Arizona Highway Map, SR 287 and 
SR 79 were intermediate type improved roadways that were part of the Arizona state 
highway system. The configuration of the study intersection is based on rural conditions 
with little development adjacent to the roadway and only serves vehicular traffic. 
Currently, the intersection is set in an urban environment surrounded by commercial 
development where all modes of transportation traverse the intersection. This creates the 
need for a modern type of intersection that can provide multimodal accommodations for 
all type of users and functions with the surrounding land use. The following key 
considerations contribute to the purpose and need for the improvements at this 
intersection. 
 
The improvements proposed include design, right-of-way acquisition, and construction of 
a roundabout at State Route (SR) 287 and SR 79B, (the “Project”).  The State will 
administer the design and advertise, bid and award the construction phase of the Project.  
 
The federal funds will be used for the scoping/design and construction of the Project, 
including the construction engineering (CE) and administration cost.   
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

The project would be cancelled and not constructed. The existing intersection of SR 287 
and SR 79B would continue to exist.  
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

The design of a new intersection would continue and ultimately a new intersection would 
be constructed.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The fixed fee proposed for this project has been negotiated by staff and obtained through a 
sole source selection.  Per section 4.4 of the Town’s Policy; 

  
 4.4 Sole Source Purchase 

   



Subject:  JPA/IGA ADOT – CIP T-14 Roundabout SR 287 & SR 79B                             Meeting Date: May 6, 2019 
Page 3 of 3   

Departments may procure and contract for supplies and services without using competitive 
procedures when it is clearly determined to be impractical to procure through the competitive 
bidding process.  The Department Head shall submit a Sole Source/Emergency Purchase 
Justification Form (Supplement 7.7) to the Town Manager for pre-approval.  If approved by 
Town Manager, the Department Head shall process the corresponding requisition. 

 
In the event a Sole Source Purchase exceeds $25,000, the Department Head shall obtain 
Town Council pre-approval, and, if approved, the purchase shall be processed by the 
Department in accordance with the Purchasing Policy. 

 
Services will be obtained following the Town’s Purchasing Policy, Section 5.63 Purchases of 
$25,000 or More (specifically, 5.6321 of Vendor Selection). 

 
5.632 Vendor Selection 

 
5.6321 Alternative purchase methods are identified if approved by necessity or by the 
Town Manager as indicated by Emergency / Sole Source Purchase, cooperative 
purchase, state contract or any other method authorized.  The Finance Director reviews 
for budget availability and bidding procedures.  The Town Manager reviews for need. 

 
4.12 Purchasing Policy  

  
Department Heads must approve all purchases regardless of dollar value.  This does not 
preclude the Department Head from obtaining the necessary approval from the Town 
Manager and/or Town Council, nor does this allow them to have signature authority on 
contracts.  The Town Manager has signature authority on purchases up to $24,999.  
Town Council is required on any purchases of $25,000 or more. 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Exhibit 1 – SZ041 Signed IGA 12-054 
Exhibit 2 – Amend 2019 Closeout Sheet 
Exhibit 3 – TIP Change Request Form 
Exhibit 4 – Kittleson DCR  
Exhibit 5 – Amendment No. One: 19-0007259-I 
 



Town of Florence

Public Works Department





The SR 287/SR 79B intersection provides access to the Town of Florence from 
communities located to the west and south including the cities of Phoenix, Coolidge, 
Casa Grande and Eloy as well as Catalina, Oro Valley and Tucson. The study 
intersection currently operates as an at-grade intersection with channelized 
movements controlled with yield and stop traffic controls.



 Design Concept Report (DCR) documents Address the operational and safety 
needs for vehicles, bicyclists and pedestrians at the intersection of State Route (SR) 
287 and SR 79B in Florence, Arizona
 Development 
 Evaluation 
 Recommendation of improvements 
 Project study area includes the functional limits of the SR 287/SR 79B/Main Street 

intersection. 



 The SR 287 /SR 79B intersection has been the southern entrance to Florence since 
the beginning of the 20th century. 

 SR 287 and SR 79B were intermediate type improved roadways that were part of the 
Arizona state highway system. 

 The configuration of the study intersection is based on rural conditions with little 
development adjacent to the roadway and only serves vehicular traffic. 

 Currently, the intersection is set in an urban environment surrounded by 
commercial development where all modes of transportation traverse the 
intersection. 

 Creates the need for a modern type of intersection that can provide multimodal 
accommodations for all type of users and functions with the surrounding land use. 



 The improvements proposed include; 
 Design 
 Right-of-way acquisition 
 Construction of a roundabout at State Route (SR) 287 and SR 79B, (the “Project”)



 The State will administer the design and advertise, bid and award the construction phase of 
the Project.

 The federal funds will be used for the scoping/design and construction of the Project, 
including the construction engineering (CE) and administration cost.  





































Name:

Phone:

Email:Date 

Submit

ted:

PM1 PM2T PM2N PM2B PM3F PM3S PM3E

B
e

fo
re

A
ft

e
r

Sa
fe

ty

Tr
an

si
t 

A
ss

et
 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n

P
av

e
m

en
t 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n

B
ri

d
ge

 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n

Tr
av

e
l 

R
e

lia
b

ili
ty

N
o

n
 S

O
V

 T
ra

ve
l

Em
is

si
o

n
s

Florence Highway 34208 SR-287 and SR-79B Minor Arterial Street OCT-DEC 

2023

Pinal Other 0.5 2 2 No No No No No No No FLO19-802 ----- ----- Design New Roundabouts 2019 Local 2019 0 0 430,000 430,000

Florence Highway 34208 SR-287 and SR-79B Minor Arterial Street OCT-DEC 

2023

Pinal Other 0.5 2 2 No No No No No No No FLO22-801 ----- ----- Construct New Roundabouts 2022 STBGP-MAG 2022 2,559,416 0 766,074 3,325,490

No No No No No No No

No No No No No No No

PM1 PM2T PM2N PM2B PM3F PM3S PM3E

B
e

fo
re

A
ft

e
r

Sa
fe

ty

Tr
an

si
t 

A
ss

e
t 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n

P
av

e
m

e
n

t 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n

B
ri

d
ge

 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n

Tr
av

e
l 

R
e

lia
b

ili
ty

N
o

n
 S

O
V

 T
ra

ve
l

Em
is

si
o

n
s

Florence Highway 34208 SR-287 and SR-79B Minor Arterial Street OCT-DEC 2023Pinal Other 0.5 2 2
yes No No No Yes No No

FLO19-802 ----- ----- Design New Roundabouts /Environmental Mitigation 2019 Local 2019 471,500 28,500 500,000 Agency requests federal aid for design workphase.

Florence Highway 34208 SR-287 and SR-79B Minor Arterial Street OCT-DEC 2023Pinal Other 0.5 2 2
yes No No No Yes No No

FLO19-802R ----- ----- ROW Acquisition 2019 Local 2019 235,750 14,250 250,000

Amend: Add new work phase. Agency requests federal aid for 

ROW acquisition.

No No No No No No No

No No No No No No No

Please see the 'Dictionary' sheet for definitions and entry instructions for cells.

A copy of the latest TIP is included in this spreadsheet for your use.

Contact Information of Person Requesting the Change

Christopher A. Salas

520-251-3118

Christopher.salas@florenceaz.gov

11/5/2018

Current Programming

Through 

Lanes

Performance Categories

Project Information

Agency Section MAG ID Location

Federal 

Functional 

Classification 

(Click on to 

Access ADOT 

Maps) MAG Mode Es
ti

m
at

e 
D

at
e 

fo
r 

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

/O
p

en
 t

o
 

Tr
af

fi
c:

 M
M

/Y
Y

A
Q

 A
re

a

In
 P

ro
gr

am

M
ile

s

Please enter the TIP data for the project as it is now programmed (See TIP tab of this spreadsheet). Skip if entering a new project.

Work Phase Information

Funding Type

Apportionm

ent Year Federal Regional TotalLocalTIP ID

Fed ID / 

Grant ID

TRACS / 

ALI Work

Work 

Year

Requested Programming

Project Information Work Phase Information

Agency Section MAG ID Location

Federal 

Functional 

Classification 

(Click on to 

Access ADOT 

Maps) MAG Mode Es
ti

m
at

e
 D

at
e

 f
o

r 

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

/O
p

e
n

 t
o

 

Tr
af

fi
c:

 M
M

/Y
Y

A
Q

 A
re

a

In
 P

ro
gr

am

M
ile

s

Through 

Lanes

Performance Categories

Please enter the TIP data for the revised or new project.

Note/Justification

TotalFunding Type

Apportionm

ent Year Federal Regional LocalTIP ID

Fed ID / 

Grant ID

TRACS / 

ALI Work

Work 

Year

https://geo.azmag.gov/maps/tip/detail.html?id=34208
https://geo.azmag.gov/maps/tip/detail.html?id=34208
https://geo.azmag.gov/maps/tip/detail.html?id=34208
https://geo.azmag.gov/maps/tip/detail.html?id=34208
mailto:Christopher.salas@florenceaz.gov
https://www.azdot.gov/maps/functional-classification-maps
https://www.azdot.gov/maps/functional-classification-maps
https://www.azdot.gov/maps/functional-classification-maps
https://www.azdot.gov/maps/functional-classification-maps
https://www.azdot.gov/maps/functional-classification-maps
https://www.azdot.gov/maps/functional-classification-maps
https://www.azdot.gov/maps/functional-classification-maps
https://www.azdot.gov/maps/functional-classification-maps
https://www.azdot.gov/maps/functional-classification-maps
https://www.azdot.gov/maps/functional-classification-maps
https://www.azdot.gov/maps/functional-classification-maps
https://www.azdot.gov/maps/functional-classification-maps




SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

 

     Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Final Design Concept Report 

SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project 

 
ADOT Contract Number: 2010-021.12 

ADOT TRACS: 0000 PN FLO SZ041 03D  

Federal Project Number: FLO-0(201)T  

Town of Florence, Pinal County, Arizona 

ADOT District: Southcentral 

Prepared For: 

Town of Florence 

425 E. Ruggles  

Florence, AZ 85132 

(520) 868-7637 

Prepared By: 

Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

2 East Congress, Suite 705 

Tucson, AZ 85701 

(520) 544-4067 

Project Manager: Jason A Simmers, P.E. 

 

Project No. 17315 

March 2019 

  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

 

  i  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 Foreword ........................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 Need for the Project.......................................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.3 Characteristics of the Intersection .................................................................................................................................... 5 

1.4 Description of the Project ................................................................................................................................................. 7 

1.5 Agency and Public Scoping ................................................................................................................................................ 8 

2. Traffic and Crash Data ................................................................................................................... 9 

2.1 Crash History ..................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

2.2 Existing Traffic Data ........................................................................................................................................................ 12 

2.3 Existing Traffic Operations Analysis ................................................................................................................................ 12 

2.4 Traffic Volume Projections .............................................................................................................................................. 16 

3. Design Concept Alternatives ....................................................................................................... 20 

3.1 Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

3.2 Design Concept Alternatives Considered and Discontinued ........................................................................................... 20 

3.3 Design Concept Alternatives ........................................................................................................................................... 23 

3.4 Evaluation of Alternatives ............................................................................................................................................... 28 

3.5 Evaluations ...................................................................................................................................................................... 39 

4. Major Design Features (Preferred Alternative) ........................................................................... 41 

4.1 Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................... 41 

4.2 Design Controls ............................................................................................................................................................... 41 

4.3 Horizontal and Vertical Alignment .................................................................................................................................. 42 

4.4 Access ............................................................................................................................................................................. 43 

4.5 Right-of-Way ................................................................................................................................................................... 43 

4.6 Drainage .......................................................................................................................................................................... 43 

4.7 Section 401, 402, and 404 of the Clean Water Act ......................................................................................................... 43 

4.8 Floodplain Considerations............................................................................................................................................... 44 

4.9 Earthwork ....................................................................................................................................................................... 44 

4.10 Construction Phasing and Traffic Control .................................................................................................................... 44 

4.11 Utilities, Railroad and Irrigation Systems..................................................................................................................... 44 

4.12 Structures .................................................................................................................................................................... 45 

4.13 Preliminary Pavement Design...................................................................................................................................... 45 

4.14 Habitat Connectivity .................................................................................................................................................... 45 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

 

  ii  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

4.15 Multimodal Considerations ......................................................................................................................................... 46 

4.16 Design Exceptions ........................................................................................................................................................ 46 

4.17 Intergovernmental Agreements .................................................................................................................................. 46 

5. Itemized Cost Estimate ................................................................................................................ 47 

5.1 Cost Estimate Comparison of Alternatives ...................................................................................................................... 47 

6. AASHTO Controlling Design Criteria and Exceptions ................................................................... 47 

6.1 AASHTO Non-Conforming Geometric Design Elements .................................................................................................. 47 

6.2 AASHTO Design Exceptions ............................................................................................................................................. 47 

6.3 ADOT RDG Non-Conforming Geometric Design Elements .............................................................................................. 47 

6.4 ADOT Design Exceptions ................................................................................................................................................. 47 

7. Social, Economic and Environmental Concerns .......................................................................... 49 

7.1 Environmental Documentation ....................................................................................................................................... 49 

7.2 Mitigation Measures ....................................................................................................................................................... 50 

 

Appendix A    Preferred Alternative Concept Drawings……………………………………………………………………51 

Appendix B    Detailed Sensitivity Analysis……………………………………………………………………………………….52 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

 

  iii  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

LIST OF FIGURES 

FIGURE 1  PROJECT LOCATION ............................................................................................................................................. 2 

FIGURE 2  VICINITY MAP ....................................................................................................................................................... 3 

FIGURE 3  EXAMPLES OF EXISTING CONDITIONS ................................................................................................................. 4 

FIGURE 4  EXISTING TRAFFIC CONTROL .............................................................................................................................. 10 

FIGURE 5  CRASH DIAGRAM ............................................................................................................................................... 11 

FIGURE 6  EXISTING TRAFFIC VOLUMES ............................................................................................................................. 13 

FIGURE 7  EXISTING CONDITIONS ANALYSIS ....................................................................................................................... 15 

FIGURE 8. NO BUILD RESULTS ............................................................................................................................................ 22 

FIGURE 9  SINGLE ROUNDABOUT ....................................................................................................................................... 24 

FIGURE 10  ROUNDABOUT AND T INTERSECTION .............................................................................................................. 25 

FIGURE 11  DUAL ROUNDABOUTS ...................................................................................................................................... 26 

FIGURE 12  SIGNAL AND T INTERSECTION .......................................................................................................................... 27 

FIGURE B-1 SENSITIVITY HOURLY VOLUMES………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….53 

FIGURE B-2 DELAY AND LEVEL OF SERVICE – SENSITIVITY AM PEAK HOUR……………………………………………………………………54 

FIGURE B-3 DELAY AND LEVEL OF SERVICE – SENSITIVITY PM PEAK HOUR……………………………………………………………….…..54 

FIGURE B-4 TRAVEL TIME – SENSITIVITY AM PEAK HOUR …………………………………………………………………………………………....55 

FIGURE B-5 TRAVEL TIME – SENSITIVITY PM PEAK HOUR.…………………………………………………………………………………………....55 

LIST OF TABLES 

TABLE 1  SUMMARY OF CRASH DATA ................................................................................................................................... 9 

TABLE 2  EXISTING TRAFFIC FACTORS ................................................................................................................................. 12 

TABLE 3  MAG TRAFFIC VOLUME PROJECTIONS ................................................................................................................. 16 

TABLE 4  ADJUSTED MAG TRAFFIC VOLUME PROJECTIONS ............................................................................................... 17 

TABLE 5  LANE REQUIREMENTS BASED ON ADJUSTED MAG TRAFFIC VOLUMES .............................................................. 17 

TABLE 6  ADOT TRAFFIC VOLUME PROJECTIONS ................................................................................................................ 17 

TABLE 7  ADJUSTED ADOT TRAFFIC VOLUME PROJECTIONS .............................................................................................. 18 

TABLE 8  ADJUSTED ADOT PROJECTIONS AND LANE REQUIREMENTS ............................................................................... 18 

TABLE 9  RECOMMEND PROJECT PROJECTIONS AND LANE REQUIREMENTS .................................................................... 19 

TABLE 10  DELAY AND LEVEL OF SERVICE – 2040 PROJECTED AM PEAK HOUR ................................................................. 29 

TABLE 11  DELAY AND LEVEL OF SERVICE – 2040 PROJECTED PM PEAK HOUR.................................................................. 29 

TABLE 12  MAXIMUM QUEUE LENGTHS – 2040 PROJECTED AM PEAK HOUR ................................................................... 30 

TABLE 13  MAXIMUM QUEUE LENGTHS – 2040 PROJECTED PM PEAK HOUR ................................................................... 30 

TABLE 14  TRAVEL TIME – 2040 PROJECTED AM PEAK HOUR ............................................................................................ 31 

TABLE 15  TRAVEL TIME – 2040 PROJECTED PM PEAK HOUR ............................................................................................ 31 

TABLE 16  DELAY AND LEVEL OF SERVICE – SENSITIVITY AM PEAK HOUR ......................................................................... 32 

TABLE 17  SUMMARY OF ACCESS IMPACTS ........................................................................................................................ 33 

TABLE 18  SAFETY EVALUATION ......................................................................................................................................... 35 

TABLE 19  SUMMARY OF PROPERTY NEEDS ………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….36 

TABLE 20 KEY VARIATIONS IN EVALUATION CRITERIA..…………………………………………………...…………………………………………...37 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

 

  iv  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

TABLE 21  ALTERNATIVE ANALYSIS………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..39 

TABLE 22 DESIGN CONTROLS ............................................................................................................................................. 41 

TABLE 23 ALTERNATIVE COST ESTIMATE EVALUATION………………………………………………………………………………………………….48 

 

List of Acronyms 

AAGR  Average Annual Growth Rate 

AASHTO  American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials 

Ac   Acres 

AC   Asphaltic Concrete 

ADA   Americans with Disabilities Act 

ADOT   Arizona Department of Transportation 

ADT/AADT  Average Daily Traffic / Annual Average Daily Traffic 

AZPDES  Arizona Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

BIA  Bureau of Indian Affairs 

CAAG  Central Arizona Association of Governments 

CAGR  Compound Annual Growth Rate 

CE  Categorical Exclusion 

cfs   Cubic Feet per Second 

COE   U. S. Army Corps of Engineers 

CY   Cubic Yard 

DCR   Design Concept Report 

EA   Environmental Assessment 

EPG  Environmental Planning Group 

FEMA   Federal Emergency Management Agency 

FHWA   Federal Highway Administration 

Ft   Feet 

HCM   Highway Capacity Manual 

HSM   Highway Safety Manual 

ISD  Intersection Sight Distance 

LOS   Level of Service 

MAG  Maricopa Association of Governments 

MP  Milepost 

MUTCD  Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices 

RDG  Roadway Design Guide 

ROW  Right of way 

SCIDD  San Carlos Irrigation Drainage District 

SR  State Route 

TCE  Temporary Construction Easement 

 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  1  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 FOREWORD 

This Design Concept Report (DCR) documents the development, evaluation and recommendation of 

improvements to address the operational and safety needs for vehicles, bicyclists and pedestrians at 

the intersection of State Route (SR) 287 and SR 79B in Florence, Arizona. The project study area 

includes the functional limits of the SR 287/SR 79B/Main Street intersection. The intersections of SR 

79B and Florence Heights Drive, and SR 79B and Keating Street are near the study intersection and as 

such will be analyzed as part of the system.  Approach segments of SR 287, SR 79B, Main Street, 

Florence Heights Drive, and Keating Street will be included in the study area as well as adjacent 

properties that may be impacted by the potential improvements.  These project limits include SR 287 

from milepost (MP) 142.65 to MP 142.75 and SR79B from MP 132.65 to MP 132.85. A location map for 

the project is provided in Figure 1 and vicinity map is provided in Figure 2.   

The SR 287/SR 79B intersection provides access to the Town of Florence from communities located to 

the west and south including the cities of Phoenix, Coolidge, Casa Grande and Eloy as well as Catalina, 

Oro Valley and Tucson. The study intersection currently operates as an at-grade intersection with 

channelized movements controlled with yield and stop traffic controls.  

1.2 NEED FOR THE PROJECT 

The SR 287 /SR 79B intersection has been the southern entrance to Florence since the beginning of the 

20th century. According to the 1932 Arizona Highway Map, SR 287 and SR 79 were intermediate type-

improved roadways that were part of the Arizona state highway system. The configuration of the study 

intersection is based on rural conditions with little development adjacent to the roadway and only 

serves vehicular traffic. Currently, the intersection is set in an urban environment surrounded by 

commercial development where all modes of transportation traverse the intersection. This creates the 

need for a modern type of intersection that can provide multimodal accommodations for all type of 

users and functions with the surrounding land use. The following key considerations contribute to the 

purpose and need for the improvements at this intersection. 

• Address Traffic Operations:  The 2016 population of the Town is approximately 32,000 and the 

Town is experiencing approximately 30 residential permit requests per month with expected 

increase in the upcoming years.  Portions of this anticipated growth is driven by several sizable 

planned developments near the project intersection resulting in expected increased capacity 

needs.  Additionally, Florence Heights Road is acting as a regional route and is experiencing 

significant traffic growth, specifically following recent pavement improvements. 

 

• Address Mobility for All Users:   Curb and sidewalks are not present through most of the project 

area and the majority of the ramps do not feature Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) 

compliant pedestrian ramps. Figure 3 illustrates examples of the conditions described above.   



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  2  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Figure 1  Project Location 

 
 

 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  3  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Figure 2  Vicinity Map 

 

 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  4  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Figure 3  Examples of Existing Conditions  

 

Looking West from Florence Heights Drive 

 

 

Looking East from SR 287 

  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  5  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

There are currently no dedicated bike lanes and limited connectivity for bicycles and 

pedestrians to safely navigate the intersection.  The Town Council is currently reviewing the 

strategic plan documents to incorporate accommodations of bicycle and pedestrians 

throughout the Town. 

 

• Address Driver Expectancy:  The current geometry of the intersection is not consistent with 

typical intersection configurations in urban and suburban environments.  The geometry creates 

several unique potential conflict points throughout the intersection and results in public 

confusion and a fear of using the intersection.    

 

• Convert to Urban Style Intersection:  As the surrounding areas develop, conversion from the 

existing rural intersection configuration to a more urban style configuration is appropriate and 

will facilitate the intersection operations to perform more consistently with the surrounding 

land uses and user needs.  

 

• Promote Economic Development:  This intersection is viewed as a gateway into the Town and 

the conversion to an urban style intersection with multi-modal improvements will have a 

significant impact on potential economic development in the surrounding area. The Florence 

2020 General Plan indicates higher intensity land uses surrounding the study intersection. 

Future development may fit into one of the following categories: Downtown Mixed Use, 

Community Commercial, and Medium/High Density Residential. 

1.3 CHARACTERISTICS OF THE INTERSECTION  

1.3.1 ROADWAY GEOMETRY 

In the study area, SR 287 is a two-lane urban minor arterial that runs east to west providing 

connectivity from the Town of Florence and the cities of Coolidge and Eloy. SR 287 also provides 

access to Interstate 10 (I-10). The highway cross-section consists of a 12-foot-wide lane and an 

eight-foot-wide paved shoulder in each travel direction. A five-foot-wide concrete sidewalk is 

provided on the north west quadrant of the SR287/79B intersection. The roadway cross-section 

does not include curbs. The posted speed limit on SR287 is 35 mph in the vicinity of the intersection 

project limits. 

SR 79 is a two-lane urban minor arterial that runs north to south (parallel to I-10) connecting the 

communities located between Tucson and Phoenix. SR 79B splits away from the main SR 79 alignment 

south of Florence. SR 79B provides business access into the heart of the town. At the study intersection 

the SR 79B cross section features a 12-foot wide travel lane in the southbound direction and two travel 

lanes in the northbound direction. South of the Florence Heights Drive intersection the roadway 

features eight-foot wide shoulders. Within the intersection area, the shoulder narrows to four feet in 

the southbound direction and is replaced with curb in the northbound direction. SR 79B is also known 

as Main Street north of the SR 287 intersection. The posted speed limit on SR79B is 35 mph in the 

vicinity of the intersection project limits. 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  6  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Main Street is 60 feet wide with a 12-foot-wide center turn lane and a single 24-foot-wide travel lane in 

each direction.  Although not marked explicitly, the extra wide travel lane provides for on street 

parking.  The roadside features include vertical curb and five-foot wide sidewalks on both sides of the 

road.  Street lighting is providing on SR 79B at the intersection with SR 287 and along Main Street. The 

posted speed limit on Main Street is 30 mph in the vicinity of the intersection project limits. 

Florence Heights Drive is currently a two-lane arterial that is a highly used connection between SR 79B 

and SR 79 for local traffic.  This segment was recently repaved due to poor pavement surface conditions 

and it is being used as a construction detour for the intersection reconstruction project at SR79/SR79B 

(79 PN 132 H7904).  Sidewalks are not provided on this roadway.  Street lighting is installed at the SR 

79B and Florence Heights Drive intersection. The posted speed limit on Florence Heights Drive is 25 

mph in the vicinity of the intersection project limits. 

Keating Street is a local street that has right-in-right-out access onto SR 79B at the intersection with 

SR 287. It provides access for several residences and an automotive service business in the southeast 

corner. These land uses also have access to the state routes via Florence Heights Drive or Celaya Street. 

Keating Street features four-foot wide sidewalks and street lighting. 

West Canal Road, a Pinal County Road, has access to SR 79B across from Florence Heights Drive. Canal 

Road is a dirt road that primarily serves as a service road for the San Carlos Irrigation Drainage District 

(SCIDD) canal. West Canal Road also serves as access for a residence located approximately 500 feet to 

the south of the Florence Heights Drive.  

1.3.2 DRAINAGE 

Offsite drainage does not directly impact the SR 287/SR 79B intersection. Runoff in the area generally 

flows from the southeast to the northwest as shallow sheet flow. The existing intersection and 

approach roadway embankments are elevated to the extent that runoff either ponds in low areas 

offsite or it is diverted around the study intersection. A small onsite detention area is formed in the 

middle of the intersection between the SR 287 connectors and SR 79B. A small drainage channel 

parallels the toe of the southern SR 287 embankment and redirects runoff away from the intersection 

to a box culvert located approximately 1,400 feet west of SR 79B. All runoff generated within the area 

to the east of the intersection flows in an easterly-northeasterly direction away from the intersection 

and roadway. All runoff generated within the area located to the northwest of the intersection also 

drains away from the intersection in a northwesterly direction.  

1.3.3 RIGHT OF WAY 

ADOT owns the right of way for SR 287, SR 79B and the intersection area.  The SR 287 right-of-way 

width varies from 100’ to 112’ as it approaches the intersection. The SR 79B right of way width is 200-

foot wide south of the intersection and the SCIDD crossing.  Main Street and Florence Heights are 

owned by the Town.  Main Street has a right of way width of 100’, north of the intersection limits.  

Florence Heights Drive has a right of way width of 50’.  The SCIDD right of way is 100’ wide to the south 

of the Florence Heights Drive right of way.  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  7  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

1.3.4 LAND USE 

According to the 2016 Town Zoning Map, the project intersection is primarily surrounded by two types 

of existing land uses.  The southwest and northeast quadrants of the intersection are zoned for single 

family residential use.  The northwest and southeast quadrants of the intersection are zoned for 

downtown and highway business.    

1.3.5 SOILS 

The soils within the intersection are “Dateland fine sandy loam” and “Denure sandy loam” and 

generally consistent with the AASHTO classification of A-3. Vegetation within the intersection is sparse 

and consistent with surrounding natural environments.  

1.3.6 UTILITIES 

Several utilities have been identified within the project limits. These include: 

 Arizona Public Service-electric service 

 Cox Communications – cable communications 

 CenturyLink – telecommunication cables 

 San Carlos Irrigation Drainage District – Florence Canal 

 Southwest Gas – underground gas lines 

 Town of Florence – underground storm drain 

 Town of Florence - Water 

Potential conflicts with the Southwest Gas underground gas lines and Town of Florence storm drain 

pipes may require relocations. In pavement water valves and manholes will be adjusted to the final 

grade of the improved road.  

1.3.7 STRUCTURES 

SR 79B features a reinforced concrete girder bridge over the SCIDD Irrigation Canal, south of the 

Florence Heights Drive intersection. The bridge structure is 58’ long and is built at a 15° skew.  To the 

east of the 79B bridge, the canal has been converts to a closed culvert and covered over with fill.  West 

of the SR 79B bridge, the open canal turns to the south. 

SR 287 features a reinforced concrete box culvert outside the project limits, approximately 900 feet 

west of the intersection with Campbell Avenue which is not expected to be impacted by the 

intersection improvements. 

1.4 DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT 

This local government project seeks to reconstruct the SR 287/SR 79B/Main Street intersection into a 

more modern and multimodal intersection that matches its current urban environment. The proposed 

improvements will to increase multi-modal mobility and accessibility to the surrounding land uses; 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  8  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

while optimizing traffic operations for the projected design year 2040 traffic demand.  The project 

scope of work includes the following tasks: 

• Construct a new multi-lane roundabout at the SR 287/SR 79B/Main Street intersection, 

• Construct a new single lane roundabout at the SR 79B/Florence Heights Drive intersection 

including re-aligning the Florence Heights Drive leg of the intersection to the south to connect 

to the new roundabout, 

• Reconnect Keating Street to the north leg of the multi-lane roundabout, 

• Construct pavement drainage improvements to accommodate the new intersection 

configurations, 

• Reconstruct the San Carlos Irrigation Drainage District (SCIDD) culvert crossing under SR 79B, 

• Construct street lighting that is consistent with best practices for roundabouts, 

• Construct bicycle and pedestrian features that are consistent with roundabout best practices 

and ADA compliant including, sidewalks, access ramps, and crosswalks, 

• Construct and landscape the central islands and splitter islands, 

• Mitigate utility impacts including water, gas and electric facility modifications. 

New right of way will be required for the proposed improvements. An environmental investigation will 

be completed for the project area including any anticipated right of way and easement area needs. 

On December 7, 2017, the MAG Transportation Review Committee recommended that the top ranked 

project in the August 2017 call for projects, the SR 287 and SR 79B intersection improvements in the 

Town of Florence, be awarded all $2,559,416 of the available funding for FY21 and FY22 and to be 

programmed for construction in FY2022.  This recommendation will go to MAG Regional Council in for 

approval.  It is anticipated that additional local funds will be required to meet the estimated 

construction costs. 

1.5 AGENCY AND PUBLIC SCOPING 

Agency and public scoping will be conducted in accordance with ADOT Environmental Planning (EPG) 

Guidelines for Scoping Environmental Determination and Categorical Exclusion National Environmental 

Policy Act Documents. Project scoping letters highlighting the key design features and impacts will be 

mailed to all involved stakeholders including the Arizona Game and Fish Department, the US Fish and 

Wildlife Service, and the San Carlos Irrigation Project.  An open house will be held during the design 

concept and environmental clearance phase.   

 

 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  9  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

2. TRAFFIC AND CRASH DATA 

Existing and future traffic operations have been documented in the traffic report prepared for this 

project in February 2015 and updated in this report. The following subsections summarize the crash 

history of the intersection, current traffic volumes, and future traffic volumes. The existing intersection 

traffic control configuration is shown in Figure 4. Vehicles must navigate a series of conflict points that 

are either stop or yield controlled. In addition, cars need to weave between lanes to get to the desired 

destination.  

2.1 CRASH HISTORY 

ADOT Traffic Section provided crash data for the intersection from July 1, 2009 to June 30, 2014. The 

crash data also included the intersection of SR 79B and Florence Heights Drive. Table 1 below shows a 

summary of the 24 crashes that occurred at this location over the evaluated five-year period. 

Table 1  Summary of Crash Data 

Crash Type Crash Severity 
Total 

Angle Rear-End Sideswipe Left-Turn Other/Unknown PDO Injury Fatal 

4 5 2 7 6 16 8 0 24 

1. PDO: Property Damage Only  

During the evaluated five years, there were a total of 24 crashes including 16 PDO crashes and 8 crashes 

that resulted in injuries. Note that no fatalities were recorded at the intersection over the study period. 

There were four angle crashes; five rear-end crashes, two sideswipe crashes, seven left-turn crashes, 

and six crashes that were classified as “other” or “unknown.” There is a relatively even distribution of 

crash types, with no crash type being significantly greater than the others. The majority of crashes, 20, 

occurred during the daytime. Based on the results of the analysis, the intersection does not seem to 

have a significant crash problem during the nighttime. 

During the five-year analysis period there were no crashes that involved only one vehicle, such as a 

collision with a fixed object. A majority, 96% of crashes involved two vehicles and 4% of crashes 

involved three vehicles. 

Figure 5 illustrates the distribution of the crashes on the various components of the intersection. Nine 

crashes occurred on the channelized roadways connecting SR 287 to SR 79B. This is expected since 

these roadways experience higher traffic volumes and travel speeds. Nine crashes occurred at the 

intersection of SR 79B and Florence Heights Drive. Seven of these crashes were located on SR 79B and 

two were located on Florence Heights Drive. Three crashes occurred on SR 79B farther to the north. 

Three crashes occurred at the intersection of Campbell Avenue with SR 287. 

The more severe crashes that resulted in injuries were distributed throughout the study area and there 

is not a location that appears to experience a higher frequency of this type of crashes. 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  10  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Figure 4  Existing Traffic Control 

  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  11  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Figure 5  Crash Diagram 

  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  12  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

2.2 EXISTING TRAFFIC DATA 

Twenty-four-hour traffic counts were collected at various locations on SR 287, SR 79B, and Florence 

Heights Drive. There were ten data collection points; the specific locations are shown in the Traffic 

Engineering Report. The traffic counts were conducted after the local schools were in session for at 

least two weeks to capture the traffic generated by the schools in the area. The traffic counts were 

collected from 12:00 am on Tuesday, August 12, 2014 to 12:00 am on Wednesday, August 13, 2014. 

The counts were collected with tubes at strategic locations to allow turning movement counts to be 

derived. The existing traffic volumes are shown in Figure 6. 

Traffic factors listed in Table 2 were calculated from the 24-hour volume counts. The K-factor (K), which 

represents the percentage of daily traffic that occurs during the peak hour, and the directional split 

factor (D) are based on traffic flow during the morning and afternoon peak hours. The AM peak hour 

was determined to be from 7:00 am to 8:00 am, and the PM peak period was determined to be from 

3:00 pm to 4:00 pm. 

Table 2  Existing Traffic Factors 

Roadway 

K Factor D Factor Peak Direction Begin Peak Hour 

AM PM AM PM AM PM AM PM 

SR 287 0.08 0.06 0.68 0.66 EB WB 7:00 3:00 

Florence Heights Drive 0.08 0.08 0.72 0.54 EB WB 7:00 3:00 

SR 79B 

South of Florence Heights Drive 0.07 0.09 0.76 0.63 NB SB 7:00 3:00 

North of SR 287 0.08 0.05 0.73 0.65 NB SB 7:00 3:00 

2.3 EXISTING TRAFFIC OPERATIONS ANALYSIS 

Existing traffic conditions at the intersections were analyzed using the methodologies set forth in the 

Highway Capacity Manual 2010 (HCM2010). The analysis was performed using PTV Vistro software. 

 Two yield-controlled movements within the intersection of SR 287 and SR 79B cannot be analyzed 

using the HCM2010 methodologies of interrupted flow facilities. To analyze these two movements, it 

was assumed they would operate as stop-controlled. This decision was made because of the significant 

skew angle that causes drivers to essentially come to a stop in order to find a gap in the opposing traffic 

and proceed with the maneuver. 

The results are expressed in terms of Level of Service (LOS), a qualitative traffic operations measure 

based on control delay that vehicles experience at intersections. Control delay is the delay caused by a 

traffic control device (e.g. yield sign, stop sign, traffic signal). LOS ranges from LOS A to LOS F, with LOS 

A being favorable and LOS F being undesirable.  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  13  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Figure 6  Existing Traffic Volumes 

  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  14  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

The results of the existing conditions analysis are shown in Figure7. The existing capacity is adequate, 

and all nodes operate under Level of Service (LOS) B or better, except one, in both the AM and PM peak 

hour. Node 6 operates at LOS C in the AM peak period, which corresponds with the heavy movement 

from eastbound SR 287 to northbound SR 79B (Main Street) in the morning. The merge point of 

eastbound SR 287 and northbound SR 79B is one of the nodes that is yield-control, with vehicles on SR 

287 having to yield the right-of-way to vehicles on SR 79B.  

 

  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  15  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Figure 7  Existing Conditions Analysis 

 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  16  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

2.4 TRAFFIC VOLUME PROJECTIONS  

The Town of Florence is part of the Sun Corridor, which is expected to experience significant growth 

over the next 15 to 30 years. According to the Coolidge-Florence Regional Transportation Plan 

completed in April 2008 (2), the population of the Florence Planning Area in 2005 was 8,662, with a 

predicted population of 113,942 in 2025. Based on the plan, the average annual growth rate (AAGR) 

expected for Florence is 10.9%. It is worth noting that this plan was completed at the height of the 

economy prior to the economic collapse in 2009. Consequently, an AAGR of 10.9% is not recommended 

for this project.  

The initial DCR for this intersection utilized ADOT regional traffic predictions for 2030 which assumed a 

1.5% AAGR for the segment of SR 287 through Florence and a 1.2% AAGR for SR 79B. Based on the 

ADOT projections, a 2% AAGR was recommended for this project. However, with the revision of the 

DCR, additional traffic volume projection data that was not available at the time of the original DCR 

development has been obtained and incorporated into the evaluation.  The additional information 

includes the updated 2040 traffic volume projections obtained from the MAG travel demand model and 

the 2035 traffic volume projections from the ADOT travel demand model.  

2040 MAG PROJECTIONS 

In recent years, the Town of Florence roadway network and socio-economic data was added to MAG’s 

travel demand model. The MAG projected volumes were gathered and are summarized in Table 3. The 

existing counts were collected for this project in August 2014. 

Table 3  MAG Traffic Volume Projections 

Roadway 
Existing  

Counts 

MAG 2015 

Projections 

MAG 2040 

Projections 

SR79B 2,032 3,390 8,913 

SR287 9,350 5,990 8,419 

Main Street 7,347 2,767 6,282 

Florence Heights 2,982 3,994 9,525 

 

Note that the existing volumes collected in 2014 are higher than both the MAG 2015 and 2040 

projections for SR287 and Main Street. To address this discrepancy, the 2040 projections were post-

processed to capture the growth anticipated in the model. The adjustment was conducted following a 

standard practice for adjusting traffic projections which include applying the MAG model’s growth rate 

to the existing counts to create an adjusted MAG 2040 traffic volume projection. The adjusted MAG 

projections and the projections used in the DCR for this project are illustrated in Table 4.  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  17  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Table 4  Adjusted MAG Traffic Volume Projections 

Roadway 
Existing 

Counts 

Adjusted 

MAG 2040 

Projections 

Projections 

used in DCR 

Analysis 

% Change 

from DCR 

Analysis 

SR79B 2,032 5,630 3,400 +65% 

SR287 9,350 13,770 15,650 -12% 

Main Street 7,347 17,970 12,300 +46% 

Florence Heights 2,982 7,290 4,990 +45% 

A planning level analysis was conducted to estimate the number of lanes that the adjusted 2040 MAG 

projections required to provide acceptable Level-of-Service (LOS). Then, lane requirements were 

compared to the lane recommendations identified in the Regional Transportation Plan prepared by 

Central Arizona Association of Governments (CAAG) in 2015. Table 5 summarizes the results of the 

analysis. Note that the CAAG planned 4 lanes exceeds the need for an acceptable LOS using the 

adjusted MAG 2040 projected volumes. 

Table 5  Lane Requirements based on Adjusted MAG Traffic Volumes 

Roadway 

Adjusted 

MAG 2040 

Projections 

Existing 

Number of 

Lanes 

Number of 

Lanes 

Required for 

2040 Volumes  

Number of 

Lanes 

Planned by 

CAAG 

SR79B 5,630 2 2 2 

SR287 13,770 2 2 4 

Main Street 17,970 2 2 2 

Florence Heights 7,290 2 2 2 

2035 ADOT PROJECTIONS 

Traffic projections were also obtained from the ADOT Travel Demand Model for 2015 and 2035. The 

ADOT projections are shown in Table 6.  

Table 6  ADOT Traffic Volume Projections 

Roadway 
Existing  

Counts 

ADOT 2015 

Projections 

ADOT 2035 

Projections 

SR79B 2,032 1,907 6,090 

SR287 9,350 5,095 19,586 

Main Street 7,347 4,361 13,738 

Florence Heights 2,982 1,758 7,498 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  18  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Note that the existing volumes collected in 2014 are higher than the ADOT 2015 projections for SR287, 

Main Street and Florence Heights. Similar to the MAG projections, the ADOT traffic projections were 

post-processed following standard practice to account for the discrepancy between existing counts and 

the 2015 traffic volume projections. This method included applying the ADOT model’s growth rate the 

existing counts to create an adjusted ADOT 2040 traffic volume projection. Table 7 summarizes the 

data. 

Table 7  Adjusted ADOT Traffic Volume Projections 

Roadway 
Existing 

Counts 

Adjusted 

ADOT 2040 

Projections 

Projections 

used in DCR 

Analysis 

% Change 

from DCR 

Analysis  

SR79B 2,032 11,170 3,400 +229% 

SR287 9,350 46,960 15,650 +200% 

Main Street 7,347 27,560 12,300 +124% 

Florence Heights 2,982 19,550 4,990 +292% 

A similar planning level analysis was conducted to estimate the number of lanes that the adjusted 2040 

ADOT projections required to provide acceptable Level-of-Service (LOS). Then, lane requirements were 

compared to the lane recommendations identified in the Regional Transportation Plan prepared by 

Central Arizona Association of Governments (CAAG) in 2015. Table 8 summarizes the results of the 

analysis. Note that the CAAG planned 4 lanes on SR287 and 4 lanes on Main Street are not sufficient to 

achieve acceptable LOS using the adjusted ADOT 2040 projected volumes. 

 

Table 8  Adjusted ADOT Projections and Lane Requirements 

Roadway 

Adjusted 

ADOT 2040 

Projections 

Existing 

Number 

of Lanes 

Number of 

Lanes for 

ADOT 2040 

Volumes 

Number of 

Lanes 

Planned by 

CAAG 

SR79B 11,170 2 2 2 

SR287 46,960 2 6 4 

Main Street 27,560 2 4 2 

Florence Heights 19,550 2 2 2 

2040 RECOMMENDED PROJECTIONS 

In general, the MAG projections result in a Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) of 2.9% and the 

ADOT projections represent a 6.6% CAGR.  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  19  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Based on the number of lanes planned in the Regional Transportation Plan for the roadways 

approaching the SR287/SR79B intersection, we recommend adjusting the ADOT projections to match 

the future capacity of the roadway network in the area at 5.1% CAGR. Table 9 illustrates the 

recommended projections.  

Table 9  Recommend Project Projections and Lane Requirements 

Roadway 

Recommended 

2040 Traffic 

Projections 

Number of 

Lanes for 2040 

Volumes 

Number of 

Lanes Planned 

by CAAG 

SR79B 7,820 2 2 

SR287 32,870 4 4 

Main Street 19,290 2 2 

Florence Heights 13,690 2 2 

 

The projections shown in Table 8 were then utilized to estimate hourly projections and evaluate 

alternatives for the study intersection. The 2040 hourly volumes are illustrated below. Note that the 

2040 hourly projections considered existing traffic patterns collected after pavement improvements 

were made to Florence Heights.  

Design Hourly Volumes 

 

After obtaining concurrence from ADOT Southcentral Regional Traffic Engineer, intersection 

alternatives were evaluated as documented in the following section.  

  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  20  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

3. DESIGN CONCEPT ALTERNATIVES 

3.1 INTRODUCTION 

The following four intersection improvement alternatives were developed and evaluated, along with a 

no-build scenario. 

 Alternative 1: A Single Multi-Lane Roundabout; 

 Alternative 2: A Multi-Lane Roundabout and a T-Intersection at Florence Heights Dr; 

 Alternative 3: A Multi-Lane Roundabout and a Single Lane Roundabout at Florence Heights Dr; 

 Alternative 4: A Signalized Intersection and a T-Intersection at Florence Heights Dr.  

These alternatives differ from each other in several aspects and are evaluated based on the following 

criteria: 

 Capacity/Level of Service; 

 Queue lengths; 

 Travel time; 

 Access and circulation; 

 Multimodal accommodations (i.e. pedestrians and bicycles); 

 Safety; 

 Right-of-way; 

 Irrigation canal impacts; 

 Drainage patterns; 

 Environmental impact area; 

 Construction costs. 

3.2 DESIGN CONCEPT ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED AND DISCONTINUED 

In the initial DCR, three alternatives were developed under the direction that the improvements could 

not impact the existing SCID culvert crossing the south leg of the intersection and no new right-of-way 

could be obtained.  The three alternatives included:  

• A single signalized intersection connecting SR287, SR79B, Main Street and Florence Heights 

Drive at a single point; 

• Two signalized intersections, one at Main Street/SR87/SR79B and a southern one at 

SR79B/Florence Heights Drive; and 

• A roundabout at the intersection of Main Street/SR287/SR79B and a T-intersection further 

south at SR79B/Florence Heights Drive.  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  21  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

These alternatives resulted in geometry and operations that were not optimal or desirable.  Thus, those 

alternatives were discontinued.  The 4 new alternatives were developed for evaluation in this revised 

document, without the same geometric and right of way constraints.  

3.2.1 NO BUILD ALTERNATIVE EVALUATION 

A no-build alternative was considered in the Traffic Engineering Report. Traffic operations were 

analyzed for both the 2040 AM and PM peak hours using the existing intersection configuration. As 

identified in Figure 8, two of the movements at the intersection are expected to operate at 

unacceptable LOS in 2040 with the existing geometry and traffic controls. The merge point of 

eastbound SR 287 and northbound SR 79B would operate at LOS F during the AM peak hour. This would 

be the result of the heavy movement from eastbound SR 287 to northbound SR 79B that is required to 

yield to vehicles on northbound SR 79B. A large queue would also form for this movement, which would 

spill back through node 5 shown in Error! Reference source not found. This has the potential to create a 

safety and operations concern if vehicles turning left onto northbound SR 79B block the southbound SR 

79B movement. 

In the PM peak hour, the merge point of northbound SR 79B turning left onto westbound SR 287 is 

anticipated to operate at LOS E. This would be the result of the heavy movement from southbound 

SR 79B. A large queue is expected to form, which would spill back through node 8. This has the 

potential to create a safety and operations concern if vehicles on northbound SR 79B merging 

westbound SR 287 block the southbound SR 79B movement.  

Traffic operations within the existing geometric intersection configuration have the potential to reach a 

gridlock during the 2040 design year peak hours; therefore, the no-build alternative is not considered a 

viable alternative since the traffic operations and safety concerns would not be addressed. 

And additional alternative to modify the existing intersection by adding capacity at the two nodes that 

break down in 2040 was considered.  However, similar to the no build alternative, this alternative was 

also discontinued as it did not address the confusing geometry and driver expectation issues, and it did 

not address bicycle and pedestrian mobility or the economic development opportunity enhancements.   

  



H
:
\
1
7
\
1
7
3
1
5
 
-
 
S

R
 
2
8
7
-
S

R
7
9
B

 
F

l
o
r
e
n
c
e
 
R

o
u
n
d
a
b
o
u
t
\
2
0
 
T

r
a
f
f
i
c
 
A

n
a
l
y
s
i
s
\
N

o
 
B

u
i
l
d
 
R

e
s
u
l
t
s
.
d
w

g
 
 
 
 
 
 
F

e
b
 
1
4
,
 
2
0
1
8
 
-
 
9
:
2
3
a
m

 
-
 
 
t
r
a
d
d
e
m

a
n
 
 
 
 
 
 
L
a
y
o
u
t
 
T

a
b
:
 
N

o
 
B

u
i
l
d
 
R

e
s
u
l
t
s

K i t t e l s o n  &  A s s o c i a t e s ,  I n c .
T R A N S P O R T A T I O N   E N G I N E E R I N G P L A N N I N G

NO BUILD RESULTS
FLORENCE, AZ 8

SR 279/ SR 79B Intersection Improvements February 2018

Figure

1

Node Number

Keating Street

S

R

 

2

8

7

N

Florence Heights Drive

S

R

 

7

9

B

2

9

3

5

7

8

9

6

10

11

Vistro Node Number AM Level of Service PM Level of Service

1 B B

2 B B

3 A A

4 A A

5 C B

6 F D

7 B B

8 B B

9 B E

10 A A

11 A A

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

E
l
i
z
a
b
e
t
h
 
S

t
r
e
e
t

21

AutoCAD SHX Text
/PLANNING

jsimmers
Text Box
January 2019

jsimmers
Text Box
22



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  23  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

3.3 DESIGN CONCEPT ALTERNATIVES  

The four intersection configuration alternatives being considered with this project are described below.  

All the intersection alternatives include bicycle and pedestrian accommodations as well as access 

modifications and intersection lighting. 

3.3.1 ALTERNATIVE 1:  A SINGLE MULTI-LANE ROUNDABOUT INTERSECTION 

The first alternative is a standard four-legged multi-lane intersection. This alignment connects all four 

legs of the intersection (Main Street, Florence Heights Drive, SR287, and SR79B) at a single point using a 

multi-lane roundabout geometry. With this alternative, the roundabout central island is in the 

southwest corner of the existing intersection and the south leg of the intersection will have to be 

significantly shifted to achieve appropriate entry speeds and deflection.  This alignment will effectively 

create an east-west through movement that does not exist under existing conditions.  The Alterative 1 

concept alignment is provided in Figure 9. 

3.3.2 ALTERNATIVE 2:  A SINGLE MULTI-LANE ROUNDABOUT AND T- INTERSECTION 

The second alternative is composed of two separate intersections.  A three-legged single multi-lane 

roundabout is located near the center of the existing intersection and connects Main Street, SR 287, 

and SR 79B.  The second intersection is an unsignalized T-intersection with Florence Heights Drive, 

located on SR 79B, south of the proposed multi-lane roundabout.  The new T-intersection relocates the 

existing Florence Heights Drive intersection approximately 200 feet south of the existing intersection. 

The Alterative 2 concept alignment is provided in Figure 10. 

3.3.3 ALTERNATIVE 3:  A MULTI-LANE ROUNDABOUT AND A SINGLE LANE 

ROUNDABOUT 

The third alternative is composed of two separate roundabout intersections.  A three-legged multi-lane 

roundabout, similar to the Alternative 2 roundabout, located near the center of the existing 

intersection that connects Main Street, SR 287, and SR 79B.  The second intersection is a three-legged 

single lane roundabout on SR 79B with Florence Heights Drive, south of the proposed multi-lane 

roundabout.  The new single lane roundabout will relocate the Florence Heights Drive intersection 

approximately 260 feet south of the existing intersection. The Alterative 3 concept alignment is 

provided in Figure 11. 

3.3.4 ALTERNATIVE 4:  A SIGNALIZED INTERSECTION AND A T- INTERSECTION 

The fourth alternative is composed of two separate intersections.  A signalized T-intersection located 

near the northwest corner of the existing intersection which connects Main Street, SR 287, and SR 79B.  

The driveway to the Burger King property may function as a fourth leg to this intersection. The second 

intersection is an unsignalized T-intersection with Florence Heights Drive, south of the proposed signal.  

The new T-intersection will relocate the Florence Heights Drive intersection approximately 160 feet 

south of the existing intersection. The Alterative 4 concept alignment is provided in Figure 12. 



jsimmers
Text Box
FIGURE 9ALTERNATIVE 1SINGLE ROUNDABOUT



jsimmers
Text Box
FIGURE 10ALTERNATIVE 2ROUNDABOUT AND T-INTERSECTION



jsimmers
Text Box
FIGURE 11ALTERNATIVE 3DUAL ROUNDABOUT



jsimmers
Text Box
FIGURE 12ALTERNATIVE 4SIGNAL AND T-INTERSECTION



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  28  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

3.4 EVALUATION OF ALTERNATIVES 

The performance of each alternative is summarized below for each specific criterion. Traffic metrics are 

the main evaluation criteria for evaluating the alternatives. A detailed discussion of these criteria is 

presented in the Traffic Engineering Report Addendum. 

3.4.1 ALTERNATIVE CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

Using the design hourly projections based on the recommended 2040 traffic projections, VISSIM 

(microsimulation) models were developed to analyze traffic operations of the following alternatives: 

1. No-Build Alternative - This alternative consists of the existing intersection configuration and 

existing traffic control  

2. Alternative 1: Multi-Lane Roundabout - This alternative consolidates the intersection of 

SR287/SR79/Florence Heights into a single intersection with a multi-lane roundabout 

3. Alternative 2: Roundabout & T-Intersection - This alternative includes a multilane roundabout 

at the intersection of SR278 and SR79B and a T-intersection at the intersection of Florence 

Heights and Sr79B 

4. Alternative 3: Double Roundabout - This alternative proposes two roundabouts, one for the 

intersection of SR287 and SR79B and another for the intersection of Florence Heights and SR79B 

5. Alternative 4: Traffic Signal & T-Intersection - This alternative includes a signalized intersection 

for SR28 and SR79B and a T-intersection for Florence Heights  

  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  29  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

LEVEL OF SERVICE RESULTS 

Delay was obtained from the VISSIM models and summarized by intersection approach. Tables 10 and 

11 show delay and corresponded Level of Service (LOS) for each alternative based on the 2040 traffic 

volume projections.  

Table 10  Delay and Level of Service – 2040 Projected AM Peak Hour 

VISSIM RESULTS 

AM Peak Hour - Delay in sec/veh  

No-Build 
Multi-Lane 

Roundabout 

Roundabout & 

T-Intersection 

Double 

Roundabout 

Traffic Signal & 

T-Intersection 

D
E

LA
Y

 

N
O

R
T

H
 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 

NB 49.1 (E) 7.8 (A) 28.0 (D) 12.4 (B) 26.7 (C) 

WB 87.4 (F) 22.3 (C) N/A N/A N/A 

SB 0.4 (A) 2.4 (A) 3.0 (A) 2.1 (A) 7.6 (A) 

EB 83.2 (F) 4.1 (A) 12.3 (B) 3.0 (A) 13.2 (B) 

S
O

U
T

H
 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 

NB N/A N/A 3.2 (A) 6.2 (A) 0.3 (A) 

WB N/A N/A 15.5 (C) 8.0 (A) 14.5 (B) 

SB N/A N/A 3.0 (A) 1.7 (A) 2.6 (A) 

EB N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

AVG DELAY (F) 7.1 (A) 11.7 (B) 5.1 (A) 11.9 (B) 

Table 11  Delay and Level of Service – 2040 Projected PM Peak Hour 

VISSIM RESULTS 

PM Peak Hour - Delay in sec/veh 

No-Build 
Multi-Lane 

Roundabout 

Roundabout & 

T-Intersection 

Double 

Roundabout 

Traffic Signal & 

T-Intersection 

D
E

LA
Y

 

N
O

R
T

H
 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 

NB 59.3 (F) 4.0 (A) 13.5 (B) 11.5 (B) 17.8 (B) 

WB 118.7 (F) 25.3 (D) N/A N/A N/A 

SB 0.9 (A) 6.7 (A) 17.3 (C) 4.4 (A) 11.5 (B) 

EB 89.8 (F) 1.0 (A) 4.0 (A) 3.6 (A) 15.9 (B) 

S
O

U
T

H
 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 

NB N/A N/A 0.5 (A) 6.7 (A) 0.4 (A) 

WB N/A N/A 81.0 (F) 8.9 (A) 76.8 (F) 

SB N/A N/A 2.7 (A) 1.4 (A) 1.6 (A) 

EB N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

AVG DELAY (F) 9.7 (A) 18.4 (C) 5.9 (A) 19.7 (B) 

From Tables 10 and 11, the No-Build alternative is anticipated to operate at unacceptable LOS (LOS F) in 

both the AM and PM peak hours in 2040. The expected growth in traffic volumes on SR287 and existing 

traffic control (stop control) at the current intersection are the primary factors for the anticipated 

operations at LOS F in the No-build Alternative. 

 

The VISSIM results indicated that Alternatives 1 – 4 are anticipated to operate very similar at LOS A and 

LOS B except for the Roundabout & T-intersection Alternative that is expected to operate at LOS C in 

the PM peak hour under the traffic conditions evaluated.  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  30  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

QUEUE LENGTHS RESULTS 

Maximum queue lengths were also obtained from the microsimulation models (VISSIM models). Queue 

lengths were measured for each approach and are summarized in Tables 12 and 13. Note that in cases 

where there is more than one lane per approach, the highest value was selected as the maximum 

queue length.  

Table 12  Maximum Queue Lengths – 2040 Projected AM Peak Hour 

VISSIM RESULTS 

Max Queue Lengths (feet) - AM Peak Hour 

No-Build 
Multi-Lane 

Roundabout 

Roundabout & 

T-Intersection 

Double 

Roundabout 

Traffic Signal & 

T-Intersection 

M
A

X
 Q

U
E

U
E

 N
O

R
T

H
 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 

NB 763 146 568 345 415 

WB 830 264 N/A N/A N/A 

SB 75 150 126 135 105 

EB 12201 328 1031 249 173 

S
O

U
T

H
 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 

NB N/A N/A 141 198 0 

WB N/A N/A 290 316 235 

SB N/A N/A 340 61 165 

EB N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

1Exceeded model limits 

Table 13  Maximum Queue Lengths – 2040 Projected PM Peak Hour 

VISSIM RESULTS 

Max Queue Lengths (feet) - PM Peak Hour 

No-Build 
Multi-Lane 

Roundabout 

Roundabout & 

T-Intersection 

Double 

Roundabout 

Traffic Signal & 

T-Intersection 

M
A

X
 Q

U
E

U
E

 N
O

R
T

H
 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 

NB 678 99 362 392 311 

WB 10301 401 N/A N/A N/A 

SB 105 221 1030 211 190 

EB 12201 384 149 192 184 

S
O

U
T

H
 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 

NB N/A N/A 0 223 0 

WB N/A N/A 1002 329 996 

SB N/A N/A 180 62 134 

EB N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

1Exceeded model limits 

From Tables 12 and 13, excessive queue lengths were recorded for the No-Build Alternative. 

Alternatives 1 – 4 are anticipated to have maximum queues that are reasonable (< 500 feet) except for 

the eastbound and westbound approaches of Alternative 2 (Roundabout & T-intersection). Note that 

queue lengths for alternatives with T-intersections on the southbound approaches are anticipated to be 

lower than the required Intersection Sight Distance (ISD). As a result, the location of the T-intersection 

would be based on ISD.  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  31  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

TRAVEL TIMES RESULTS 

In order to collect VISSIM travel times, the limits of the models were at defined as Green Tree Inn 

driveway to the west, Park Street to the east, Saguaro Gardens driveway to the south, and Celaya Street 

to the north. The results of the travel time results are shown in Tables 14 and 15.  

Table 14  Travel Time – 2040 Projected AM Peak Hour 

VISSIM RESULTS 

Travel Time (seconds) - AM Peak Hour 

No-Build 
Multi-Lane 

Roundabout 

Roundabout & 

T-Intersection 

Double 

Roundabout 

Traffic Signal & 

T-Intersection 

T
R

A
V

E
L 

T
IM

E
 

NBLT 157.7 60.0 90.2 71.7 78.7 

NBTT 88.0 42.1 53.0 53.0 54.4 

NBRT 48.2 49.2 35.8 36.4 31.4 

WBLT 160.0 63.5 50.0 44.5 49.4 

WBTT 268.4 68.7 106.9 81.1 100.6 

WBRT 182.9  57.3 74.7 59.1 77.7 

SBLT 46.7 52.9 71.9 61.8 70.6 

SBTT 32.2 41.5 48.0 52.5 51.8 

SBRT 30.7 37.7 37.0 36.6 34.0 

EBLT 230.2 48.4 55.9 40.8 47.6 

EBTT 117.9 56.4 69.8 62.1 66.4 

EBRT 106.9 40.0 52.6 49.1 50.6 

TOTAL TT 122.5 51.5 62.2 54.1 59.4 

 

Table 15  Travel Time – 2040 Projected PM Peak Hour 

VISSIM RESULTS 

Travel Time (seconds) - PM Peak Hour 

No-Build 
Multi-Lane 

Roundabout 

Roundabout & 

T-Intersection 

Double 

Roundabout 

Traffic Signal & 

T-Intersection 

T
R

A
V

E
L 

T
IM

E
 

NBLT 159.1 51.3 61.6 72.7 63.0 

NBTT 88.9 39.5 45.8 52.9 52.5 

NBRT 44.0 49.4 35.8 36.1 36.0 

WBLT 308.9 60.5 134.7 49.6 126.8 

WBTT 437.5 68.4 228.0 78.9 227.6 

WBRT 355.9 76.4 225.0 79.6 117.8 

SBLT 47.5 54.8 60.4 65.5 63.2 

SBTT 33.6 44.8 46.9 54.0 56.8 

SBRT 29.6 41.6 38.8 39.0 37.4 

EBLT 242.1 49.6 65.0 40.9 53.9 

EBTT 125.4 55.0 69.5 61.6 65.0 

EBRT 109.0 40.7 56.8 49.9 51.8 

TOTAL TT 165.1 52.7 89.0 56.7 79.3 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  32  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

The travel times in Tables 14 and 15 represent the average amount of time that is expected to take 

vehicles to traverse the study intersection based on the VISSIM model limits previously described (i.e. 

NBRT is from the Saguaro Gardens driveway to Park Street). 

The estimated travel times are consistent with delays and LOS documented in Tables 10 and 11. Travel 

time recorded for the No-Build Alternative is approximately 138% higher than the travel time recorded 

for Alternative 1 (Multi-Lane Roundabout) in the AM peak hour and 213% higher in the PM peak hour 

for the same alternative.  

In general, the Multi-Lane Roundabout Alternative and Double Roundabout Alternative performed 

better than the other two proposed alternatives under these volumes evaluated. 

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS OF ALTERNATIVES 

The SR287/SR79B intersection is located on an area that is expected to have a significant growth in 

traffic volumes. While the design team has used sound methodology in developing the traffic 

projections, there could be extreme variability in the actual volumes.  For this reason, the design team 

evaluated the sensitivity of each alternative to increased traffic volumes.  The results of which are 

shown in Table 16 below.     

Table 16  Delay and Level of Service – Sensitivity AM Peak Hour 

Alternative LOS 2040 Design Volumes LOS Sensitivity Volumes 

AM Peak PM Peak AM Peak PM Peak 

No-Build F F N/A N/A 

Multi-Lane Roundabout A A E D 

Roundabout & T-Intersection B C D C 

Double Roundabout A A C C 

Traffic Signal and T-Intersection B B C C 

Note:  The sensitivity analysis used volumes corresponding to a 6.6% CAGR while the design volumes used a 5.1% CAGR.   

As expected, each alternative performed at a lower level of service under the higher volume scenario; 

however, Alternatives 2, 3 and 4 still perform acceptably even with a 29% increase in annual growth rate. 

3.4.2 ACCESS AND CIRCULATION 

All four alternatives provide similar access to the surrounding roadway network.  Direct access to 

Keating Street and Elizabeth Street can be maintained with each of the alternatives by extending each 

roadway to connect to the new legs of the intersection.  

Direct access to Florence Heights Drive will be maintained with all four alternatives.  The Florence 

Heights Drive alignment will be shifted to the south for Alternatives 2, 3 and 4.  The shift of Florence 

Heights Drive to the south will require approximately 1000-1500 feet of Florence Heights Drive to be 

reconstructed.  The relocated Florence Heights Drive (ie the east leg of the south roundabout) profile 

grade will have to rise to cross the SCIDD culvert and then drop approximately 8-10 feet in elevation to 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  33  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

match the existing roadway.  Specific profile details will have to be evaluated in the design stages since 

topographic survey was not collected along Florence Heights Drive for the concept stage. 

Direct access to the Canal Road for maintenance access will be reconstructed in each of the four 

alternatives. 

Campbell Avenue is the only access to and from SR 287 for the properties to the southwest of the 

intersection, including the adjacent church property.  A full access median opening at Campbell Avenue, 

including a westbound left turn lane, can be incorporated into the design of the west leg of the 

intersection for Alternatives 1, 2 and 3.  For Alternative 4, there is limited space for a westbound left 

turn onto Campbell Avenue and an eastbound left turn into the Burger King driveway.  Therefore, an 

eastbound left turn may have to be prohibited or back to back left turn lanes will be constructed with 

substandard storage length. 

The existing right in, right out driveway at the Burger King property will be significantly impacted by 

each alternative.  To maintain direct access with Alternative 1, a 150’ driveway extension will have to be 

constructed to connect to the west leg of the new roundabout.  Alternatives 2 and 3 will require the 

direct access to the Burger King driveway to be reconstructed as the 4th leg of the roundabout.  This will 

maintain the existing right in, right out operation of the driveway.  This condition will require right of 

way and a construction easement.  Alternative 4 will effectively make the Burger King driveway function 

as the forth leg of the signalized intersection.  This will require specialized signal timing and potential 

split phasing.  As discussed above, an eastbound left turn into the Burger King may need to be 

prohibited to provide access to Campbell Avenue. 

The existing right in, right out driveway at the auto repair property on the east side of the intersection 

will be significantly impacted by each alternative.  Alternative 1 will require the direct access onto SR 

79B to be closed and not relocated due to the proximity to the central island of the roundabout.  The 

existing access onto Keating Street will be maintained.   Direct access onto the south leg of the new 

intersection can be relocated and reconstructed with a driveway extension for Alternatives 2, 3 and 4.   

Table 17  Summary of Access Impacts 

Property Use Need Parcel 

Alternative 

1 - Single 

MultiLane 

RBT 

2 - RBT and 

South T-

Unsig 

3 - Double 

RBT 

4 - Signal and 

South T-

Unsig 

Burger King ROW/ 

TCE 

202.06.001F Construction 

Impact Only - 

Connect to 

Existing DW 

Reconstruct 

Driveway 

Reconstruct 

Driveway 

Construction 

Impact Only - 

Connect to 

Existing DW 

Family Dollar TCE 202.06.001Q Construction 

Impact Only - 

Connect to 

Existing DW 

Construction 

Impact Only - 

Connect to 

Existing DW 

Construction 

Impact Only - 

Connect to 

Existing DW 

Construction 

Impact Only - 

Connect to 

Existing DW 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  34  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

SE Vacant Lot 

(south of SCID) 

ROW 202.04.042H No Impact No Existing 

Access 

No Existing 

Access 

No Existing 

Access 

Church ROW 202.06.002A No Impact to 

Access 

No Impact to 

Access 

No Impact to 

Access 

No Impact to 

Access 

South Leg 

Vacant 

ROW 202.04.0530 No Existing 

Access 

No Impact No Impact No Impact 

Florence Heights 

Residence 

ROW 202.04.049A No Impact to 

Access 

No Impact No Impact No Impact 

Auto Shop ROW 202.04.0510 Close Existing 

Access 

Close Existing 

Access 

Close Existing 

Access 

Close Existing 

Access 

 

3.4.3 MULTIMODAL ACCOMMODATIONS 

All four alternatives will provide urban intersection geometry and facilities including raised curb, 

sidewalk and ADA access ramps.   

For roundabouts, it is imperative to provide proper guidance for pedestrians. Pedestrian facilities can 

be provided in a traditional manner, with sidewalks leading up to and through the intersections. 

Crosswalks across the roundabout legs provide a median refuge and allow the pedestrians to break 

their crossing in two movements while they look for approaching cars. Roundabouts can be a challenge 

for people with disabilities to navigate, as a result, measures would need to be taken during final design 

to ensure the roundabout can be navigated by all users. 

The signalized intersection in Alternative 4 will utilize striped crosswalks with pedestrian push button 

facilities and pedestrian signal facilities.  The geometry of the eastbound channelized right turn lane 

should be designed to encourage lower speeds through the intersection to improve the safety of 

pedestrians attempting to cross the channelized turn lane. 

The Florence Heights Drive T-intersection will be stop controlled, thus pedestrian crosswalks will not be 

striped across SR 79B at this location for Alternatives 2 and 4. 

Bicycle lanes or paved shoulders can be provided on the outside of the travel lanes leading to the 

signalized intersection in Alternative 4. Cyclists would need to weave across traffic lanes to make left 

turns at the signalized intersection, or they could dismount and use the pedestrian crosswalks. 

Bicycle lanes can be provided on the outside of travel lanes leading to the roundabout intersection. 

Bicycle lanes would end prior to the roundabout circulatory roadway in accordance with the guidelines 

provided in the National Cooperative Highway Research Program Report 672 Roundabouts: An 

informational Guide, Second Edition. Bicyclists would either traverse the roundabout in the circulatory 

travel way, the same way a vehicle does, or they would have the option to use wide shared-use paths 

on the perimeter of the roundabout. 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  35  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

3.4.4 SAFETY 

The expected number of crashes can be estimated using the Highway Safety Manual (HSM) 

methodologies. The change in expected number of crashes based on the different intersection controls 

provides a sense of the potential safety improvements that each alternative may achieve. Each 

alternative was broken up into various components that can be evaluated by the HSM methods and 

then combined. (ie. the dual roundabout alternative was evaluated as a combination of a multi-lane 

roundabout and a single lane roundabout) The exiting (no-build alternative) was evaluated as a 

combination of several t-intersections, merges, and diverges.  The predicted crashes per year using this 

methodology are provided in Table 18. 

Table 18  Safety Evaluation 

Alternative 

Predicted 

Crashes 

per year 

No-Build Alternative 15.37 

Alternative 1 - Single Roundabout 4.73 

Alternative 2 - Roundabout + T-intersection 7.81 

Alternative 3 - Double Roundabout 6.81 

Alternative 4 - Signal + T-intersection 9.04 

 

When comparing a roundabout to a signalized intersection there is an expected 48% reduction in the 

total number of crashes, and a 78% reduction in crashes that result in injuries. A roundabout typically 

reduces the number of angle crashes, which typically result in more severe crashes. 

The HSM does cover the expected number of crashes between a four-legged intersection and two 

three-legged intersections (T-intersections). With the minor road traffic volume exceeding 30% of the 

total entering intersection volume, which it does at this intersection, there are 33% fewer injury crashes 

expected and 10% fewer PDO crashes expected for two T-intersections compared to a four-legged 

intersection. The crash reduction provided is for an urban environment, but there may be similar 

benefits in a more rural setting like that of the SR 287 and SR 79B intersection. 

3.4.5 RIGHT-OF-WAY 

All four alternatives will have right-of-way impacts associated with the improvements. 

Alternative 1 will require the south leg of the intersection (SR-79B) to be shifted 100’ to the west, 

requiring approximately 23,000 SF of new right of way from the church property on the southwest 

corner.  This alternative will also require additional right of way from the south end of the auto repair 

shop property and from the SCIDD channel right of way for the widening of Florence Heights Dr.  

Alternative 1 will result in a large area of existing right of way, northwest of the new central island, 

being unused.  This area currently functions as a detention basin for storm water.  It may be possible for 

a portion of this existing right of way to be sold for future development. 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  36  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Alternatives 2, 3 and 4 all have similar right of way needs.  These needs include acquiring new right of 

way on the southeast corner of the Florence Heights Drive intersection.  This area consists of the SCIDD 

channel and a privately owner parcel south of the SCIDD property.  The amount of right of way needed 

will depend on the shift of the intersection to the south and the Florence Heights Drive match point.  

Alternatives 2, 3 and 4 will also all result in existing right of way that is unused on the east side of the 

intersection, adjacent to the auto repair property.  A portion of this unused right of way may be able to 

be sold for development.  Alternative 4 results in the largest area of unused right of way. 

Alternatives 2 and 3 will also require additional right of way from the Burger King property on the north 

side of the roundabout.  At the driveway access will be reconstructed to be the 4th leg of the 

roundabout, the right of way will need to be extended to include the geometric features of the 

roundabout including the splitter island and the access ramps.  An additional construction easement 

beyond the required right of way may also be needed. 

Table 19 Summary of Property Needs (Sq Ft) 

Property Use Need Parcel 

Alternative 

1 - Single 

MultiLane 

RBT 

2 - RBT and 

South T-

Unsig 

3 - Double 

RBT 

4 - Signal 

and South 

T-Unsig 

Burger King ROW/TCE 202.06.001F  1850 1850 1850 

Family Dollar TCE 202.06.001Q 1510 1510 1510 1510 

SE Vacant Lot (south 

of SCIDD) 
ROW 202.04.042H  19930 42150 8510 

Church ROW 202.06.002A 17760    

South Leg Vacant Land ROW 202.04.0530 5710    

Florence Heights 

Residence 
ROW 202.04.049A 9800    

Auto Shop ROW 202.04.0510 2810    

  Total 37590 23290 45510 11870 

       

  SCIDD Canal 49745 53350 28155 54325 

3.4.6 IRRIGATION CANAL 

All for alternatives will impact the existing SCIDD channel structure on SR 79B.  Alternative 1 will have 

the most significant impact requiring an entirely new structure over the canal along the new south leg 

alignment.   Alternatives 2, 3 and 4 will have similar impacts to the SCIDD structure which includes 

relocating the existing headwalls and extending the structure to the west.  Alternative 4 will require the 

longest extension to accommodate the new SR-79B alignment and cross section width. 

3.4.7 DRAINAGE PATTERNS 

Alternative 1 avoids most of the existing detention basin in the middle of the existing intersection, thus, 

minimal impacts to drainage flows are anticipated with this alternative.  Consideration of pavement 

drainage may be required to not adversely impact the church property to the south with Alternative 1. 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  37  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Alternatives 2, 3 and 4 all impact the existing detention basin in the center of the existing intersection 

and will require the construction of new faculties to hold the pavement drainage and existing storm 

water the reaches the basin.  Alternative 4 has the smallest impact to the existing basin out of the three 

alternatives. 

3.4.8 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS 

All four intersections will have similar environmental impacts as it is assumed that data recovery efforts 

will be required for any work located within the project area.  The area of the new project footprint is 

similar for all four alternatives with Alternative 4 being the smallest at 217,000 sf and Alternative 2 

being the largest at 237,000 sf.  When the demolition of existing pavement is taken into consideration, 

the entire existing right of way will be impacted by the project activities. 

Table 20 provides a comparison of key variations in the evaluation criteria. 

3.4.9    CONSTRUCTION COSTS 

All four alternatives require the full removal and reconstruction of the existing intersection. A planning 

level cost comparison of Alternatives is provided in Section 5.  Generally, all four alternatives have are 

estimated to have similar construction costs that range between $2.6M and $2.9M.  

Table 20 Key Variations in Evaluation Criteria 

Criteria 
Alternative 1 

One Multi Lane Roundabout 

Alternative 2 

One Multi Lane Roundabout and 

One T-Intersection 

Alternative 3 

One Multi Lane Roundabout and 

One Single Lane Roundabout 

Alternative 4 

One Signalized Intersection and 

One T-Intersection 

Access Medium Impacts 

Close existing SR 79B auto 

shop driveway  

Construction impacts to 

Burger King and Dollar 

Store driveways 

Existing access to Canal Rd 

from SR 79B is blocked 

 

Medium Impacts 

Close existing SR 79B auto 

shop driveway  

Reconstruct Burger King 

driveway  

Construction impacts to 

Dollar Store driveway 

Proposed Florence Heights 

Dr is relocated 185 LF 

south of existing 

intersection 

Medium Impacts 

Close existing SR 79B auto 

shop driveway 

Reconstruct Burger King 

driveway  

Existing intersection at 

Florence Heights Dr and 

Elizabeth St to be 

reconfigured 

Proposed Florence Heights 

Dr is located 275 LF south 

of existing intersection 

Low Impacts 

Close existing SR 79B auto 

shop driveway 

Reconfigure existing 

intersection at Canal Rd 

and SR 79B 

Existing Burger King 

driveway to be signalized 

Construction impacts 

during the reconfiguration 

of the Elizabeth St access 

and Keating St access  

Proposed Florence 

Heights Dr is located 150 

LF south of existing 

intersection 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  38  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Right of 

Way 

High Impacts 

SCIDD canal property – 

south side of Florence 

Heights - approx.  

49,700 SF 

Undeveloped property – 

south of SCID canal – 

approx. 0 SF 

Other Private properties 

(combined) – approx. 

37,600 SF 

 

Medium Impacts 

SCIDD canal property – 

south side of Florence 

Heights - approx.  

53,300 SF 

Undeveloped property – 

south of SCID canal – 

approx. 19,900 SF 

Other Private properties 

(combined) – approx. 

3,400 SF 

 

High Impacts 

SCIDD canal property – 

south side of Florence 

Heights - approx.  

28,200 SF 

Undeveloped property – 

south of SCID canal – 

approx. 42,200 SF 

Other Private properties 

(combined) – approx. 

3,400 SF 

 

Medium Impacts 

SCIDD canal property – 

south side of Florence 

Heights - approx.  

54,300 SF 

Undeveloped property – 

south of SCID canal – 

approx. 8,500 SF 

Other Private properties 

(combined) – approx. 

3,400 SF 

 
Irrigation 

Canal 

High Impact 

Proposed impacts 2300 SF 

of existing canal 

Crossing relocated and 

reconstructed southwest 

of existing 

Low Impact 

Proposed does not directly 

impact existing canal,  

surface modifications to 

headwalls needed and 

possible extension of 

existing structure 

 

Low Impact 

Proposed does not directly 

impact existing canal,  

surface modifications to 

headwalls needed and 

possible extension of 

existing structure 

Medium Impact 

Proposed Impacts 280 SF 

of existing canal 

Drainage Low Impact 

Existing detention basin 

significantly avoided 

Proposed truck apron of 

Roundabout overlays 112 

SF 30” SD 

High Impact 

Existing detention basin 

completely covered 

Proposed leg of 

Roundabout overlays 112 

LF 30” SD 

High Impact 

Existing detention basin 

completely covered 

Proposed leg of 

Roundabout overlays 112 

LF 30” SD 

South roundabout impacts 

on existing flows 

Medium Impact 

Existing detention basin 

partially covered 

Proposed SR 79B overlays 

90LF 30” SD 

Proposed SR 287 overlays 

70 SF 30” SD 

Environ-

mental 

(Area of 

Footprint) 

 

Medium Impact – 

228,130 SF Footprint 

 

Medium Impact – 

237,700 SF Footprint 

 

Medium Impact – 

231,126 SF Footprint 

 

Medium Impact – 

216,750 SF Footprint 

 

  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  39  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

3.5 EVALUATIONS 

The four intersection alternatives were evaluated along the 11 previously discussed criteria. The results 

are summarized in Table 21 and illustrate which alternative performed best compared to each other. 

The rating scale indicates the most and least desirable alternative within each evaluation criteria.  

Table 21 Alternative Analysis 

Criteria 

Alternative 1 

One Multi-Lane 

Roundabout 

Alternative 2 

Multi-Lane Roundabout and  

T-Intersection 

Alternative 3 

Two Roundabouts 

Alternative 4 

Signalized Intersection 

and T-Intersection 

Level of Service  

(2040 Volumes) 
2 1 3 1 

Queue Lengths 2 1 3 2 

Travel Time 

(2040 Volumes) 
3 2 3 2 

Access & Circulation 2 2 2 3 

Multimodal Accommodations 2 2 2 3 

Safety 3 2 3 1 

Right-of-way 1 2 1 2 

Irrigation Canal Impacts 1 2 2 2 

Drainage Patterns 3 2 2 2 

Environmental Impact Area 1 1 1 1 

Construction Costs 2 2 2 2 

Totals 22 19 24 21 

Rating Scale 1 - Least Desirable  2 - Neutral 3 - Most Desirable   

 

Rating Criteria Explanation 

Criteria  Least Desirable   Neutral  Most Desirable 

Level of Service  

(2040 Volumes) 
>10 Sec Delay <10 Sec Delay 

< 10 Sec Delay & 

< 15 Sec on all legs 

Queue Lengths (Max Length) >800 ft 400-800 ft < 400 ft 

Travel Time (Average) 

(2040 Volumes) 
<60 Sec 60-80 Sec >80 Sec 

Access & Circulation Access is lost Access is relocated Access is same 

Multimodal Accommodations No bike/ped facilities 

Includes Roundabouts  

(less bike/ped friendly 

 than signals) 

No Roundabouts 

Safety >9 Pred Crashes 5-9 Pred Crashes <5 Pred Crashes 

Right-of-way Multiple Acquisition Minimal Acquisition No Acquisition 

Irrigation Canal Impacts Reconstruct Crossing Modify/Extend Crossing No Impact 

Drainage Patterns 
Major Impact to 

Basin 
Minor Impact to Basin Maintain Existing Basin 

Environmental Impact Area Major Recovery Minor Mitigations No Impact 

    



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  40  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

3.5.1 PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE 

The evaluation analysis resulted in Alternative 3, the dual roundabout option, as the preferred 

alternative.  Generally, roundabouts tend to provide increased operations and safety performance for 

intersections with moderate traffic and in urban or suburban environments.  The results at this 

evaluation are consistent with that trend as the greatest operational and safety improvements at this 

intersection are predicted to be achieved with the dual roundabout alternative.  The remaining criteria, 

including drainage, right of way, and cost impacts, all result in relatively similar performances for each 

of the alternatives.   

  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  41  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

4. MAJOR DESIGN FEATURES (PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE) 

4.1 INTRODUCTION 

The project will be implemented in accordance with American Association of State Highway and 

Transportation Officials (AASHTO) and ADOT standards. Final pavement markings and signing within the 

ADOT right of way shall conform to the Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) and the 

ADOT Signing and Marking Standard Drawings.  All signs shall be incompliance with the Traffic 

Engineering Manual of Approved Signs.  Additional guidance manuals utilized in the project 

development process include: 

 A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets (Green Book), AASHTO, 2011 

 National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) Report 672 Roundabouts: An 

informational Guide, Second Edition 

 Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), Federal Highway Administration 

(FHWA), 2009 Edition 

 Arizona Supplement to the 2009 MUTCD (AZMUTCD), ADOT, January 2012 

 ADOT Roadway Design Guidelines (RDG), ADOT, 2012 

 Pinal County Subdivision & Infrastructure Design Manual (PCSID), Pinal County  

4.2 DESIGN CONTROLS 

SR 287 and SR 79B are both categorized as urban minor arterials. The approach posted speed limit near 

the intersection is set to 35 mph. As such the design speed for the approaches to the proposed 

roundabout is 40 mph. The project design year is 2040. Table Table 22 lists the roadway geometric 

design controls and sources for these standards. 

Table 22 Design Controls 

Geometric Element Controlling Standard Source 

Lane Widths Mainline Through Lanes 12’  RDG Section 301.3 

 Intersection Lane 11’ RDG Section 301.3 

 Bicycle Lane 4’ (without curb), 5’ (with curb) Bike Guide Section 4.5 

Sidewalk Width  

5’ 

(10’ wide when used for bikes and 

pedestrians) 

RDG Section 310 

Horizontal Min. Degree of Curve  0º15’ RDG Section 203.2 

Stopping Sight Distance 300 ft RDG Figure 201.2 

Max. Superelevation 0.040 ft/ft RDG Table 202.1A 

Max. Gradient 7% (Level Terrain) RDG Table 204.3 

Min. Gradient 0.40% RDG Section 204.3 

Max Vertical Grade Break without Curves 0.40% RDG Section 204.4 

Vertical Curve Length Min. 3 x Design Speed RDG Table 204.4 

Cross Slope 0.020 ft/ft RDG Section 301.2 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  42  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Roadside Recovery Area Width 14’-16’ (5:1-4:1 Fill Slope) RDG Section 303.2 

Horizontal Clearance in Curbed Sections 1.5’ (from the face of curb) RDG Section 303.2 

Front Slope (traversable) 4:1 or flatter RDG Section 303.2  

Design Vehicle WB-62 RDG Table 407.2 

4.3 HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL ALIGNMENT 

The new construction centerline alignments for SR 287 and SR 79B begin and terminate along the 

existing roadway centerlines. The existing roadway centerline information had to be reconstructed 

based on new survey data due to missing information on the record drawings for the original 

construction. The exact project limits will be defined in the final design stages.  

The project area terrain generally slopes from the south to the north. The proposed roadway profiles 

will be designed to match the existing roadway elevation at termini locations. The proposed 

intersections should be the high point along the SR 287 and 79B profiles which allow for increased 

visibility for approaching motorists. An existing bridge over the Florence Canal is also a constraint 

impacting the SR 79B profile.   

Additional topographic survey will be required during the design stages to determine the limits of the 

Florence Heights Dr improvements.  These limits will be dictated by the profile to clear the existing 

SCIDD culvert and return to existing grade utilizing standard grades and vertical curves. 

Concept level drawings for the two-roundabout preferred alternative are provided in Appendix A.  

These drawings include preliminary horizontal and vertical geometry as well as preliminary fastest path 

sketches and truck turning movement exhibits. 

As these intersections are on state highways that carry significant truck traffic, the accommodations for 

truck turning movements are critical for the roundabout design. An important step in designing a 

multilane roundabout is designing the roundabout to accommodate the design vehicle path within the 

envelope of one lane or allow large vehicles to sweep across multiple lanes. The Wisconsin and 

Minnesota Department of Transportation have developed a classification system to identify these 

alternatives.  

 Case 1 – Trucks use multiple lanes to enter and to circulate at a roundabout 

 Case 2 – Trucks remain in their lane on entry, but use multiple lanes to circulate once inside 

the roundabout 

 Case 3 – Trucks remain in their lane on entries and during circulation 

The multilane roundabout in the proposed alternative is classified as a Case 1 Multilane Roundabout.  

Further refinement to the proposed horizontal layout can be done in later design stages to achieve a 

Case 2 classification.  Increasing to a Case 2 classification is recommended due to the high truck 

percentages on these corridors, however, it should be noted that the tradeoffs include a slightly larger 

roundabout inscribed circle diameter and decreased flexibility with entry and exit design details. 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  43  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

4.4 ACCESS 

In general, the preferred alternative will allow all existing access locations to be maintained or 

reconstructed.  The Burger King driveway on the northwest quadrant of the intersection will have the 

greatest impact.  The existing driveway access will be reconfigured to function as the 4th leg of the 

roundabout.  This may require minor modifications to the site circulation and parking.  

Direct access onto SR79B from the auto shop property on the east side of the intersection will also be 

impacted.  This access may be closed or reconstructed to connect to SR79B outside of the circulatory 

roadway.  This property’s access to Keating Street, on the north side of the property, will remain in 

place.   

The relocation of Florence Heights Drive will require the intersection with Elizabeth Street to be 

relocated to connect to the east leg of the south roundabout. 

4.5 RIGHT-OF-WAY 

The proposed improvement will have right of way impacts.   

The southern roundabout and the realignment of Florence Heights Drive will require new right of way 

from the property south of Florence Heights Drive and the SCIDD property.  An easement of new right 

of way from SCIDD will also be required for this realignment. 

New right of way will be required at the north commercial property to construct the access to the 

Burger King and temporary construction easements (TCE) will be required on the northwest quadrant of 

the project for reconstruction of the access to both the Dollar Store and Burger King properties.    

The preferred alternative will result in unused RW east of the north roundabout and north of the south 

roundabout that may be able to be sold or repurposed after the project.  

4.6 DRAINAGE 

The selected alternative will feature a closed storm drain system. Stormwater within the reconstructed 

roadway areas would flow along new curb and gutter line to inlets. A storm drain pipe system will 

collect and discharge the stormwater along the existing drainage system and flow patterns. 

Additionally, the preferred alternative may to accommodate pavement drainage in relocated 

stormwater detention basins within the existing intersection footprint.  

A Drainage Report detailing the pavement drainage needs and size of future facilities will be prepared 

as part of the design stages.  

4.7 SECTION 401, 402, AND 404 OF THE CLEAN WATER ACT 

The project will not involve disturbance to jurisdictional waters of the United States as regulated by the 

US Army Corps of Engineers under the Clean Water Act; therefore, a Section 404 permit will not be 

required. Because more than 1 acre of land will be disturbed, an Arizona Pollutant Discharge 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  44  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Elimination System (AZPDES) permit will be required. As part of the AZPDES permit, a Storm Water 

Pollution Prevention Plan will be prepared and implemented, which will minimize the transport of 

sediment by requiring the contractor to use storm water and erosion control best management 

practices. 

It is anticipated that there will be less than 1 acre of disturbance on land owned by the BIA.  However, 

compliance with the NPDES will be required if this disturbance increases to be greater than 1 acre. 

4.8 FLOODPLAIN CONSIDERATIONS 

The study corridor is not located in a FEMA designated 100-year floodplain. 

4.9 EARTHWORK 

The earthwork requirements for the project will vary depending on the selected alternative’s final 

geometry, however, all the project is expected to require significant borrow to raise the roundabouts 

central islands and cross the SCIDD Canal. 

Preliminary geotechnical reviews of online NRCS maps indicate the majority for the area soils to be 

Dateland fine sandy loam and Denure sandy loam. Geotechnical investigations within the intersection 

area are scheduled to occur after the completion of the environmental clearance process.  

4.10 CONSTRUCTION PHASING AND TRAFFIC CONTROL 

Traffic control will be specified by a traffic control plan or procedures and guidelines in the ADOT Traffic 

Control Manual for Highway Construction and Maintenance. Access to adjacent properties will be 

maintained during construction. The wide expanse of the existing intersection configuration allows for 

the construction of the proposed intersection with minimal disruptions to the existing traffic. Special 

attention should be given to large truck movements during the layout of temporary intersections and 

lane configurations. Detours may be used as part of the preliminary traffic control plan. The state 

highways will be open to traffic during construction with possible temporary restrictions.  

4.11 UTILITIES, RAILROAD AND IRRIGATION SYSTEMS 

Several utilities have been identified within the project limits. These include: 

 Arizona Public Service-electric service 

 Cox Communications – cable communications 

 CenturyLink – telecommunication cables 

 San Carlos Irrigation Drainage District – Florence Canal 

 Southwest Gas – underground gas lines 

 Town of Florence – underground storm drain 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  45  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Potential conflicts with the Southwest Gas underground gas lines and Town of Florence storm drain 

pipes may require relocations. In pavement water valves and manholes will be adjusted to the final 

grade of the improved road.  

4.12 STRUCTURES 

SR 79B features a reinforced concrete girder bridge over the SCIDD Irrigation Canal, south of the 

Florence Heights Drive intersection. The bridge structure is 58’ long and is built at a 15° skew. The 

roadway width parallel to the SR 79B centerline is 40-foot wide. The preferred alternative will require 

an extension of the existing structure to accommodate a wider SR79B roadway section as well as a new 

crossing over the canal, east of SR79B, to realign the east leg of the southern intersection to Florence 

Heights Drive. 

SR 287 features a reinforced concrete box culvert outside the project limits, approximately 900 feet 

west of the intersection with Campbell Avenue which is not expected to be impacted by the 

intersection improvements. 

A Town of Florence welcome monument is in the center of the existing intersection.  Per 2013 IGA the 

Town should remove all obstructions within ADOT right of way prior to construction.  This structure can 

be relocated as part of the intersection improvements under a new permit or IGA agreement. 

4.13 PRELIMINARY PAVEMENT DESIGN 

Preliminary pavement recommendations were prepared. The structural coefficients for asphaltic 

concrete (AC) and base materials used for design were given in Table 202.02-6 of the Preliminary 

Engineering and Design (PE&D) Manual. Accordingly, the structural coefficients used for AC and 

aggregate base materials were 0.44 and 0.14, respectively. A drainage coefficient of 0.93 was assigned 

based on Table 202.02-7 of the ADOT Materials Design Manual for good drainage conditions and with a 

seasonal variation factor (SVF) for the Florence area of 1.3 based on Figure 202.02-1 and Table 202.02-4 

of the ADOT Materials Design Manual. The required pavement structural number was calculated as 

2.79 based on the design parameters described above. A preliminary pavement structure of 6 inches of 

AC on top of 6 inches of aggregate base (AB) was chosen. This section yields a structural number of 

3.41; which is higher than the calculated required number.  

Geotechnical investigations will be conducted after the project obtains all environmental documents 

approvals. A Materials Design Report and Pavement Design Summary Report will be prepared based on 

the field data collected. The materials memo will consider the need for concrete pavement section in 

the circulating roadway. 

4.14 HABITAT CONNECTIVITY 

The project area is urbanized, with vegetation consisting of landscaped trees and shrubs; native 

vegetation is mostly lacking. Agricultural fields are present near the south end of the project area but 

do not abut the roadway. There are no natural drainages in the project area. Adjacent lands to the 

south and east are urban areas with residential development. The northwest quadrant of the project 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  46  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

limits is built-up with commercial uses. Due to the urbanized and agricultural surroundings of the 

corridor no habitat connectivity features are included in this project. 

4.15 MULTIMODAL CONSIDERATIONS 

Sidewalks are currently present on the northwest quadrant of the intersection and along Main Street. 

The preferred alternative includes new bicycle and pedestrian accommodations within the project 

limits including sidewalks, ADA ramps, crosswalks, and bike lanes or paved shoulders.  All ADA features 

will comply with PROWAG specifications including updating of any existing non-compliant facilities.  

Sufficient sight distances for pedestrians and vehicles will be provided at each intersection. Street 

lighting will be included in the final design in accordance with roundabout design best practices.  

4.16 DESIGN EXCEPTIONS 

All roadway design elements meet or exceed the design criteria outlined in Table 19 . 

4.17 INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENTS 

As the project is utilizing federal funds, ADOT will provide project administration, management, and 

review, for both design and construction phases. Kittelson & Associates, Inc. is providing design services 

under contract with ADOT.  

The Town of Florence will enter into an agreement with ADOT for the administration of the project 

construction phase. Once complete, the Town of Florence will take maintenance responsibilities of the 

updated facility. 

On December 7, 2017, the MAG Transportation Review Committee recommended that the top ranked 

project in the August 2017 call for projects, the SR 287 and SR 79B intersection improvements in the 

Town of Florence, be awarded all $2,559,416 of the available funding for FY21 and FY22 and to be 

programmed for construction in FY2022.  This recommendation is expected to go to MAG Regional 

Council in January 2018 for approval.  It is anticipated that additional local funds will be required to 

meet the estimated construction costs.  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  47  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

5. ITEMIZED COST ESTIMATE 

5.1 COST ESTIMATE COMPARISON OF ALTERNATIVES 

A planning level cost estimate was completed for each of the alternatives and a comparison is provided 

in Table .  All 4 alternatives fall within a similar range for this level of analysis with construction costs 

estimated between $2.6M and $2.8M.  With environmental mitigation and right of way costs, project 

costs are estimated between $4.4M and $4.7M with Alternatives 3 and 4 being slightly higher than 

Alternatives 1 and 2. 

6. AASHTO CONTROLLING DESIGN CRITERIA AND EXCEPTIONS 

The following AASHTO design criteria documents were consulted: 

 A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets, Sixth Edition, 2011 

 Roadside Design Guide, Fourth Edition, 2011 

An AASHTO Controlling Design Criteria Report was not prepared for this project.  

6.1 AASHTO NON-CONFORMING GEOMETRIC DESIGN ELEMENTS 

The project intersection and approach leg geometry will conform to the AASHTO geometric design 

guidelines.  

6.2 AASHTO DESIGN EXCEPTIONS 

No AASHTO design exceptions are expected to be required.  

6.3 ADOT RDG NON-CONFORMING GEOMETRIC DESIGN ELEMENTS 

The project intersection and approach leg geometric design elements will conform to the ADOT 

Roadway Design Guidelines.  

6.4 ADOT DESIGN EXCEPTIONS 

No ADOT design exceptions are expected to be required.  

  



SR287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project

Cost Estimate

January 2019

ITEM No. ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANT. UNIT PRICE AMOUNT QUANT.2 UNIT PRICE3 AMOUNT4 QUANT.5 UNIT PRICE6 AMOUNT7 QUANT.8 UNIT PRICE9 AMOUNT10

2010001 CLEARING AND GRUBBING L. SUM 1                    3,000.00$      3,000$           1                    3,000.00$      3,000$           1                    3,000.00$      3,000$           1                    3,000.00$      3,000$           

2020001
REMOVAL OF STRUCTURES AND 
OBSTRUCTIONS

L.SUM 1                    10,000.00$    10,000$         1                    6,000.00$      6,000$           1                    6,000.00$      6,000$           1                    6,000.00$      6,000$           

2020021 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L.FT. 3,200             5.00$             16,000$         3,300             5.00$             16,500$         3,400             5.00$             17,000$         3,400             5.00$             17,000$         

2020025
REMOVAL OF CONCRETE SIDEWALKS, 
DRIVEWAYS AND SLABS

SQ.FT. 9,400             1.75$             16,450$         9,400             1.75$             16,450$         9,400             1.75$             16,450$         9,400             1.75$             16,450$         

2020029
REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE 
PAVEMENT

SQ.YD. 17,800           2.50$             44,500$         18,600           2.50$             46,500$         19,100           2.50$             47,750$         19,200           2.50$             48,000$         

2030301 ROADWAY EXCAVATION CU.YD. 3,000             8.00$             24,000$         3,000             8.00$             24,000$         3,000             8.00$             24,000$         3,000             8.00$             24,000$         

2030901 BORROW CU.YD. 7,000             11.00$           77,000$         3,500             11.00$           38,500$         5,500             11.00$           60,500$         3,000             11.00$           33,000$         

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU.YD. 3,700             30.00$           111,000$       3,900             30.00$           117,000$       3,300             30.00$           99,000$         3,700             30.00$           111,000$       

4010016
PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE PAVEMENT 
(10")(INTEGRAL COLOR)

SQ.YD. 500                40.00$           20,000$         500                40.00$           20,000$         950                40.00$           38,000$         -                 40.00$           -$               

4090003
ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS 
STRUCTURAL)

TON 7,200             95.00$           684,000$       7,600             95.00$           722,000$       6,350             95.00$           603,250$       7,100             95.00$           674,500$       

501xxxx DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS L. SUM 1                    115,000.00$  115,000$       1                    125,000.00$  125,000$       1                    160,000.00$  160,000$       1                    125,000.00$  125,000$       

601xxxx CONCRETE CULVERT (EXTENSION) L. FT. 75                  1,100.00$      82,500$         40                  1,100.00$      44,000$         10                  1,100.00$      11,000$         40                  1,100.00$      44,000$         

607xxxx SIGNING L. SUM 1                    30,000.00$    30,000$         1                    45,000.00$    45,000$         1                    50,000.00$    50,000$         1                    40,000.00$    40,000$         

7010000 MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC L.SUM 1                    75,000.00$    75,000$         1                    75,000.00$    75,000$         1                    75,000.00$    75,000$         1                    75,000.00$    75,000$         

7040000 PAVEMENT MARKING L.SUM 1                    20,000.00$    20,000$         1                    30,000.00$    30,000$         1                    35,000.00$    35,000$         1                    25,000.00$    25,000$         

7310000 INTERSECTION LIGHTING L.SUM 1                    100,000.00$  100,000$       1                    125,000.00$  125,000$       1                    125,000.00$  125,000$       1                    100,000.00$  100,000$       

7330000 TRAFFIC SIGNAL L SUM -                 250,000.00$  -$               -                 250,000.00$  -$               -                 250,000.00$  -$               1                    250,000.00$  250,000$       

8100000 EROSION CONTROL AND LANDSCAPE L.SUM 1                    60,000.00$    60,000$         1                    60,000.00$    60,000$         1                    60,000.00$    60,000$         1                    60,000.00$    60,000$         

9010001 MOBILIZATION L.SUM 1                    175,000.00$  175,000$       1                    175,000.00$  175,000$       1                    175,000.00$  175,000$       1                    175,000.00$  175,000$       

9080001 CONCRETE CURB (C-05.10) (TYPE A) L.FT. 2,700             14.00$           37,800$         4,400             14.00$           61,600$         4,300             14.00$           60,200$         5,400             14.00$           75,600$         

9080081
CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER (C-05.10) 
(TYPE G)

L.FT. 6,100             22.00$           134,200$       6,500             22.00$           143,000$       7,100             22.00$           156,200$       6,100             22.00$           134,200$       

9080201 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (C-05.20) SQ.FT. 40,300           6.00$             241,800$       42,400           6.00$             254,400$       45,200           6.00$             271,200$       36,200           6.00$             217,200$       

9080289
CONCRETE ACCESS RAMP (Type B) (Non-
Directional)

EACH 16                  2,200.00$      35,200$         16                  2,200.00$      35,200$         20                  2,200.00$      44,000$         18                  2,200.00$      39,600$         

9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP (BICYCLE) EACH 8                    2,000.00$      16,000$         6                    2,000.00$      12,000$         8                    2,000.00$      16,000$         -                 2,000.00$      -$               

9240170 CONTRACTOR QUALITY CONTROL L.SUM 1                    25,000.00$    25,000$         1                    25,000.00$    25,000$         1                    25,000.00$    25,000$         1                    25,000.00$    25,000$         

9250001 CONSTRUCTION SURVEYING AND LAYOUT L.SUM 1                    25,000.00$    25,000$         1                    25,000.00$    25,000$         1                    25,000.00$    25,000$         1                    25,000.00$    25,000$         

CONSTRUCTION SUBTOTAL 2,178,450$    2,245,150$    2,203,550$    2,343,550$    

CONTINGENCIES 25% 544,613$       25% 561,288$       25% 550,888$       25% 585,888$       

CONSTRUCTION COST SUBTOTAL 2,723,063$    2,806,438$    2,754,438$    2,929,438$    

CONSTRUCTION CONTINGENCY 10% 217,845$       10% 224,515$       10% 220,355$       10% 234,355$       

ENVIRONMENTAL MITIGATION 1,000,000$    1,000,000$    1,000,000$    1,000,000$    

RIGHT OF WAY 500,000$       250,000$       250,000$       250,000$       

CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING/ADMIN 15% 326,768$       15% 336,773$       15% 330,533$       15% 351,533$       

PROJECT COST 4,767,675$    4,617,725$    4,555,325$    4,765,325$    

Table 23: Alternatives Cost Comparison

Alternative 2 -  Multi-Lane Roundabout and 
T-Intersection

Alternative 3 - Two Roundabouts
Alternative 4  -  Signalized Intersection and

 T-Intersection

Planning Level Evaluation

Project No. SZ041 03D

Federal Aid No. STP-FLO-0(201)T

SR 287 and SR79B Intersection Improvement

Alternative 1 - One Multi-Lane Roundabout

48 Kittelson Associates, Inc.



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  49  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

7. SOCIAL, ECONOMIC AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS 

The following sections describe the type of environmental documents that will be completed as part of 

this project.  

7.1 ENVIRONMENTAL DOCUMENTATION 

Upon the selection of a preferred alternative, the project area and land ownership will defined 

including any staging/stockpiling areas, traffic control limits, detours, new right-of-way or temporary 

construction easements. A bulleted Scope of Work and Project Area will be approved by the Town and 

the ADOT PM. 

Public and Agency Scoping Letters and a Contact List will be drafted, approved by the Town and the 

ADOT Environmental Planner prior to being prepared and sent out. The Town of Florence will provide 

the list of adjacent and affected landowners and their contact information for the mailing list. Letters 

are sent out for comment for 30 days. The Town of Florence will prepare responses to comments 

received and share them with Logan Simpson and the ADOT Environmental Planner for the project file. 

A Group 2 Programmatic Categorical Exclusion (CE) document is anticipate for this project and will be 

prepared for the preferred alternative. The following supporting documents will also be completed and 

submitted to the ADOT’s Environmental Planning for approval: 

 Biological Evaluation: A biological scoping letter is sent to Arizona Game and Fish 

Department and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (if ADOT determines necessary) during 

the scoping comment period. 

 Hazardous Materials: A Preliminary-Initial Site Assessment including a limited lead-based 

paint survey will be completed 

 Cultural Resource Analysis – A Class III Cultural Resources Survey and historic building 

reconnaissance will be performed.  A Programmatic Agreement (PA) is being completed for 

an adjacent project, and is expected to include this project intersection improvement in it.   

This will be confirmed and documented in the cultural resources analysis process. 

It is assumed that noise and air quality analyses will not be required for this project since the project 

does not add new traffic lanes to the roadway cross section. The air impacts will be addressed 

qualitatively in the CE. 

A public meeting will be held upon the approval of the roundabout concept and in conjunction with the 

environmental clearance process.  

Relating to the additional cultural work that would be required we are estimating an additional fee of 

approximately $850,000 $1M will be required for data recovery efforts based on the following:  

• Current area of disturbance is unknown; therefore the cultural estimate is based on the 

assumption of 5 acres needing full data recovery.  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  50  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

• No testing has been done at the site and the number of features is predicted to be around 100, 

based on the 5 acres. This number could change in either direction after Phase I trenching is 

completed.  

• Phase I would trench 3% sample of the 5 acres.  

• Arizona State Museum (ASM) fees are set to change and be hourly and project-to-project based. 

The fees were estimated with the future structure in mind; however, the number (and boxes) of 

artifacts also is being predicted.  

• This includes a Historic Properties Treatment Plan, Phase I trenching, data recovery, an End of 

Field preliminary report, and a Final Report.  

• The cultural process will likely be completed in steps, (1. Treatment Plan and trenching, 2. Data 

Recovery, and 3. Analysis and write-up) allowing the costs to be more reasonably predicted.  

7.2 MITIGATION MEASURES 

Mitigation measures will be assembled by Environmental Planning. All mitigation measures 

documented and approved in the environmental clearance process and resulting CE will be included in 

the project bid documents.  

Stormwater Quality and Erosion/Sediment Control Plans will be prepared as well as the special 

provisions for stormwater quality protection and erosion/sediment control and landscape items to be 

included in submittals. 



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  51  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

Preferred Alternative Concept Drawings 

  

  



STAGE I



STAGE I



STAGE I



STAGE I



STAGE I



Steering Angle
Lock to Lock Time

Articulating Angle

WB-62

Trailer Track
Tractor Track
Trailer Width
Tractor Width

19.504.00

feet

8.50

8.50:

8.00

8.00

:
:
:

0.00

2.50 41.00

15.00 48.00

:
:
: 6.0

28.4
70.0

STAGE I



Steering Angle
Lock to Lock Time

Articulating Angle

WB-62

Trailer Track
Tractor Track
Trailer Width
Tractor Width

19.504.00

feet

8.50

8.50:

8.00

8.00

:
:
:

0.00

2.50 41.00

15.00 48.00

:
:
: 6.0

28.4
70.0

STAGE I



Steering Angle
Lock to Lock Time

Articulating Angle

WB-62

Trailer Track
Tractor Track
Trailer Width
Tractor Width

19.504.00

feet

8.50

8.50:

8.00

8.00

:
:
:

0.00

2.50 41.00

15.00 48.00

:
:
: 6.0

28.4
70.0

STAGE I



Steering Angle
Lock to Lock Time

Articulating Angle

WB-62

Trailer Track
Tractor Track
Trailer Width
Tractor Width

19.504.00

feet

8.50

8.50:

8.00

8.00

:
:
:

0.00

2.50 41.00

15.00 48.00

:
:
: 6.0

28.4
70.0

STAGE I



Steering Angle
Lock to Lock Time

Articulating Angle

WB-62

Trailer Track
Tractor Track
Trailer Width
Tractor Width

19.504.00

feet

8.50

8.50:

8.00

8.00

:
:
:

0.00

2.50 41.00

15.00 48.00

:
:
: 6.0

28.4
70.0

STAGE I



Steering Angle
Lock to Lock Time

Articulating Angle

WB-62

Trailer Track
Tractor Track
Trailer Width
Tractor Width

19.504.00

feet

8.50

8.50:

8.00

8.00

:
:
:

0.00

2.50 41.00

15.00 48.00

:
:
: 6.0

28.4
70.0

STAGE I



Steering Angle
Lock to Lock Time

Articulating Angle

WB-62

Trailer Track
Tractor Track
Trailer Width
Tractor Width

19.504.00

feet

8.50

8.50:

8.00

8.00

:
:
:

0.00

2.50 41.00

15.00 48.00

:
:
: 6.0

28.4
70.0

STAGE I



Steering Angle
Lock to Lock Time

Articulating Angle

WB-62

Trailer Track
Tractor Track
Trailer Width
Tractor Width

19.504.00

feet

8.50

8.50:

8.00

8.00

:
:
:

0.00

2.50 41.00

15.00 48.00

:
:
: 6.0

28.4
70.0

STAGE I



Steering Angle
Lock to Lock Time

Articulating Angle

WB-62

Trailer Track
Tractor Track
Trailer Width
Tractor Width

19.504.00

feet

8.50

8.50:

8.00

8.00

:
:
:

0.00

2.50 41.00

15.00 48.00

:
:
: 6.0

28.4
70.0

STAGE I



STAGE I



STAGE I



STAGE I



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  52  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B 

Detailed Sensitivity Analysis  

 

 

  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  53  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

 

The SR287/SR79B intersection is located on an area that is expected to have a significant growth in 

traffic volumes. The design volumes utilized for the analysis documented in the previous section were 

developed considering only the planned improvements for the roadways in the area. Increased traffic 

demand may occur if additional roadway improvements are constructed. Consequently, a sensitivity 

analysis was conducted to evaluate the alternatives under a higher volume scenario. The volumes used 

for the sensitivity analysis correspond to a 6.6% CAGR while the design volumes correspond to 5.1% 

CAGR. Figure 6 illustrates the hourly volumes used for the sensitivity analysis. 

 

Figure B-1 – Sensitivity Hourly Volumes 

 

Similar to the analysis performed in the previous section, VISSIM models were developed for 

alternatives 1-4. The VISSIM models were run using the hourly volumes shown on Figure B-1 and the 

delay/LOS results obtained are summarized Tables B-1 and B-2.  

  



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  54  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Figure B-2 Delay and Level of Service – Sensitivity AM Peak Hour 

VISSIM RESULTS 

AM Peak Hour - Delay in sec/veh 

No-Build 
Multi-Lane 

Roundabout 

Roundabout & 

T-Intersection 

Double 

Roundabout 

Traffic Signal & 

T-Intersection 

D
E

LA
Y

 

N
O

R
T

H
 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 

NB 

N/A 

49.2 (E) 34.8 (D) 35.2 (E) 28.9 (C) 

WB 197.8 (F) N/A N/A N/A 

SB 2.6 (A) 4.1 (A) 3.3 (A) 18.7 (B) 

EB 12.7 (B) 30.2 (D) 8.8 (A) 23.2 (C) 

S
O

U
T

H
 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 

NB 

N/A 
 

N/A  

11.7 (B) 45.7 (E) 1.1 (A) 

WB 76.0 (F) 99.1 (F) 67.0 (F) 

SB 4.1 (A) 2.3 (A) 7.2 (A) 

EB N/A N/A N/A 

AVG DELAY N/A 39.0 (E) 25.3 (D) 22.4 (C) 23.1 (C) 

 

Figure B-3 Delay and Level of Service – Sensitivity PM Peak Hour 

VISSIM RESULTS 

PM Peak Hour - Delay in sec/veh 

No-Build 
Multi-Lane 

Roundabout 

Roundabout & 

T-Intersection 

Double 

Roundabout 

Traffic Signal & 

T-Intersection 

D
E

LA
Y

 

N
O

R
T

H
 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 

NB 

N/A 

12.9 (B) 12.2 (B) 26.0 (D) 23.3 (C) 

WB 149.6 (F) N/A N/A N/A 

SB 10.1 (B) 46.8 (E) 6.2 (A) 18.1 (B) 

EB 3.5 (A) 7.2 10.5 (B) 21.6 (C) 

S
O

U
T

H
 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 

NB 

N/A N/A 

0.4 (A) 15.0 (B) 0.4 (A) 

WB 80.4 (F) 70.3 (F) 76.8 (F) 

SB 2.9 (A) 1.7 (A) 2.5 (A) 

EB N/A N/A N/A 

AVG DELAY N/A 34.0 (D) 23.5 (C) 17.3 (C) 21.3 (C) 

 

The higher volumes used for the sensitivity analysis are expected to have a negative effect on the 

alternatives that include roundabouts (Alternative 1-3) where some intersection approaches are 

anticipated to operate at unacceptable LOS (LOS E or LOS F). Conversely, the alternative with traffic 

signal control is anticipated to operate at acceptable LOS. Note that the Traffic Signal & T-intersection 

Alternative is expected to experience a LOS F at the T-intersection of SR79B and Florence Heights 

(westbound approach; PM peak hour). This intersection was modeled as unsignalized intersection with 

stop control on the approach that is expected to operate at LOS F. A planning level-warrant analysis was 

conducted following ADOT Traffic Guidance and Procedures. The results of the warrant analysis 

indicated that Warrant 2 (Four-Hour Vehicular Volume) would be met in 2040 for the intersection of 

SR79B/Florence Heights. As a result, a traffic signal could be installed in the future when volumes 

increase at this intersection.  

Travel times were also evaluated using the VISSIM models prepared for the sensitivity analysis. The 

results of the travel times are shown in Tables B-3 and B-4.   



SR 287/SR 79B Intersection Improvement Project March 2019 

  55  Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 

Figure B-4  Travel Time – Sensitivity AM Peak Hour 

VISSIM RESULTS 

Travel Time (seconds) - AM Peak Hour 

No-Build 
Multi-Lane 

Roundabout 

Roundabout & 

T-Intersection 

Double 

Roundabout 

Traffic Signal & 

T-Intersection 

T
R

A
V

E
L 

T
IM

E
 

NBLT 

N/A 

145.5 110.1 151.4 78.8 

NBTT 45.8 63.2 109.6 68.3 

NBRT 58.7 40.3 72.2 33.9 

WBLT 308.2 117.2 216.5 98.2 

WBTT 314.9 248.0 270.1 210.4 

WBRT 413.7 248.7 258.7 189.8 

SBLT 51.5 69.3 67.6 88.1 

SBTT 41.1 49.5 54.4 73.6 

SBRT 37.4 37.9 37.3 40.5 

EBLT 66.1 101.8 50.7 65.7 

EBTT 59.6 94.0 66.4 75.7 

EBRT 47.2 77.2 53.1 54.4 

TOTAL TT N/A 132.5 104.8 117.3 89.8 

 

Figure B-5 Travel Time – Sensitivity PM Peak Hour 

VISSIM RESULTS 

Travel Time (seconds) - PM Peak Hour 

No-Build 
Multi-Lane 

Roundabout 

Roundabout & 

T-Intersection 

Double 

Roundabout 

Traffic Signal & 

T-Intersection 

T
R

A
V

E
L 

T
IM

E
 

NBLT 

N/A 

71.7 61.6 104.4 67.9 

NBTT 41.9 41.7 74.7 53.8 

NBRT 52.5 35.8 43.6 34.4 

WBLT 230.3 139.5 178.9 144.3 

WBTT 246.6 239.2 207.9 255.2 

WBRT 460.8 231.5 204.3 239.1 

SBLT 59.5 71.3 68.5 75.3 

SBTT 49.9 55.2 56.7 68.0 

SBRT 44.8 39.4 40.6 40.9 

EBLT 75.0 136.2 52.1 64.9 

EBTT 61.1 111.8 67.2 67.5 

EBRT 46.8 95.5 55.5 52.7 

TOTAL TT N/A 120.1 104.9 96.2 97.0 

 

Travel times estimated for the AM peak hour indicate that the Traffic Signal & T-intersection is expected 

to outperform the other evaluated alternatives. In the PM peak hour, Double Roundabout Alternative 

and Traffic Signal & T-intersection alternatives are anticipated to operate with the lowest travel times.  

 

 



 

Page 1 of 7 
 

     ADOT File No.: IGA 12-054-I 
Amendment No. One: 19-0007259-I 
AG Contract No.: P0012012001857 
Project Name/Location: Town of 
Florence,  SR 287 and SR 79B 
Type of Work: Design Intersection 
Improvement  
Federal-aid No.: FLO-0(204)T 
ADOT Project No.: SZ04103D-01C 
TIP/STIP No.: FLO13-01D, FLO19-802, 
FLO22-801 
CFDA No.: 20.205 - Highway Planning 

and Construction 
Budget Source Item No.: N/A 

      
 
 

AMENDMENT NO. ONE 
TO 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
 

BETWEEN 
THE STATE OF ARIZONA 

AND 
  THE TOWN OF FLORENCE 

    
 

THIS AMENDMENT NO. ONE to INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (the “Amendment No. 
ONE”), is entered into this date ____________________,  pursuant to Arizona Revised Statutes (“A.R.S.”)§§ 
11-951 through 11-954, as amended, between the STATE OF ARIZONA, acting by and through its 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (the "State") and the TOWN OF FLORENCE, acting by and 
through its MAYOR and TOWN COUNCIL (the “Town”). The Town and State are collectively referred 
to as the “Parties.” 
 
WHEREAS, the INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT, JPA/IGA 12-054I, A.G. Contract No. 
P0012012001857, was executed on June 28, 2013, (the “Original Agreement”);  
 
WHEREAS, the State is empowered by A.R.S. § 28-401 to enter into this Amendment No. One and 
has delegated to the undersigned the authority to execute this Amendment No. One on behalf of the 
State;  
 
WHEREAS,  the Town is empowered by A.R.S. § 9-240 to enter into this Amendment No. One and 
has by resolution, a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, resolved to enter into 
this Amendment No. One and has authorized the undersigned to execute this Amendment No. One 
on behalf of the Town; and  
 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual terms expressed herein, the the purpose of 
this Amendment No. One is to revise the design phase costs and to add the right-of-way 
acquisition and construction phases and funding of the Project to the Agreement, as follows: 
 



       IGA 12-054-I 
Amendment No. One: 19-0007259-I 

 
 

Page 2 of 7 
 

I. RECITALS 
 
Section I, Paragraphs 3. and 8. are revised, as follows: 
  

3. The improvements proposed in this Agreement, include the design, right-of-way 
acquisition, and construction of a roundabout at State Route (SR) 287  and SR 79B, (the 
“Project”). The State will administer the design and advertise, bid and award the 
construction phase of the Project. 
 

8. The federal funds will be used for the scoping/design and construction of the Project, 
including the construction engineering (CE) and administration cost. The estimated Project 
costs are as follows: 

 
SZ041 01D (ADOT Project Development Administration (PDA) Cost (formerly Design review 
fee), non-federal-aid): 
 
PDA costs*         $       10,000.00         
 
SZ04103D  (scoping/design): 
Federal-aid funds @ 94.3%  $  1,074,843.00        
Town’s match @ 5.7% $        64,969.00        
 
Subtotal – Scoping/Design/PDA*  $1,149,812.00  
 
SZ041 01R (right-of-way): 
Federal-aid funds @ 94.3%  $      235,750.00        
Town’s match @ 5.7% $        14,250.00     
 
Subtotal – Right-of-Way   $  250,000.00  
 
SZ041 01C (construction): 
Federal-aid funds @ 94.3%  $ 2,559,416.00 
Town’s match @ 5.7%      $    154,705.00 
Town’s match @ 100% $    611,369.00 
Subtotal – Construction**   $3,325,490.00  
 
Estimated TOTAL Project Cost  $4,725,302.00     

Total Estimated Town Funds  $    855,293.00             

Total Federal Funds  $3,870,009.00   

         
  * (Included in the Town’s Estimated Funds) 

** (Includes 15% CE (this percentage is subject to change, any change will require concurrence  
from the Town) and 5% Project contingencies) 

 
Consistent with the Original Agreement, the Town has been invoiced and paid $46,469.00 for 
the Town’s share of PDA, design, and right-of-way acquisition costs and will pay the 
additional $42,750.00 within 30 days of receipt of an invoice. 
 



       IGA 12-054-I 
Amendment No. One: 19-0007259-I 

 
 

Page 3 of 7 
 

II. SCOPE OF WORK 
 

Section II, Paragraphs 1. d. – k.  are added, as follows: 
 

1. The State will: 
 

d. Execute this Agreement, and if the Project is approved by FHWA and funds for the 
Project are available, be the Town's designated agent for the Project. 

 
e. After completion of design and prior to bid advertisement, invoice the Town for the 

actual PDA costs, as applicable, and the Town's’s share of the Project construction costs, 
estimated at $766,074.00. After the Project costs for construction are finalized, the State 
will either invoice or reimburse the Town for the difference between estimated and 
actual costs. De-obligate or otherwise release any remaining federal funds from the 
scoping/design phase of the Project. 

 
f. After receipt of the actual PDA costs, as applicable, and the Town's estimated share of 

the Project construction costs, submit all required documentation to FHWA with the 
recommendation that the maximum federal funds programmed for construction of this 
Project be approved. Should costs exceed the maximum federal funds available, it is 
understood and agreed that the Town will be responsible for any overage. 

 
g. After receipt of FHWA authorization, proceed to advertise for, receive and open bids 

award and enter into a contract with the firm for the construction of the Project. If the 
bid amounts exceed the construction cost estimate, obtain Town concurrence prior to 
awarding the contract. After the Project is awarded, invoice the Town for the difference 
between estimated and actual costs, if applicable.   

 
h. File a Notice of Intent (NOI) under the Construction General Permit (CGP) with the 

Arizona Department of Environmental Quality (ADEQ) before construction begins, if 
applicable to the Project. 

 
i. Notify the Town of substantial completion and final acceptance of the Project. At such 

time, file a Notice of Termination (NOT) with ADEQ transferring CGP responsibilities to 
the Town, and provide a copy to the Town indicating that the State’s maintenance 
responsibility of the Project is terminated, as applicable. 

 
j. Notify the Town of substantial completion and final acceptance of the Project; 

coordinate with the Town and turn over full responsibility of all Project improvements.  
 
k. Not be obligated to maintain the Project, should the Town fail to budget or provide for 

proper and perpetual maintenance as set forth in this Agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 

 



       IGA 12-054-I 
Amendment No. One: 19-0007259-I 

 
 

Page 4 of 7 
 

Section II, Paragraphs 2. h. and j. are revised, as follows: 
 

2. The Town will: 
 
h. Certify that all necessary rights-of-way have been or will be acquired prior to 

advertisement for bid and also certify that all obstructions or unauthorized 
encroachments of whatever nature, either above or below the surface of the Project 
area, shall be removed from the proposed right-of-way, or will be removed prior to the 
start of construction, in accordance with The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real 
Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 as amended; 49 CFR 24.102 Basic Acquisition 
Policies; 49 CFR 24.4 Assurances, Monitoring and Corrective Action, parts (a) & (b) and 
ADOT Right of Way Procedures Manual: 8.02 Responsibilities, 8.03 Prime Functions, 
9.06 Monitoring Process and 9.07 Certification of Compliance. Coordinate with the 
appropriate State’s Right-of-Way personnel during any right-of-way process performed 
by the Town, if applicable. 
 

j. Automatically grant to the State, by execution of this Agreement, its agents and/or 
contractors, without cost, the temporary right to enter Town rights-of-way, as required, 
to conduct any and all construction and preconstruction related activities for the 
Project, on, to and over said Town rights-of-way. This temporary right will expire with 
completion of the Project. 

 
Section II, Paragraphs 2. m. – s.  are added, as follows: 
 

m. Designate the State as the Town's authorized agent for the Project. 

n. After completion of design, within 30 days of receipt of an invoice from the State and 
prior to bid advertisement, pay to the State, any outstanding PDA costs and the Town's 
share of the Project construction costs, estimated at $766,074.00.  Be responsible for 
and pay the difference between the estimated and actual construction costs of the 
Project, within 30 days of receipt of an invoice. 

 
o. File a Notice of Intent (NOI) under the Construction General Permit (CGP) with the 

Arizona Department of Environmental Quality (ADEQ) before construction begins, if 
applicable to the Project. 
 

p. Certify that the Town has adequate resources to discharge the Town’s real property 
related responsibilities and ensures that its Title 23-funded projects are carried out 
using the FHWA approved and certified ADOT Right of Way Procedures Manual and that 
they will comply with current FHWA requirements whether or not the requirements are 
included in the FHWA approved ADOT Right of Way Procedures Manual. (23 CFR 
710.201) 
      

q. Investigate and document utilities within the Project limits; submit findings to ADOT 
determining prior rights or no prior rights; approve an easement within the final right-
of-way to re-establish the prior right location for those utilities with prior rights. 
 
 



       IGA 12-054-I 
Amendment No. One: 19-0007259-I 

 
 

Page 5 of 7 
 

r. After notification of final acceptance by the State, assume and maintain full 
responsibility of the Project, including Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plans (SWPPP) 
inspections, maintenance, and required documentation, until final stabilization is 
reached. Provide the NOI number to the State and the Contractor, accept CGP 
responsibilities at time of transfer, and file an NOT with ADEQ when final stabilization is 
reached, as applicable. 
 

s. After completion and final acceptance of the Project, agree to maintain and assume full 
responsibility of the Project and all Project improvements. 

 
 
III. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
Section III, Paragraphs 14. revised, as follows: 

 
14. The Parties shall certify that all contractors comply with the applicable requirements of 

A.R.S. §35-393.01. 1 
 

Section III, Paragraphs 17. – 21. are added, as follows: 
 

17. Any change or modification to the Project will only occur with the mutual written consent of 
both Parties. 
 

18. Should the federal funding related to this Project be terminated or reduced by the federal 
government, or Congress rescinds, fails to renew, or otherwise reduces apportionments or 
obligation authority, the State shall in no way be obligated for funding or liable for any past, 
current or future expenses under this Agreement. 

 
19. The Town acknowledges and will comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act Of 1964. 
 
20. The Town acknowledges compliance with federal laws and regulations and may be subject 

to the CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 2, PART 200 (also known as The Uniform 
Grant Guidance). Entities that expend $750,000.00 or more (on or after 12/26/14) of 
federal assistance (federal funds, federal grants, or federal awards) are required to comply 
by having an independent audit in accordance with §200.331 Subpart F. Either an electronic 
or hardcopy of the Single Audit is to be sent to Arizona Department of Transportation 
Financial Management Services within the required deadline of nine months of the sub 
recipient fiscal year end.   

ADOT – FMS 
Attn: Cost Accounting Administrator 
206 S 17th Ave. Mail Drop 204B 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 
SingleAudit@azdot.gov                        

                                                 
1 In Jordahl v. Brnovich et al., Case No. 3:17-cv-08263 (D. Ariz.), the U.S. District Court entered a preliminary injunction that enjoins the State from enforcing 
A.R.S. § 35-393.01(A) (the “Anti-Israel Boycott Provision”). That statute states that: “[a] public entity may not enter into a contract with a company to acquire 
or dispose of services, supplies, information technology or construction unless the contract includes a written certification that the company is not currently 
engaged in, and agrees for the duration of the contract to not engage in, a boycott of Israel.” Unless and until the District Court’s injunction in Jordahl is 
stayed or lifted, the Anti-Israel Boycott Provision (A.R.S. § 35-393.01(A)) is unenforceable and the State will take no action to enforce it. 

 

mailto:SingleAudit@azdot.gov


       IGA 12-054-I 
Amendment No. One: 19-0007259-I 

 
 

Page 6 of 7 
 

 
21. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Arizona laws. 

 

 
THIS AMENDMENT NO. ONE shall become effective upon signing and dating of the Determination 
Letter by the State’s Attorney General. 
 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH A.R.S. § 11-952 (D) attached hereto and incorporated herein is the written 
determination of each Party’s legal counsel and that the Parties are authorized under the laws of 
this State to enter into this Amendment No. One and that the Amendment No. One is in proper form. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment No. One the day and year first 
above written. 
 
TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 
 
By ______________________________ 
        Tara Walter 
        Mayor 

STATE OF ARIZONA 
Department of Transportation 
 
By ______________________________ 
       STEVE BOSCHEN, PE 
       Division Director 

  
ATTEST: 
 
 
By ______________________________ 
        Cliff Mattice 
        Town Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



       IGA 12-054-I 
Amendment No. One: 19-0007259-I 

 
 

Page 7 of 7 
 

 

ATTORNEY APPROVAL FORM FOR THE TOWN OF FLORENCE 

 

I have reviewed the above referenced Amendment No. One to the Original Agreement between the 

State of Arizona, acting by and through its DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, and the TOWN OF 

FLORENCE, an agreement among public agencies which, has been reviewed pursuant to Arizona 

Revised Statutes §§ 11-951 through 11-954 and declare this Amendment No. One to be in proper 

form and within the powers and authority granted to the Town under the laws of the State of 

Arizona. 

 

No opinion is expressed as to the authority of the State to enter into this Amendment No. One. 

 

  DATED this __________________ day of __________________, 2019. 

 

 

___________________________ 

    Town Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 1 of 7 
 

     ADOT	File	No.:	IGA	12‐054‐I	
Amendment	No.	One:	19‐0007259‐I	
AG Contract No.: P0012012001857 
Project Name/Location: Town of 
Florence,  SR 287 and SR 79B 
Type of Work: Design Intersection 
Improvement  
Federal‐aid	No.:	FLO‐0(204)T	
ADOT	Project	No.:	SZ04103D‐01C	
TIP/STIP	No.:	FLO13‐01D,	FLO19‐802,	
FLO22‐801	
CFDA	No.:	20.205	‐	Highway	Planning	

and	Construction	
Budget	Source	Item	No.:	N/A	

      
 
 

AMENDMENT	NO.	ONE	
TO	

INTERGOVERNMENTAL	AGREEMENT	
 

BETWEEN 
THE STATE OF ARIZONA 

AND 
  THE TOWN OF FLORENCE 

    
 

THIS	AMENDMENT	NO.	ONE	to	INTERGOVERNMENTAL	AGREEMENT	(the	“Amendment	No.	
ONE”),	is entered into this date ____________________,  pursuant to Arizona Revised Statutes (“A.R.S.”)§§ 
11-951 through 11-954, as amended, between the STATE OF ARIZONA, acting by and through its 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (the "State") and the TOWN OF FLORENCE, acting by and 
through its MAYOR and TOWN COUNCIL (the “Town”). The Town and State are collectively referred 
to as the “Parties.” 
 
WHEREAS, the INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT, JPA/IGA 12-054I, A.G. Contract No. 
P0012012001857, was executed on June 28, 2013, (the “Original Agreement”);  
	
WHEREAS,	the State is empowered by A.R.S. § 28-401 to enter into this Amendment No. One and 
has delegated to the undersigned the authority to execute this Amendment No. One on behalf of the 
State;  
 
WHEREAS,		the Town is empowered by A.R.S. § 9-240 to enter into this Amendment No. One and 
has by resolution, a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, resolved to enter into 
this Amendment No. One and has authorized the undersigned to execute this Amendment No. One 
on behalf of the Town; and 	
 
NOW	THEREFORE, in	consideration	of	the	mutual	terms	expressed	herein,	the	the	purpose	of	
this	Amendment	No.	One	is	to	revise	the	design	phase	costs	and	to	add	the	right‐of‐way	
acquisition	and	construction	phases	and	funding	of	the	Project	to	the	Agreement,	as	follows: 
 



       IGA 12-054-I 
Amendment No. One: 19-0007259-I 

 
 

Page 2 of 7 
 

I.	 RECITALS	
 
Section	I,	Paragraphs	3.	and	8.	are	revised,	as	follows:	
  

3. The improvements proposed in this Agreement, include the design, right-of-way 
acquisition, and construction of a roundabout at State Route (SR) 287  and SR 79B, (the 
“Project”). The State will administer the design and advertise, bid and award the 
construction phase of the Project. 
 

8. The federal funds will be used for the scoping/design and construction of the Project, 
including the construction engineering (CE) and administration cost. The estimated Project 
costs are as follows: 

 
SZ041	01D	(ADOT	Project	Development	Administration	(PDA)	Cost	(formerly	Design	review	
fee),	non‐federal‐aid):	
 
PDA costs*         $       10,000.00         
	
SZ04103D		(scoping/design):	
Federal-aid funds @ 94.3%  $  1,074,843.00        
Town’s match @ 5.7% $        64,969.00        
	
Subtotal	–	Scoping/Design/PDA*  $1,149,812.00  
 
SZ041	01R	(right‐of‐way):	
Federal-aid funds @ 94.3%  $      235,750.00        
Town’s match @ 5.7% $        14,250.00     
	
Subtotal	–	Right‐of‐Way	  $		250,000.00 	
	
SZ041	01C	(construction):	
Federal-aid funds @ 94.3%  $ 2,559,416.00 
Town’s match @ 5.7%      $    154,705.00 
Town’s match @ 100% $    611,369.00 
Subtotal	–	Construction**	  $3,325,490.00 	
	
Estimated	TOTAL	Project	Cost	 	 $4,725,302.00	 	 	 	 	
Total	Estimated	Town	Funds	 	 $				855,293.00	 	 	 	 	     				
Total	Federal	Funds	 	 $3,870,009.00	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
  * (Included in the Town’s Estimated Funds) 
** (Includes 15% CE (this percentage is subject to change, any change will require concurrence  

from the Town) and 5% Project contingencies) 
	
Consistent	with	the	Original	Agreement,	the	Town	has	been	invoiced	and	paid	$46,469.00	for	
the	Town’s	share	of	PDA,	design,	and	right‐of‐way	acquisition	costs	and	will	pay	the	
additional	$42,750.00	within	30	days	of	receipt	of	an	invoice.	
	



       IGA 12-054-I 
Amendment No. One: 19-0007259-I 

 
 

Page 3 of 7 
 

II.	 SCOPE	OF	WORK	
 

Section	II,	Paragraphs	1.	d.	–	k.		are	added,	as	follows:	
	

1. The State will: 
 

d. Execute this Agreement, and if the Project is approved by FHWA and funds for the 
Project are available, be the Town's designated agent for the Project. 

 
e. After completion of design and prior to bid advertisement, invoice the Town for the 

actual PDA costs, as applicable, and the Town's’s share of the Project construction costs, 
estimated at $766,074.00. After the Project costs for construction are finalized, the State 
will either invoice or reimburse the Town for the difference between estimated and 
actual costs. De-obligate or otherwise release any remaining federal funds from the 
scoping/design phase of the Project. 

 
f. After receipt of the actual PDA costs, as applicable, and the Town's estimated share of 

the Project construction costs, submit all required documentation to FHWA with the 
recommendation that the maximum federal funds programmed for construction of this 
Project be approved. Should costs exceed the maximum federal funds available, it is 
understood and agreed that the Town will be responsible for any overage. 

 
g. After receipt of FHWA authorization, proceed to advertise for, receive and open bids 

award and enter into a contract with the firm for the construction of the Project. If the 
bid amounts exceed the construction cost estimate, obtain Town concurrence prior to 
awarding the contract. After the Project is awarded, invoice the Town for the difference 
between estimated and actual costs, if applicable.   

 
h. File a Notice of Intent (NOI) under the Construction General Permit (CGP) with the 

Arizona Department of Environmental Quality (ADEQ) before construction begins, if 
applicable to the Project. 

 
i. Notify the Town of substantial completion and final acceptance of the Project. At such 

time, file a Notice of Termination (NOT) with ADEQ transferring CGP responsibilities to 
the Town, and provide a copy to the Town indicating that the State’s maintenance 
responsibility of the Project is terminated, as applicable. 

 
j. Notify the Town of substantial completion and final acceptance of the Project; 

coordinate with the Town and turn over full responsibility of all Project improvements.  
 
k. Not be obligated to maintain the Project, should the Town fail to budget or provide for 

proper and perpetual maintenance as set forth in this Agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 

 



       IGA 12-054-I 
Amendment No. One: 19-0007259-I 

 
 

Page 4 of 7 
 

Section	II,	Paragraphs	2.	h.	and	j.	are	revised,	as	follows:	
 

2. The	Town	will:	
 
h. Certify that all necessary rights-of-way have been or will be acquired prior to 

advertisement for bid and also certify that all obstructions or unauthorized 
encroachments of whatever nature, either above or below the surface of the Project 
area, shall be removed from the proposed right-of-way, or will be removed prior to the 
start of construction, in accordance with The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real 
Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 as amended; 49 CFR 24.102 Basic Acquisition 
Policies; 49 CFR 24.4 Assurances, Monitoring and Corrective Action, parts (a) & (b) and 
ADOT Right of Way Procedures Manual: 8.02 Responsibilities, 8.03 Prime Functions, 
9.06 Monitoring Process and 9.07 Certification of Compliance. Coordinate with the 
appropriate State’s Right-of-Way personnel during any right-of-way process performed 
by the Town, if applicable. 
 

j. Automatically grant to the State, by execution of this Agreement, its agents and/or 
contractors, without cost, the temporary right to enter Town rights-of-way, as required, 
to conduct any and all construction and preconstruction related activities for the 
Project, on, to and over said Town rights-of-way. This temporary right will expire with 
completion of the Project. 

 
Section	II,	Paragraphs	2.	m.	–	t.		are	added,	as	follows:	
 

m. Designate the State as the Town's authorized agent for the Project. 

n. After completion of design, within 30 days of receipt of an invoice from the State and 
prior to bid advertisement, pay to the State, any outstanding PDA costs and the Town's 
share of the Project construction costs, estimated at $766,074.00.  Be responsible for 
and pay the difference between the estimated and actual construction costs of the 
Project, within 30 days of receipt of an invoice. 

 
o. File a Notice of Intent (NOI) under the Construction General Permit (CGP) with the 

Arizona Department of Environmental Quality (ADEQ) before construction begins, if 
applicable to the Project. 
 

p. Certify that the Town has adequate resources to discharge the Town’s real property 
related responsibilities and ensures that its Title 23-funded projects are carried out 
using the FHWA approved and certified ADOT Right of Way Procedures Manual and that 
they will comply with current FHWA requirements whether or not the requirements are 
included in the FHWA approved ADOT Right of Way Procedures Manual. (23 CFR 
710.201) 
      

q. Investigate and document utilities within the Project limits; submit findings to ADOT 
determining prior rights or no prior rights; approve an easement within the final right-
of-way to re-establish the prior right location for those utilities with prior rights. 
 



       IGA 12-054-I 
Amendment No. One: 19-0007259-I 

 
 

Page 5 of 7 
 

r. Be obligated to incur any expenditure should unforeseen conditions or circumstances 
increase Project costs. Be responsible for the cost of any Town requested changes to the 
scope of work of the Project, such changes will require State and FHWA approval. Be 
responsible for any contractor claims for additional compensation caused by Project 
delay attributable to the Town. Payment for these costs will be made to the State within 
30 days of receipt of an invoice from the State. 
 

s. After notification of final acceptance by the State, assume and maintain full 
responsibility of the Project, including Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plans (SWPPP) 
inspections, maintenance, and required documentation, until final stabilization is 
reached. Provide the NOI number to the State and the Contractor, accept CGP 
responsibilities at time of transfer, and file an NOT with ADEQ when final stabilization is 
reached, as applicable. 
 

t. After completion and final acceptance of the Project, agree to maintain and assume full 
responsibility of the Project and all Project improvements. 

	
	
III.	MISCELLANEOUS	PROVISIONS 
 
Section	III,	Paragraphs	14.	revised,	as	follows:	

 
14. The Parties shall certify that all contractors comply with the applicable requirements of 

A.R.S. §35-393.01. 1 
 

Section	III,	Paragraphs	17.	–	21.	are	added,	as	follows:	
 

17. Any change or modification to the Project will only occur with the mutual written consent of 
both Parties. 
	

18. Should the federal funding related to this Project be terminated or reduced by the federal 
government, or Congress rescinds, fails to renew, or otherwise reduces apportionments or 
obligation authority, the State shall in no way be obligated for funding or liable for any past, 
current or future expenses under this Agreement. 

 
19. The Town acknowledges and will comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act Of 1964. 
 
20. The Town acknowledges compliance with federal laws and regulations and may be subject 

to the CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 2, PART 200 (also known as The Uniform 
Grant Guidance). Entities that expend $750,000.00 or more (on or after 12/26/14) of 
federal assistance (federal funds, federal grants, or federal awards) are required to comply 
by having an independent audit in accordance with §200.331 Subpart F. Either an electronic 
or hardcopy of the Single Audit is to be sent to Arizona Department of Transportation 

                                                 
1 In Jordahl	v.	Brnovich	et	al., Case No. 3:17-cv-08263 (D. Ariz.), the U.S. District Court entered a preliminary injunction that enjoins the State from enforcing 
A.R.S. § 35-393.01(A) (the “Anti-Israel Boycott Provision”). That statute states that: “[a] public entity may not enter into a contract with a company to acquire 
or dispose of services, supplies, information technology or construction unless the contract includes a written certification that the company is not currently 
engaged in, and agrees for the duration of the contract to not engage in, a boycott of Israel.” Unless and until the District Court’s injunction in Jordahl is 
stayed or lifted, the Anti-Israel Boycott Provision (A.R.S. § 35-393.01(A)) is unenforceable and the State will take no action to enforce it. 

 



       IGA 12-054-I 
Amendment No. One: 19-0007259-I 

 
 

Page 6 of 7 
 

Financial Management Services within the required deadline of nine months of the sub 
recipient fiscal year end.   

ADOT – FMS 
Attn: Cost Accounting Administrator 
206 S 17th Ave. Mail Drop 204B 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 
SingleAudit@azdot.gov                        

 
21. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Arizona laws. 

 
	
THIS	AMENDMENT	NO.	ONE shall become effective upon signing and dating of the Determination 
Letter by the State’s Attorney General. 
 
IN	ACCORDANCE WITH	A.R.S. § 11-952 (D) attached hereto and incorporated herein is the written 
determination of each Party’s legal counsel and that the Parties are authorized under the laws of 
this State to enter into this Amendment No. One and that the Amendment No. One is in proper form. 
	
IN	WITNESS	WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment No. One the day and year first 
above written. 
 
TOWN	OF	FLORENCE 
 
 
By ______________________________ 
        TOM	J	RANKIN	
        Mayor 

STATE	OF	ARIZONA	
Department of Transportation 
 
By ______________________________ 
       STEVE	BOSCHEN,	PE	
       Division Director 

	  
ATTEST: 
 
 
By ______________________________ 
        LISA	GARCIA	
        Clerk 

 

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	



       IGA 12-054-I 
Amendment No. One: 19-0007259-I 

 
 

Page 7 of 7 
 

ATTORNEY	APPROVAL	FORM	FOR	THE	TOWN	OF	FLORENCE 

 

I have reviewed the above referenced Amendment No. One to the Original Agreement between the 

State of Arizona, acting by and through its DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, and the TOWN OF 

FLORENCE, an agreement among public agencies which, has been reviewed pursuant to Arizona 

Revised Statutes §§ 11-951 through 11-954 and declare this Amendment No. One to be in proper 

form and within the powers and authority granted to the Town under the laws of the State of 

Arizona. 

 

No opinion is expressed as to the authority of the State to enter into this Amendment No. One. 

 

  DATED this __________________ day of __________________, 2019. 

 

 

___________________________ 

    Town Attorney 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
8a. 

MEETING DATE: May 6, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Administration 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town Manager/       
                                      Town Clerk 
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
Subject: Ordinance No. 672-19: Impact Fee Adoption  Meeting Date: May 6, 2019   
Page 1 of 7 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION:   
 
Second reading and adoption of Ordinance No. 672-19: AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN 
OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING TITLE XV – LAND USAGE, 
CHAPTER 150 AMENDING, SECTIONS § 150.280(C) (D) (G) (H) and (K), ADOPTING 
NEW IMPACT FEES PURSUANT TO ASSUMPTION AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN, ADOPTED ON JANUARY 7, 2019, BY APPROVING 
RESOLUTION NO. 1685-19. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:      
 
For the last 24 months the Town Council has held several meetings, work sessions, and 
public hearings to educate the public on impact fees.  The Town Council authorized a 
study to develop Land Use Assumptions, an Infrastructure Improvement Plan and Impact 
Fee Study that comply with ARS §9-463.05.  Development fees, sometimes called 
“impact fees,” are a fee paid by new development (both residential and commercial) to 
offset the costs associated with providing necessary public facilities or public services to 
support new development at current levels of service.  The Town has completed the 
process of updating the town-wide development fees.  Tonight’s adoption is the last step 
in the process.  
 
Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS) § 9-463.05 provides a framework for cities and towns to 
assess, collect and administer development fees.  As required by law, the Town of 
Florence retained the services of an outside consultant to complete an update of the 
Town’s Development Impact Fees for compliance with the requirements of ARS § 9-

SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 672-19: Public Hearing on Impact 
Fees  

 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 



Subject: Ordinance No. 672-19: Impact Fee Adoption  Meeting Date: May 6, 2019   
Page 2 of 7 

463.05.  The Town adopted the Land Use Assumptions (LUA) and the Infrastructure 
Improvements Plan (IIP).   Residents have been able to view the Land Use Assumptions, 
Infrastructure Improvements Plan, and Development Fee Study on the Town website 
since October 1, 2018. Town Council held a Work Session to review the Plan on October 
15, 2018.  Town Council held a Public Hearing on December 3, 2018 to receive public 
comment.  No one from the public spoke at the meeting. January 7, 2019, Council 
adopted Resolution No. 1685-19 which adopted the Land Use Assumptions, an 
Infrastructure Improvement Plan. 
 
Development fees are assessed on new building construction that will generate an impact 
to the Town services previously described.  The fees are based on a combination of the 
construction costs, expected town growth, and the expected time frame determined from 
the Land Use Assumptions and the Infrastructure Improvement Plan. 
 
Next step in the adoption of the Impact Fees. 
 
Key Dates for Adoption of Development Impact Fee  

Work Session Monday March 18, 2019 5:00 p.m.  

Public Hearing Monday March 18, 2019 6:00 p.m.  

Adoption of Fees Monday May 6, 2019 6:00 p.m.  

Effective Date Monday August 1, 2019 6:00 p.m.  

 
 Public hearing and first reading were held on March 18, 2019.  
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN:     
 
A not vote tonight means that the Development Impact Fees are not adopted. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN:     
 
A yes vote means that the Development Impact Fees are are adopted and will be effective 
on August 1, 2019. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:     
 
On September 17, 2017, the Town Council entered into a contract with TischlerBise to 
update the Town of Florence Land Use assumptions, Infrastructure Improvements Plan 
and Development Fees in an amount not to exceed $99,640. After the adoption of 
Ordinance No. 672-19 a final payment will be issued.  
 
Fees change is listed below for each area: 
 
 
 



Subject: Ordinance No. 672-19: Impact Fee Adoption  Meeting Date: May 6, 2019   
Page 3 of 7 

Parks  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fee Component
Cost per

Person
Cost per Job

Park Land $82.55 $6.53

Park Improvements $708.21 $56.03

Development Fee Study $7.19 $0.43

TOTAL $797.95 $62.99

Residential (per unit)

Development Type
Persons per 

Household

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Single‐Family 2.42 $1,934 $1,417 $517

Multifamily 1.80 $1,437 $1,148 $289

Nonresidential (per square foot)

Development Type
Jobs per 1,000 

Sq. Ft.

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Commercial/Retail 2.34 $0.15 $0.17 ($0.02)

Office/Institutional 2.97 $0.19 $0.20 ($0.01)

Industrial/Flex 1.63 $0.10 $0.13 ($0.03)



Subject: Ordinance No. 672-19: Impact Fee Adoption  Meeting Date: May 6, 2019   
Page 4 of 7 

Fire 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fee Component
Cost per

Person
Cost per Job

Fire Facilities  $248.90 $183.80

Fire Vehicles $251.37 $185.62

Development Fee Study $5.84 $2.36

Credit ($112.13) ($75.38)

TOTAL $393.98 $296.39

Residential (per unit)

Development Type
Persons per 

Household

Proposed

Fees 
Current Fee

Increase / 

Decrease 

Single‐Family 2.42 $955 $917 $38

Multifamily 1.80 $710 $743 ($33)

*Figure A1. 

Nonresidential (per square foot)

Development Type
Jobs per 

1,000 Sq. Ft.

Proposed

Fees
Current Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Commercial/Retail 2.34 $0.69 $0.66 $0.03

Office/Institutional 2.97 $0.88 $0.61 $0.27

Industrial/Flex 1.63 $0.48 $0.20 $0.28



Subject: Ordinance No. 672-19: Impact Fee Adoption  Meeting Date: May 6, 2019   
Page 5 of 7 

Police 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fee Component
Cost per

Person

Cost per 

Vehicle Trip

Police Facilities  $203.50 $77.27

Police Vehicles $102.08 $38.76

Development Fee Study $5.39 $1.55

TOTAL $310.97 $117.58

Residential (per unit)

Development Type
Persons per 

Household

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Single‐Family 2.42 $754 $607 $147

Multifamily 1.80 $560 $492 $68

*Figure A1.

Nonresidential (per square foot)

Development Type
Trips per 

1,000 Sq. Ft.

Trip Rate 

Adjustment

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Commercial/Retail 37.75 33% $1.46 $0.44 $1.03

Office/Institutional 9.74 50% $0.57 $0.40 $0.17

Industrial/Flex 4.96 50% $0.29 $0.13 $0.16



Subject: Ordinance No. 672-19: Impact Fee Adoption  Meeting Date: May 6, 2019   
Page 6 of 7 

Water 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Input Variables

Cost per 

Gallon of 

Capacity

Transmission Projects $1.19

Storage Projects $1.25

Supply Projects $1.91

Development Fee Study $0.03

Capital Cost per Gallon of Capacity => $4.38

Peak Day Gallons of Demand per ERU => 243

All Development (per meter)

Meter Size (inches) Meter Type
Capacity 

Ratio

Proposed 

Water 

Fee

Current 

Fee

$ Change

0.625 Displacement 1.00 $1,065 $1,980 ($915)

0.75 Displacement 1.50 $1,597 $4,950 ($3,353)

1.00 Displacement 2.50 $2,662 $4,950 ($2,288)

1.50 Displacement 5.00 $5,324 $9,900 ($4,576)

2.00 Displacement 8.00 $8,519 $15,840 ($7,321)

3.00 Compound 16.00 $17,038 $31,680 ($14,642)

3.00 Turbine 17.50 $18,636 $34,650 ($16,014)

4.00 Compound 25.00 $26,623 $49,500 ($22,877)

4.00 Turbine 31.50 $33,544 $59,400 ($25,856)

6.00 Turbine 65.00 $69,219 $123,750 ($54,531)

8.00 Turbine 140.00 $149,088 $178,200 ($29,112)

10.00 Turbine 210.00 $223,633 $287,100 ($63,467)

12.00 Turbine 265.00 $282,203 $425,700 ($143,497)



Subject: Ordinance No. 672-19: Impact Fee Adoption  Meeting Date: May 6, 2019   
Page 7 of 7 

WASTEWATER 
 

 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Ordinance No. 672-19 
Infrastructure Improvements Plan  
 
 
 

Input Variables

Cost per 

Gallon of 

Capacity

Transmission Projects $2.12

Treatment Projects $16.09

Principal Payment Credit per Gallon => ($5.04)

Capital Cost per Gallon of Capacity => $13.17

Peak Day Gallons of Demand per ERU => 182

All Development (per meter)

Meter Size (inches) Meter Type Capacity Ratio

Proposed 

Wastewater 

Fee

Current 

Fee

$ Change

0.625 Displacement 1.00 $2,400 $2,140 $260

0.75 Displacement 1.50 $3,600 $2,782 $818

1.00 Displacement 2.50 $6,001 $7,062 ($1,061)

1.50 Displacement 5.00 $12,002 $14,338 ($2,336)

2.00 Displacement 8.00 $19,202 $22,898 ($3,696)

3.00 Compound 16.00 $38,405 $45,852 ($7,447)

3.00 Turbine 17.50 $42,005 $49,862 ($7,857)

4.00 Compound 25.00 $60,008 $71,262 ($11,254)

4.00 Turbine 31.50 $75,610 $85,600 ($9,990)

6.00 Compound 50.00 $120,015 $142,738 ($22,723)

6.00 Turbine 65.00 $156,020 $178,262 ($22,242)

8.00 Turbine 140.00 $336,043 $256,800 $79,243

10.00 Turbine 210.00 $504,065 $413,662 $90,403

12.00 Turbine 265.00 $636,082 $613,538 $22,544



ORDINANCE NO. 672-19 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL 
COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING TITLE XV – LAND USAGE, 
CHAPTER 150 AMENDING, SECTIONS § 150.280(C) (D) (G) (H) 
and (K), ADOPTING NEW IMPACT FEES PURSUANT TO LAND 
USE ASSUMPTIONS AND INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENT 
PLAN ADOPTED ON JANUARY 7, 2019 BY APPROVING 
RESOLUTION NO. 1685-19 

 
WHEREAS, it has been brought to the attention of the Council of the 

Town of Florence, that Florence Town Code, Chapter 150 relating to 
development impact fees is required to be amended due to legislative changes to 
the Arizona Revised Statutes (“A.R.S.”) § 463.05 pertaining to Development 
Fees; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Town of Florence has adopted a new Land Use 
Assumptions and Infrastructure Improvements Plan which provides for revised 
development impact fees which must be codified pursuant to A.R.S. § 463.05(C).  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Town Council 

of the Town of Florence, Arizona, that Florence Town Code is hereby amended 
by editing   SECTIONS § 150.280(C) (D) (G) (H) and (K)., which will now read as 
follows: 
 
Sec. 150.280 (C) ADDING THE FOLLOWING DEFINITIONS WITHIN THE 
DEFINITION SECTION AND ADDED ALPHABETICALLY:  
 
Credit Agreement: A written agreement between the Town and the developer(s) 
of Subject Development that allocates Credits to the Subject Development 
pursuant to Section 150.280(L) of this Chapter.  A Credit Agreement may be 
included as part of a Development Agreement pursuant to Section 150.280(M) of 
this Chapter. 

Credit Allocation: A term used to describe when Credits are distributed to a 
particular Development or parcel of land after execution of a Credit Agreement 
but are not yet issued. 

Credit Issuance: A term used to describe when the amount of an assessed 
development impact fee attributable to a particular development or parcel of land 
is reduced by applying a Credit allocation. 

Direct Benefit: A benefit to an DEVELOPMENT UNIT resulting from a Capital 
Facility that: (a) addresses the need for a Necessary Public Service created in 
whole or in part by the EDU; and that (b) meets either of the following criteria: (i) 
the Capital Facility is located in the immediate area of the DEVELOPMENT UNIT 
and is needed in the immediate area of the DEVELOPMENT UNIT to maintain 
the Level of Service; or (ii) the Capital Facility substitutes for, or eliminates the 



need for a Capital Facility that would have otherwise been needed in the 
immediate area of the DEVELOPMENT UNIT to maintain the Town’s Level of 
Service. 

Development Unit: A unit of development within a particular Category of 
Development, defined in terms of a standardized measure of the demand that a 
unit of development in that Category of Development generates for Necessary 
Public Services in relation to the demand generated by a detached single-family 
Dwelling Unit.  For all Categories of Necessary Public Services, the 
DEVELOPMENT UNIT factor for a detached single-family Dwelling Unit is one 
(1), while the DEVELOPMENT UNIT factor for a unit of development within 
another Category of Development is represented as a ratio of the demand for 
each Category of Necessary Public Services typically generated by that unit as 
compared to the demand for such services typically generated by a detached 
single-family Dwelling Unit.  An DEVELOPMENT UNIT shall be a “service unit” 
for purposes of paragraph (T), subparagraph (10) of A.R.S. § 9-463.05. 

Plan-Based Cost Per EDU: The total future capital costs listed in the 
Infrastructure Improvements Plan for a Category of Necessary Public Services 
divided by the total new equivalent demand units projected in a particular Service 
Area for that Category of Necessary Public Services over the same time period. 

Pledged: Where used with reference to a development impact fee, a 
development impact fee shall be considered “pledged” where it was identified by 
the Town as a source of payment or repayment for Financing or Debt that was 
identified as the source of financing for a Necessary Public Service for which a 
development impact fee was assessed pursuant to the then-applicable provisions 
of A.R.S. § 9-463.05. 

Road Facilities:  A Category of Necessary Public Services including arterial or 
collector streets or roads, traffic signals, rights-of-way, and improvements 
thereon, bridges, culverts, irrigation tiling, storm drains, and regional 
transportation facilities.1  

Substantial Nexus: A substantial nexus exists where the demand for Necessary 
Public Services that will be generated by a DEVELOPMENT UNIT can be 
reasonably quantified in terms of the burden it will impose on the available 
capacity of existing Capital Facilities, the need it will create for new or expanded 
Capital Facilities, and/or the benefit to the development from those Capital 
Facilities. 

Amending existing Sec. 150.280(D) to read as follows:    
 
(D) Applicability (1) Service Areas.  Except as otherwise provided herein, 
this Ordinance shall apply to all new development within any Service Area.  The 
following Service Areas are hereby established. 
 
                                                 
  



(a) The Service Areas for road, fire, police and library park 
development impact fees shall each encompass all of the territory within 
the corporate limits of the Town, as those boundaries may be amended in 
the future through annexation. 
 
(b) The Service Area for park development impact fees shall be the 
area shown in the figure below.   Map below is also removed. 
 

 
 



(c) The two Service Areas for the water development impact fees shall 
be the areas north and south of the Gila River, shown in the figure below, 
as those areas may be expanded in the future through the extension of 
Town water service. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



(d) The two Service Areas for the wastewater development impact fees 
shall be the areas north and south of the Gila River, shown in the figure 
below, as those areas may be expanded in the future through the 
extension of Town wastewater service. 

 

 
 
(2) Administration.  The Town Manager or his/her designee is authorized to 
make determinations regarding the application, administration and enforcement 
of the provisions of this Ordinance. 
 
Amending existing Sec. 150.280(G) by removing existing and replacing with 
new:    
 
(G) Land Use Assumptions 
 
The Infrastructure Improvements Plan shall be consistent with the Town’s current 
Land Use Assumptions for each Service Area and each Category of Necessary 
Public Services as adopted by the Town pursuant to A.R.S. § 463.05. Prior to the 
adoption or amendment of an Infrastructure Improvements Plan, the Town shall 
review and evaluate the Land Use Assumptions on which the Infrastructure 
Improvements Plan is to be based to ensure that the Land Use Assumptions 
within each Service Area conform to the General Plan. 
 

 

 



 (G) Land Use Assumptions 

The Infrastructure Improvements Plan shall be consistent with the Town’s 
current Land Use Assumptions for each Service Area and each Category of 
Necessary Public Services as adopted by the Town pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-
463.05. 

A. Reviewing the Land Use Assumptions.  Prior to the adoption or 
amendment of an Infrastructure Improvements Plan, the Town shall 
review and evaluate the Land Use Assumptions on which the 
Infrastructure Improvements Plan is to be based to ensure that the 
Land Use Assumptions within each Service Area conform with the 
General Plan. 

B. Evaluating Necessary Changes.  If the Land Use Assumptions 
upon which an Infrastructure Improvements Plan is based have not 
been updated within the last five years, the Town shall evaluate the 
Land Use Assumptions to determine whether changes are 
necessary.  If, after general evaluation, the Town determines that 
the Land Use Assumptions are still valid, the Town shall issue the 
report required in this Chapter.  

C. Required Modifications to Land Use Assumptions.  If the Town 
determines that changes to the Land Use Assumptions are 
necessary in order to adopt or amend an Infrastructure 
Improvements Plan, it shall make such changes as necessary to 
the Land Use Assumptions prior to or in conjunction with the review 
and approval of the Infrastructure Improvements Plan pursuant to 
this Chapter. 

 
Amending existing Sec. 150.280(H) by removing existing and replacing with 
new:    
 
(H) Infrastructure Improvements Plan 
 
The Infrastructure Improvements Plan shall be developed by Qualified 
Professionals and may be based upon or incorporated within the Town’s Capital 
Improvements Plan. The Infrastructure Improvements Plan shall: 
 
(1) Specify the Categories of Necessary Public Services for which the Town 
will impose a development impact fee. 
 
(2) Define and provide a map of one or more Service Areas within which the 
Town will provide each Category of Necessary Public Services for which 
development impact fees will be charged.   
 



(3) Identify and describe the Land Use Assumptions upon which the 
Infrastructure Improvements Plan is based in each Service Area.  
 
(4) Analyze and identify the existing Level of Service provided by the Town to 
existing development for each Category of Necessary Public Services in each 
Service Area. 
 
(5) Identify the Level of Service to be provided by the Town for each Category 
of Necessary Public Services in each Service Area. 
 
(6) Estimate the total number of existing and future Service Units within each 
Service Area based on the Town’s Land Use Assumptions and projected new 
Service Units in each Service Area.  
 
(7) Analyze and identify the projected utilization of any available excess 
capacity in existing Capital Facilities, and the new or expanded Capital Facilities 
that will be required to provide and maintain the planned Level of Service in each 
Service Area for each Category of Necessary Public Services, resulting from 
projected new Service Units for a period not to exceed ten years. Nothing in this 
Subsection shall prohibit the Town from additionally including in its Infrastructure 
Improvements Plan projected utilization of, or needs for, Capital Facilities for a 
period longer than ten years, provided that the costs of such Capital Facilities are 
excluded from the calculation of the Net Cost per Service Unit. 
 
(8) Forecast the revenues from taxes, fees, assessments or other sources 
that will be available to fund the new or expanded Capital Facilities identified in 
the Infrastructure Improvements Plan, which shall include estimated state-shared 
revenue, highway users revenue, federal revenue, ad valorem property taxes, 
construction contracting or similar excise taxes and the capital recovery portion 
of utility fees attributable to development based on the approved land use 
assumptions.  
 

(H) Infrastructure Improvements Plan 

A. Infrastructure Improvements Plan Contents.  The Infrastructure 
Improvements Plan shall be developed by Qualified Professionals and 
may be based upon or incorporated within the Town’s Capital 
Improvements Plan.  The Infrastructure Improvements Plan shall: 

1. Specify the Categories of Necessary Public Services for which the 
Town will impose a development impact fee, which may include any 
or all of the following: 

a. Water  
b. Wastewater  
c. Road Facilities  
d. Fire Protection  



e. Police  
f. Park  
 

2. Define and provide a map of one or more Service Areas within 
which the Town will provide each Category of Necessary Public 
Services for which development impact fees will be charged.  Each 
Service Area must be defined in a manner that demonstrates a 
Substantial Nexus between the Capital Facilities to be provided in 
the Service Area and the Development Unit to be served by those 
Capital Facilities.  For Libraries and for Parks larger than 30 acres, 
each Service Area must be defined in a manner that demonstrates 
a Direct Benefit between the Capital Facilities and the Development 
Unit to be served by those Capital Facilities.  The Town may cover 
more than one category of Capital Facilities in the same Service 
Area provided that there is an independent Substantial Nexus or 
Direct Benefit, as applicable, between each Category of Necessary 
Public Services and the Development Unit to be served. 

3. Identify and describe the Land Use Assumptions upon which the 
Infrastructure Improvements Plan is based in each Service Area. 

4. Analyze and identify the existing Level of Service provided by the 
Town to existing Development Unit for each Category of Necessary 
Public Services in each Service Area. 

5. Identify the Level of Service to be provided by the Town for each 
Category of Necessary Public Services in each Service Area based 
on the relevant Land Use Assumptions and any established Town 
standards or policies related to required Levels of Service.  If the 
Town provides the same Category of Necessary Public Services in 
more than one Service Area, the Infrastructure Improvements Plan 
shall include a comparison of the Levels of Service to be provided 
in each Service Area. 

6. For each Category of Necessary Public Services, analyze and 
identify the existing capacity of the Capital Facilities in each Service 
Area, the utilization of those Capital Facilities by existing 
Development Unit, and the available excess capacity of those 
Capital Facilities to serve new Development Unit including any 
existing or planned commitments or agreements for the usage of 
such capacity.  The Infrastructure Improvements Plan shall 
additionally identify[: (a)] any changes or upgrades to existing 
Capital Facilities that will be needed to achieve or maintain the 
planned Level of Service to existing Development Unit, or to meet 
new safety, efficiency, environmental, or other regulatory 
requirements for services provided to existing Development Unit[; 
and (b) those portions of Capital Facilities that will be necessary to 



serve any new public school, private school, or Town facility for 
which development impact fees will not be assessed]. 

7. Identify any Grandfathered Facilities and the impact thereof on the 
need for Necessary Public Services in each affected Service Area. 

8. Estimate the total number of existing and future DEVELOPMENT 
UNIT within each Service Area based on the Town’s Land Use 
Assumptions and projected new Development Unit in each Service 
Area.  

9. Based on the analysis in paragraphs (3)-(6) above, provide a 
summary table or tables describing the Level of Service for each 
Category of Necessary Public Services by relating the required 
Capital Facilities to Development Unit in each Service Area, and 
identifying the applicable DEVELOPMENT UNIT factor associated 
with each Category of Development.  

10. For each Category of Necessary Public Services, analyze and 
identify the projected utilization of any available excess capacity in 
existing Capital Facilities, and all new or expanded Capital Facilities 
that will be required to provide and maintain the planned Level of 
Service in each Service Area as a result of the new projected 
Development Unit in that Service Area, for a period not to exceed 
ten years.  Nothing in this Subsection shall prohibit the Town from 
additionally including in its Infrastructure Improvements Plan 
projected utilization of, or needs for, Capital Facilities for a period 
longer than ten years, provided that the costs of such Capital 
Facilities are excluded from the calculation of the Plan-Based Cost 
per EDU. 

11. For each Category of Necessary Public Services, estimate the total 
cost of any available excess capacity and/or new or expanded 
Capital Facilities that will be required to serve new Development 
Unit, including costs of land acquisition, improvements, engineering 
and architectural services, studies leading to design, design, 
construction, financing, and administrative costs, as well as 
projected costs of inflation.  Such total costs shall not include costs 
for ongoing operation and maintenance of Capital Facilities, nor for 
replacement of Capital Facilities to the extent that such 
replacement is necessary to serve existing Development Unit.  If 
the Infrastructure Improvements Plan includes changes or 
upgrades to existing Capital Facilities that will be needed to achieve 
or maintain the planned Level of Service to existing Development 
Unit, or to meet new regulatory requirements for services provided 
to existing Development Unit, such costs shall be identified and 
distinguished in the Infrastructure Improvements Plan. 



12. Forecast the revenues from taxes, fees, assessments or other 
sources that will be available to fund the new or expanded Capital 
Facilities identified in the Infrastructure Improvements Plan, which 
shall include estimated state-shared revenue, highway users 
revenue, federal revenue, ad valorem property taxes, construction 
contracting or similar excise taxes and the capital recovery portion 
of utility fees attributable to development based on the approved 
land use assumptions.  The Infrastructure Improvements Plan shall 
additionally estimate the time required to finance, construct and 
implement the new or expanded Capital Facilities. 

13. Calculate required Offsets as follows: 

a. From the forecasted revenues in Subsection (12) of this 
Section, identify those sources of revenue that: (i) are 
attributable to new development, and (ii) will contribute to 
paying for the capital costs of Necessary Public Services. 

b. For each source and amount of revenue identified pursuant 
to paragraph (a) of this Subsection, calculate the relative 
contribution of each Category of Development to paying for 
the capital costs of Necessary Public Services in each 
Service Area.  

c. Based on the relative contributions identified pursuant to 
paragraph (b) of this Subsection, for each Category of 
Necessary Public Services, calculate the total Offset to be 
provided to each Category of Development in each Service 
Area. 

d. For each Category of Necessary Public Services, convert 
the total Offset to be provided to each Category of 
Development in each Service Area into an offset amount per 
DEVELOPMENT UNIT by dividing the total Offset for each 
Category of Development by the number of Development 
Unit associated with that Category of Development.  

e. Beginning August 1, 2014, for purposes of calculating the 
required Offset, if the Town imposes a construction, 
contracting, or similar excise tax rate in excess of the 
percentage amount of the transaction privilege tax rate that 
is imposed on the majority of other transaction privilege tax 
classifications in the Town, the entire excess portion of the 
construction, contracting, or similar excise tax shall be 
treated as a contribution to the capital costs of Necessary 
Public Services provided to new development unless the 
excess portion is already utilized for such purpose pursuant 
to this Section. 



f. In determining the amount of required Offset for land 
included in a community facilities district established under 
A.R.S. Title 48, Chapter 4, Article 6, the Town shall take into 
account any Capital Facilities provided by the district that are 
included in the Infrastructure Improvements Plan and the 
capital costs paid by the district for such Capital Facilities, 
and shall offset impact fees assessed within the community 
facilities district proportionally. 

14. Calculate the Plan-Based Cost per DEVELOPMENT UNIT by: 

a. Dividing the total projected costs to provide Capital Facilities 
to new Development Unit for each Category of Necessary 
Public Services in each Service Area as determined 
pursuant to Subsection 10 of this Section into the number of 
new DEVELOPMENT UNIT  projected for that Service Area 
over a period not to exceed ten years, considering the 
specific DEVELOPMENT UNIT factor(s) associated with 
such Development Unit for each Category of Necessary 
Public Services. 

b. Subtracting the required Offset per DEVELOPMENT UNIT 
calculated pursuant to Subsection 13 of this Section. 

B. Multiple Plans.  An Infrastructure Improvements Plan adopted pursuant to 
this Subsection may address one or more of the Town’s Categories of 
Necessary Public Services in any or all of the Town’s Service Areas.  
Each Capital Facility shall be subject to no more than one Infrastructure 
Improvements Plan at any given time.  

C. Reserved Capacity.  The Town may reserve capacity in an Infrastructure 
Improvements Plan to serve one or more planned future developments, 
including capacity reserved through a Development Agreement pursuant 
to Section 150.280(M) of this Chapter.  All reservations of existing 
capacity must be disclosed in the Infrastructure Improvements Plan at the 
time it is adopted. 

(K) Assessment and Collection is hereby edited to read as follows:  
 
(1) Assessment.  Development impact fees shall be assessed on new 
development according to the provisions of this Ordinance and the following fee 
schedules. 
 

(a) Non-utility fee schedule.  Road, park, fire,  and police and library   
development impact fees shall be assessed according to the 
following fee schedule.  Road and fire fees in columns labeled 
“CFD” apply to development located within the Merrill Ranch 
Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2.  Road and fire fees 
in columns labeled “non-CFD” apply to development located within 



the Town limits but outside the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities 
Districts No. 1 and No. 2.  Park fees apply only to development 
located within the Park Service Area.  Road, Police and library 
These fees apply Town-wide.  Residential Land Uses shall be 
assessed per Dwelling Unit.  Nonresidential Land Uses shall be 
assessed per 1,000 square feet of Gross Floor Area. 

 
Type Police  Fire Parks Roads  
Single Family $  754 $955 $1,934 $2,250 
Multi Family  $  560 $710 $1,437 $1,560 
Commercial/Retail $1465 $694 $   148 $3,900 
Industrial $  292 $482 $   102 $   850 
Office/other Service $  292 $880 $   187 $1,680 
 
 

 Road  Fire   

Land Use 
non-
CFD in CFD Park*  

non-
CFD in CFD Police Library  

Single-Family (unit) $2,086 $641 $1,417 $917 $607 $607 $203
Multi-Family (unit) $1,313 $403 $1,148 $743 $492 $492 $164
Commercial (1000 sf) $3,141 $964 $170 $660 $437 $437 $24
Institutional (1,000 sf) $1,733 $532 $198 $605 $401 $401 $28
Industrial (1000 sf) $1,015 $312 $128 $202 $134 $134 $18

* applicable to new development in Park Service Area only. 
 

(b) Utility fee schedule.  Water and wastewater development impact 
fees shall be assessed according to the following fee schedule.  Water 
and wastewater fees apply only to customers of the Town’s water and 
wastewater systems located in the water and wastewater service areas.  
Water and wastewater fees shall not be assessed on property located 
within the North Florence Improvement District.  Water and wastewater 
fees are based on the size and type of the water meter.  For wastewater 
customers that are not also water customers, the wastewater fee shall be 
based on the water meter size and type that is appropriate for the 
customer, as determined by the Town Engineer. 

 
Meter Size Type Water Wastewater 
5/8"x3/4" Disc-Resid.* $1,980 $2,140 
5/8”x3/4” Disc-Other $1,980 $2,782 

1” Disc $4,950 $7,062 
1 ½” Disc $9,900 $14,338 

2” Disc $15,840 $22,898 
3” Compound $31,680 $45,582 
3” Turbine $34,650 $49,862 
4” Compound $49,500 $71,262 
4” Turbine $59,400 $85,600 
6” Compound $99,000 $142,738 
6” Turbine $123,750 $178,262 
8” Turbine $178,200 $256,800 

10” Turbine $287,100 $413,662 



12” Turbine $425,700 $613,538 
  
* applicable rate for single-family customers 
 
 

Meter Size Type Water  Wastewater 

.625 Displacement* $1,065 $2,400 

.750 Displacement $1,597 $3,600 
1.000 Displacement $2,662  $6,001 

1.500 Displacement $5,324 $12,002 
2.000 Displacement $8,518 $19,202 
3.000 Displacement $17,037 $38,405 

3.000 Compound $17,037 $38,405 
3.000 Turbine $18,635 $42,005 

4.000 Compound $26,621 $60,008 
4.000 Turbine $33,543 $75,610 
6.000 Compound $53,243 $120,015 

6.000 Turbine $69,216 $156,020 
8.000 Compound $85,189 $192,025 

8.000 Turbine $149,082 $336,043 
10.000 Turbine $223,623 $504,065 
12.000 Turbine $282,191 $636,082 

* applicable rate for single-family customers 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of 
Florence, Arizona, this _____, May 2019. 

 
EFFECTIVE DATE: According to A.R.S. § 9-463.05 (c), this ordinance 

shall not be effective until seventy-five days after its adoption.  The effective Date 
for this Ordinance is August 1, 2019.  
 
      ________________________________  
      Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
____________________________ ________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk   Cliff Mattice, Town Attorney 
 
 
 



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING & 
NOTICE OF INTENT TO INCREASE DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEES  

 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence will 
hold a Work Session to Review the proposed Development Impact Fees of the Town of 
Florence on March 18, 2019 at 5:00 P.M.  
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence will 
hold a public hearing on March 18, 2019, at 6:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers 
of Town Hall, 775 N. Main Street, Florence, Arizona, at which time and place all 
interested persons will have an opportunity to appear and be heard in relation to the 
following: Development (Impact) Fee Program Update and Increase. 
 
Notice of Intent to Consider Adoption of a Development (Impact) Fee Ordinance, 
Increasing the Development Impact Fees for PARKS AND RECREATIONAL 
INFRASTRUCTURE, POLICE FACILITIES, FIRE FACILITIES, STREET FACILITIES, 
WATER FACILITIES, and WASTEWATER FACILITIES. The Ordinance will be 
considered for Action at the May 6, 2019 Regular Town Council Meeting.  
 
In conjunction with the update of the Town’s Development (Impact) Fee Program, the 
Mayor and Council will consider adoption of a Development (Impact) Fee Ordinance in 
compliance with Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS Section 9-463.05, as amended). The 
fees are based on the Land Use Assumptions Report that was recently adopted on 
January 7, 2019 and is available on the Town website (florenceaz.gov).   
  
Hard copies are also available for review at the Town Clerk’s Office, 775 N. Main Street, 
Florence, Arizona.  For additional information, please contact Lisa Garcia (520) 868-
7552 (lisa.garcia@florenceaz.gov)  or Ben Bitter (520) 868-7541 
(benjamin.bitter@florenceaz.gov) 
 
Key Dates for Adoption of Development Impact Fee  

Work Session Monday March 18, 2019 5:00 p.m.  
Public Hearing Monday March 18, 2019 6:00 p.m.  
Adoption of Fees Monday May 6, 2019 6:00 p.m.  
Effective Date Monday August 1, 2019 6:00 p.m.  

 
The Council Chambers is wheelchair accessible. A request for reasonable 
accommodation for persons with disabilities must be made to the Town Clerk’s Office by 
parties at least five working days in advance of the scheduled meeting and can be 
made by calling (520) 868-7574.    
 
Published on the florenceaz.gov Website on February 8, 2019 
Published in the Florence Reminder on February 14, 21, March 7, 14, 2019.  



 

 

 
 
 

 
Land Use Assumptions, 

Infrastructure Improvements Plan, and 
Development Fee Update 

 
 
 

 
 

Prepared for: 

Town of Florence, Arizona 

 
 
 
 

January 7, 2019 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

4701 Sangamore Road 

Suite S240 

Bethesda, MD 20816 

301.320.6900 

www.TischlerBise.com 

 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 

 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

i 
 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ......................................................................................................................... 1 

Arizona Development Fee Enabling Legislation ............................................................................................... 2 
Necessary Public Services ................................................................................................................................ 2 
Infrastructure Improvements Plan .................................................................................................................. 2 
Qualified Professionals .................................................................................................................................... 3 
Conceptual Development Fee Calculation ...................................................................................................... 3 
Evaluation of Offsets ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

DEVELOPMENT FEE REPORT ............................................................................................................ 4 

Methodology .................................................................................................................................................. 4 
General Methods............................................................................................................................................. 4 
Updated Development Fees Methods and Cost Components ........................................................................ 4 
Proposed Development Fee Schedules: Town of Florence ............................................................................. 5 

PARKS AND RECREATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN .......................... 7 

Service Area .................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Methodology .................................................................................................................................................. 7 
Proportionate Share ........................................................................................................................................ 7 

Ratio of Service Units to Development Units .................................................................................................. 8 

Analysis of Capacity, Usage, and Costs of Existing Services ............................................................................. 9 
Parks and Open Space ..................................................................................................................................... 9 
Parks and Open Space Improvements .......................................................................................................... 11 

Projected Demand for Services And Costs ..................................................................................................... 12 

IIP and Development Fee Report .................................................................................................................. 14 

Parks and Recreational Facilities Development Fees ..................................................................................... 14 
Revenue Offset .............................................................................................................................................. 14 
Proposed Parks and Recreational Facilities Development Fees .................................................................... 14 

Projected Parks and Recreational Facilities Development Fee Revenue ........................................................ 16 

POLICE  FACILITIES INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN ......................................... 17 

Service Area .................................................................................................................................................. 17 

Methodology ................................................................................................................................................ 17 
Proportionate Share ...................................................................................................................................... 17 

Ratio of Service Units to Development Units ................................................................................................ 18 

Analysis of Capacity, Usage, and Costs of Existing Services ........................................................................... 20 
Police Facilities .............................................................................................................................................. 20 
Police Vehicles ............................................................................................................................................... 21 

Projected Demand for Services And Costs ..................................................................................................... 22 

IIP and Development Fee Report .................................................................................................................. 24 

Police Facilities Development Fees ............................................................................................................... 24 
Revenue Offset .............................................................................................................................................. 24 
Proposed Police Facilities Development Fees ............................................................................................... 24 

Projected Police Facilities Development Fee Revenue .................................................................................. 25 

FIRE FACILITIES INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN ............................................... 27 

Service Area .................................................................................................................................................. 27 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

ii 
 

 

Methodology ................................................................................................................................................ 27 
Proportionate Share ...................................................................................................................................... 27 

Ratio of Service Unit to Development Unit ................................................................................................... 28 

Analysis of Capacity, Usage, and Costs of Existing Services ........................................................................... 29 
Fire Facilities .................................................................................................................................................. 29 
Fire Apparatus ............................................................................................................................................... 30 

Projected Demand for Services And Costs ..................................................................................................... 31 

IIP and Development Fee Report .................................................................................................................. 32 

Fire Facilities Development Fees ................................................................................................................... 33 
Revenue Offset .............................................................................................................................................. 33 
Proposed Fire Facilities Development Fees ................................................................................................... 34 

Projected Fire Facilities Development Fee Revenue ...................................................................................... 35 

STREET FACILITIES  INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN ........................................ 37 

Service Area .................................................................................................................................................. 37 

Methodology ................................................................................................................................................ 37 
Proportionate Share ...................................................................................................................................... 37 

Ratio of Service Units to Land Use ................................................................................................................ 37 
Service Units .................................................................................................................................................. 37 
Trip Generation Rates ................................................................................................................................... 38 
Adjustments for Commuting Patterns and Pass-By Trips .............................................................................. 38 
Trip Length Weighting Factor by Type of Land Use ....................................................................................... 39 

Analysis of Capacity, Usage, and Costs of Existing Services ........................................................................... 40 
Average Trip Length ...................................................................................................................................... 41 

Projected Service Units, Demand, and Costs for Services .............................................................................. 42 
Travel Demand Model ................................................................................................................................... 43 

IIP and Development Fee Report .................................................................................................................. 45 

Street Facilities Development Fees ............................................................................................................... 45 
Revenue Offset .............................................................................................................................................. 45 
Proposed Street Facilities Development Fees ............................................................................................... 45 

FigureS9: Proposed Street Facilities Development Fees ..................................................................................... 46 

Projected Streets Development Fee Revenue ............................................................................................... 46 

WATER FACILITIES INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN ......................................... 48 
Service Area ................................................................................................................................................... 48 
Proportionate Share ...................................................................................................................................... 49 

Analysis of Capacity and Usage of Existing Public Services ............................................................................ 49 
Existing Capacity and Usage .......................................................................................................................... 49 
Average Day Flows ........................................................................................................................................ 49 

Ratio of Service Unit to Development Unit ................................................................................................... 50 

Projected demand and Costs for Services ..................................................................................................... 51 
Projected Water Flows .................................................................................................................................. 51 
Water Transmission Facilities ........................................................................................................................ 52 
Water Storage Facilities ................................................................................................................................ 52 
Water Supply Facilities .................................................................................................................................. 53 
IIP and Development Fee Study .................................................................................................................... 53 

Water Facilities Development Fees ............................................................................................................... 53 
Revenue Offset .............................................................................................................................................. 53 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

iii 
 

 

Proposed Water Facilities Development Fees ............................................................................................... 54 

Projected Water Facilities Development Fee Revenue .................................................................................. 54 

WASTEWATER FACILITIES INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN ........................... 56 
Service Area ................................................................................................................................................... 56 
Proportionate Share ...................................................................................................................................... 57 

Analysis of Capacity and Usage of Existing Public Services ............................................................................ 57 
Existing Capacity and Usage .......................................................................................................................... 57 
Average Day Flows ........................................................................................................................................ 57 

Ratio of Service Unit to Development Unit ................................................................................................... 58 

Projected demand and Costs for Services ..................................................................................................... 59 
Projected Wastewater Flows ........................................................................................................................ 59 
Wastewater Collection Facilities ................................................................................................................... 60 
Wastewater Treatment Facilities .................................................................................................................. 60 
IIP and Development Fee Study .................................................................................................................... 61 

Wastewater Facilities Development Fees...................................................................................................... 61 
Revenue Offset .............................................................................................................................................. 61 
Proposed Wastewater Facilities Development Fees ..................................................................................... 62 

Projected Wastewater Facilities Development Fee Revenue ........................................................................ 63 

APPENDIX A:  LAND USE ASSUMPTIONS ...................................................................................... 65 

Summary of Growth Indicators ..................................................................................................................... 65 

Residential Development .............................................................................................................................. 66 
Persons Per Housing Unit and Persons Per Household ................................................................................. 66 
Recent Residential Construction ................................................................................................................... 66 
Housing Unit Projections ............................................................................................................................... 67 
Population Estimates ..................................................................................................................................... 68 
Townwide Population Projections ................................................................................................................ 70 
Population Projections for Town of Florence Utility Service Area ................................................................ 71 

Nonresidential Development ........................................................................................................................ 72 
Current Estimate of Employment and Nonresidential Square Footage ........................................................ 73 
Employment and Nonresidential Floor Area Projections .............................................................................. 74 

Average Daily Vehicle Trips ........................................................................................................................... 74 
Residential Vehicle Trips ............................................................................................................................... 75 

Detailed Development Projections ............................................................................................................... 76 

APPENDIX B:  ARIZONA REVISED STATUTES ............................................................................. 77 

APPENDIX C – FORECAST OF REVENUES ..................................................................................... 89 

APPENDIX C:  IMPLEMENTATION AND ADMINISTRATION ................................................... 93 

Residential Development .............................................................................................................................. 93 

Nonresidential Development ........................................................................................................................ 94 
 
 
 
 
 
 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

1 
 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Town of Florence hired TischlerBise to document land use assumptions, prepare an Infrastructure 

Improvements Plan (hereinafter referred to as the “IIP”), and update development fees pursuant to 

Arizona Revised Statutes (‘ARS”) § 9-436.05 (hereinafter referred to as the “Enabling Legislation”). 

Municipalities in Arizona may assess development fees to offset infrastructure costs to a municipality for 

necessary public services. The development fees must be based on an Infrastructure Improvements Plan 

and Land Use Assumptions. The IIPs for each type of infrastructure are located in each infrastructure 

type’s corresponding section, and the Land Use Assumptions can be found in Appendix A. The proposed 

development fees are displayed in the Development Fee Report chapter.  

Development fees are one-time payments collected from new construction at the time a building permit 

is issued for the purpose of constructing system improvements needed to accommodate new 

development. The fee represents new growth’s proportionate share of capital facility needs. 

Development fees do have limitations and should not be regarded as the total solution for infrastructure 

funding. Development fees may be used for infrastructure improvements or debt service for growth 

related infrastructure. In contrast to general taxes, development fees may not be used for operations, 

maintenance, replacement, or correcting existing deficiencies. 

The updated Infrastructure Improvements Plan and associated development fees include the following 

necessary public services: 

• Parks and Recreation 

• Police  

• Fire and Rescue  

• Water and Wastewater 

• Streets  

Based on discussions with Town staff, the decision was made to eliminate Library infrastructure from the 

development fee study. This plan also includes all necessary elements required to be in full compliance 

with SB 1525.  

 

  



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

2 
 

 

ARIZONA DEVELOPMENT FEE ENABLING LEGISLATION 

The Enabling Legislation governs how development fees are calculated for municipalities in Arizona.  

Necessary Public Services 

Under the requirements of the Enabling Legislation, development fees may only be used for construction, 

acquisition or expansion of public facilities that are necessary public services. “Necessary public service” 

means any of the following categories of facilities that have a life expectancy of three or more years and 

that are owned and operated on behalf of the municipality: water, wastewater, storm water, drainage, 

flood control, library, streets, fire and police, and neighborhood parks and recreation. Additionally, a 

necessary public service includes any facility, not included in the aforementioned categories (e.g., general 

government facilities), that was financed before June 1, 2011 and that meets the following requirements: 

1. Development fees were pledged to repay debt service obligations related to the construction of 

the facility. 

2. After August 1, 2014, any development fees collected are used solely for the payment of principal 

and interest on the portion of the bonds, notes, or other debt service obligations issued before 

June 1, 2011 to finance construction of the facility. 

Infrastructure Improvements Plan 

Development fees must be calculated pursuant to an IIP. For each necessary public service that is the 

subject of a development fee, by law, the IIP shall include the following seven elements: 

• A description of the existing necessary public services in the service area and the costs to update, 

improve, expand, correct or replace those necessary public services to meet existing needs and 

usage and stricter safety, efficiency, environmental or regulatory standards, which shall be 

prepared by qualified professionals licensed in this state, as applicable. 

• An analysis of the total capacity, the level of current usage and commitments for usage of capacity 

of the existing necessary public services, which shall be prepared by qualified professionals 

licensed in this state, as applicable. 

• A description of all or the parts of the necessary public services or facility expansions and their 

costs necessitated by and attributable to development in the service area based on the approved 

Land Use Assumptions, including a forecast of the costs of infrastructure, improvements, real 

property, financing, engineering and architectural services, which shall be prepared by qualified 

professionals licensed in this state, as applicable. 

• A table establishing the specific level or quantity of use, consumption, generation or discharge of 

a service unit for each category of necessary public services or facility expansions and an 

equivalency or conversion table establishing the ratio of a service unit to various types of land 

uses, including residential, commercial and industrial. 

• The total number of projected service units necessitated by and attributable to new development 

in the service area based on the approved Land Use Assumptions and calculated pursuant to 

generally accepted engineering and planning criteria. 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

3 
 

 

• The projected demand for necessary public services or facility expansions required by new service 

units for a period not to exceed ten years. 

• A forecast of revenues generated by new service units other than development fees, which shall 

include estimated state-shared revenue, highway users revenue, federal revenue, ad valorem 

property taxes, construction contracting or similar excise taxes and the capital recovery portion 

of utility fees attributable to development based on the approved Land Use Assumptions and a 

plan to include these contributions in determining the extent of the burden imposed by the 

development. 

Qualified Professionals 

The IIP must be developed by qualified professionals using generally accepted engineering and planning 

practices. A qualified professional is defined as “a professional engineer, surveyor, financial analyst or 

planner providing services within the scope of the person’s license, education, or experience.” TischlerBise 

is a fiscal, economic, and planning consulting firm specializing in the cost of growth services. Our services 

include development fees, fiscal impact analysis, infrastructure financing analyses, user fee/cost of service 

studies, capital improvement plans, and fiscal software. TischlerBise has prepared over 900 development 

fee studies over the past 40 years for local governments across the United States. 

Conceptual Development Fee Calculation 

In contrast to project-level improvements, development fees fund growth-related infrastructure that will 

benefit multiple development projects, or the entire service area (usually referred to as system 

improvements). The first step is to determine an appropriate demand indicator for the particular type of 

infrastructure. The demand indicator measures the number of service units for each unit of development. 

For example, an appropriate indicator of the demand for parks is population growth and the increase in 

population can be estimated from the average number of persons per housing unit. The second step in 

the development fee formula is to determine infrastructure improvement units per service unit, typically 

called level-of-service (LOS) standards. In keeping with the park example, a common LOS standard is 

improved park acres per thousand people. The third step in the development fee formula is the cost of 

various infrastructure units. To complete the park example, this part of the formula would establish a cost 

per acre for land acquisition and/ or park improvements. 

Evaluation of Offsets 

Regardless of the methodology, a consideration of “offsets” is integral to the development of a legally 

defensible development fee. There are two types of “offset” that should be addressed in development 

fee studies and ordinances. The first is a revenue offsets due to possible double payment situations, which 

could occur when other revenues may contribute to the capital costs of infrastructure covered by the 

development fee. This type of offset is integrated into the fee calculation, thus reducing the fee amount. 

The second is a site-specific offset or developer reimbursement for dedication of land or construction of 

system improvements. This type of offset is addressed in the administration and implementation of the 

development fee program. For ease of administration, TischlerBise normally recommends developer 

reimbursements for system improvements.  



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

4 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT FEE REPORT 

METHODOLOGY 

General Methods 

There are three general methods for calculating development fees. The choice of a particular method 

depends primarily on the timing of infrastructure construction (past, concurrent, or future) and service 

characteristics of the facility type being addressed. Each method has advantages and disadvantages in a 

particular situation and can be used simultaneously for different cost components.   

Reduced to its simplest terms, the process of calculating development fees involves two main steps: (1) 

determining the cost of development-related capital improvements and (2) allocating those costs 

equitably to various types of development. In practice, though, the calculation of development fees can 

become quite complicated because of the many variables involved in defining the relationship between 

development and the need for facilities within the designated service area. The following paragraphs 

discuss basic methods for calculating development fees and how those methods can be applied. 

• Cost Recovery (past improvements) - The rationale for recoupment, often called cost recovery, is 

that new development is paying for its share of the useful life and remaining capacity of facilities 

already built, or land already purchased, from which new growth will benefit. This methodology 

is often used for utility systems that must provide adequate capacity before new development 

can take place. 

• Incremental Expansion (concurrent improvements) - The incremental expansion method 

documents current level-of-service (LOS) standards for each type of public facility, using both 

quantitative and qualitative measures. This approach assumes there are no existing infrastructure 

deficiencies or surplus capacity in infrastructure. New development is only paying its 

proportionate share for growth-related infrastructure. Revenue will be used to expand or provide 

additional facilities, as needed, to accommodate new development. An incremental expansion 

cost method is best suited for public facilities that will be expanded in regular increments to keep 

pace with development.  

• Plan-Based (future improvements) - The plan-based method allocates costs for a specified set of 

improvements to a specified amount of development. Improvements are typically identified in a 

long-range facility plan and development potential is identified by a land use plan. There are two 

basic options for determining the cost per demand unit: (1) total cost of a public facility can be 

divided by total demand units (average cost), or (2) the growth-share of the public facility cost 

can be divided by the net increase in demand units over the planning timeframe (marginal cost). 

Updated Development Fees Methods and Cost Components 

Figure 1 summarizes service areas, methodology, and infrastructure cost components for each 

development fee. The Town of Florence is home to an estimated 16,400 persons housed in group quarters 

(correctional facilities, medical care facilities, residential treatment centers, college residence halls, 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

5 
 

 

military barracks). Police and Fire and Rescue infrastructure serves the group quarters population, while 

Parks and Open Space infrastructure does not.  As such, the demand units and cost allocation vary by 

development fee component.  

Figure 1: Proposed Development Fee Service Areas, Methods, and Cost Components 

 

 

Proposed Development Fee Schedules: Town of Florence  

Development fees for residential development will be assessed per dwelling unit, based on the type of 

unit. Nonresidential development fees will be assessed per square foot of floor area, according to three 

general types of development. Utility development fees, which will be assessed by meter size. The fees 

shown in Figures 2 and 3 represent the maximum allowable fees – development fees fund 100 percent of 

growth-related infrastructure. Florence may adopt fees that are less than the amounts shown; however, 

a reduction in development fee revenue will necessitate an increase in other revenues, a decrease in 

planned capital improvements and/or a decrease in Florence’s LOS standards. All costs in the 

development fee study are in current dollars with no assumed inflation rate over time. If cost estimates 

change significantly over time, development fees should be recalculated. 

Figure 2: Schedule of Maximum Allowable Development Fees (non-utility)  

 

Cost Allocation
Development Fee 

Category
Service Area

Incremental 

Expansion
Plan-Based Cost Recovery

Peak HH Population & 

Nonres. Vehicle Trips

Fire and Rescue Town-wide Station & Vehicles N/A N/A
Peak HH Population & 

Jobs

Police Town-wide Station & Vehicles N/A N/A

Gallons

Parks and Open Space Town-wide Land & Improvements N/A N/A
Peak HH Population & 

Jobs

Water
N & S Service 

Areas
N/A

Transmission, Supply 

and Storage
N/A

Vehicle Miles of Travel

Wastewater
N & S Service 

Areas
N/A

Collection and 

Treatment
N/A Gallons

Roads Town-wide
Arterial 

Improvements
N/A N/A

Residential (per unit)

Type Police
Fire and 

Rescue

Parks and 

Open Space

W

a

t

Roads
Proposed

Fee

Current 

Fee
Difference

Single-Family $754 $955 $1,934 $2,250 $5,892 $5,027 $865

Multi-Family $560 $710 $1,437 $1,560 $4,267 $3,696 $571

Nonresidential (per 1,000 square feet)

Type Police
Fire and 

Rescue

Parks and 

Open Space

W

a

t

Roads
Proposed

Fee

Current 

Fee
Difference

Commercial/Retail $1,465 $694 $148 $3,900 $6,206 $5,423 $783

Industrial $292 $482 $102 $850 $1,726 $464 $1,262

Office/Other Services $292 $880 $187 $1,680 $3,038 $2,937 $101



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

6 
 

 

Figure 3: Schedule of Maximum Allowable Development Fees (Utilities)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meter Size 

(inches)
Meter Type

Proposed 

Water Fee
Current Fee $ Change

Proposed 

Wastewater 

Fee

Current Fee $ Change

0.625 Displacement $1,065 $1,980 ($915) $2,400 $2,140 $260

0.750 Displacement $1,597 $4,950 ($3,353) $3,600 $2,782 $818

1.000 Displacement $2,662 $4,950 ($2,288) $6,001 $7,062 ($1,061)

1.500 Displacement $5,324 $9,900 ($4,576) $12,002 $14,338 ($2,336)

2.000 Displacement $8,518 $15,840 ($7,322) $19,202 $22,898 ($3,696)

3.000 Displacement $17,037 $31,680 ($14,643) $38,405 $45,582 ($7,177)

3.000 Compound $17,037 $31,680 ($14,643) $38,405 $45,852 ($7,447)

3.000 Turbine $18,635 $34,650 ($16,015) $42,005 $49,862 ($7,857)

4.000 Compound $26,621 $49,500 ($22,879) $60,008 $71,262 ($11,254)

4.000 Turbine $33,543 $59,400 ($25,857) $75,610 $85,600 ($9,990)

6.000 Compound $53,243 $99,000 ($45,757) $120,015 $142,738 ($22,723)

6.000 Turbine $69,216 $123,750 ($54,534) $156,020 $178,262 ($22,242)

8.000 Compound $85,189 $178,200 ($93,011) $192,025 $0 $192,025

8.000 Turbine $149,082 $178,200 ($29,118) $336,043 $256,800 $79,243

10.000 Turbine $223,623 $287,100 ($63,477) $504,065 $413,662 $90,403

12.000 Turbine $282,191 $425,700 ($143,509) $636,082 $613,538 $22,544



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

7 
 

 

PARKS AND RECREATIONAL INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN 

Parks and Recreational Facilities are one of the infrastructure categories allowed under Arizona law. ARS 

§ 9-463.05 (T)(7)(g) defines the facilities and assets which can be included in the Parks and Recreational 

Facilities IIP: 

“Neighborhood parks and recreational facilities on real property up to thirty acres in area, or parks 
and recreational facilities larger than thirty acres if the facilities provide a direct benefit to the 
development. Park and recreational facilities do not include vehicles, equipment or that portion of 
any facility that is used for amusement parks, aquariums, aquatic centers, auditoriums, arenas, 
arts and cultural facilities, bandstand and orchestra facilities, bathhouses, boathouses, 
clubhouses, community centers greater than three thousand square feet in floor area, 
environmental education centers, equestrian facilities, golf course facilities, greenhouses, lakes, 
museums, theme parks, water reclamation or riparian areas, wetlands, zoo facilities or similar 
recreational facilities, but may include swimming pools.” 
 

The Parks and Recreational Facilities IIP includes components for park land, park improvements and the 

cost of preparing the Parks and Recreational Facilities IIP and related Development Fee Report.  

SERVICE AREA 

The Town of Florence plans to provide a uniform level-of-service and equal access to Parks and 

Recreational Facilities throughout the Town. Therefore, a citywide service area is recommended for the 

Parks and Recreational IIP.  

METHODOLOGY 

The incremental expansion methodology, based on current levels of service, is used to calculation the land 

and improvements components. A plan-based approach is used for the Development Fee Study.  Capital 

costs are allocated to residential development based on peak household population, and nonresidential 

development based on number of jobs. This methodology allows Florence to maintain the current LOS 

standard as growth occurs. Development fee revenue collected using this methodology may not be used 

to replace or rehabilitate existing improvements.  

Proportionate Share  

ARS § 9-463.05 (B)(3) states that the development fee shall not exceed a proportionate share of the cost 

of necessary public services needed to accommodate new development.  As shown in Figure P1, 

TischlerBise recommends daytime population as a reasonable indicator of the potential demand for Parks 

and Recreational Facilities from residential and nonresidential development.  According to the U.S. Census 

Bureau web application OnTheMap, there were 4,941 inflow commuters in 2016, which is the number of 

persons who have jobs in Florence but live outside the Town. The proportionate share is based on 

cumulative impact hour per year with the number of residents potentially impacting Parks and 

Recreational Facilities 365 days per year, 12 hours a day.  Inflow commuters potentially impact Parks and 

Recreational Facilities 250 days per year (5 days per week multiplied by 50 weeks a year), 2 hours a day. 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

8 
 

 

The resulting residential share of parks and open space infrastructure is 96 percent, while the resulting 

nonresidential share is 4 percent.  

Figure P1. Parks and Open Space Daytime Population 

 
 

RATIO OF SERVICE UNITS TO DEVELOPMENT UNITS 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(4) requires: 

“A table establishing the specific level or quantity of use, consumption, generation or discharge of 
a service unit for each category of necessary public services or facility expansions and an 
equivalency or conversion table establishing the ratio of a service unit to various types of land 
uses, including residential, commercial/retail, industrial, and office/institutional.” 

Figure P2 displays the level of service of each Parks and Recreational Facilities element compared to 

residential and nonresidential land use. The residential development table displays the persons per 

household for single-family (or single unit) and multifamily units. The nonresidential development table 

displays the number of employees per thousand square feet for three different types of nonresidential 

development. 

Figure P2: Parks and Recreational Facilities Ratio of Service Unit to Development Unit 

 

Jurisdiction Residents** Inflow 

Commuters*

Residential** Nonresidential*** Total Residential Nonresidential

Florence 14,480 4,941 63,424,021 2,470,500 65,894,521 96% 4%

* U.S. Census Bureau, OnTheMap Web Application, LEHD Origin-Destination Employment Statistics. 

**Peak population in households

**  Days per Year = 365 250 *** 5 Days per Week x 50 Weeks per Year

Hours per Year (12 hours a day) 4380 500 Hours per Year (2 hours a day)

Cumulative Impact Hours per Year Cost Allocation for

Parks and Libraries

Source: TischlerBise Land Use Assumptions. 

Land Use

Commercial/Retail

Office/Institutional

Industrial/Flex

Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers, 2017. 

Multifamily 1.80

Employees per KSF

2.34

2.97

1.63

Residential Development

Land Use
Persons per 

Household

Nonresidential Development per KSF

Single-Family 2.42



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

9 
 

 

ANALYSIS OF CAPACITY, USAGE, AND COSTS OF EXISTING SERVICES  

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(1) requires: 

“A description of the existing necessary public services in the service area and the costs to upgrade, 
update, improve, expand, correct or replace those necessary public services to meet existing needs 
and usage and stricter safety, efficiency, environmental or regulatory standards, which shall be 
prepared by qualified professionals licensed in this state, as applicable.” 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(2) requires: 

“An analysis of the total capacity, the level of current usage and commitments for usage of 
capacity of the existing necessary public services, which shall be prepared by qualified 
professionals licensed in this state, as applicable.” 

Parks and Open Space 

The definition of necessary public services defined in the Arizona Revised Statutes excludes wetlands and 

includes “parks and recreational facilities on real property up to thirty acres in area, or parks and 

recreational facilities larger than thirty acres if the facilities provide a direct benefit to the development.” 

For this reason, only 30 acres of the Poston Butte site are considered in the development fee calculation. 

Figure P3 details the existing inventory of parks and open space land in the Town of Florence, along with 

current replacement costs. Florence has a total of 124.52 acres of park and open space land with a total 

replacement value of $1,245,200. The replacement cost is based on a $10,000 per acre cost factor 

provided by Town of Florence staff.  

Based on the current inventory of parks and open space acreage and the current peak household 

population, the residential level of service is 0.0083 acres per person ((124.52 acres x 96 percent 

residential proportionate share) / 14,480 persons). Using peak household population considers the impact 

seasonal population has on parks and open space infrastructure. Based on the current inventory of parks 

and open space acreage and current number of jobs, the nonresidential level of service is 0.0007 acres 

per job ((124.52 acres x 4 percent nonresidential proportionate share) / 7,626 jobs). The average cost per 

acre, as provided by Town staff, is $10,000. When the residential and nonresidential levels of service 

(0.0083 acres per person and 0.0007 per job) are compared to the cost per acre ($10,000), the resulting 

cost per demand units are $82.55 per person and $6.53 per job.   



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

10 
 

 

Figure P3. Parks and Open Space Level of Service and Cost Allocation  

 

 

 

  

Heritage 25.17 $251,700

Little League 2.00 $20,000

Jacques Square 0.22 $2,200

Arriola Square 0.18 $1,800

Padilla Park 0.75 $7,500

Territory Square 6.20 $62,000

Aero Modeler Park 30.00 $300,000

Rodeo Grounds 30.00 $300,000

Poston Butte 30.00 $300,000

TOTAL 124.52 $1,245,200

Level-of-Service (LOS) Standards

Peak HH Population in 2018 14,480

Jobs in 2018 7,626

Residential Share 96%

Nonresidential Share 4%

LOS: Acres per Person 0.0083                          

LOS: Acres per Job 0.0007                          

Cost Analysis

Average Cost per Acre* $10,000

Cost per Person $82.55

Cost per Job $6.53

*Source: Town of Florence.

Park
Land Area 

(Acres)*

Total Replacement 

Cost*



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

11 
 

 

Parks and Open Space Improvements  

To provide capacity for new development throughout the Town, the Town of Florence plans to maintain 

its current (2018) level of service for developed (improved) parks. Florence’s existing park improvements 

inventory, shown in Figure P4, includes 908 improvements with a total value of $10,682,400. This equates 

to an average cost per improvement of $11,765. 

Based on the existing inventory of parks and open space improvements and current peak household 

population (14,480), the residential level of service for improvements is 0.060 improvements per person 

(908 improvements x 96 percent residential proportionate share / 14,480). For nonresidential 

development, the level of service for parks and opens space improvements is 0.005 improvements per 

job (908 improvements x 4 percent nonresidential proportionate share / 7,626). When the residential and 

nonresidential levels of service (0.060 improvements per person and 0.005 per job) are compared to the 

cost per improvement ($11,765), the resulting cost per demand units are $708.21 per person and $56.03 

per job.   



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

12 
 

 

Figure P4. Parks and Open Space Improvements Level of Service and Cost Allocation 

 

PROJECTED DEMAND FOR SERVICES AND COSTS 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(5) requires: 

“The total number of projected service units necessitated by and attributable to new development 
in the service area based on the approved land use assumptions and calculated pursuant to 
generally accepted engineering and planning criteria.” 

Parking Spaces 767 $1,000 $767,000

Restrooms 13 $250,000 $3,250,000

Basketball Courts 2 $60,000 $120,000

Picnic Ramadas 9 $36,000 $324,000

Picnic Tables 53 $950 $50,350

Volleyball Courts 1 $40,000 $40,000

Softball Fields 3 $200,000 $600,000

Baseball Fields 1 $200,000 $200,000

Soccer Fields 2 $175,000 $350,000

Play Structures 4 $150,000 $600,000

Park Benches 15 $450 $6,750

Bleachers 22 $5,800 $127,600

Dugouts 8 $8,750 $70,000

Scoreboards 1 $6,700 $6,700

Tennis Courts 2 $60,000 $120,000

Pickleball Courts 2 $15,000 $30,000

Splash Pad 1 $20,000 $20,000

Competition Pool 1 $2,000,000 $2,000,000

Play Pool 1 $2,000,000 $2,000,000

TOTAL 908 $11,765 $10,682,400

*Source: Town of Florence. 

Level-of-Service (LOS) Standards

Peak HH Population in 2018 14,480

Jobs in 2018 7,626

Residential Share 96%

Nonresidential Share 4%

LOS: Improvements per Person 0.060                         

LOS: Improvements per Job 0.005                         

Cost Analysis

Average Cost per Improvement $11,765

Cost per Person $708.21

Cost per Job $56.03

Improvements Units Unit Cost*
Total Replacement 

Cost



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

13 
 

 

As shown in Figure P5, the Land Use Assumptions projects an additional 4,433 persons and 3,719 jobs 

over the next ten years.  

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(6) requires: 

“The projected demand for necessary public services or facility expansions required by new service 
units for a period not to exceed ten years.” 

When applied to the existing LOS, new development will demand approximately 39 additional acres of 

parks and open space ((0.0083 LOS x (4,433 peak hh population increase)) + (0.0007 LOS x (3,719 jobs 

increase) = 39). Based on the average cost per acre of $10,000, the growth-related expenditure on park 

and open space land is approximately $390,000. Based on the average cost per improvement of $11,765, 

the growth-related expenditure on park and open space improvements is approximately $3.3 million (285 

improvements x $11,765). The total projected growth-related expenditure on parks and open space 

infrastructure is $3.7 million. 

Figure P5: Projected Demand for Parks and Recreational Facilities Infrastructure 

 
 

Demand Unit

Residential 0.0083 per Person

Nonresidential 0.0007 per Job

Residential 0.060 per Person

Nonresidential 0.005 per Job

Year
Peak HH 

Population
Jobs Acres Improvements

Base 2018 14,480 7,626 125 908

Year 1 2019 14,926 7,902 128 936

Year 2 2020 15,369 8,188 132 964

Year 3 2021 15,812 8,484 136 992

Year 4 2022 16,255 8,791 140 1,020

Year 5 2023 16,698 9,172 144 1,049

Year 6 2024 17,141 9,571 148 1,077

Year 7 2025 17,584 9,987 152 1,106

Year 8 2026 18,027 10,420 156 1,135

Year 9 2027 18,470 10,873 160 1,164

Year 10 2028 18,913 11,345 164 1,193

Ten-Yr Increase 4,433 3,719 39 285

Growth-Related Expenditures => $390,208 $3,347,543

Total Growth-Related Expenditures $3,737,751

Type of Infrastructure Level of Service Average Cost

Land Acres $10,000 per Acre

Need for Park Infrastructure

Improvements Units $11,765 per Unit



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

14 
 

 

IIP AND DEVELOPMENT FEE REPORT 

The cost to prepare the Parks and Recreational Facilities IIP and related Development Fee Report totals 

$16,607. Florence plans to update its report every five years. Based on this cost, proportionate share, and 

five-year projections of new development from the Land Use Assumptions, the cost per person is $7.19 

and the cost per job is $0.43. 

Figure P6: IIP and Development Fee Report 

 
 
 

PARKS AND RECREATIONAL FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT FEES 

Revenue Offset 

A revenue offset is not necessary for the Park and Recreational Facilities development fees, as there is no 

outstanding debt on existing parks.  

Proposed Parks and Recreational Facilities Development Fees 

Figure P7 provides a summary of the costs per demand unit used to calculate the Parks and Recreational 

Facilities development fees. As previously discussed, Parks and Recreational Facilities development fees 

are calculated for residential and nonresidential land uses. The total cost per residential demand unit is 

$897.39 per person and $70.86 per job. The proposed fee for a single-family unit is $1,934 ($797.95 x 2.42 

persons per household) and represents an increase of $517 compared to the current single-family fee. 

The proposed fee for a square foot of commercial/retail development is $.15 ($62.99 x 2.34 jobs per 

square foot / 1,000) and is the same as the present commercial/retail fee. Similar calculations follow for 

the other nonresidential categories. 

Necessary Public 

Service
Cost

Assessed 

Against

Proportionate 

Share
Demand Unit* 2018 2023 Change

Cost per 

Demand Unit

Residential 96% Peak HH Population       14,480       16,698        2,218 $7.19

Nonresidential 4% Jobs         7,626         9,172        1,546 $0.43

Parks and Open 

Space
$16,607



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

15 
 

 

Figure P7: Schedule of Parks and Recreational Facilities Development Fees 

 

  

Fee Component
Cost per

Person
Cost per Job

Park Land $82.55 $6.53

Park Improvements $708.21 $56.03

Development Fee Study $7.19 $0.43

TOTAL $797.95 $62.99

Residential (per unit)

Development Type
Persons per 

Household

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Single-Family 2.42 $1,934 $1,417 $517

Multifamily 1.80 $1,437 $1,148 $289

Nonresidential (per square foot)

Development Type
Jobs per 1,000 

Sq. Ft.

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Commercial/Retail 2.34 $0.15 $0.17 ($0.02)

Office/Institutional 2.97 $0.19 $0.20 ($0.01)

Industrial/Flex 1.63 $0.10 $0.13 ($0.03)



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

16 
 

 

PROJECTED PARKS AND RECREATIONAL FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT FEE REVENUE 

In accordance with state law, this report includes an IIP for Parks and Recreational Facilities infrastructure 

needed to accommodate new development. Projected fee revenue shown in Figure P8 is based on the 

development projections in the Land Use Assumptions (Appendix A) and the updated development fees 

for parks. To the extent these assumptions change, the projected fee revenue will change accordingly. If 

development occurs at a more rapid rate than projected, the demand for infrastructure will increase and 

development fee revenue will increase at a corresponding rate. If development occurs at a slower rate 

than is projected, the demand for infrastructure will also decrease, along with development fee revenue. 

Anticipated development fee revenue over the next ten years is approximately $3.97 million, which 

almost equals the estimated growth cost for Parks and Recreation infrastructure over the same time 

period. Because this IIP includes only Parks and Recreational Facilities infrastructure demanded by future 

development, there is no cost to existing development. 

Figure P8: Projected Parks and Recreational Facilities Development Fee Revenue 

 

  

Growth Cost

Parks and Open Space Land $390,208

Parks and Open Space Improvements $3,347,543

Development Impact Fee Study $16,607

TOTAL $3,754,358

Single-Family Multifamily
Commercial / 

Retail

Office / 

Institutional

Industrial / 

Flex

$1,934 $1,437 $0.15 $0.19 $0.10

Units Units KSF KSF KSF

Base 2018 5,715             817                271                2,305             93                  

Year 1 2019 5,890             842                281                2,388             97                  

Year 2 2020 6,064             868                291                2,475             100                

Year 3 2021 6,239             893                301                2,564             104                

Year 4 2022 6,414             918                312                2,657             108                

Year 5 2023 6,589             943                326                2,773             112                

Year 6 2024 6,764             968                340                2,893             117                

Year 7 2025 6,939             993                355                3,019             122                

Year 8 2026 7,114             1,018             370                3,150             128                

Year 9 2027 7,289             1,043             386                3,287             133                

Year 10 2028 7,464             1,068             403                3,429             139                

Ten-Yr Increase 1,750             250                132                1,124             46                  

10-Year Projected Revenue $3,383,719 $359,688 $19,478 $210,137 $4,670

Projected Revenue => $3,977,692

Year

per Sq. Ft. per Sq. Ft.
per Housing 

Unit

per Housing 

Unit
per Sq. Ft.



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

17 
 

 

POLICE FACILITIES INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN 

ARS § 9-463.05 (T)(7)(f) defines the facilities and assets which can be included in the Police facilities IIP: 

“Fire and police facilities, including all appurtenances, equipment and vehicles. Fire and police 
facilities do not include a facility or portion of a facility that is used to replace services that were 
once provided elsewhere in the municipality, vehicles and equipment used to provide 
administrative services, helicopters or airplanes or a facility that is used for training police and 
firefighters from more than one station or substation.” 
 

The Police Facilities IIP includes components for station space and vehicles and the cost of preparing the 

Police Facilities IIP and related Development Fee Report.  

SERVICE AREA 

The Town of Florence Police Department strives to provide a uniform response time townwide. Therefore, 

a townwide service area is recommended for the Police Facilities IIP.  

METHODOLOGY 

Police Facilities development fees use an incremental expansion methodology and allocate capital costs 

to residential development based on peak population, and nonresidential development based on 

nonresidential vehicle trip ends. This methodology allows Florence to maintain the current LOS standard 

as growth occurs. Development fee revenue collected using this methodology may not be used to replace 

or rehabilitate existing improvements.  

Proportionate Share  

ARS § 9-463.05.B.3 states the development fee shall not exceed a proportionate share of the cost of 

necessary public services needed to serve new development.  In Florence, police infrastructure standards, 

projected needs, and development fees are based on both residential and nonresidential development.  

As shown in Figure PO1, functional population was used to allocate police infrastructure and costs to 

residential and nonresidential development. Functional population is similar to what the U.S. Census 

Bureau calls "daytime population" by accounting for people living and working in a jurisdiction.  Residents 

that don't work are assigned 20 hours per day to residential development and four hours per day to 

nonresidential development (annualized averages).  Residents that work in Florence are assigned 14 hours 

to residential development and 10 hours to nonresidential development.  Residents that work outside 

Florence are assigned 14 hours to residential development. Inflow commuters are assigned 10 hours to 

nonresidential development.  Based on 2016 data sources, the cost allocation for residential development 

is 72% while nonresidential development accounts for 28% of the demand for public safety infrastructure. 

 

 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

18 
 

 

Figure PO1:  Public Safety Functional Population  

 

RATIO OF SERVICE UNITS TO DEVELOPMENT UNITS 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(4) requires: 

“A table establishing the specific level or quantity of use, consumption, generation or discharge of 
a service unit for each category of necessary public services or facility expansions and an 
equivalency or conversion table establishing the ratio of a service unit to various types of land 
uses, including residential, commercial/retail, industrial, and office/other services.” 

Figure PO2 displays the ratio of a service unit to various types of land uses for residential and 

nonresidential development. The residential development table displays the persons per household for 

single-family (or single unit) and multifamily units. 

Nonresidential development fees are calculated using trips as the service unit. TischlerBise recommends 

using nonresidential vehicle trips as the best demand indicator for police facilities and vehicles. Trip 

generation rates are used for nonresidential development because vehicle trips are highest for 

commercial/retail developments, such as shopping centers, and lowest for industrial development. Office 

and institutional trip rates fall between the other two categories. This ranking of trip rates is consistent 

Residential Demand Person

Population1 12,401 Hrs/Day Hours

Residents Not Working 9,257 20 185,140  

Employed Residents 3,144

Employed in Florence 477 14 6,678      

Employed Outside Florence 2,667 14 37,338    

Residential Subtotal 229,156  

Residential Share => 72%

Nonresidential

Non-working Residents 9,257 4 37,028    

Jobs Located in Florence 5,418

Residents employed in Florence 477 10 4,770      

Non-resident Workers (inflow commuters) 4,941 10 49,410    

Nonresidential Subtotal 91,208    

Nonresidential Share => 28%

TOTAL 320,364  

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, OnTheMap Web Application, LEHD Origin-Destination Employment Statistics. 

1. 2016 ACS Population estimate, less group quarters population. 



Demand Units in 2016







IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

19 
 

 

with the relative demand for police from nonresidential development. Other possible nonresidential 

demand indicators, such as employment or floor area, will not accurately reflect the demand for service. 

For example, if employees per thousand square feet were used as the demand indicator, police 

development fees would be too high for office and institutional development because offices typically 

have more employees per 1,000 square feet than retail uses. If floor area were used as the demand 

indicator, police development fees would be too high for industrial development. 

Trip generation rates are from the reference book Trip Generation published by the Institute of 

Transportation Engineers (ITE 10th Edition 2017). A vehicle trip end represents a vehicle either entering 

or exiting a development (as if a traffic counter were placed across a driveway). To calculate development 

fees, trip generation rates require an adjustment factor to avoid double counting each trip at both the 

origin and destination points. Therefore, the basic trip adjustment factor is 50%.  

For commercial development, the trip adjustment factor is less than 50% because retail development and 

some services attract vehicles as they pass by on arterial and collector roads. For example, when someone 

stops at a convenience store on the way home from work, the convenience store is not the primary 

destination. For the average shopping center, the ITE data indicates that 34% of the vehicles that enter 

are passing by on their way to some other primary destination. The remaining 66% of attraction trips have 

the commercial site as their primary destination. Because attraction trips are half of all trips, the trip 

adjustment factor is 66% multiplied by 50%, or approximately 33% of the trip ends.  These factors are 

shown to derive inbound vehicle trips for each type of nonresidential land use. 

Figure PO2: Police Facilities Ratio of Service Unit to Development Unit 

 

 

 

Multi-Family

Source: TischlerBise Land Use Assumptions. 

Source: Trip Generation , Institute of Transportation Engineers, 2017. On an average 

weekday, half of all trip ends are inbound. Commercial/Retail development includes

a 34% pass-by adjustment (i.e. 66% of trips are primary trips). 

1.80

9.74

Residential Development

Land Use
Persons per 

Household

Single-Family 2.42

Nonresidential Development per KSF

Industrial/Flex 4.96

Trip Adjustment 

(b)

Inbound Vehicle 

Trips (a x b)

33% 12.46

50% 4.87

50% 2.48

Land Use
Weekday Trip 

Ends (a)

Commercial/Retail 37.75

Office/Institutional



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

20 
 

 

ANALYSIS OF CAPACITY, USAGE, AND COSTS OF EXISTING SERVICES  

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(1) requires: 

“A description of the existing necessary public services in the service area and the costs to upgrade, 
update, improve, expand, correct or replace those necessary public services to meet existing needs 
and usage and stricter safety, efficiency, environmental or regulatory standards, which shall be 
prepared by qualified professionals licensed in this state, as applicable.” 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(2) requires: 

“An analysis of the total capacity, the level of current usage and commitments for usage of 
capacity of the existing necessary public services, which shall be prepared by qualified 
professionals licensed in this state, as applicable.” 

Police Facilities 

Police development fees contain a cost component for facilities, which are calculated using the 

incremental expansion method. The Town of Florence plans to increase square footage as demanded by 

growth in order to maintain the current level of service standard. As shown in Figure PO3, the Police 

Department currently uses three spaces totaling 14,016 square feet, with a total replacement cost of 

$4,092,672. This is based on a replacement cost per square of $292, provided by Town of Florence staff. 

The current level of service is based on the residential and nonresidential proportionate shares of public 

safety demand, and 2018 peak household population (14,480) for residential development and 2018 

nonresidential vehicle trips totaling 14,830 for nonresidential development. Based on these factors, the 

current residential level of service is 0.70 square feet per person (14,016 square feet x 72 percent 

residential proportionate share / 14,480 persons). The nonresidential level of service equals 0.26 square 

feet per nonresidential trip (14,016 square feet x 28 percent nonresidential proportionate share / 14,830 

nonresidential trips). When the residential and nonresidential levels of service (0.70 square feet per 

person and 0.26 square feet per nonresidential trip) are compared to the cost per square foot ($292), the 

resulting cost per demand units are $203.50 per person and $77.27 per nonresidential vehicle trip.   

 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

21 
 

 

Figure PO3: Police Facilities Level of Service and Cost Allocation 

 

 
 

Police Vehicles 

Development fees will be used to expand Florence’s inventory of Police vehicles as demanded by new 

development. Figure PO4 lists the current vehicle inventory which totals 43 vehicles with a replacement 

value of $2,053,000. This equates to a weighted average replacement cost per vehicle of $47,444. As 

previously discussed, the public safety functional population is used to allocate service demand to 

residential and nonresidential development. The Town’s existing LOS standard for residential 

development is 0.0021 vehicles per person (43 vehicles x 72 percent residential proportionate share / 

14,458 peak population in households). The nonresidential LOS standard is 0.0008 vehicles per 

nonresidential vehicle trip (43 vehicles x 28 percent nonresidential proportionate share / 14,830 

nonresidential vehicle trips). When the residential and nonresidential levels of service (0.0021 vehicles 

per person and 0.0008 vehicles per nonresidential trip) are compared to the weighted average 

replacement cost per vehicle ($47,444), the resulting cost per demand units are $102.08 per person and 

$38.76 per nonresidential vehicle trip.   

 

Station 1 8,400 $2,452,800

Substation 1,200 $350,400

Evidence Building 4,416 $1,289,472

TOTAL 14,016 $4,092,672

Level-of-Service (LOS) Standards

Peak HH Population in 2018 14,480

Nonres. Vehicle Trip Ends in 2018 14,830

Residential Share 72%

Nonresidential Share 28%

LOS: Square Feet per Person 0.70                   

LOS: Square Feet per Vehicle Trip End 0.26                   

Cost Analysis

Cost per Square Foot* $292.00

Cost per Person $203.50

Cost per Vehicle Trip End $77.27

*Source: Town of Florence.

Station
Floor Area 

(Sq. Ft.)

Replacement 

Cost



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

22 
 

 

Figure PO4: Police Vehicles Level of Service and Cost Allocation 

 

 

PROJECTED DEMAND FOR SERVICES AND COSTS 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(5) requires: 

“The total number of projected service units necessitated by and attributable to new development 
in the service area based on the approved land use assumptions and calculated pursuant to 
generally accepted engineering and planning criteria.” 

As shown in Figure PO5, the Land Use Assumptions projects an additional 4,433 persons and 7,233 trip 

ends over the next ten years.  

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(6) requires: 

“The projected demand for necessary public services or facility expansions required by new service 
units for a period not to exceed ten years.” 

Patrol Sedan (CV) 15 $50,000.00 $750,000

Chevrolet Tahoe 12 $50,000.00 $600,000

Pick-up Truck 4 $45,000.00 $180,000

Ford Expedition 5 $50,000.00 $250,000

Ford Explorer 4 $47,000.00 $188,000

Chevrolet Van 1 $35,000.00 $35,000

Ford Escape 1 $25,000.00 $25,000

Chevrolet Malibu 1 $25,000.00 $25,000

TOTAL 43 $47,744 $2,053,000

*Source: Town of Florence. Includes cost of equipment.

Level-of-Service (LOS) Standards

Peak HH Population in 2018 14,480

Nonresidential Vehicle Trip Ends in 2018 14,830

Residential Share 72%

Nonresidential Share 28%

LOS: Vehicles per Person 0.0021                  

LOS: Vehicles per Vehicle Trip End 0.0008                  

Cost Analysis

Average Cost per Vehicle $47,744

Cost per Person $102.08

Cost per Vehicle Trip End $38.76

Total 

Replacement Cost
Unit Cost*Vehicle Number



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

23 
 

 

When applied to the existing LOS, future development is projected to generate demand for an additional 

5,003 square feet of police facility space. Based on the average cost of $292 per square foot, the growth-

related expenditure on police space is approximately $1.46 million. Based on these same development 

projections, future development will generate demand for approximately 15 additional police vehicles. 

The growth-related expenditure on police vehicles is approximately $732,000. 

Figure PO5: Projected Demand for Police Facilities Infrastructure 

 

  

Demand Unit

Residential 0.70 per Person

Nonresidential 0.26 per Trip End

Residential 0.0021 per Person

Nonresidential 0.0008 per Trip End

Year
Peak HH 

Population
Trip Ends

Facilities

(SF)
Vehicles

Base 2018 14,480 14,830 14,016 43

Year 1 2019 14,926 15,366 14,469 44

Year 2 2020 15,369 15,922 14,925 46

Year 3 2021 15,812 16,498 15,386 47

Year 4 2022 16,255 17,095 15,852 49

Year 5 2023 16,698 17,837 16,357 50

Year 6 2024 17,141 18,612 16,871 52

Year 7 2025 17,584 19,420 17,394 53

Year 8 2026 18,027 20,264 17,926 55

Year 9 2027 18,470 21,144 18,467 57

Year 10 2028 18,913 22,063 19,019 58

Ten-Yr Increase 4,433 7,233 5,003 15

Growth-Related Expenditures => $1,460,893 $732,825

Total Growth-Related Expenditures $2,193,718

Type of Infrastructure Level of Service Average Cost

Facilities Square Feet $292 per SF

Vehicles Vehicles $47,744 per Vehicle

Need for Police Infrastructure



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

24 
 

 

IIP AND DEVELOPMENT FEE REPORT 

The cost to prepare the Police Facilities IIP and related Development Fee Report totals $16,670. Florence 

plans to update its report every five years. Based on this cost, proportionate shares, and five-year 

projections of new residential and nonresidential development from the Land Use Assumptions, the cost 

per person is $5.39 and the cost per nonresidential vehicle trip is $1.55. 

Figure PO6: IIP and Development Fee Report 

 
 

POLICE FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT FEES 

Revenue Offset 

A revenue offset is not necessary for the Police Facilities development fees, as there is no outstanding 

debt on existing Police stations.  

Proposed Police Facilities Development Fees 

Infrastructure standards and cost factors for Police Facilities development fees are summarized in the 

upper portion of Figure PO7. Development fees for residential development are determined by type of 

housing unit. The cost per person is $310.97, therefore the Police Facilities development fee for a single-

family dwelling unit is $754 ($310.97 per person x 2.42 persons per household). Proposed development 

fees for single-family units increase by $147 from the current fees while proposed fees for multifamily 

units increase by $68 from the current fees.   

Nonresidential Police Facilities development fees are calculated per square foot of floor area. The capital 

cost per nonresidential vehicle trip is $117.58. To calculate the fee for nonresidential development, 

multiply the capital cost by the average weekday vehicle trip end factor and trip rate adjustment factor. 

This value is then divided by 1,000 because average weekday vehicle trip ends are based on 1,000 square 

feet while development fees are assessed per square foot. For example, the Police fee per square foot of 

commercial/retail development is $1.46 (($117.58 cost per vehicle trip x 37.75 trips per 1,000 square feet 

of floor area x 0.33 trip adjustment) / 1,000).  This represents an increase of $1.03 over the current fees, 

while police fees for office/institutional and industrial/flex development increase by $0.17 and $0.16 

respectively.  

  

Necessary Public 

Service
Cost

Assessed 

Against

Proportionate 

Share
Demand Unit* 2018 2023 Change

Cost per 

Demand Unit

Residential 72% Peak HH Population       14,480       16,698        2,218 $5.39

Nonresidential 28% Vehicle Trips       14,830       17,837        3,007 $1.55
Police $16,607



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

25 
 

 

Figure PO7:  Schedule of Police Facilities Development Fees 

 

PROJECTED POLICE FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT FEE REVENUE 

Projected Police Facilities development fee revenue shown in Figure PO8 is based on the development 

projections in the Land Use Assumptions (see Appendix A) and the updated Police development fees (see 

Figure PO7). If development occurs at a faster rate than projected, the demand for infrastructure will 

increase along with development fee revenue. If development occurs at a slower rate than projected, the 

demand for infrastructure will decrease and development fee revenue will decrease at a similar rate. 

Anticipated development fee revenue is approximately $2.29 million over the next ten years.  

Fee Component
Cost per

Person

Cost per 

Vehicle Trip

Police Facilities $203.50 $77.27

Police Vehicles $102.08 $38.76

Development Fee Study $5.39 $1.55

TOTAL $310.97 $117.58

Residential (per unit)

Development Type
Persons per 

Household

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Single-Family 2.42 $754 $607 $147

Multifamily 1.80 $560 $492 $68

Nonresidential (per square foot)

Development Type
Trips per 

1,000 Sq. Ft.

Trip Rate 

Adjustment

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Commercial/Retail 37.75 33% $1.46 $0.44 $1.03

Office/Institutional 9.74 50% $0.57 $0.40 $0.17

Industrial/Flex 4.96 50% $0.29 $0.13 $0.16



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

26 
 

 

Figure PO8:  Projected Revenue from Police Facilities Development Fees 

 

  

Growth Cost Total Cost

Police Facilities $1,460,893 $1,460,893

Police Vehicles $732,825 $732,825

Development Impact Fee Study $16,607 $16,607

TOTAL $2,210,325 $2,210,325

Police Development Impact Fee Revenue

Single-Family Multifamily
Commercial / 

Retail

Office / 

Institutional

Industrial / 

Flex

$754 $560 $1.46 $0.57 $0.29

Units Units KSF KSF KSF

Base 2017 5,715              817                271                2,305             93                  

Year 1 2018 5,890              842                281                2,388             97                  

Year 2 2019 6,064              868                291                2,475             100                

Year 3 2020 6,239              893                301                2,564             104                

Year 4 2021 6,414              918                312                2,657             108                

Year 5 2022 6,589              943                326                2,773             112                

Year 6 2023 6,764              968                340                2,893             117                

Year 7 2024 6,939              993                355                3,019             122                

Year 8 2025 7,114              1,018             370                3,150             128                

Year 9 2026 7,289              1,043             386                3,287             133                

Year 10 2027 7,464              1,068             403                3,429             139                

Ten-Yr Increase 1,750              250                132                1,124             46                  

10-year projected revenue $1,318,665 $140,173 $193,398 $643,753 $13,295

Projected Revenue => $2,290,092

per Sq. Ft. per Sq. Ft.

Year

per Housing 

Unit

per Housing 

Unit
per Sq. Ft.



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

27 
 

 

FIRE FACILITIES INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN 

ARS § 9-463.05 (T)(7)(f) defines the facilities and assets which can be included in the Fire facilities IIP: 

“Fire and police facilities, including all appurtenances, equipment and vehicles. Fire and police 
facilities do not include a facility or portion of a facility that is used to replace services that were 
once provided elsewhere in the municipality, vehicles and equipment used to provide 
administrative services, helicopters or airplanes or a facility that is used for training police and 
firefighters from more than one station or substation.” 
 

The Fire Facilities IIP includes components for facilities and apparatus/vehicles and the cost of preparing 

the Fire Facilities IIP and related Development Fee Report.  

SERVICE AREA 

The Town of Florence Fire Department strives to provide a uniform response time townwide, and its fire 

stations operate as an integrated network. Depending on the number and types of calls, apparatus can be 

dispatched townwide from any of the stations. Therefore, a townwide service area is recommended for 

the Fire Facilities IIP.  

METHODOLOGY 

Fire Facilities development fees use an incremental expansion methodology and allocate capital costs to 

residential development based on peak population, and nonresidential development based on number of 

jobs. This methodology allows the Town of Florence to maintain the current LOS standard as growth 

occurs. Development fee revenue collected using this methodology may not be used to replace or 

rehabilitate existing improvements.  

Proportionate Share  

ARS § 9-463.05.B.3 states the development fee shall not exceed a proportionate share of the cost of 

necessary public services needed to serve new development.  In Florence, Fire Facilities infrastructure 

standards, projected needs, and development fees are based on both residential and nonresidential 

development.  As shown in Figure F1, functional population was used to allocate Fire Facilities 

infrastructure and costs to residential and nonresidential development. Functional population is similar 

to what the U.S. Census Bureau calls "daytime population" by accounting for people living and working in 

a jurisdiction.  Residents that don't work are assigned 20 hours per day to residential development and 

four hours per day to nonresidential development (annualized averages).  Residents that work in Florence 

are assigned 14 hours to residential development and 10 hours to nonresidential development.  Residents 

that work outside Florence are assigned 14 hours to residential development. Inflow commuters are 

assigned 10 hours to nonresidential development.  Based on 2016 data sources, the cost allocation for 

residential development is 72% while nonresidential development accounts for 28% of the demand for 

fire infrastructure. 

  



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

28 
 

 

Figure F1: Fire Facilities Functional Population  

 

RATIO OF SERVICE UNIT TO DEVELOPMENT UNIT 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(4) requires: 

“A table establishing the specific level or quantity of use, consumption, generation or discharge of 
a service unit for each category of necessary public services or facility expansions and an 
equivalency or conversion table establishing the ratio of a service unit to various types of land 
uses, including residential, commercial/retail, industrial, and office/institutional.” 

Figure F2 displays the ratio of a service unit to various types of land uses for residential and nonresidential 

development. The residential development table displays the persons per household for single-family (or 

single unit) and multifamily units. The nonresidential development table displays the number of 

employees per thousand square feet for three different types of nonresidential development.  

 

 

 

Residential Demand Person

Population1 12,401 Hrs/Day Hours

Residents Not Working 9,257 20 185,140  

Employed Residents 3,144

Employed in Florence 477 14 6,678      

Employed Outside Florence 2,667 14 37,338    

Residential Subtotal 229,156  

Residential Share => 72%

Nonresidential

Non-working Residents 9,257 4 37,028    

Jobs Located in Florence 5,418

Residents employed in Florence 477 10 4,770      

Non-resident Workers (inflow commuters) 4,941 10 49,410    

Nonresidential Subtotal 91,208    

Nonresidential Share => 28%

TOTAL 320,364  

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, OnTheMap Web Application, LEHD Origin-Destination Employment Statistics. 

1. 2016 ACS Population estimate, less group quarters population. 



Demand Units in 2016







IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

29 
 

 

Figure F2: Fire Facilities Ratio of Service Unit to Development Unit 

 

 

 

ANALYSIS OF CAPACITY, USAGE, AND COSTS OF EXISTING SERVICES  

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(1) requires: 

“A description of the existing necessary public services in the service area and the costs to upgrade, 
update, improve, expand, correct or replace those necessary public services to meet existing needs 
and usage and stricter safety, efficiency, environmental or regulatory standards, which shall be 
prepared by qualified professionals licensed in this state, as applicable.” 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(2) requires: 

“An analysis of the total capacity, the level of current usage and commitments for usage of 
capacity of the existing necessary public services, which shall be prepared by qualified 
professionals licensed in this state, as applicable.” 

Fire Facilities 

The Fire Facilities IIP contain a cost component for facilities. The incremental expansion method is used 

for the Fire Facilities IIP, and the Town of Florence will increase square footage as growth demands, most 

likely for the planned station near the Monarch Development. As shown in Figure F3, Fire Facilities 

currently total 24,300 square feet, with an estimated replacement cost of $5,005,800. 

The current level of service is based on the residential and nonresidential proportionate shares of demand 

detailed in Figure F1, the 2018 peak household population of 14,480 for residential development, and the 

2018 job level of 7,626 for nonresidential development. The current residential LOS is 1.21 square feet 

per person (24,300 square feet x 72 percent residential share / 14,480 peak household population). The 

nonresidential level of service equals 0.89 square feet per job (24,300 square feet x 28 percent 

Source: TischlerBise Land Use Assumptions. 

Land Use

Commercial/Retail

Office/Institutional

Industrial/Flex

Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers, 2017. 

Residential Development

Land Use
Persons per 

Household

Nonresidential Development per KSF

Single-Family 2.42

Multifamily 1.80

Employees per KSF

2.34

2.97

1.63



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

30 
 

 

nonresidential share / 7,626 jobs). Based on current level of service standards and the development 

projections detailed in Appendix A Land Use Assumptions, the cost per person is $248.90 and the cost per 

job is $183.80. 

Figure F3: Fire Facilities Inventory 

 

 

Fire Apparatus 

Fire Facilities development fees will be used to expand Florence’s inventory of fire apparatus as growth 

demands. Figure F4 lists the current apparatus inventory which totals 11 vehicles with a replacement 

value of $5,515,000. This equates to a weighted average replacement cost per apparatus of $501,364. As 

previously discussed, the fire and emergency medical services functional population is used to allocate 

service demand to residential and nonresidential development. The Town’s existing LOS standard for 

residential development is 0.0005 apparatus per person (11 apparatus x 72 percent residential 

proportionate share / 14,480 peak population in households). The nonresidential LOS standard is 0.0004 

apparatus per job (12 apparatus x 28 percent nonresidential proportionate share / 7,626 jobs). When the 

residential and nonresidential levels of service are compared to the weighted average replacement cost 

per vehicle ($501,364), the resulting cost per demand units are $251.37 per person and $185.62 per job.   

Station 1: Central 12,500 $206 $2,575,000
Station 2: Anthem1

11,800 $206 $2,430,800

TOTAL 24,300 $206 $5,005,800

1. Less the 1,200 square foot police substation located inside the Fire Station. 

Level-of-Service (LOS) Standards

Peak HH Population in 2018 14,480

Jobs in 2018 7,626

Residential Share 72%

Nonresidential Share 28%

LOS: Square Feet per Person 1.21              

LOS: Square Feet per Job 0.89              

Cost Analysis

Cost per Square Foot* $206

Cost per Person $248.90

Cost per Job $183.80

*Based on the cost of the Anthem Fire Station 

Station
Floor Area 

(Sq. Ft.)

Replacement 

Cost

Replacement 

Cost/SF*



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

31 
 

 

Figure F4: Fire Apparatus Inventory 

 

PROJECTED DEMAND FOR SERVICES AND COSTS 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(5) requires: 

“The total number of projected service units necessitated by and attributable to new development 
in the service area based on the approved land use assumptions and calculated pursuant to 
generally accepted engineering and planning criteria.” 

As shown in Figure F5, the Land Use Assumptions projects an additional 4,455 persons and 3,719 jobs over 

the next ten years.  

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(6) requires: 

“The projected demand for necessary public services or facility expansions required by new service 
units for a period not to exceed ten years.” 

Vehicle Year Make Replacement Cost*

75' Lance Ladder Truck #122 1998 Pierce $1,700,000.00

Contender Pumper #126 2002 Pierce $750,000.00

F-150 Truck #140 2008 Ford $45,000.00

Super Duty F-550 #131 2006 Ford $65,000.00

F-150 Truck #133 2004 Ford $45,000.00

F-150 FWD #136 2012 Ford $45,000.00

Water Tender #135 1987 Ford $260,000.00

F-150 FWD #137 2012 Ford $45,000.00

Velocity Pumper Fire Engine #138 2012 Pierce $750,000.00

Ambulance #134 2008 Ford $110,000.00

Velocity 100 Ft. Platform Ladder 2014 Pierce $1,700,000.00

TOTAL 11 $501,364 $5,515,000

*Source: Town of Florence. 

Level-of-Service (LOS) Standards

Peak HH Population in 2018 14,480

Jobs in 2018 7,626

Residential Share 72%

Nonresidential Share 28%

LOS: Vehicles per Person 0.0005                      

LOS: Vehicles per Job 0.0004                      

Cost Analysis

Average Cost per Vehicle $459,583

Cost per Person $251.37

Cost per Job $185.62



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

32 
 

 

Using the previously discussed level of service standards, future development will demand approximately 

8,674 additional square feet of fire station space. Based on the average cost per square foot of $292, the 

growth-related expenditure on facilities is approximately $2.52 million). Future development will demand 

4 additional apparatus, at a cost of approximately $1.8 million. 

Figure F5: Projected Demand for Fire Facilities Infrastructure 

 

IIP AND DEVELOPMENT FEE REPORT 

The cost to prepare the Fire Facilities IIP and related Development Fee Report totals $16,670. The Town 

of Florence plans to update its report every five years. Based on this cost, proportionate share, and five-

year projections of new residential and nonresidential development from the Land Use Assumptions, the 

cost per person is $5.84 and per job is $2.36. 

Figure F6: IIP and Development Fee Report 

 

Demand Unit

Residential 1.21 per Person

Nonresidential 0.89 per Job

Residential 0.0005 per Person

Nonresidential 0.0004 per Job

Year
Peak HH 

Population
Jobs

Facilities

(SF)
Vehicles

Equipme

nt

Base 2018 14,480 7,626 24,300 11

Year 1 2019 14,926 7,902 25,085 11

Year 2 2020 15,369 8,188 25,875 12

Year 3 2021 15,812 8,484 26,675 12

Year 4 2022 16,255 8,791 27,484 12

Year 5 2023 16,698 9,172 28,359 13

Year 6 2024 17,141 9,571 29,250 13

Year 7 2025 17,584 9,987 30,156 14

Year 8 2026 18,027 10,420 31,078 14

Year 9 2027 18,470 10,873 32,017 14

Year 10 2028 18,913 11,345 32,974 15

Ten-Yr Increase 4,433 3,719 8,674 4

Growth-Related Expenditures => $2,529,907 $1,804,548

Total Growth-Related Expenditures $4,334,455

per Vehicle

Type of Infrastructure Level of Service Average Cost

Facilities Square Feet $292 per SF

Vehicles Vehicles $459,583

Need for Fire Infrastructure

Necessary Public 

Service
Cost

Assessed 

Against

Proportionate 

Share
Demand Unit* 2018 2023 Change

Cost per 

Demand Unit

Residential 78% Peak Population       14,480       16,698        2,218 $5.84

Nonresidential 22% Jobs         7,626         9,172        1,546 $2.36
Fire and Rescue $16,607



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

33 
 

 

FIRE FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT FEES 

Revenue Offset 

It is likely that the Town of Florence will issue debt to construct future fire station construction. To ensure 

that new development does not “double pay” through the development fee and again through other 

revenue, an offset is included for principal payments on this future debt. An offset is not necessary for 

interest payments because interest costs are not included in the development fee calculation. However, 

since an incremental expansion method is used to determine the development fee, the exact year of the 

debt issuance is not known. For purposes of determining the principal payment offset, TischlerBise used 

the projected facility/apparatus needs and cost from Figure F5 ($4.33 million) and assumed the debt is 

issues in year 1, with a 20-year term. As shown in Figure F7, the annual principal payments totaling $4.33 

million are divided by the projected increase in population and employment over a 20-year period to 

determine a per person and job offset. For example, in 2019 (Year 1), the annual principal payment 

($216,723) is multiplied by the residential proportionate share factor (72 percent) to determine a 

residential share of $156,040, which is divided by projected peak household population in 2019 of 14,926 

for a payment per person of $10.45. A similar calculation is done for the nonresidential share. To account 

for the time value of money, annual payments per person and job are discounted using a net present 

value formula based on the projected interest rate of 4.5%. The total net present value of future principal 

payments per person is $112.13 and $75.38 per job. These amounts are subtracted from the gross capital 

cost per person and job to derive a net capital cost per person and job.   



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

34 
 

 

Figure F7: Principal Payment Offset 

 

Proposed Fire Facilities Development Fees 

Infrastructure standards and cost factors for Fire Facility development fees are summarized in the upper 

portion of Figure F8. The conversion of infrastructure costs per service unit into a cost per development 

unit is also shown in the table below. The net cost per person is $393.98. Fire Facilities development fees 

for residential development are based on the type of housing unit and persons per household factors. For 

example, the fee for a single-family unit is $955 based on a cost factor of $393.98 per person and an 

average of 2.42 persons per household ($393.98 x 2.42). 

Nonresidential development fees are stated per square foot of floor area. The fire fee of $0.48 per square 

foot of industrial development is derived from a capital cost of $296.39 per job multiplied by 1.63 jobs per 

1,000 square feet divided by 1,000 square feet. 

Year
Principal 

Payments

Residential 

Share (72%)

Projected 

Persons

Credit per 

Person

Nonresidential 

Share (28%)

Projected 

Demand

Credit per 

Job

1 $216,723 $156,040 14,926 $10.45 $60,682 7,902 $7.68

2 $216,723 $156,040 15,369 $10.15 $60,682 8,188 $7.41

3 $216,723 $156,040 15,812 $9.87 $60,682 8,484 $7.15

4 $216,723 $156,040 16,255 $9.60 $60,682 8,791 $6.90

5 $216,723 $156,040 16,698 $9.34 $60,682 9,172 $6.62

6 $216,723 $156,040 17,141 $9.10 $60,682 9,571 $6.34

7 $216,723 $156,040 17,584 $8.87 $60,682 9,987 $6.08

8 $216,723 $156,040 18,027 $8.66 $60,682 10,420 $5.82

9 $216,723 $156,040 18,470 $8.45 $60,682 10,873 $5.58

10 $216,723 $156,040 18,913 $8.25 $60,682 11,345 $5.35

11 $216,723 $156,040 19,312 $8.08 $60,682 11,744 $5.17

12 $216,723 $156,040 19,711 $7.92 $60,682 12,143 $5.00

13 $216,723 $156,040 20,110 $7.76 $60,682 12,542 $4.84

14 $216,723 $156,040 20,509 $7.61 $60,682 12,941 $4.69

15 $216,723 $156,040 20,908 $7.46 $60,682 13,340 $4.55

16 $216,723 $156,040 21,307 $7.32 $60,682 13,739 $4.42

17 $216,723 $156,040 21,706 $7.19 $60,682 14,138 $4.29

18 $216,723 $156,040 22,105 $7.06 $60,682 14,537 $4.17

19 $216,723 $156,040 22,504 $6.93 $60,682 14,936 $4.06

20 $216,723 $156,040 22,903 $6.81 $60,682 15,335 $3.96

Total $4,334,455 $3,120,808 7,977           $1,213,647 $110.08

Discount Rate 4.5% 4.5%

Net Present Value $112.13 $75.38

*Person and job projections from year 11-20 based on a straighline projection using the  annual average from years 1-10



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

35 
 

 

Figure F8: Schedule of Fire Facilities Development Fees 

 

 

PROJECTED FIRE FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT FEE REVENUE 

Projected Facility Facilities development fee revenue shown in Figure F9 is based on the development 

projections in the Land Use Assumptions (see Appendix A) and the updated Fire Facilities development 

fees (see Figure F8). If development occurs at a faster rate than projected, the demand for infrastructure 

will increase along with development fee revenue. If development occurs at a slower rate than projected, 

the demand for Fire Facilities infrastructure will decrease and development fee revenue will decrease at 

a similar rate. Anticipated development fee revenue is approximately $2.86 million over the next ten 

years. 

Fee Component
Cost per

Person
Cost per Job

Fire Facilities $248.90 $183.80

Fire Vehicles $251.37 $185.62

Development Fee Study $5.84 $2.36

Credit ($112.13) ($75.38)

TOTAL $393.98 $296.39

Residential (per unit)

Development Type
Persons per 

Household

Proposed

Fees 
Current Fee

Increase / 

Decrease 

Single-Family 2.42 $955 $917 $38

Multifamily 1.80 $710 $743 ($33)

Nonresidential (per square foot)

Development Type
Jobs per 

1,000 Sq. Ft.

Proposed

Fees
Current Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Commercial/Retail 2.34 $0.69 $0.66 $0.03

Office/Institutional 2.97 $0.88 $0.61 $0.27

Industrial/Flex 1.63 $0.48 $0.20 $0.28



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

36 
 

 

Figure F9:  Projected Fire Facilities Development Fee Revenue 

 

  

Growth Cost Total Cost

Fire Facilities $2,529,907 $2,529,907

Fire Vehicles $1,804,548 $1,804,548

Development Impact Fee Study $16,607 $16,607

TOTAL $4,351,062 $4,351,062

Fire Development Impact Fee Revenue

Single-Family Multifamily
Commercial / 

Retail

Office / 

Institutional

Industrial / 

Flex

$955 $710 $0.69 $0.88 $0.48

Households Households KSF KSF KSF

Base 2017 5,437                  778                 271                2,305          93                    

Year 1 2018 5,607                  802                 281                2,388          97                    

Year 2 2019 5,773                  826                 291                2,475          100                 

Year 3 2020 5,940                  850                 301                2,564          104                 

Year 4 2021 6,107                  874                 312                2,657          108                 

Year 5 2022 6,273                  897                 326                2,773          112                 

Year 6 2023 6,440                  921                 340                2,893          117                 

Year 7 2024 6,606                  945                 355                3,019          122                 

Year 8 2025 6,773                  969                 370                3,150          128                 

Year 9 2026 6,939                  993                 386                3,287          133                 

Year 10 2027 7,106                  1,017              403                3,429          139                 

Ten-Yr Increase 1,669                  239                 132                1,124          46                    

10-year projected revenue $1,593,578 $169,397 $91,646 $988,737 $21,972

Projected Revenue => $2,865,330

per Sq. Ft. per Sq. Ft.

Year

per Housing Unit
per Housing 

Unit
per Sq. Ft.



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

37 
 

 

STREET FACILITIES INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN  

ARS § 9-463.05 (T)(7)(e) defines the facilities and assets which can be included in the Street Facilities IIP:   

“Street facilities located in the service area, including arterial or collector streets or roads that 
have been designated on an officially adopted plan of the municipality, traffic signals and rights-
of-way and improvements thereon.” 

The Street Facilities IIP includes components for arterial street improvements and the cost of preparing 

the Street Facilities IIP and related Development Fee Report.  

SERVICE AREA 

The Town of Florence arterial street network is designed to efficiently move traffic throughout the Town. 

However, the Town recently negotiated a development agreement with developers in the Merrill Ranch 

Community Facilities District. In recognition of the roadway infrastructure constructed by the developers, 

the Town and developers agreed to a reduction in the street development fee calculated as part of this 

study.   

METHODOLOGY 

Street Facility development fees use a hybrid of the plan-based and incremental expansion methodologies 

and allocate capital costs to residential and nonresidential development based on vehicle miles of travel 

using average weekday vehicle trip ends and average trip lengths. This methodology allows Florence to 

maintain the current LOS standard as growth occurs. Street Facilities development fee revenue collected 

using this methodology may not be used to replace or rehabilitate existing improvements.  

Proportionate Share  

ARS § 9-463.05 (B)(3) states that the development fee shall not exceed a proportionate share of the cost 

of necessary public services needed to provide necessary public services to the development. Trip length, 

trip generation rates and trip adjustment factors are used to determine the proportionate impact of 

residential, commercial, office, and industrial land uses on the Town’s streets network. 

RATIO OF SERVICE UNITS TO LAND USE 

Service Units 

The appropriate service unit for the Street Facilities development impact fees is vehicle miles of travel 

(VMT). VMT creates the link between supply (roadway capacity) and demand (traffic generated by new 

development). Components used to determine VMT include: trip generation rates, adjustments for 

commuting patterns and pass-by trips, and trip length weighting factors, are discussed further in this 

section.  

 

 

 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

38 
 

 

Figure S1: Street Facilities Ratio of Service Unit to Development Unit  
 

 

 

Trip Generation Rates 

For nonresidential development the trip generation rates are from the 10th edition of the reference book 

Trip Generation published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (2017). A vehicle trip end 

represents a vehicle either entering or exiting a development (as if a traffic counter were placed across a 

driveway). As an alternative to using the national average trip generation rate for residential 

development, the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) publishes regression curve formulas that may 

be used to derive custom trip generation rates using local demographic data. This is explained in more 

detail in Appendix A: Land Use Assumptions.  

Adjustments for Commuting Patterns and Pass-By Trips 

To calculate Street Facilities development fees, trip generation rates require an adjustment factor to avoid 

double counting each trip at both the origin and destination points. Therefore, the basic trip adjustment 

factor is 50%. As discussed further below, the development fee methodology includes additional 

adjustments to make the fees proportionate to the infrastructure demand for particular types of 

development. 

Residential development has a larger trip adjustment factor of 63% to account for commuters leaving 

Florence for work. According to the 2009 National Household Travel Survey, weekday work trips are 

typically 31% of production trips (i.e., all out-bound trips, which are 50% of all trip ends). As shown in 

Figure S2, the Census Bureau’s web application OnTheMap indicates that 85% of resident workers 

traveled outside the city for work in 2015. In combination, these factors (0.31 X 0.50 X 0.85 = .13) support 

the additional 13% allocation of trips to residential development. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Development ITE Weekday Development Trip Trip Length

Type Code VTE Unit Adj Wt Factor

Single Family 210 6.20 HU 63% 121%

Multi-Family 220 4.30 HU 63% 121%

Commercial/Retail 820 37.75 KSF 33% 66%

Office/Institutional 710 9.74 KSF 50% 73%

Industrial/Flex 110 4.96 KSF 50% 73%



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

39 
 

 

Figure S2: Inflow/Outflow Analysis  

 

For commercial development, the trip adjustment factor is less than 50% because retail development and 

some services attract vehicles as they pass by on arterial and collector roads. For example, when someone 

stops at a convenience store on the way home from work, the convenience store is not the primary 

destination. For the average shopping center, the ITE data indicates that 34% of the vehicles that enter 

are passing by on their way to some other primary destination. The remaining 66% of attraction trips have 

the commercial site as their primary destination. Because attraction trips are half of all trips, the trip 

adjustment factor is 66% multiplied by 50%, or approximately 33% of the trip ends.  These factors are 

shown to derive inbound vehicle trips for each type of nonresidential land use. 

Trip Length Weighting Factor by Type of Land Use 

The Street Facilities development fee methodology includes a percentage adjustment, or weighting factor, 

to account for trip length variation by type of land use. As documented in Table 6 of the 2009 National 

Household Travel Survey, vehicle trips from residential development are approximately 121% of the 

average trip length. The residential trip length adjustment factor includes data on home-base work trips, 

social, and recreational purposes. Conversely, shopping trips associated with commercial development 

are roughly 66% of the average trip length while other nonresidential development typically accounts for 

trips that are 73% of the average for all trips.  

  

Employed Residents 3,144

Residents Working and Living in Florence 477

Residents Commuting Outside Florence for Work 2,667

Percent Commuting out of Florence 85%

13%

63%

1. U.S. Census Bureau, OnTheMap Application and LEHD Origin-Destination Employment

Statistics, 2015.

2. According to the National Household Travel Survey (2009), home-based work trips are

typically 30.99% of "production" trips, in other words, out-bound trips (which are 50% of

all trip ends). Also, LED OnTheMap data from 2015 indicate that 85% of Florence's workers

travel outside the town for work. In combination, these factors (0.3099 x 0.50 x 0.848)

account for 13% of additional production trips. The total adjustment factor for residential

trips includes attraction trips (50% of trip ends) plus the journey-to-work commuting adjustment

(13% of production trips) for a total of 63%. 

http://nhts.ornl.gov/publications.shtml; Summary of Travel Trends - Table 30.

Trip Adjustment Factors for Commuters 1

Additional Production Trips2

Residential Trip Adjustment Factor



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

40 
 

 

ANALYSIS OF CAPACITY, USAGE, AND COSTS OF EXISTING SERVICES 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(1) requires: 

“A description of the existing necessary public services in the service area and the costs to upgrade, 
update, improve, expand, correct or replace those necessary public services to meet existing needs 
and usage and stricter safety, efficiency, environmental or regulatory standards, which shall be 
prepared by qualified professionals licensed in this state, as applicable.” 

As shown in Figure S3, the Town of Florence operates principal arterials totaling 48.84 lane miles, minor 

arterials totaling 27.42 lane miles and principal collectors totaling 10.08 lane miles. The total lane miles 

operated by the Town is 86.34. Generally, the Town’s transportation network operates at a level of service 

C. 

Figure S3: Town of Florence Road Inventory 

 

Figure S4 contains a list of potential road projects the Town may construct over the next ten years. The 

total estimated cost of these projects was used to determine the weighted average cost per lane mile of 

$1,105,582. The estimated costs per lane mile by classification are shown in Figure S4, based on planned 

projects in the Town of Florence.  

Figure S4: Potential Street Facilities Development Fee Projects and Projected Cost per Lane Mile 

 
 
Figure S5 documents major and minor arterials for which traffic counts exist. Lane capacities for each 

segment are also shown, which were provided by the Town of Florence. As Figure S5 illustrates, traffic 

Lane Miles

48.84

27.42

10.08

TOTAL 86.34

Source: Town of Florence.

Classification

Principal Arterial

Minor Arterial

Principal Collector

Improvement Segment
New 

Lanes
Miles

Lane 

Miles
Func Class Per lane mile Project Cost

Florence Heights Drive SR 79 to SR 79B 2 1 2 Minor Arterial $915,000 $1,830,000

Adamsville Road 3/4 Mile Extension to Plant Road 2 3 6 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $6,078,000

Butte Avenue Main to Plant 2 1 2 Major Collector $757,000 $1,514,000

Plant Road Butte to River 2 0.6 1.2 Minor Arterial $915,000 $1,098,000

Diversion Dam Road SR79 to Bowling 2 0.5 1 Minor Arterial $915,000 $915,000

Main Street Extension 1st to 79th 2 1 2 Minor Arterial $915,000 $1,830,000

River Road N/S Corridor to Main 4 1.5 6 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $6,078,000

Hunt Highway SR79 to Town Limits 2 4.25 8.5 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $8,610,500

Hunt Highway Franklin to Hiller 2 1 2 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $2,026,000

Attaway Road Palmer to Hunt 2 1 2 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $2,026,000

Felix Road Copper Basin to AZ Farms 2 2 4 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $4,052,000

Arizona Farms Road Copper Basin to Hersoth 2 4.5 9 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $9,117,000

Attaway Road AZ Farms to Judd 2 2 4 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $4,052,000

N/S Corridor Alignment 287 to N. Town Limits 4 13 52 Az Parkway $1,215,600 $63,211,200

101.7 $1,105,582 $112,437,700

Source: Town of Florence.



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

41 
 

 

counts exist for 70 of the Town’s 76.26 major/minor arterial network. For the roads with traffic counts, 

there is 338,356 miles of capacity but only 55,858 vehicle miles of travel. In the aggregate, VMT is the 

product of vehicle trips multiplied by the average trip length1.  This means there is excess capacity totaling 

83.5% in the network. 

Figure S5: Existing Major Road Network Capacity 

 

Average Trip Length  

Figure S6 shows the calibration of existing development to Florence’s current major/minor arterial 

network. Knowing the current number of arterial (73.6) TischlerBise can determine that the weighted-

average miles per trip on the current network is 17.03 miles.  

The methodology for calculating the weighted-average miles per trip in Florence is as follows:  

• With an existing inventory of 73.6 lane miles of major/minor arterials, and an average daily lane 

capacity standard of 9,000 vehicles per lane, the network can accommodate 667,088 vehicle miles 

of travel (i.e. 39,422 vehicles per day traveling the entire 73.6 lane miles).  

• The difference between the 55,858 vehicle miles of travel shown above in Figure S5 and the 

667,088 vehicle miles of travel shown in Figure S6 below are as follows. First, Figure S1 shows 

actual travel on the major/minor arterial network. Also, the travel is undercounted, as the data 

does not include all road segments. The 667,088 vehicle miles of travel shown in Figure S6 can be 

                                                           
1 Typical VMT calculations for development-specific traffic studies, along with most transportation models of an 
entire urban area, are derived from traffic counts on particular road segments multiplied by the length of that road 
segment.  For the purpose of development fees, VMT calculations are based on attraction (inbound) trips to 
development located in the service area, with the trip lengths calibrated to the road network considered to be 
system improvements.  This refinement eliminates pass-through or external- external trips, and travel on roads that 
are not system improvements (e.g. interstate highways). 

Adamsville Road Main Street - WTL Minor A 2.64 2 9,000         23,760                    351                  927                 5.28

Arizona Farms Road ETL - Railroad tracks Major A 4.72 2 9,000         42,480                    1,695              8,002              9.44

Attaway Road Arizona Farms - Judd Road Major A 2.00 2 9,000         18,000                    1,512              3,024              4.00

Ataway Road Palmer Road - Hunt Highway Major A 1.07 2 9,000         9,630                      4,278              4,577              2.14

Butte Avenue Main Street - Old FK Highway Minor A 1.98 2 9,000         17,820                    1,946              3,853              3.96

Constitution Way American Way - MRP Major A 0.34 2 9,000         3,060                      1,028              350                 0.68

Cooper Road* Magma Raod - Judd Road Major C 1.00 2 9,000         9,000                      417                  417                 2.00

Felix Road Heritage - Arizona Farms Road Major A 1.00 2 9,000         9,000                      1,117              1,117              2.00

Florence Heights Drive Main Street - SR 79 Minor A 0.56 2 9,000         5,040                      2,807              1,572              1.12

Florence - Kelvin Highway SR 79 - TL Major A 1.44 2 9,000         12,960                    667                  960                 2.88

Hunt Highway SR 79 - TL Major A 5.90 2 9,000         53,100                    2,246              13,251           11.8

Hunt Highway TL - S end 6 lane Major A 0.20 2 9,000         1,800                      2,246              449                 0.4

Hunt Highway S end 6 lane - N end 6 lane Major A 1.52 6 35,700       54,264                    4,899              7,446              9.12

Hunt Highway N end 6 lane - TL Major A 1.42 2 9,000         12,780                    2,179              3,094              2.84

Judd Road Quail Run - CAP Canal Minor A 1.54 2 9,000         13,860                    2,764              4,257              3.08

Merrill Ranch Parkway Hunt Highway - Felix Road Minor A 2.06 4 22,700       46,762                    1,175              2,421              8.24

Plant Road Adamsville - Butte Avenue Major A 0.56 2 9,000         5,040                      251                  141                 1.12

338,356                  55,858           70.1

*Traffic counts for this segment come from 2014 Pinal County traffic count data. 

% of VMT to VMC: 16.5%

CapacityRoad From - To Class Miles Lanes
Vehicle Miles of 

Capacity

Avg. Daily 

Traffic Counts

Vehicle Miles 

of Travel

Lane 

Miles



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

42 
 

 

viewed as travel potential, based on optimization of the network. In other words, the actual 

average trip length is much less than 17.03.  

• The national average trip length for a single family unit was 9.16 in the 2009 National Household 

Travel Survey, published by the US Department of Transportation. Duncan Associates, in their 

Town of Florence Land Use Assumptions, Infrastructure Improvements Plan and Impact Fee Study 

(2013), prepared a similar analysis of the transportation network and determined an average trip 

length for 3.82 for a single family unit. Given what we know about the Town and its transportation 

network, we feel this is an accurate trip length factor for the development fee calculation, as will 

be documented in the next section.   

Figure S6: Existing Major Road Network Capacity 

 

PROJECTED SERVICE UNITS, DEMAND, AND COSTS FOR SERVICES 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(2) requires: 

“An analysis of the total capacity, the level of current usage and commitments for usage of 
capacity of the existing necessary public services, which shall be prepared by qualified 
professionals licensed in this state, as applicable.” 

Development ITE Weekday Development Trip Trip Length

Type Code VTE Unit Adj Wt Factor

Single Family 210 6.20 HU 63% 121%

Multi-Family 220 4.30 HU 63% 121%

Commercial/Retail 820 37.75 KSF 33% 66%

Office/Institutional 710 9.74 KSF 50% 73%

Industrial/Flex 110 4.96 KSF 50% 73%

Avg Trip Length (miles) 17.03

Vehicle Capacity Per Lane 9,000

Base

2018

Single Family Units 5,715

Multi-Family Units 817

Commercial/Retail KSF 271

Office/Institutional KSF 2,305

Industrial/flex KSF 93

Single Family Trips 22,372

Multi-Family Trips 2,220

Commercial/Retail Trips 3,372

Office/Institutional Trips 11,226

Industrial/Flex Trips 232

Total Vehicle Trips 39,422

Vehicle Miles of Travel (VMT) 687,088



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

43 
 

 

TischlerBise created an aggregate travel model to convert development units within the Town of Florence 

to vehicle trips and vehicle miles of travel. This includes the factors discussed above, as well as average 

trip length, which is shown in Figure S7. 

Travel Demand Model 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(5) requires: 

“The total number of projected service units necessitated by and attributable to new development 
in the service area based on the approved land use assumptions and calculated pursuant to 
generally accepted engineering and planning criteria.” 

The daily lane capacity used in this analysis is 9,000, which was provided by the Town of Florence. 

Projected development in Florence over the next 10 years, and the corresponding need for additional lane 

miles is shown in Figure S7. Trip generation rates and trip adjustment factors convert project development 

into average weekday vehicle trips. As shown in Figure S7, new development in Florence will generate 

14,762 trips.  

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(6) requires: 

“The projected demand for necessary public services or facility expansions required by new service 
units for a period not to exceed ten years.” 

The travel demand model inputs above are used to derive level of service in Vehicle Miles of Travel and 

future needs of lane miles. A Vehicle Mile of Travel (VMT) is a measurement unit equal to one vehicle 

traveling one mile.  As discussed above in Figure S6, the weighted average trip that could occur on the 

arterial network is 17.03 miles. As shown in Figure S7, based on the existing network and available 

capacity, the Town of Florence would need to construct an additional 27.1 lane miles of arterials to 

accommodate projected development over the next ten years (shown in blue). However, as discussed 

above, excess capacity exists in the network. As shown in Figure S5, there is excess capacity totaling 83.5% 

on arterial segments that have traffic counts. It was also determined that the average trip length 

calculated for Florence by Duncan Associates in 2013 is an accurate reflection of current conditions.  

As shown in Figure S7, when the average trip length of 3.82 is applied to existing travel demand in 2018, 

there is excess capacity of 77.6% (154,121 vehicle miles of travel compared to 687,088 vehicle miles of 

capacity). Between our travel demand model and the analysis of Town arterials that have traffic counts, 

it is clear there is significant travel capacity available in the road network. However, that does not negate 

the need for additional road improvements. Rather, this analysis is to determine the appropriate level of 

road needs. As shown in the orange shading, when the model is recalibrated to the actual average trip 

length, the growth-related lane miles needed as a result of new development is reduced from 27.1 to 6.1.    

  



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

44 
 

 

Figure S7: Projected Travel Demand Model  

 
 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(3) requires: 

“A description of all or the parts of the necessary public services or facility expansions and their 
costs necessitated by and attributable to development in the service area based on the approved 
land use assumptions, including a forecast of the costs of infrastructure, improvements, real 
property, financing, engineering and architectural services, which shall be prepared by qualified 
professionals licensed in this state, as applicable.” 

Multiplying the increase in number of lane miles (6.1) by the cost per lane mile ($1,105,582) results in a 

10-year cost of approximately $6.74 million attributed to arterial lane miles and $3.028 million attributed 

to collector lane miles.  

 

Development ITE Weekday Development Trip Trip Length

Type Code VTE Unit Adj Wt Factor

Single Family* 210 6.20 HU 63% 121%

Multi-Family* 220 4.30 HU 63% 121%

Industrial / Flex 110 4.96 KSF 50% 73%

Commercial / Retail 820 37.75 KSF 33% 66%

Office / Institutional 710 9.74 KSF 50% 73%

*Custom residential trip ends calculated for Florence. See Figure A11.

Avg Trip Length (miles) 17.03

Excess Capacity Reduction 77.6%

Avg Trip Length (miles) 3.82

Vehicle Capacity Per Lane 9,000

Base 1 2 3 4 5 10 10-Year

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2028 Increase

Single Family Units 5,715 5,890 6,064 6,239 6,414 6,589 7,464 1,750

Multi-Family Units 817 842 868 893 918 943 1,068 250

Industrial / Flex KSF 93 97 100 104 108 112 139 46

Commercial / Retail KSF 271 281 291 301 312 326 403 132

Office / Institutional KSF 2,305 2,388 2,475 2,564 2,657 2,773 3,429 1,124

Single Family Trips 22,372 23,057 23,742 24,427 25,112 25,797 29,222 6,850

Multi-Family Trips 2,220 2,288 2,355 2,423 2,491 2,559 2,899 680

Residential Trips 24,592 25,345 26,098 26,850 27,603 28,356 32,121 7,530

Industrial / Flex Trips 232 240 249 258 267 279 345 113

Commercial / Retail Trips 3,372 3,494 3,621 3,752 3,887 4,056 5,017 1,645

Office / Institutional Trips 11,226 11,632 12,052 12,488 12,940 13,502 16,701 5,475

Nonresidential Trips 14,830 15,366 15,922 16,498 17,095 17,837 22,063 7,233

Total Vehicle Trips 39,422 40,711 42,020 43,349 44,698 46,194 54,184 14,762

Vehicle Miles of Capacity (VMC) 687,088 709,126 731,400 753,919 776,691 801,236 930,200 243,112

Annual Increase 22,038 22,274 22,519 22,772 24,546 26,685

Vehicle Miles of Travel (VMT) 154,121 159,064 164,060 169,112 174,220 179,725 208,653 54,532

Annual Increase 4,943 4,996 5,051 5,108 5,506 5,986

Arterial Lane Miles Needed 76.3 78.8 81.3 83.8 86.3 89.0 103.4 27.1

Based on Capacity 100%

Arterial Lane Miles Needed 17.1 17.7 18.2 18.8 19.4 20.0 23.2 6.1

Based on Travel Demand 22.4%

D
e

ve
lo

p
m

e
n

t
A

vg
 W

e
e

kd
ay

 V
e

h
ic

le
 

Tr
ip

s
V

M
C

V
M

T
D

e
m

an
d



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

45 
 

 

IIP AND DEVELOPMENT FEE REPORT 

The cost to prepare the Street Facilities IIP and related Development Fee Report totals $16,607. The Town 

of Florence plans to update its report every five years. Based on this cost, proportionate share, and five-

year projections of new residential and nonresidential development from the Land Use Assumptions, the 

cost per VMT is $0.65.  

Figure S8: IIP and Development Fee Report 

 
 

STREET FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT FEES 

Revenue Offset 

A revenue offset is not necessary for the Street Facilities development fees because 10-year growth costs 

exceed the amount of revenue that is projected to be generated by development fees according to the 

Land Use Assumptions. 

Proposed Street Facilities Development Fees 

The proposed Street Facilities development fees are shown in Figure S9. Infrastructure and cost factors 

for Street fees are summarized in the upper portion of Figure S9. Nonresidential development fees are 

stated per square foot of floor area. Attraction trips by type of development are multiplied by the capacity 

cost per average length vehicle trip to yield the Street Facilities development fees. To derive the 

commercial development fee of $3.90 per square foot of floor area, multiply the following factors from 

Figure S10: 

37.75 weekday vehicle trip ends per 1,000 square feet 
x 

33 percent adjustment factor for inbound trips 
x 

3.82 average miles per trip 
x 

66 percent trip length adjustment factor for commercial development 
x 

$124.32 total cost per VMT 
÷ 

1,000 square feet  
=  

$3.90 per square foot 
 
 

Necessary Public 

Service
Cost

Assessed 

Against

Proportionate 

Share
Demand Unit* 2018 2023 Change

Cost per 

Demand Unit

Residential

Nonresidential
$0.65100% VMT     154,121     179,725      25,605 Roads $16,607



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

46 
 

 

Given a cost factor of $1,105,582 per lane mile, which is shared by a projected VMT increase of 54,532, 

the capital cost is $123.67 per VMT. The Professional Services cost per VMT is $0.65, for a total cost 

$124.32 per VMT. 

The input variables discussed above yield the proposed Street Facilities development fees shown in the 

lower section of Figure S9. For example, the Street Facilities development fee for a single-family unit (6.20 

x 63% x 121% x 3.82 x ($124.32) is $2,250 per unit.  

FigureS9: Proposed Street Facilities Development Fees 

 

 

PROJECTED STREETS DEVELOPMENT FEE REVENUE 

Projected Street Facilities development fee revenue shown in Figure S10 is based on the development 

projections in the Land Use Assumptions (see Appendix A) and the updated Street Facilities development 

fees (see Figure S9). If development occurs at a faster rate than projected, the demand for infrastructure 

will increase along with development fee revenue. If development occurs at a slower rate than projected, 

the demand for infrastructure will decrease and development fee revenue will decrease at a similar rate. 

Anticipated Street Facilities development fee revenue is approximately $6.7 million over the next ten 

years, while expenditures are also estimated at $6.7 million. 

Average Miles per Trip => 3.82

Cost per Additional Lane Mile => $1,105,582

Planned Lane Miles Needed to Maintain LOS => 6.10                     

Ten-Year Growth Cost Funded by Fees $6,744,051

VMT Increase Over Ten Years 54,532

Capital Cost per VMT# $124.32

Residential (per unit) 

Development Type
Avg Wkdy Veh Trip 

Ends

Trip Rate 

Adjustment

Trip Length 

Adjustment

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Single-Family Unit 6.20 63% 121% $2,250 $2,086 $164

Multi-Family Unit 4.30 63% 121% $1,560 $1,313 $247

Nonresidential (per square foot)

Development Type
Avg Wkdy Veh Trip 

Ends

Trip Rate 

Adjustment

Trip Length 

Adjustment

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Commercial/Retail 37.75 33% 66% $3.90 $3.14 $0.76

Office/Institutional 9.74 50% 73% $1.68 $1.73 ($0.05)

Industrial/Flex 4.96 50% 73% $0.85 $1.02 ($0.17)

#Includes cost per VMT of $0.65 for the development fee study



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

47 
 

 

Figure S10:  Projected Street Facilities Development Fee Revenue 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Growth Cost Total Cost

Arterial Improvements $6,744,051 $6,744,051

Development Impact Fee Study $16,607.00 $16,607

TOTAL $6,760,658 $6,760,658

Streets Impact Fee Revenue

Single-

Family

Multi-

Family

Commercial 

/ Retail

Office / 

Institutional

Industrial / 

Flex

$2,250 $1,560 $3.90 $1.68 $0.85

Units Units KSF KSF KSF

Base 2017 5,715           817              271              2,305           93                

Year 1 2018 5,890           842              281              2,388           97                

Year 2 2019 6,064           868              291              2,475           100              

Year 3 2020 6,239           893              301              2,564           104              

Year 4 2021 6,414           918              312              2,657           108              

Year 5 2022 6,589           943              326              2,773           112              

Year 6 2023 6,764           968              340              2,893           117              

Year 7 2024 6,939           993              355              3,019           122              

Year 8 2025 7,114           1,018           370              3,150           128              

Year 9 2026 7,289           1,043           386              3,287           133              

Year 10 2027 7,464           1,068           403              3,429           139              

Ten-Yr Increase 1,750           250              132              1,124           46                

10-year projected revenue $3,936,207 $390,517 $514,918 $1,888,649 $38,752

Projected Revenue => $6,769,043

per Sq. Ft. per Sq. Ft.

Year

per Housing 

Unit

per Housing 

Unit
per Sq. Ft.



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

48 
 

 

WATER FACILITIES INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN 

ARS § 9-463.05 (T)(7)(a) defines the facilities and assets which can be included in the Water Facilities IIP:   

“Water facilities, including the supply, transportation, treatment, purification and distribution of 
water, and any appurtenances for those facilities” 

The Water Facilities IIP includes components for transmission, storage, supply, and the cost of 

professional services for preparing the Water Facilities IIP and related Development Fee Report.   

Service Area 

The Town’s Water Service Area is depicted in pink in Figure W1 below. The Town’s water system currently 

serves the downtown and surrounding “Old Florence” area, as well as the Florence Gardens area located 

north of the Gila River. The remainder of the Town is served by Johnson Utilities, Southwest 

Environmental and the Arizona Water Company. It is recommended that there should be four water 

service areas: Town Water Service Area, Johnson Utilities Service Area, Southwest Environmental and the 

Arizona Water Company Service Area.      

Figure W1: Town of Florence Water Utility Providers Service Areas 

 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

49 
 

 

Proportionate Share 

ARS § 9-463.05 (B)(3) states that the development fee shall not exceed a proportionate share of the cost 

of necessary public services needed to provide necessary public services to the development.  

The Water Facilities IIP and development fees are assessed on both residential and nonresidential 

development as both types of development create a burden for additional water facilities. Customers by 

land use are used to determine the proportionate share of this burden. In 2017, approximately 92% of 

water customers in Florence were residents, accounting for 28% of the average daily demand. 

Approximately 8% were nonresidential customers, accounting for 72% of the average daily demand. 

ANALYSIS OF CAPACITY AND USAGE OF EXISTING PUBLIC SERVICES  

 ARS § 9-463.05(E)(1) requires: 

“A description of the existing necessary public services in the service area and the costs to upgrade, 
update, improve, expand, correct or replace those necessary public services to meet existing needs 
and usage and stricter safety, efficiency, environmental or regulatory standards, which shall be 
prepared by qualified professionals licensed in this state, as applicable.” 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(2) requires: 

“An analysis of the total capacity, the level of current usage and commitments for usage of 
capacity of the existing necessary public services, which shall be prepared by qualified 
professionals licensed in this state, as applicable.” 

Existing Capacity and Usage 

The Town’s water system consists of five wells, these wells provide 9.36 million gallons per day of supply.  

The Town currently has 3.2 million gallons of storage capacity.  

Average Day Flows 

The level of service for Water Facilities is based on average day flows per demand unit per day – per 

person for residential development and per job for nonresidential development. Figure W2 shows 2017 

average day flows by type of development based on water consumption provided by the Town. Average 

day consumption in Florence totaled approximately 1.59 MGD in 2017. The average gallons per day per 

residential connection is 122. The Town’s peaking factor is 2.0, resulting in 243 peak gallons per residential 

connection. 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

50 
 

 

Figure W2: Water Facilities Level of Service 

 

 

RATIO OF SERVICE UNIT TO DEVELOPMENT UNIT 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(4) requires: 

“A table establishing the specific level or quantity of use, consumption, generation or discharge of 
a service unit for each category of necessary public services or facility expansions and an 
equivalency or conversion table establishing the ratio of a service unit to various types of land 
uses, including residential, commercial, and industrial.” 

Residential Water Facilities development fees are assessed on a per unit basis, based on average day 

gallons per person. Development fees assume a single-family unit is served by a 5/8” (0.625) meter.   

For nonresidential Water Facilities development fees, capacity ratios by meter size are the appropriate 

demand indicator for Water Facilities. Capacity ratios equate 5/8" (0.625) meters to the average day 

gallons per single-family residential unit. Utilizing average day gallons is the most efficient way to show a 

direct relationship between development units, usage, and system capacity. The nonresidential Water 

development fees are calculated by multiplying the number of gallons per single-family unit by the 

capacity ratio for the corresponding size and type of water meter, which are provided by the American 

Water Works Association (2012) and shown in Figure W3 below. 

Average Gallons Gallons Per Day Peak Gallons

Per Day Connections Per Connection Per Connection#

2017

Residential 449,130 3,696 122 243

Nonresidential 1,149,460 342 3,361 6,722

TOTAL 1,598,590 4,038

Nonresidential Connections per Job:** 0.04

Gallons per Day per Person:* 50

Gallons per Day per Job: 151

* Gallons per capita per day based on single family 2.42 persons per household

from US Census 2015 American Community Survey

**Based on employment estimate of 7,626

#Based on Town's peaking factor of 2.0



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

51 
 

 

Figure W3: Water Facilities Ratio of Service Unit to Development Unit Ratio of Service 

 

PROJECTED DEMAND AND COSTS FOR SERVICES 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(5) requires: 

“The total number of projected service units necessitated by and attributable to new development 
in the service area based on the approved land use assumptions and calculated pursuant to 
generally accepted engineering and planning criteria.” 

Projected Water Flows 

When the projected residential and nonresidential in the Town’s utility service area from the Land Use 

Assumptions are compared to gallons per day per person and job, average day demand is projected to 

increase by 0.62 million gallons per day, while peak demand is projected to increase by 1.24 million gallons 

per day. The total number of projected connections is 884. 

0.625 Displacement

0.75 Displacement

1.00 Displacement

1.50 Displacement

2.00 Displacement

3.00 Compound

3.00 Turbine

4.00 Compound

4.00 Turbine

6.00 Turbine

8.00 Turbine

10.00 Turbine

12.00 Turbine

Source: AWWA

210.00

265.00

31.50

65.00

140.00

8.00

16.00

17.50

25.00

Meter Type

1.00

1.50

2.50

5.00

Meter Size (inches) Capacity Ratio



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

52 
 

 

Figure W4: Projected Water Facilities Service Units 

 

 

Water Transmission Facilities 

Florence has three water transmission projects planned over the next ten years to serve future 

development. To calculate the cost per service unit (gallons), the costs of planned improvements 

($1,475,000) are allocated to the projected increase in peak demand over the next ten years (1,241,411 

gallons). This is results in a cost of $1.19 per gallon ($1,475,000 / 1,241,411 gallons).  

Figure W5: Water Transmission Facilities 

 

 

Water Storage Facilities 

The Town of Florence plans to construct the North Florence Storage Tank to serve future development. 

This project will add 1.0 million gallons of storage capacity to the water system, at a cost of $1.25 million. 

Projected Projected Total

Residential Nonres. Projected Million Gallons Million Gallons

Year Connections Connections Connections Per Avg Day Per Peak Day

Base 2018 3,696 342 4,038 1.60 3.20

Future1 2019 3,769 354 4,124 1.65 3.29

Future2 2020 3,841 367 4,208 1.70 3.39

Future3 2021 3,912 380 4,293 1.75 3.49

Future4 2022 3,984 394 4,378 1.80 3.60

Future5 2023 4,055 411 4,467 1.86 3.72

Future6 2024 4,127 429 4,556 1.93 3.86

Future7 2025 4,198 448 4,646 2.00 3.99

Future8 2026 4,270 467 4,737 2.07 4.14

Future9 2027 4,341 488 4,829 2.14 4.28

Future10 2028 4,413 509 4,922 2.22 4.44

717 167 884 0.62 1.24

Nonresidential Connections per Job: 0.04

Gallons per Day per Job: 151

Gallons per Day per Person: 50

Description FY18-19 FY19-20 FY20-21 FY21-22 FY22-23 Years 6-10 Total Project

Centennial Park Road 8" 

Loop
$80,000 $145,000 $225,000

Adamsville Rd water line (12 

inch)
$250,000 $250,000

Water line infrastructure to 

serve North Florence (16 

inch)

$1,000,000 $1,000,000

Total $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,475,000

Ten-Year Increase in Gallons of Peak Demand per Day => 1,241,411

Cost per Gallon of Demand => $1.19



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

53 
 

 

To calculate the cost per service unit (gallons), the costs of planned improvements are allocated to the 

additional storage capacity added. For the planned storage tank, this results in a cost of $1.25 per gallon 

($1,250,000 / 1,000,000 gallons).  

Figure W6: Water Storage Facilities 

 

Water Supply Facilities 

The Town of Florence also plans to construct future wells to serve new development. These wells add 1.44 

million gallons of supply to the water system, at a cost of $2.75 million. To calculate the cost per service 

unit (gallons), the costs of planned improvements are allocated to the additional supply added. This results 

in a cost of $1.91 per gallon ($2,750,000 / 1,440,000 gallons).  

Figure W7: Water Supply Facilities 

 

 

IIP and Development Fee Study 

The cost to prepare the Water Facilities IIP and related Development Fee Study totals $16,607. The Town 

of Florence plans to update its report every five years. Based on this cost, proportionate share, and five-

year projections of new residential and nonresidential peak water consumption, the cost is $0.03 per 

gallon. 

Figure W8: IIP and Development Fee Study 

 

 

WATER FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT FEES 

Revenue Offset 

A revenue offset is not necessary for the Water Facilities development fees. 

Description FY18-19 FY19-20 FY20-21 FY21-22 FY22-23 Years 6-10 Total Project

North Florence Storage Tank $1,250,000 $1,250,000

Total $0 $0 $1,250,000 $0 $0 $0 $1,250,000

Gallons of Capacity per Day => 1,000,000

Cost per Gallon of Capacity => $1.25

Description FY18-19 FY19-20 FY20-21 FY21-22 FY22-23 Years 6-10 Total Project

Future Wells (1000 gallons a 

minute)
$1,250,000 $1,500,000 $2,750,000

Total $0 $0 $1,250,000 $0 $0 $1,500,000 $2,750,000

Gallons of Capacity per Day => 1,440,000

Cost per Gallon of Capacity => $1.91

Necessary Public 

Service
Cost

Assessed 

Against

Proportionate 

Share
Demand Unit* 2018 2023 Change

Cost per 

Demand Unit

 3,197,180  3,720,322    523,142 $0.03
 MGD100%Water $16,607

Meters



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

54 
 

 

Proposed Water Facilities Development Fees 

Infrastructure components and cost factors for Water Facilities are summarized in the upper portion of 

Figure W9. The Water Facilities development fee is derived from the peak gallons per day per residential 

connection of 243 gallons multiplied by the capital cost per gallon of capacity ($4.38). The capital cost per 

gallon of capacity includes growth-related expansion of water facilities and the cost of professional 

services to prepare the Water Facilities IIP and Development Fee Report. Future development needing a 

5/8” meter will pay a Water Facilities development fee of $1,065 (243 gallons X $4.38 capital cost per 

gallon of capacity X 1.0 capacity ratio), and future development needing a 1.0” meter will pay a Water 

Facilities development fee of $2,662 (243 gallons X $4.38 capital cost per gallon of capacity X 2.5 capacity 

ratio). 

Figure W9: Proposed Water Facilities Development Fees 

 

PROJECTED WATER FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT FEE REVENUE 

Over the next ten years, the Town of Florence has identified a need for approximately $5.4 million in 

growth-related Water Facilities improvements, including $1.4 million in additional transmission projects, 

Input Variables

Cost per 

Gallon of 

Capacity

Transmission Projects $1.19

Storage Projects $1.25

Supply Projects $1.91

Development Fee Study $0.03

Capital Cost per Gallon of Capacity => $4.38

Peak Day Gallons of Demand per ERU => 243

All Development (per meter)

Meter Size (inches) Meter Type
Capacity 

Ratio

Proposed 

Water 

Fee

Current 

Fee

$ Change

0.625 Displacement 1.00 $1,065 $1,980 ($915)

0.75 Displacement 1.50 $1,597 $4,950 ($3,353)

1.00 Displacement 2.50 $2,662 $4,950 ($2,288)

1.50 Displacement 5.00 $5,324 $9,900 ($4,576)

2.00 Displacement 8.00 $8,519 $15,840 ($7,321)

3.00 Compound 16.00 $17,038 $31,680 ($14,642)

3.00 Turbine 17.50 $18,636 $34,650 ($16,014)

4.00 Compound 25.00 $26,623 $49,500 ($22,877)

4.00 Turbine 31.50 $33,544 $59,400 ($25,856)

6.00 Turbine 65.00 $69,219 $123,750 ($54,531)

8.00 Turbine 140.00 $149,088 $178,200 ($29,112)

10.00 Turbine 210.00 $223,633 $287,100 ($63,467)

12.00 Turbine 265.00 $282,203 $425,700 ($143,497)



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

55 
 

 

$1.2 million in storage capacity, and $2.7 million for supply. As shown at the bottom of Figure W10, 

projected Water Facilities development fee revenue totals almost $4.6 million over ten years. It is 

probable that this revenue projection is low, as multifamily units are not individually metered and 

predicting how many future multifamily units will share a common meter is difficult to predict. The same 

situation exists with converting employment projections to number of new residential meters. Therefore, 

the current number of meters per jobs was used as a proxy. 

Figure W10: Projected Water Facilities Development Fee Revenue 

 

 

 

 

Total Cost

Transmission $1,475,000

Storage $1,250,000

Supply $2,750,000

Development Impact Fee Study $16,607

TOTAL $5,491,607

Water Development Impact Fee Revenue

Residential Nonresidential

$1,597 $17,037

Connections Connections

Base 2017 3,106                      267                    

Year 1 2018 3,179                      277                    

Year 2 2019 3,251                      287                    

Year 3 2020 3,322                      297                    

Year 4 2021 3,394                      308                    

Year 5 2022 3,465                      321                    

Year 6 2023 3,537                      335                    

Year 7 2024 3,608                      350                    

Year 8 2025 3,680                      365                    

Year 9 2026 3,751                      381                    

Year 10 2027 3,823                      397                    

Ten-Yr Increase 717                         130                    

10-year projected revenue $2,391,636 $2,218,505

Projected Revenue $4,610,142

per Unit per Connection

Year



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

56 
 

 

WASTEWATER FACILITIES INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLAN 

ARS § 9-463.05 (T)(7)(b) defines the facilities and assets which can be included in the Wastewater Facilities 

IIP:   

“Wastewater facilities, including collection, interception, transportation, treatment and disposal 
of wastewater, and any appurtenances for those facilities.” 

The Wastewater Facilities IIP includes components for wastewater collection and wastewater treatment, 

and the cost of professional services for preparing the Wastewater Facilities IIP and related Development 

Fee Report.   

Service Area 

The Town’s Wastewater Service Area is depicted in pink in Figure WW1 below. The Town’s wastewater 

system currently serves the downtown and surrounding “Old Florence” area, as well as the Florence 

Gardens area located north of the Gila River. The remainder of the Town is served by Johnson Utilities and 

the Arizona Water Company. Similar to the Water Facilities IIP, it is recommended that there should be 

three wastewater service areas: Town Water Service Area, Johnson Utilities Service Area and Southwest 

Environmental Utility Company.      

Figure WW1: Town of Florence Wastewater Utility Providers Service Areas  

 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

57 
 

 

Proportionate Share 

ARS § 9-463.05 (B)(3) states that the development fee shall not exceed a proportionate share of the cost 

of necessary public services needed to provide necessary public services to the development.  

The Wastewater Facilities IIP and related development fees are assessed on both residential and 

nonresidential development as both types of development create a burden for additional water facilities. 

Customers by land use are used to determine the proportionate share of this burden. In 2017, 

approximately 92% of wastewater customers in Florence were residents, accounting for 16% of the 

average daily demand. Approximately 8% were nonresidential customers, accounting for 84% of the 

average daily demand. Wastewater flows are greater than water consumption as a result of the Arizona 

State Prison being a Town wastewater customer, but not a water customer.  

ANALYSIS OF CAPACITY AND USAGE OF EXISTING PUBLIC SERVICES  

 ARS § 9-463.05(E)(1) requires: 

“A description of the existing necessary public services in the service area and the costs to upgrade, 
update, improve, expand, correct or replace those necessary public services to meet existing needs 
and usage and stricter safety, efficiency, environmental or regulatory standards, which shall be 
prepared by qualified professionals licensed in this state, as applicable.” 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(2) requires: 

“An analysis of the total capacity, the level of current usage and commitments for usage of 
capacity of the existing necessary public services, which shall be prepared by qualified 
professionals licensed in this state, as applicable.” 

Existing Capacity and Usage 

The Town’s wastewater system currently has treatment capacity totaling 2.92 million gallons per day.  

Average Day Flows 

The level of service for Wastewater Facilities is based on average day flows per demand unit per day – per 

person for residential development and per job for nonresidential development. Figure WW2 shows 2017 

average day flows by type of development based on wastewater flow provided by the Town. Average day 

flows in Florence totaled approximately 1.75 MGD in 2017. The average gallons per day per residential 

connection is 93. The Town’s peaking factor is assumed to be 75 percent of the peak water consumption, 

resulting in a factor of 182 peak gallons per residential connection. 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

58 
 

 

Figure WW2: Wastewater Facilities Level of Service 

 

 

RATIO OF SERVICE UNIT TO DEVELOPMENT UNIT 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(4) requires: 

“A table establishing the specific level or quantity of use, consumption, generation or discharge of 
a service unit for each category of necessary public services or facility expansions and an 
equivalency or conversion table establishing the ratio of a service unit to various types of land 
uses, including residential, commercial, and industrial.” 

Residential Wastewater Facilities development fees are assessed on a per unit basis, based on average 

day gallons per person. Wastewater Facilities development fees assume a single-family unit is served by 

a 5/8” (0.625) meter.   

For nonresidential Wastewater Facilities development fees, capacity ratios by meter size are the 

appropriate demand indicator for wastewater facilities. Capacity ratios equate 5/8" (0.625) meters to the 

average day gallons per single-family residential unit. Utilizing average day gallons is the most efficient 

way to show a direct relationship between development units, usage, and system capacity. The 

nonresidential Wastewater Facilities development fees are calculated by multiplying the number of 

gallons per single-family unit by the capacity ratio for the corresponding size and type of meter, which are 

provided by the American Water Works Association (2012) and shown in Figure WW3 below. 

Per Day Connections Per Connection Per Connection#

2017

Residential 288,612 3,106 93 182

Nonresidential 1,466,710 267 5,493

TOTAL 1,755,322 3,373

Nonresidential Connections per Job:** 0.04

Gallons per Day per Person:* 38

Gallons per Day per Job: 192

* Gallons per capita per day based on single family 2.42 persons per household

from US Census 2015 American Community Survey

**Based on employment estimate of 7,626

#Peak demand is assumed to be 75% of water peak demand



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

59 
 

 

Figure WW3: Wastewater Facilities Ratio of Service Unit to Development Unit 

 

PROJECTED DEMAND AND COSTS FOR SERVICES 

ARS § 9-463.05(E)(5) requires: 

“The total number of projected service units necessitated by and attributable to new development 
in the service area based on the approved land use assumptions and calculated pursuant to 
generally accepted engineering and planning criteria.” 

Projected Wastewater Flows 

When the projected residential and nonresidential in the Town’s utility service area from the Land Use 

Assumptions are compared to gallons per day per person and job, average day demand is projected to 

increase by 760,000 gallons per day, while peak demand is projected to increase by 930,000 gallons per 

day. The total number of projected connections is 847. 

0.625 Displacement

0.75 Displacement

1.00 Displacement

1.50 Displacement

2.00 Displacement

3.00 Compound

3.00 Turbine

4.00 Compound

4.00 Turbine

6.00 Turbine

8.00 Turbine

10.00 Turbine

12.00 Turbine

Source: AWWA

210.00

265.00

31.50

65.00

140.00

8.00

16.00

17.50

25.00

Meter Type

1.00

1.50

2.50

5.00

Meter Size (inches) Capacity Ratio



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

60 
 

 

Figure WW4: Wastewater Facilities Projected Service Units 

 

Wastewater Collection Facilities 

Florence has three collection system projects planned over the next ten years. These improvements have 

an estimated cost of $1.97 million. 

To calculate the cost per service unit (gallons), the costs of planned improvements are allocated to the 

projected increase in wastewater flows over the next ten years. For the planned wastewater collection 

projects, this results in a cost of $2.12 per gallon ($1,970,000 / 931,058 gallons).  

Figure WW5: Wastewater Collection Facilities 

 

Wastewater Treatment Facilities 

Florence plans to construct several projects associated with expanding the South Wastewater Treatment 

Plant. These projects have an estimated cost of $24.1 million and will increase the plant’s capacity by 1.5 

million gallons per day.   

Projected Projected Total

Residential Nonres. Projected Million Gallons Million Gallons

Year Connections Connections Connections Per Avg Day Per Peak Day

Base 2018 3,106 267 3,373 1.76 2.40

Future1 2019 3,179 277 3,456 1.81 2.47

Future2 2020 3,251 287 3,538 1.87 2.54

Future3 2021 3,322 297 3,619 1.93 2.62

Future4 2022 3,394 308 3,702 2.00 2.70

Future5 2023 3,465 321 3,786 2.08 2.79

Future6 2024 3,537 335 3,872 2.16 2.89

Future7 2025 3,608 350 3,958 2.24 2.99

Future8 2026 3,680 365 4,045 2.33 3.10

Future9 2027 3,751 381 4,132 2.42 3.21

Future10 2028 3,823 397 4,220 2.52 3.33

717 130 847 0.76 0.93

Nonresidential Connections per Job: 0.04

Gallons per Day per Job: 192

Gallons per Day per Person: 38

Description Prior Years FY18-19 FY19-20 FY20-21 FY21-22 FY22-23 Years 6-10 Total Project

West Main extension 

Adamsville to Dobson 

Property (36 inch)

$600,000 $600,000

South Sewer Main 

Extensions 287/SR79 (12 

inch)

$1,000,000 $1,000,000

Lift Station at Hunt 

Highway & SR79
$40,000 $330,000 $370,000

Total $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,970,000

Ten-Year Increase in Gallons of Peak Demand per Day => 931,058

Cost per Gallon of Demand => $2.12



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

61 
 

 

To calculate the cost per service unit (gallons), the costs of planned improvements are allocated to the 

additional capacity provided by the improvements. For these planned wastewater treatment facilities, 

this results in a cost of $16.09 per gallon ($24,130,000 / 1,500,000 gallons). 

Figure WW6: Wastewater Treatment Facilities 

 

IIP and Development Fee Study 

The cost to prepare the Wastewater Facilities IIP and related Development Fee Report totals $16,607. The 

Town of Florence plans to update its report every five years. Based on this cost, proportionate share, and 

five-year projections of new residential and nonresidential peak wastewater flows, the cost is $0.04 per 

gallon. 

Figure WW7: IIP and Development Fee Study 

 

WASTEWATER FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT FEES 

Revenue Offset 

The Town of Florence plans on issuing debt for the planned expansion to the South Wastewater Treatment 

Plant. To ensure that new development does not “double pay” through the Wastewater Facilities 

development fee and again through future utility rate payments, an offset is included for principal 

payments on this future debt. An offset is not necessary for interest payments because interest costs are 

not included in the development fee calculation. Assuming the debt is issued in 2019, Figure WW8 shows 

a 20-year amortization schedule of the debt principal. The annual principal payments totaling $24.1 

million are divided by the projected increase in peak wastewater flows in each year to determine a per 

gallon offset. For example, in 2019, the annual principal payment ($1,206,500) is divided by projected 

peak wastewater flow of 2,469,470 gallons for a payment per gallon of $0.49. To account for the time 

value of money, annual payments per gallon are discounted using a net present value formula based on 

the projected interest rate of 4.5%. The total net present value of future principal payments per gallon is 

$5.04. This amount is subtracted from the gross capital cost per gallon to derive a net capital cost per 

Description Prior Years FY18-19 FY19-20 FY20-21 FY21-22 FY22-23 Years 6-10 Total Project

Florence S. - WWTP 

Expansion
$2,000,000 $15,150,000 $17,150,000

South WWTP Expansion 

Headworks
$150,000 $2,000,000 $1,500,000 $3,650,000

SWWTP disinfection 

system upgrade
$30,000 $3,000,000 $3,030,000

S. WWTP odor control / 

dust abatement
$300,000 $300,000

Total $150,000 $2,000,000 $1,830,000 $5,000,000 $15,150,000 $0 $0 $24,130,000

Gallons of Capacity per Day => 1,500,000

Cost per Gallon of Capacity => $16.09

Necessary Public 

Service
Cost

Assessed 

Against

Proportionate 

Share
Demand Unit* 2018 2023 Change

Cost per 

Demand Unit

             -   

 2,397,885  2,792,713    394,828 $0.04
MGD100%

Meters
Wastewater $16,607



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

62 
 

 

gallon. It should be noted that for purposes of this offset evaluation, we projected peak wastewater flow 

for years 11-20 by using the average annual increase from the projection shown in Figure WW4.  

Figure WW8: Principal Payment Offset 

 

 

Proposed Wastewater Facilities Development Fees 

Infrastructure components and cost factors for Wastewater Facilities are summarized in the upper portion 

of Figure WW9. The development fee is derived from peak day wastewater demand per single-family unit 

(182 gallons per ERU) multiplied by the capital cost per gallon of capacity ($13.17). The capital cost per 

gallon of capacity includes growth-related expansion of Wastewater Facilities and the cost of professional 

services to prepare the Wastewater IIP and related Development Fee Report. Future development 

needing a 5/8” (0.625) meter will pay a Wastewater Facilities fee of $2,400 (182 gallons X $13.17 capital 

cost per gallon of capacity X 1.0 capacity ratio), and future development needing a 1.0” meter will pay a 

Year
Principal 

Payments

Projected 

Demand

Credit per 

Peak Gallon

2019 $1,206,500 2,469,470 $0.49

2020 $1,206,500 2,543,078 $0.47

2021 $1,206,500 2,619,023 $0.46

2022 $1,206,500 2,697,390 $0.45

2023 $1,206,500 2,792,713 $0.43

2024 $1,206,500 2,891,786 $0.42

2025 $1,206,500 2,994,772 $0.40

2026 $1,206,500 3,101,841 $0.39

2027 $1,206,500 3,213,169 $0.38

2028 $1,206,500 3,328,943 $0.36

2029 $1,206,500 3,414,478 $0.35

2030 $1,206,500 3,500,013 $0.34

2031 $1,206,500 3,585,548 $0.34

2032 $1,206,500 3,671,083 $0.33

2033 $1,206,500 3,756,618 $0.32

2034 $1,206,500 3,842,153 $0.31

2035 $1,206,500 3,927,688 $0.31

2036 $1,206,500 4,013,223 $0.30

2037 $1,206,500 4,098,758 $0.29

2038 $1,206,500 4,184,293 $0.29

Total $24,130,000 $7.44

4.5%

$5.04

*Demand projections from year 11-20 based on a straighline 

projection using the  annual average from years 1-10

Discount Rate

Net Present Value



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

63 
 

 

Wastewater Facilities development fee of $6,001 (182 gallons X $13.17 capital cost per gallon of capacity 

X 2.50 capacity ratio). 

Figure WW9: Proposed Wastewater Facilities Development Fees 

 

PROJECTED WASTEWATER FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT FEE REVENUE 

Over the next ten years, the Town of Florence has identified a need for approximately $26.1 million in 

growth-related wastewater improvements, including $1.9 million in collection projects and $24.1 million 

in treatment capacity. As shown at the bottom of Figure WW10, projected Wastewater Facilities 

development fee revenue totals approximately $10.1 million over ten years. After construction of the 

wastewater treatment plant, the Town should switch the fee methodology to a cost recovery approach 

so that the remaining costs not recovered over the next ten years can be recouped. As was the case with 

the projection of water development fee revenue, it is probable that this revenue projection is low, as 

multifamily units are not individually metered and predicting how many future multifamily units will share 

a common meter is difficult to predict. The same situation exists with converting employment projections 

to number of new residential meters. Therefore, the current number of meters per jobs was used as a 

proxy. 

Input Variables

Cost per 

Gallon of 

Capacity

Transmission Projects $2.12

Treatment Projects $16.09

Principal Payment Credit per Gallon => ($5.04)

Capital Cost per Gallon of Capacity => $13.17

Peak Day Gallons of Demand per ERU => 182

All Development (per meter)

Meter Size (inches) Meter Type Capacity Ratio

Proposed 

Wastewater 

Fee

Current 

Fee

$ Change

0.625 Displacement 1.00 $2,400 $2,140 $260

0.75 Displacement 1.50 $3,600 $2,782 $818

1.00 Displacement 2.50 $6,001 $7,062 ($1,061)

1.50 Displacement 5.00 $12,002 $14,338 ($2,336)

2.00 Displacement 8.00 $19,202 $22,898 ($3,696)

3.00 Compound 16.00 $38,405 $45,852 ($7,447)

3.00 Turbine 17.50 $42,005 $49,862 ($7,857)

4.00 Compound 25.00 $60,008 $71,262 ($11,254)

4.00 Turbine 31.50 $75,610 $85,600 ($9,990)

6.00 Compound 50.00 $120,015 $142,738 ($22,723)

6.00 Turbine 65.00 $156,020 $178,262 ($22,242)

8.00 Turbine 140.00 $336,043 $256,800 $79,243

10.00 Turbine 210.00 $504,065 $413,662 $90,403

12.00 Turbine 265.00 $636,082 $613,538 $22,544



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

64 
 

 

Figure WW10: Projected Wastewater Facilities Development Fee Revenue 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Total Cost

Collection $1,970,000

Treatment $24,130,000

Development Impact Fee Study $16,607

TOTAL $26,116,607

Wastewater Development Impact Fee Revenue

Residential Nonresidential

$3,600 $60,008

Connections Connections

Base 2017 3,106                       267                 

Year 1 2018 3,179                       277                 

Year 2 2019 3,251                       287                 

Year 3 2020 3,322                       297                 

Year 4 2021 3,394                       308                 

Year 5 2022 3,465                       321                 

Year 6 2023 3,537                       335                 

Year 7 2024 3,608                       350                 

Year 8 2025 3,680                       365                 

Year 9 2026 3,751                       381                 

Year 10 2027 3,823                       397                 

Ten-Yr Increase 717                          130                 

10-year projected revenue $2,347,503 $7,814,022

Projected Revenue $10,161,525

Year

per Unit
per 

Connection



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

65 
 

 

APPENDIX A:  LAND USE ASSUMPTIONS 

Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS) § 9-463.05 (T)(7) requires the preparation of a Land Use Assumptions 

document, which shows: 

“projections of changes in land uses, densities, intensities and population for a 

specified service area over a period of at least ten years and pursuant to the General 

Plan of the municipality.” 

TischlerBise prepared current demographic estimates and future development projections for both 

residential and nonresidential development that will be used in the Infrastructure Improvements Plan (IIP) 

and calculation of the development fees. Current demographic data estimates for 2017 are used in 

calculating levels of service (LOS) provided to existing development in the Town of Florence referred to as 

“Florence” or “Town of Florence” throughout this document. Although long-range projections are 

necessary for planning infrastructure systems, a shorter time frame of five to ten years is critical for the 

development fee analysis.  

Arizona’s Development Fee Act requires fees to be updated at least every five years and limits the IIP to a 

maximum of ten years. Therefore, the use of a very long-range “build-out” analysis is no longer acceptable 

for deriving development fees in Arizona municipalities. 

SUMMARY OF GROWTH INDICATORS 

Population, housing units, and employment projections are key land use assumptions for the 

development fee study. Population is estimated by analyzing data from the 2010 Census, Arizona 

Department of Administration (ADOA), and the Town of Florence. 2018 represents the base year in the 

development impact fee study. TischlerBise used Town-provided building permit data in conjunction with 

U.S. Census Bureau and Maricopa Association of Governments (MAG) data to derive population and 

housing projections through 2028. An estimate of seasonal population in Florence is required as well due 

to the seasonality of large developments like Florence Gardens. Housing units are estimated by adding 

building permits, separated by type of unit, to the 2010 Census estimate of housing units. The annual 

average number of building permits during this period is used to project future housing growth. Base year 

employment and corresponding industry shares in Florence are provided by ESRI, which publishes 

employment data by jurisdiction. Industry share ratios from ESRI Business Summary for Florence are used 

to allocate employment to three categories (Commercial/Retail, Office/Institutional, Industrial/Flex). 

MAG publishes employment projections for jurisdictions based on Residential Analysis Zones (RAZs). The 

average annual growth rates from this data are applied to ESRI’s estimate of base year employment to 

project future employment. This represents an adjustment of the MAG data with the updated 2017 

employment count. Figure A12 provides a comprehensive summary of the development projections used 

in the development impact fee study. These figures will be used to anticipate growth related infrastructure 

needs and determine development fee revenues. Development fee methodologies are designed to reduce 

sensitivity to development projections in the determination of the proportionate-share fee amounts. If 

actual development is slower than projected, fee revenue will decline, but so will the need for growth-



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

66 
 

 

related infrastructure. In contrast, if development is faster than anticipated, Florence will receive an 

increase in fee revenue, but will also need to accelerate infrastructure improvements to keep pace with 

the actual rate of development. 

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

Current estimates and future projections of residential development are detailed in this section; including 

year-round population, peak population, and housing units by type. 

Persons Per Housing Unit and Persons Per Household 

According to the U.S. Census Bureau, a household is a housing unit that is occupied by year-round 

residents. To determine proportionate-share fee amounts, development fees often use per capita 

standards. Thus, persons per housing unit (PPHU) or persons per household (PPH) can be used to derive 

proportionate share fee amounts. When PPH is used, the methodology assumes a higher percentage of 

housing units will be occupied, requiring seasonal or peak population to be used when deriving 

infrastructure standards. TischlerBise recommends that development impact fees for residential 

development in Florence be derived according to persons per household standards, which considers the 

impact of seasonal population peaks.   

Figure A1 shows the Persons per Housing Unit and Persons per Household estimates for Florence, using 

2016 American Community Survey 5-Year data; the most recent data available that provides counts of 

housing units and households by type. These estimates are calculated by housing unit type; single-family 

and multifamily. Single-family units include detached and attached (townhouse) single units and mobile 

homes. The multifamily category includes duplexes and structures with two or more units.   

Figure A1: Persons per Household  

 

 

Single-family units average 2.42 persons per household and multifamily units average 1.80 persons per 

household. Florence’s persons per household factor for 2016 is 2.33.  

Recent Residential Construction 

Current levels of service for residential development are determined by using estimates of population and 

housing units. To determine the base year estimate of housing units, TischlerBise adds the number of 

Single-Family Units1 11,192      4,618               2.42 6,683       1.67 87% 30.9%

Multifamily 1,538        854                  1.80 956          1.61 13% 10.7%

Subtotal 12,730      5,472               2.33 7,639       1.67 100% 28.4%

Group Quarters 13,491

Total 26,221      

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2016 American Community Survey, 5-year estimates Tables B25033, B25032, B25024, B26001 

1. Includes detached and attached units (i.e. townhouses) and mobile homes

Units in Structure Persons Households
Persons per 

Household

Housing 

Units

Persons per 

Housing Unit

Housing 

Mix

Vacancy 

Rate



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

67 
 

 

units from the 2010 Census (April 1, 2010), the most recent Decennial Census, to residential building 

permits provided by Town staff. Figure A2 shows annual residential building permits by type of unit. 1,199 

housing units were permitted between 2011 and 2017 (this does not include the 109 units constructed 

from April 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010). Approximately 96% of new permitted units were Single-Family, 

with the remaining units falling in the Mobile or Manufactured Home category. The average annual 

number of residential permits issued was 171 units.  

Figure A2: Residential Permits   

 

TischlerBise combines the building permit data in Figure A2 with the U.S. Census Bureau’s 2010 estimate 

of housing units to derive the current estimate of housing units. Figure A3 shows that housing units in at 

the end of calendar year 2017 (or as of January 1, 2018) are estimated at 6,532 units, which represents 

an average annual growth of almost 3%.  

Figure A3: Housing Unit Estimates on January 1, 2018 

 

Housing Unit Projections 

Housing unit projections are based on the January 1, 2018 housing unit estimate of 6,532, building permit 

data, and discussions with Town staff. The average annual number of units permitted between 2011 and 

2017 was 171. Based on this value, discussions with Town staff, and upcoming development projects, it is 

reasonable to assume an increase of 200 housing units per year for the next ten years. While no multi-

family units were permitted between 2010 and the end of 2017, the anticipated Innovation Pavilion 

development is expected to bring “millennial style” housing. Thus, the housing unit projections include 

new multi-family units, in addition to single-family and manufactured homes. New housing units are 

allocated by using the housing mix derived in Figure A1.  

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Units 

Added

Avg 

Annual

% of 

Permits

Single-Family 112 138 182 144 176 183 215 1,150 164 96%

Multi-Family 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0%

Mobile Homes 12 6 6 6 8 5 6 49 7 4%

Totals 124 144 188 150 184 188 221 1,199 171 100%

Source: Town of Florence.

Housing Units 5,333 5,457 5,601 5,789 5,939 6,123 6,311 6,532

% Change 2.33% 2.64% 3.36% 2.59% 3.10% 3.07% 3.50%

Units Added 124 144 188 150 184 188 221

TischlerBise calculation using 2010 Census and Town of Florence building permit data.

2.94%

171

1,199

Avg. Annual 

Growth 
2015 2016 20172010 2011 2012 2013 2014



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

68 
 

 

Figure A4: Housing Unit Projections – 2018-2028 

 

Population Estimates  

An estimate of current population is used in development fee studies to determine levels of service and 

proportionate-share fee amounts. TischlerBise calculates both year-round and peak population and 

households for the Town of Florence due to the large percentage of seasonal housing units in some 

developments. TischlerBise derives year-round population in households by applying the persons per 

housing unit factor (without group quarters) derived in Figure A1 to the base year estimate of housing 

units derived in Figure A3. This results in a year-round household population of 10,897 persons. Adding 

the 2017 group quarters estimate (16,400) from the Town of Florence to the year-round household 

population results in a total year-round population of 27,297 persons. To determine year-round 

households for the base year, the 2016 ACS year-round occupancy rate of 71.6% (100% - 28.4% vacancy) 

is applied to the estimate of December 31, 2017 housing units. This yields a base year estimate of 4,677 

year-round households (6,532 x 71.6%), as shown in Figure A5.  The year-round population and household 

estimates shown in Figure A5 are used to determine peak population and households, which takes into 

account the large percentage of seasonal or recreational housing units. 

Figure A5: 2018 Year-Round Population and Households 

 

 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2028

Base Year 1 2 3 4 5 10

Housing Units 6,532        6,732        6,932        7,132        7,332        7,532        8,532        2,000        

Single-Family 5,879        6,054        6,229        6,404        6,579        6,754        7,629        1,750        

All Other Housing Types 653           678           703           728           753           778           903           250           

Average number of units added annually between 2010 and 2017 is 165 based on permit data provided by Town staff. 

Projections assume that 200 units will be added annually.

Housing units are allocated by type according to the housing mix published by the 2016 ACS

Units 

Added

2010* 2017 Difference

Housing Units 5,224 6,532 1,308

Occupied Units 3,330 4,677 1,347

Vacant Units# 1,894 1,855 -39

Seasonal 1,238 1,538 300

Household Population## 7,836 10,897 3,061

Prison** 16,400

27,297

*2010 US Census

**Provided by Town of Florence

#2017 vacant units estimate is based on 2016 ACS  rate of 28.4%

##2010 household population is from the US Census. 2017 

estimate is based on 2.33 pph factor from 2016 ACS data



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

69 
 

 

To calculate peak population, the year-round household estimate of 4,677 is used as the base. Seasonal 

households (defined by the U.S. Census Bureau as housing units for seasonal, occasional, or recreational 

use) are added to year-round households to determine peak households. Seasonal housing units were 

estimated by adding the Town’s estimate of seasonal units to the 2010 US Census estimate of seasonal 

units. Seasonal units are estimated at 1,538. Combining the estimates of year-round and seasonal 

households, results in a peak household estimate of 6,215 units (4,677 + 1,538 = 6,215) for the Town of 

Florence. To estimate peak population, the peak household estimate of 6,215 is multiplied by the overall 

persons per household ratio of 2.33, resulting in 14,480 persons. Adding this value to the group quarters 

population results in a 2018 peak population of 30,880 persons, as shown in Figure A6.  

Figure A6: 2018 Peak Population and Households 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Year-Round Households 4,677

Housing Units for seasonal, recreational, or occasional use2 1,538

Peak Households 6,215

Persons per Household2 2.33

Peak Population in Households 14,480

Group Quarters Population 16,400

Peak Population2 30,880

2. TischlerBise calculation based on seasonal units from 2010 plus the Town's 

estimate of seasonal units added since 2010.



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

70 
 

 

Townwide Population Projections 

Based on the 2018 housing unit estimate, and year-round and peak populations derived in Figures A5 and A6, TischlerBise developed peak 

population and household projections for the ten-year period from 2018-2028. These projections result in a ten-year increase of 4,433 persons 

(3,331 year-round residents and 1,101 seasonal residents) as shown in Figure A7.  

Figure A7: Townwide Housing Unit and Population Projections  

 

TischlerBise compared population projections derived based on the PPH factors in Figure 1 to Maricopa Association of Governments (MAG) 

projections. MAG projects a ten-year increase of 6,800 persons, while TischlerBise projections based on the previously discussed development 

indicators suggest an increase of 5,439 persons. MAG projections do not take seasonal or transient population into consideration, therefore 

while TischlerBise projects a smaller increase in population over the ten-year period, the estimate of total population in 2028, 35,313, is only 

slightly higher than that of MAG’s projection of 34,600, due to a higher base-year estimate of total peak population.  

  

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Base Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Population

Year-Round in HH 10,897        11,230      11,563     11,897      12,230      12,563      12,896      13,229      13,562      13,895      14,229      3,331       

Seasonal 3,583          3,696         3,806       3,916        4,025        4,135        4,245        4,355        4,465        4,574        4,684        1,101       

Peak in HH 14,480       14,926      15,369    15,812     16,255     16,698     17,141     17,584     18,027     18,470     18,913     

Total Peak 30,880        31,326      31,769     32,212      32,655      33,098      33,541      33,984      34,427      34,870      35,313      4,433       

Housing Units 6,532          6,732         6,932       7,132        7,332        7,532        7,732        7,932        8,132        8,332        8,532        2,000       

Single-Family 5,715          5,890         6,064       6,239        6,414        6,589        6,764        6,939        7,114        7,289        7,464        1,750       
Multifamily 817             842            868          893           918           943           968           993           1,018        1,043        1,068        250          

Peak Households 6,215          6,409         6,599       6,790        6,980        7,170        7,361        7,551        7,742        7,932        8,122        1,908       

Single-Family 5,437          5,607         5,773       5,940        6,107        6,273        6,440        6,606        6,773        6,939        7,106        1,669       

Multifamily 778             802            826          850           874           897           921           945           969           993           1,017        239          

10-Year 

Increase



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

71 
 

 

Population Projections for Town of Florence Utility Service Area 

The Town of Florence has several water and sewer providers, necessitating the need for TischlerBise to project the amount of residential 

development within the Town of Florence utility service area. To determine the amount of development that is likely to occur in the Town utility 

service area, TischlerBise evaluated building permit data over the last five years, which indicates that approximately 99 percent of the single 

family units will be constructed outside of the Town of Florence utility service area. Figure A8 shows projected development inside and outside 

the Town of Florence utility service areas.  

Figure A8: Housing Unit and Population Projections for Utility Service Areas 

 

 

 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Base Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Population

Year-Round in HH 10,897       11,230    11,563    11,897    12,230    12,563    12,896    13,229    13,562    13,895    14,229    3,331      

Seasonal 3,583         3,696      3,806      3,916      4,025      4,135      4,245      4,355      4,465      4,574      4,684      1,101      

Peak in HH 14,480       14,926    15,369    15,812    16,255    16,698    17,141    17,584    18,027    18,470    18,913    4,433      

Total Peak 30,880       31,326    31,769    32,212    32,655    33,098    33,541    33,984    34,427    34,870    35,313    4,433      

Housing Units 6,532         6,732      6,932      7,132      7,332      7,532      7,732      7,932      8,132      8,332      8,532      2,000      

Single-Family 5,715         5,890      6,064      6,239      6,414      6,589      6,764      6,939      7,114      7,289      7,464      1,750      

Non-Florence Utility Area Share 5,651         5,824      5,997      6,170      6,343      6,516      6,689      6,862      7,035      7,208      7,381      1,730      

All Other Areas 64              66           68           70           72           73           75           77           79           81           83           20           

Multi-Family 817            842         868         893         918         943         968         993         1,018      1,043      1,068      250         

Peak Households 6,215         6,409      6,599      6,790      6,980      7,170      7,361      7,551      7,742      7,932      8,122      1,908      

Single-Family 5,437         5,607      5,773      5,940      6,107      6,273      6,440      6,606      6,773      6,939      7,106      1,669      

Multi-Family 778            802         826         850         874         897         921         945         969         993         1,017      239         

Popualtion in Group Quarters 16,400 16,400 16,400 16,400 16,400 16,400 16,400 16,400 16,400 16,400 16,400    

Population-Other Utility Service Areas 10,567       10,891    11,214    11,538    11,861    12,185    12,508    12,832    13,155    13,479    13,802    3,235      

Population-Florence Utility Areas 3,913         4,036      4,155      4,275      4,394      4,513      4,633      4,752      4,872      4,991      5,110      1,197      

30,880       31,326    31,769    32,212    32,655    33,098    33,541    33,984    34,427    34,870    35,313    

10-Year 

Increase



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

72 
 

 

NONRESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

In addition to data on the residential market, calculating development fees requires data on the 

nonresidential market, including number of jobs and nonresidential square footage in the Town of 

Florence. TischlerBise uses the term “jobs” to refer to employment by place of work. Current estimates 

and future projections of nonresidential development are detailed in this section.  

Job estimates can be used to estimate nonresidential square footage based on data published by The 

Institute of Transportation Engineers, which provides measures of average square feet per employee. The 

land uses highlighted in Figure A9 are the prototypes used to estimate nonresidential square footage in 

the Town of Florence. Light Industrial (ITE110) is a good approximation for Industrial/Flex square footage. 

General Office (ITE710) is used for Office/Institutional square footage, and Shopping Center (ITE820) is 

used for Commercial/Retail square footage.  

Figure A9: Nonresidential Service Units per Development Unit 

 

 
 
  

Demand Wkdy Trip Ends Wkdy Trip Ends Emp Per Sq Ft

Unit Per Dmd Unit* Per Employee* Dmd Unit Per Emp

110 1,000 Sq Ft 4.96 3.05 1.63 615

130 1,000 Sq Ft 3.37 2.91 1.16 864

140 1,000 Sq Ft 3.93 2.47 1.59 628

150 1,000 Sq Ft 1.74 5.05 0.34 2,902

254 bed 2.60 4.24 0.61 na

310 bed 8.36 14.34 0.58 na

320 room 3.35 25.17 0.13 na

520 1,000 Sq Ft 19.52 21.00 0.93 1,076

530 1,000 Sq Ft 14.07 22.25 0.63 1,581

540 student 1.15 14.61 0.08 na

550 student 1.56 8.89 0.18 na

565 student 4.09 21.38 0.19 na

610 1,000 Sq Ft 10.72 3.79 2.83 354

620 1,000 Sq Ft 6.64 2.91 2.28 438

710 1,000 Sq Ft 9.74 3.28 2.97 337

760 1,000 Sq Ft 11.26 3.29 3.42 292

770 1,000 Sq Ft 12.44 4.04 3.08 325

820 1,000 Sq Ft 37.75 16.11 2.34 427

*  Trip Generation , Institute of Transportation Engineers, 10th Edition (2017).

Business Park

Shopping Center (avg size)

University/College

Day Care

Hospital

Nursing Home

General Office (avg size)

Research & Dev Center

Community College

ITE Code Land Use

Light Industrial

Industrial Park

Manufacturing

Warehousing

Assisted Living

Hotel

Motel

Elementary School

High School



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

73 
 

 

Current Estimate of Employment and Nonresidential Square Footage 

To derive current nonresidential floor area, TischlerBise uses ESRI employment estimates, available by 

industry sector. Jobs are organized by three industry types: Commercial/Retail, Office/Institutional, and 

Industrial/Flex. These estimates state that there are 7,626 total jobs in Florence in 2017. Each sector’s 

jobs total is multiplied by the ITE average square footage per employee factors shown in Figure A8. This 

results in a base year estimate of approximately 0.270 million square feet of Commercial/Retail 

development (634 jobs x 427 square feet per job), 2.305 million square feet of Office/Institutional 

development (6,840 jobs x 337 square feet per job), and approximately 93,000 square feet of 

Industrial/Flex development (152 jobs x 615 square feet per job). Estimated floor area totals 2.669 million 

square feet.   

Figure A10: Estimated Employment and Distribution by Industry Type  

 

 
 
 
  

634 8.3% 427 2.34          

6,840 89.7% 337 2.97          

152 2.0% 615 1.63          

TOTAL 7,626 100.0%

1. Florence Business Summary 2017, Esri Total Residential Forecasts.

2. Trip Generation , Institute of Transportation Engineers, 2017.

3. Major sector is Eating & Drinking Places.

4. Major sector is Government.

5. Major sector is Construction. 

Industrial/Flex5 93,480                           

2,669,278                     

2016 Estimated 

Floor Area

Jobs per 

1000 SF

Commercial/Retail3 270,718                         

Office/Institutional4 2,305,080                     

Type
2017 

Jobs 1

Share of 

Total Jobs

SF per 

Employee 2



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

74 
 

 

Employment and Nonresidential Floor Area Projections 

The employment and nonresidential square footage estimates detailed above in Figure A10 represent the 

base year estimates used to derive projections for future employment and nonresidential floor area. Past 

trends in employment and the nonresidential market are also taken into consideration.  

AZMAG publishes employment projections for Maricopa Area jurisdictions by Residential Analysis Zones 

(RAZ). The growth rates from these projections are applied to the 2018 base year employment data to 

project employment, and nonresidential development, over the next ten years. The AZMAG average 

annual employment growth rate between 2015 and 2020 is 3.62%. The average annual employment 

growth rate between 2020 and 2030 is 4.3%. The projected increase in employment can then be used to 

project growth in nonresidential square footage using the square feet per employee factors shown in 

Figures A8 and A9. These estimates are shown in Figure A11 below. Over the next ten years, Florence 

expects to add approximately 3,719 jobs. Therefore, approximately 1.3 million square feet of 

nonresidential development should be added during the same time period. These estimates represent an 

average increase of approximately 130,000 square feet per year.  

Figure A11: Employment and Nonresidential Floor Area Projections 

 

AVERAGE DAILY VEHICLE TRIPS 

Average daily vehicle Trips are used as a measure of demand by land use. Vehicle trips are estimated using 

average weekday vehicle trip ends from the reference book, Trip Generation, 10th Edition, published by 

the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) in 2017. A vehicle trip end represents a vehicle either 

entering or exiting a development (as if a traffic counter were placed across a driveway). Adjustment 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2028

Base Yr 1 2 3 4 5 10

634 657           681           705           731           763           943             309           

6,840 7,087        7,344        7,609        7,885        8,227        10,176        3,336        

152 157           163           169           175           183           226             74             

7,626 7,902        8,188        8,484        8,791        9,172        11,345        3,719        

NONRES. FLOOR AREA (X 1,000 SF)

271           281           291           301           312           326           403             132           

2,305        2,388        2,475        2,564        2,657        2,773        3,429          1,124        

93             97             100           104           108           112           139             46             

Total Nonres. Floor Area 2,669        2,766        2,866        2,970        3,077        3,211        3,971          1,302        

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2027-28 10-Year

1 2 3 4 5 10 Average

276 286 296 307 382 472 372

10             10             11             11             14             17             13               

83             86             90             93             115           143           112             

3               4               4               4               5               6               5                 

97             100           104           107           134           165           130             

10-Year 

Increase

ANNUAL INCREASE

EMPLOYMENT BY TYPE

Commercial/Retail

Office/Institutional

Industrial/Flex

Total Employment

Employment

Commercial/Retail KSF

Office/Institutional KSF

Industrial/Flex KSF

Commercial/Retail

Office/Institutional

Industrial/Flex

Total Nonres. Floor Area KSF



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

75 
 

 

factors must be used when calculating vehicle trips in order to avoid double counting each trip, both at 

the origin and the destination.  

Residential Vehicle Trips 

As an alternative to using the national average trip generation rate for residential development, the 

Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) publishes regression curve formulas that may be used to derive 

custom trip generation rates using local demographic data. Key independent variables needed for the 

analysis (i.e. vehicles available, housing units, households, and persons) are available from American 

Community Survey data. Shown below in Figure A12, custom trip generation rates for Florence differ 

significantly from the national averages. Single-family residential development is estimated to generate 

6.20 average weekday vehicle trip ends per dwelling unit; 34% fewer than the national average of 9.44 

(ITE 210). The multifamily housing category is estimated to generate 4.30 average weekday vehicle trip 

ends per dwelling; 21% fewer trips than the national average of 5.44 (ITE 221).  

Figure A12: Average Weekday Vehicle Trip Ends by Housing Type  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Owner-occupied 6,123 3,762 224 3,986 1.54

Renter-occupied 1,915 844 642 1,486 1.29

TOTAL 8,038 4,606 866 5,472 1.47

Housing Units (6) => 6,671 968 7,639

Persons per Housing Unit => 1.68 1.60 1.67

Vehicles 

Available

Households by Structure Type 2 Vehicles per 

Household by 

Tenure
Total HHs

Single-Family 

Units*

All Other 

Housing Types

Florence ITE

11,180 37,401 6,867 45,264 41,332 6.20 9.44

1,550 3,468 1,171 4,909 4,189 4.30 5.44

TOTAL 12,730 40,869 8,038 50,173 45,521 6.00

Single-Family Units

Multifamily

Persons in 

Household 3

Vehicles by Type of 

Housing
Trip Ends 5Trip Ends 4 Average 

Trip Ends
Trip Ends per Housing Unit

* Includes Single Family Detached, Attached, and Manufactured Homes
(1)  Vehicles available by tenure from Table B25046, 2012-2016 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates.
(2)  Households by tenure and units in structure from Table B25032, American Community Survey, 2012-2016.
(3)  Persons by units in structure from Table B25033, American Community Survey, 2011-2015.
(4)  Vehicle trips ends based on persons using formulas from Trip Generation (ITE 2017).  For single family housing (ITE 210), 
the fitted curve equation is EXP(0.89*LN(persons)+1.72).  To approximate the average population of the ITE studies, persons 
were divided by 28 and the equation result multiplied by 28. For multifamily housing (ITE 221), the fitted curve equation is 
(2.29*persons)-81.02.
(5) Vehicle trip ends based on vehicles available using formulas from Trip Generation (ITE 2017).  For single family housing (ITE 
210), the fitted curve equation is EXP(0.99*LN(vehicles)+1.93).  To approximate the average number of vehicles in the ITE 
studies, vehicles available were divided by 35.7 and the equation result multiplied by 35.7.  For multifamily housing (ITE 220), 
the fitted curve equation is (3.94*vehicles)+293.58 (ITE 2012).
(6)  Housing units from Table B25024, American Community Survey, 2011-2015.



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

76 
 

 

DETAILED DEVELOPMENT PROJECTIONS 

Figure A13 below provides a summary of demographic and development projections discussed in this 

memorandum. These projections will be used for the development impact fee study. The development 

fee calculations use a base year of 2018, and the projections thereafter are used to estimate projected 

future demand for service and infrastructure, along with the revenues and expenditures associated with 

this demand.  

Figure A13: Townwide Development Projections Summary  

 
 
 
Over the next ten years, land use assumptions indicate that housing units will increase by an average of 

200 units per year, and nonresidential square footage will increase by an average of approximately 

130,000 square feet per year. The increase in residential development will primarily be single family 

housing units.  

 
  

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2028 10-Year

Base Yr 1 2 3 4 5 10 Increase

POPULATION

Year-Round in HH 10,897        11,230      11,563      11,897      12,230      12,563      14,229      3,331          

Total Year-Round 27,297        27,630      27,963      28,297      28,630      28,963      30,629      3,331          

Seasonal 3,583          3,696        3,806        3,916        4,025        4,135        4,684        1,101          

Total Peak 30,880        31,326      31,769      32,212      32,655      33,098      35,313      4,433          

HOUSING UNITS

Single-Family 5,715          5,890        6,064        6,239        6,414        6,589        7,464        1,750          

Multi-Family 817             842           868           893           918           943           1,068        250             

Total Housing Units 6,532          6,732        6,932        7,132        7,332        7,532        8,532        2,000          

EMPLOYMENT BY TYPE

Commercial/Retail 634             657           681           705           731           763           943           309             

Office/Institutional 6,840          7,087        7,344        7,609        7,885        8,227        10,176      3,336          

Industrial/Flex 152             157           163           169           175           183           226           74               

Total Employment 7,626          7,902        8,188        8,484        8,791        9,172        11,345      3,719          

NONRES. FLOOR AREA (X 1,000 SF)

Commercial/Retail 271             281           291           301           312           326           403           132             

Office/Institutional 2,305          2,388        2,475        2,564        2,657        2,773        3,429        1,124          

Industrial/Flex 93               97             100           104           108           112           139           46               

Total Nonres. Floor Area 2,669          2,766        2,866        2,970        3,077        3,211        3,971        1,302          

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2027-28 10-Year

ANNUAL INCREASE 1 2 3 4 5 10 Average

Year-Round Population 333           333           333           333           333           333           333             

Peak Population 446           443           443           443           443           443           443             

Total Housing Units 200           200           200           200           200           200           200             

Total Employment 276           286           296           307           382           472           372             

Total Nonres. Floor Area 97             100           104           107           134           165           130             



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

77 
 

 

APPENDIX B:  ARIZONA REVISED STATUTES  

Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS) 9-463.05. Development fees; imposition by cities and towns; infrastructure 

improvements plan; annual report; advisory committee; limitation on actions; definitions 

(Effective January 1, 2012) 

A. A municipality may assess development fees to offset costs to the municipality associated with 

providing necessary public services to a development, including the costs of infrastructure, 

improvements, real property, engineering and architectural services, financing and professional services 

required for the preparation or revision of a development fee pursuant to this section, including the 

relevant portion of the infrastructure improvements plan.  

B. Development fees assessed by a municipality under this section are subject to the following 

requirements: 

1. Development fees shall result in a beneficial use to the development. 

2. The municipality shall calculate the development fee based on the infrastructure improvements 

plan adopted pursuant to this section. 

3. The development fee shall not exceed a proportionate share of the cost of necessary public 

services, based on service units, needed to provide necessary public services to the development. 

4. Costs for necessary public services made necessary by new development shall be based on the 

same level of service provided to existing development in the service area. 

5. Development fees may not be used for any of the following: 

(a) Construction, acquisition or expansion of public facilities or assets other than 

necessary public services or facility expansions identified in the infrastructure 

improvements plan. 

(b) Repair, operation or maintenance of existing or new necessary public services or 

facility expansions. 

(c) Upgrading, updating, expanding, correcting or replacing existing necessary public 

services to serve existing development in order to meet stricter safety, efficiency, 

environmental or regulatory standards. 

(d) Upgrading, updating, expanding, correcting or replacing existing necessary public 

services to provide a higher level of service to existing development. 

(e) Administrative, maintenance or operating costs of the municipality. 

6. Any development for which a development fee has been paid is entitled to the use and benefit 

of the services for which the fee was imposed and is entitled to receive immediate service from 

any existing facility with available capacity to serve the new service units if the available capacity 

has not been reserved or pledged in connection with the construction or financing of the facility. 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

78 
 

 

7. Development fees may be collected if any of the following occurs: 

(a) The collection is made to pay for a necessary public service or facility expansion that 

is identified in the infrastructure improvements plan and the municipality plans to 

complete construction and to have the service available within the time period 

established in the infrastructure improvement plan, but in no event longer than the time 

period provided in subsection H, paragraph 3 of this section. 

(b) The municipality reserves in the infrastructure improvements plan adopted pursuant 

to this section or otherwise agrees to reserve capacity to serve future development. 

(c) The municipality requires or agrees to allow the owner of a development to construct 

or finance the necessary public service or facility expansion and any of the following 

apply: 

(i) The costs incurred or money advanced are credited against or reimbursed from 

the development fees otherwise due from a development. 

(ii) The municipality reimburses the owner for those costs from the development 

fees paid from all developments that will use those necessary public services or 

facility expansions. 

(iii) For those costs incurred the municipality allows the owner to assign the 

credits or reimbursement rights from the development fees otherwise due from 

a development to other developments for the same category of necessary public 

services in the same service area.  

8. Projected interest charges and other finance costs may be included in determining the amount 

of development fees only if the monies are used for the payment of principal and interest on the 

portion of the bonds, notes or other obligations issued to finance construction of necessary public 

services or facility expansions identified in the infrastructure improvements plan. 

9. Monies received from development fees assessed pursuant to this section shall be placed in a 

separate fund and accounted for separately and may only be used for the purposes authorized by 

this section. Monies received from a development fee identified in an infrastructure 

improvements plan adopted or updated pursuant to subsection D of this section shall be used to 

provide the same category of necessary public services or facility expansions for which the 

development fee was assessed and for the benefit of the same service area, as defined in the 

infrastructure improvements plan, in which the development fee was assessed. Interest earned 

on monies in the separate fund shall be credited to the fund. 

10. The schedule for payment of fees shall be provided by the municipality. Based on the cost 

identified in the infrastructure improvements plan, the municipality shall provide an offset toward 

the payment of a development fee for the required or agreed to dedication of public sites, 

improvements and other necessary public services or facility expansions included in the 

infrastructure improvements plan and for which a development fee is assessed, to the extent the 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

79 
 

 

public sites, improvements and necessary public services or facility expansions are provided by 

the developer. The developer of residential dwelling units shall be required to pay development 

fees when construction permits for the dwelling units are issued, or at a later time if specified in 

a development agreement pursuant to section 9-500.05. If a development agreement provides 

for fees to be paid at a time later than the issuance of construction permits, the deferred fees 

shall be paid no later than fifteen days after the issuance of a certificate of occupancy. The 

development agreement shall provide for the value of any deferred fees to be supported by 

appropriate security, including a surety bond, letter of credit or cash bond. 

11. If a municipality requires as a condition of development approval the construction or 

improvement of, contributions to or dedication of any facilities that were not included in a 

previously adopted infrastructure improvements plan, the municipality shall cause the 

infrastructure improvements plan to be amended to include the facilities and shall provide a credit 

toward the payment of a development fee for the construction, improvement, contribution or 

dedication of the facilities to the extent that the facilities will substitute for or otherwise reduce 

the need for other similar facilities in the infrastructure improvements plan for which 

development fees were assessed. 

12. The municipality shall forecast the contribution to be made in the future in cash or by taxes, 

fees, assessments or other sources of revenue derived from the property owner towards the 

capital costs of the necessary public service covered by the development fee and shall include 

these contributions in determining the extent of the burden imposed by the development. 

Beginning August 1, 2014, for purposes of calculating the required offset to development fees 

pursuant to this subsection, if a municipality imposes a construction contracting or similar excise 

tax rate in excess of the percentage amount of the transaction privilege tax rate imposed on the 

majority of other transaction privilege tax classifications, the entire excess portion of the 

construction contracting or similar excise tax shall be treated as a contribution to the capital costs 

of necessary public services provided to development for which development fees are assessed, 

unless the excess portion was already taken into account for such purpose pursuant to this 

subsection. 

13. If development fees are assessed by a municipality, the fees shall be assessed against 

commercial, residential and industrial development, except that the municipality may distinguish 

between different categories of residential, commercial and industrial development in assessing 

the costs to the municipality of providing necessary public services to new development and in 

determining the amount of the development fee applicable to the category of development. If a 

municipality agrees to waive any of the development fees assessed on a development, the 

municipality shall reimburse the appropriate development fee accounts for the amount that was 

waived. The municipality shall provide notice of any such waiver to the advisory committee 

established pursuant to subsection G of this section within thirty days. 

14. In determining and assessing a development fee applying to land in a community facilities 

district established under title 48, chapter 4, article 6, the municipality shall consider all public 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

80 
 

 

infrastructure provided by the district and capital costs paid by the district for necessary public 

services and shall not assess a portion of the development fee based on the infrastructure or 

costs. 

C. A municipality shall give at least thirty days' advance notice of intention to assess a development fee 

and shall release to the public and post on its website or the website of an association of cities and towns 

if a municipality does not have a website a written report of the land use assumptions and infrastructure 

improvements plan adopted pursuant to subsection D of this section. The municipality shall conduct a 

public hearing on the proposed development fee at any time after the expiration of the thirty day notice 

of intention to assess a development fee and at least thirty days before the scheduled date of adoption 

of the fee by the governing body. Within sixty days after the date of the public hearing on the proposed 

development fee, a municipality shall approve or disapprove the imposition of the development fee. A 

municipality shall not adopt an ordinance, order or resolution approving a development fee as an 

emergency measure. A development fee assessed pursuant to this section shall not be effective until 

seventy-five days after its formal adoption by the governing body of the municipality. Nothing in this 

subsection shall affect any development fee adopted before July 24, 1982. 

D. Before the adoption or amendment of a development fee, the governing body of the municipality shall 

adopt or update the land use assumptions and infrastructure improvements plan for the designated 

service area. The municipality shall conduct a public hearing on the land use assumptions and 

infrastructure improvements plan at least thirty days before the adoption or update of the plan. The 

municipality shall release the plan to the public, post the plan on its website or the website of an 

association of cities and towns if the municipality does not have a website, including in the posting its land 

use assumptions, the time period of the projections, a description of the necessary public services 

included in the infrastructure improvements plan and a map of the service area to which the land use 

assumptions apply, make available to the public the documents used to prepare the assumptions and plan 

and provide public notice at least sixty days before the public hearing, subject to the following:  

1. The land use assumptions and infrastructure improvements plan shall be approved or 

disapproved within sixty days after the public hearing on the land use assumptions and 

infrastructure improvements plan and at least thirty days before the public hearing on the report 

required by subsection C of this section. A municipality shall not adopt an ordinance, order or 

resolution approving the land use assumptions or infrastructure improvements plan as an 

emergency measure. 

2. An infrastructure improvements plan shall be developed by qualified professionals using 

generally accepted engineering and planning practices pursuant to subsection E of this section. 

3. A municipality shall update the land use assumptions and infrastructure improvements plan at 

least every five years. The initial five year period begins on the day the infrastructure 

improvements plan is adopted. The municipality shall review and evaluate its current land use 

assumptions and shall cause an update of the infrastructure improvements plan to be prepared 

pursuant to this section. 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

81 
 

 

4. Within sixty days after completion of the updated land use assumptions and infrastructure 

improvements plan, the municipality shall schedule and provide notice of a public hearing to 

discuss and review the update and shall determine whether to amend the assumptions and plan. 

5. A municipality shall hold a public hearing to discuss the proposed amendments to the land use 

assumptions, the infrastructure improvements plan or the development fee. The land use 

assumptions and the infrastructure improvements plan, including the amount of any proposed 

changes to the development fee per service unit, shall be made available to the public on or 

before the date of the first publication of the notice of the hearing on the amendments. 

6. The notice and hearing procedures prescribed in paragraph 1 of this subsection apply to a 

hearing on the amendment of land use assumptions, an infrastructure improvement plan or a 

development fee. Within sixty days after the date of the public hearing on the amendments, a 

municipality shall approve or disapprove the amendments to the land use assumptions, 

infrastructure improvements plan or development fee. A municipality shall not adopt an 

ordinance, order or resolution approving the amended land use assumptions, infrastructure 

improvements plan or development fee as an emergency measure. 

7. The advisory committee established under subsection G of this section shall file its written 

comments on any proposed or updated land use assumptions, infrastructure improvements plan 

and development fees before the fifth business day before the date of the public hearing on the 

proposed or updated assumptions, plan and fees. 

8. If, at the time an update as prescribed in paragraph 3 of this subsection is required, the 

municipality determines that no changes to the land use assumptions, infrastructure 

improvements plan or development fees are needed, the municipality may as an alternative to 

the updating requirements of this subsection publish notice of its determination on its website 

and include the following: 

(a) A statement that the municipality has determined that no change to the land use 

assumptions, infrastructure improvements plan or development fee is necessary. 

(b) A description and map of the service area in which an update has been determined to 

be unnecessary. 

(c) A statement that by a specified date, which shall be at least sixty days after the date 

of publication of the first notice, a person may make a written request to the municipality 

requesting that the land use assumptions, infrastructure improvements plan or 

development fee be updated. 

(d) A statement identifying the person or entity to whom the written request for an 

update should be sent. 

9. If, by the date specified pursuant to paragraph 8 of this subsection, a person requests in writing 

that the land use assumptions, infrastructure improvements plan or development fee be updated, 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

82 
 

 

the municipality shall cause, accept or reject an update of the assumptions and plan to be 

prepared pursuant to this subsection. 

10. Notwithstanding the notice and hearing requirements for adoption of an infrastructure 

improvements plan, a municipality may amend an infrastructure improvements plan adopted 

pursuant to this section without a public hearing if the amendment addresses only elements of 

necessary public services in the existing infrastructure improvements plan and the changes to the 

plan will not, individually or cumulatively with other amendments adopted pursuant to this 

subsection, increase the level of service in the service area or cause a development fee increase 

of greater than five per cent when a new or modified development fee is assessed pursuant to 

this section. The municipality shall provide notice of any such amendment at least thirty days 

before adoption, shall post the amendment on its website or on the website of an association of 

cities and towns if the municipality does not have a website and shall provide notice to the 

advisory committee established pursuant to subsection G of this section that the amendment 

complies with this subsection. 

E. For each necessary public service that is the subject of a development fee, the infrastructure 

improvements plan shall include:  

1. A description of the existing necessary public services in the service area and the costs to 

upgrade, update, improve, expand, correct or replace those necessary public services to meet 

existing needs and usage and stricter safety, efficiency, environmental or regulatory standards, 

which shall be prepared by qualified professionals licensed in this state, as applicable. 

2. An analysis of the total capacity, the level of current usage and commitments for usage of 

capacity of the existing necessary public services, which shall be prepared by qualified 

professionals licensed in this state, as applicable. 

3. A description of all or the parts of the necessary public services or facility expansions and their 

costs necessitated by and attributable to development in the service area based on the approved 

land use assumptions, including a forecast of the costs of infrastructure, improvements, real 

property, financing, engineering and architectural services, which shall be prepared by qualified 

professionals licensed in this state, as applicable. 

4. A table establishing the specific level or quantity of use, consumption, generation or discharge 

of a service unit for each category of necessary public services or facility expansions and an 

equivalency or conversion table establishing the ratio of a service unit to various types of land 

uses, including residential, commercial and industrial. 

5. The total number of projected service units necessitated by and attributable to new 

development in the service area based on the approved land use assumptions and calculated 

pursuant to generally accepted engineering and planning criteria. 

6. The projected demand for necessary public services or facility expansions required by new 

service units for a period not to exceed ten years. 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

83 
 

 

7. A forecast of revenues generated by new service units other than development fees, which 

shall include estimated state-shared revenue, highway users revenue, federal revenue, ad 

valorem property taxes, construction contracting or similar excise taxes and the capital recovery 

portion of utility fees attributable to development based on the approved land use assumptions, 

and a plan to include these contributions in determining the extent of the burden imposed by the 

development as required in subsection B, paragraph 12 of this section. 

F. A municipality's development fee ordinance shall provide that a new development fee or an increased 

portion of a modified development fee shall not be assessed against a development for twenty-four 

months after the date that the municipality issues the final approval for a commercial, industrial or 

multifamily development or the date that the first building permit is issued for a residential development 

pursuant to an approved site plan or subdivision plat, provided that no subsequent changes are made to 

the approved site plan or subdivision plat that would increase the number of service units. If the number 

of service units increases, the new or increased portion of a modified development fee shall be limited to 

the amount attributable to the additional service units. The twenty-four month period shall not be 

extended by a renewal or amendment of the site plan or the final subdivision plat that was the subject of 

the final approval. The municipality shall issue, on request, a written statement of the development fee 

schedule applicable to the development. If, after the date of the municipality's final approval of a 

development, the municipality reduces the development fee assessed on development, the reduced fee 

shall apply to the development. 

G. A municipality shall do one of the following: 

1. Before the adoption of proposed or updated land use assumptions, infrastructure 

improvements plan and development fees as prescribed in subsection D of this section, the 

municipality shall appoint an infrastructure improvements advisory committee, subject to the 

following requirements: 

(a) The advisory committee shall be composed of at least five members who are 

appointed by the governing body of the municipality. At least fifty per cent of the 

members of the advisory committee must be representatives of the real estate, 

development or building industries, of which at least one member of the committee must 

be from the home building industry. Members shall not be employees or officials of the 

municipality. 

(b) The advisory committee shall serve in an advisory capacity and shall: 

(i) Advise the municipality in adopting land use assumptions and in determining 

whether the assumptions are in conformance with the general plan of the 

municipality. 

(ii) Review the infrastructure improvements plan and file written comments. 

(iii) Monitor and evaluate implementation of the infrastructure improvements 

plan. 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

84 
 

 

(iv) Every year file reports with respect to the progress of the infrastructure 

improvements plan and the collection and expenditures of development fees and 

report to the municipality any perceived inequities in implementing the plan or 

imposing the development fee. 

(v) Advise the municipality of the need to update or revise the land use 

assumptions, infrastructure improvements plan and development fee. 

(c) The municipality shall make available to the advisory committee any professional 

reports with respect to developing and implementing the infrastructure improvements 

plan. 

(d) The municipality shall adopt procedural rules for the advisory committee to follow in 

carrying out the committee's duties. 

2. In lieu of creating an advisory committee pursuant to paragraph 1 of this subsection, provide 

for a biennial certified audit of the municipality's land use assumptions, infrastructure 

improvements plan and development fees. An audit pursuant to this paragraph shall be 

conducted by one or more qualified professionals who are not employees or officials of the 

municipality and who did not prepare the infrastructure improvements plan. The audit shall 

review the progress of the infrastructure improvements plan, including the collection and 

expenditures of development fees for each project in the plan, and evaluate any inequities in 

implementing the plan or imposing the development fee. The municipality shall post the findings 

of the audit on the municipality's website or the website of an association of cities and towns if 

the municipality does not have a website and shall conduct a public hearing on the audit within 

sixty days of the release of the audit to the public. 

H. On written request, an owner of real property for which a development fee has been paid after July 31, 

2014 is entitled to a refund of a development fee or any part of a development fee if: 

1. Pursuant to subsection B, paragraph 6 of this section, existing facilities are available, and service 

is not provided. 

2. The municipality has, after collecting the fee to construct a facility when service is not available, 

failed to complete construction within the time period identified in the infrastructure 

improvements plan, but in no event later than the time period specified in paragraph 3 of this 

subsection. 

3. For a development fee other than a development fee for water or wastewater facilities, any 

part of the development fee is not spent as authorized by this section within ten years after the 

fee has been paid or, for a development fee for water or wastewater facilities, any part of the 

development fee is not spent as authorized by this section within fifteen years after the fee has 

been paid. 

I. If the development fee was collected for the construction of all or a portion of a specific item of 

infrastructure, and on completion of the infrastructure the municipality determines that the actual cost 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

85 
 

 

of construction was less than the forecasted cost of construction on which the development fee was based 

and the difference between the actual and estimated cost is greater than ten per cent, the current owner 

may receive a refund of the portion of the development fee equal to the difference between the 

development fee paid and the development fee that would have been due if the development fee had 

been calculated at the actual construction cost. 

J. A refund shall include any interest earned by the municipality from the date of collection to the date of 

refund on the amount of the refunded fee. All refunds shall be made to the record owner of the property 

at the time the refund is paid. If the development fee is paid by a governmental entity, the refund shall 

be paid to the governmental entity.  

K. A development fee that was adopted before January 1, 2012 may continue to be assessed only to the 

extent that it will be used to provide a necessary public service for which development fees can be 

assessed pursuant to this section and shall be replaced by a development fee imposed under this section 

on or before August 1, 2014. Any municipality having a development fee that has not been replaced under 

this section on or before August 1, 2014 shall not collect development fees until the development fee has 

been replaced with a fee that complies with this section. Any development fee monies collected before 

January 1, 2012 remaining in a development fee account: 

1. Shall be used towards the same category of necessary public services as authorized by this 

section.  

2. If development fees were collected for a purpose not authorized by this section, shall be used 

for the purpose for which they were collected on or before January 1, 2020, and after which, if 

not spent, shall be distributed equally among the categories of necessary public services 

authorized by this section. 

L. A moratorium shall not be placed on development for the sole purpose of awaiting completion of all or 

any part of the process necessary to develop, adopt or update development fees. 

M. In any judicial action interpreting this section, all powers conferred on municipal governments in this 

section shall be narrowly construed to ensure that development fees are not used to impose on new 

residents a burden all taxpayers of a municipality should bear equally. 

N. Each municipality that assesses development fees shall submit an annual report accounting for the 

collection and use of the fees for each service area. The annual report shall include the following: 

1. The amount assessed by the municipality for each type of development fee. 

2. The balance of each fund maintained for each type of development fee assessed as of the 

beginning and end of the fiscal year. 

3. The amount of interest or other earnings on the monies in each fund as of the end of the fiscal 

year. 

4. The amount of development fee monies used to repay: 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

86 
 

 

(a) Bonds issued by the municipality to pay the cost of a capital improvement project that 

is the subject of a development fee assessment, including the amount needed to repay 

the debt service obligations on each facility for which development fees have been 

identified as the source of funding and the time frames in which the debt service will be 

repaid. 

(b) Monies advanced by the municipality from funds other than the funds established for 

development fees in order to pay the cost of a capital improvement project that is the 

subject of a development fee assessment, the total amount advanced by the municipality 

for each facility, the source of the monies advanced and the terms under which the 

monies will be repaid to the municipality. 

5. The amount of development fee monies spent on each capital improvement project that is the 

subject of a development fee assessment and the physical location of each capital improvement 

project. 

6. The amount of development fee monies spent for each purpose other than a capital 

improvement project that is the subject of a development fee assessment. 

O. Within ninety days following the end of each fiscal year, each municipality shall submit a copy of the 

annual report to the Town clerk and post the report on the municipality's website or the website of an 

association of cities and towns if the municipality does not have a website. Copies shall be made available 

to the public on request. The annual report may contain financial information that has not been audited. 

P. A municipality that fails to file the report and post the report on the municipality's website or the 

website of an association of cities and towns if the municipality does not have a website as required by 

this section shall not collect development fees until the report is filed and posted. 

Q. Any action to collect a development fee shall be commenced within two years after the obligation to 

pay the fee accrues. 

R. A municipality may continue to assess a development fee adopted before January 1, 2012 for any facility 

that was financed before June 1, 2011 if: 

1. Development fees were pledged to repay debt service obligations related to the construction 

of the facility. 

2. After August 1, 2014, any development fees collected under this subsection are used solely for 

the payment of principal and interest on the portion of the bonds, notes or other debt service 

obligations issued before June 1, 2011 to finance construction of the facility. 

S. Through August 1, 2014, a development fee adopted before January 1, 2012 may be used to finance 

construction of a facility and may be pledged to repay debt service obligations if: 

1. The facility that is being financed is a facility that is described under subsection T, paragraph 7, 

subdivisions (a) through (g) of this section. 

2. The facility was included in an infrastructure improvements plan adopted before June 1, 2011.  



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

87 
 

 

3. The development fees are used for the payment of principal and interest on the portion of the 

bonds, notes or other debt service obligations issued to finance construction of the necessary 

public services or facility expansions identified in the infrastructure improvement plan. 

T. For the purposes of this section: 

1. "Dedication" means the actual conveyance date or the date an improvement, facility or real or 

personal property is placed into service, whichever occurs first. 

2. "Development" means: 

(a) The subdivision of land. 

(b) The construction, reconstruction, conversion, structural alteration, relocation or 

enlargement of any structure that adds or increases the number of service units. 

(c) Any use or extension of the use of land that increases the number of service units. 

3. "Facility expansion" means the expansion of the capacity of an existing facility that serves the 

same function as an otherwise new necessary public service in order that the existing facility may 

serve new development. Facility expansion does not include the repair, maintenance, 

modernization or expansion of an existing facility to better serve existing development. 

4. "Final approval" means: 

(a) For a nonresidential or multifamily development, the approval of a site plan or, if no 

site plan is submitted for the development, the approval of a final subdivision plat. 

(b) For a single family residential development, the approval of a final subdivision plat. 

5. "Infrastructure improvements plan" means a written plan that identifies each necessary public 

service or facility expansion that is proposed to be the subject of a development fee and otherwise 

complies with the requirements of this section, and may be the municipality's capital 

improvements plan.  

6. "Land use assumptions" means projections of changes in land uses, densities, intensities and 

population for a specified service area over a period of at least ten years and pursuant to the 

general plan of the municipality. 

7. "Necessary public service" means any of the following facilities that have a life expectancy of 

three or more years and that are owned and operated by or on behalf of the municipality: 

(a) Water facilities, including the supply, transportation, treatment, purification and 

distribution of water, and any appurtenances for those facilities. 

(b) Wastewater facilities, including collection, interception, transportation, treatment 

and disposal of wastewater, and any appurtenances for those facilities. 

(c) Storm water, drainage and flood control facilities, including any appurtenances for 

those facilities. 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

88 
 

 

(d) Library facilities of up to ten thousand square feet that provide a direct benefit to 

development, not including equipment, vehicles or appurtenances. 

(e) Street facilities located in the service area, including arterial or collector streets or 

roads that have been designated on an officially adopted plan of the municipality, traffic 

signals and rights-of-way and improvements thereon. 

(f) Fire and police facilities, including all appurtenances, equipment and vehicles. Fire and 

police facilities do not include a facility or portion of a facility that is used to replace 

services that were once provided elsewhere in the municipality, vehicles and equipment 

used to provide administrative services, helicopters or airplanes or a facility that is used 

for training firefighters or officers from more than one station or substation. 

(g) Neighborhood parks and recreational facilities on real property up to thirty acres in 

area, or parks and recreational facilities larger than thirty acres if the facilities provide a 

direct benefit to the development. Park and recreational facilities do not include vehicles, 

equipment or that portion of any facility that is used for amusement parks, aquariums, 

aquatic centers, auditoriums, arenas, arts and cultural facilities, bandstand and orchestra 

facilities, bathhouses, boathouses, clubhouses, community centers greater than three 

thousand square feet in floor area, environmental education centers, equestrian facilities, 

golf course facilities, greenhouses, lakes, museums, theme parks, water reclamation or 

riparian areas, wetlands, zoo facilities or similar recreational facilities, but may include 

swimming pools. 

(h) Any facility that was financed and that meets all of the requirements prescribed in 

subsection R of this section. 

8. "Qualified professional" means a professional engineer, surveyor, financial analyst or planner 

providing services within the scope of the person's license, education or experience. 

9. "Service area" means any specified area within the boundaries of a municipality in which 

development will be served by necessary public services or facility expansions and within which a 

substantial nexus exists between the necessary public services or facility expansions and the 

development being served as prescribed in the infrastructure improvements plan.  

10. "Service unit" means a standardized measure of consumption, use, generation or discharge 

attributable to an individual unit of development calculated pursuant to generally accepted engineering 

or planning standards for a particular category of necessary public services or facility expansions.  

 

 

 

 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

89 
 

 

APPENDIX C – FORECAST OF REVENUES 

Arizona’s enabling legislation requires municipalities to forecast the revenue contribution to be made in 

the future towards capital costs and shall include these contributions in determining the extent of burden 

imposed by development.  

9-463.05.E.7.  “A forecast of revenues generated by new service units other than development 
fees, which shall include estimated state-shared revenue, highway users revenue, federal revenue, 
ad valorem property taxes, construction contracting or similar excise taxes and the capital 
recovery portion of utility fees attributable to development based on the approved land use 
assumptions, and a plan to include these contributions in determining the extent of the burden 
imposed by the development as required in subsection B, paragraph 12 of this section.” 

9-463.05.B.12.  “The municipality shall forecast the contribution to be made in the future in cash 
or by taxes, fees, assessments or other sources of revenue derived from the property owner 
towards the capital costs of the necessary public service covered by the development fee and shall 
include these contributions in determining the extent of the burden imposed by the development. 
Beginning August 1, 2014, for purposes of calculating the required offset to development fees 
pursuant to this subsection, if a municipality imposes a construction contracting or similar excise 
tax rate in excess of the percentage amount of the transaction privilege tax rate imposed on the 
majority of other transaction privilege tax classifications, the entire excess portion of the 
construction contracting or similar excise tax shall be treated as a contribution to the capital costs 
of necessary public services provided to development for which development fees are assessed, 
unless the excess portion was already taken into account for such purpose pursuant to this 
subsection.” 

Florence does not have a higher than normal construction excise tax rate, so the required offset described 

above is not applicable. The required forecast of non-development fee revenue that might be used for 

growth-related capital costs is shown in Figure C1. General Fund revenues are highlighted in light blue.  

Streets Fund revenue is highlighted light green and Water and Sewer Revenue is highlighted in orange.  

The forecast of revenues was provided by Town of Florence staff. 

Figure C1 – Five-Year Revenue Projections 

 

FY 19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 24-25

City Sales Tax $4,100,000 $4,100,000 $4,100,000 $4,100,000 $4,100,000 $4,100,000

Property Tax $1,007,857 $1,038,093 $1,069,236 $1,101,313 $1,134,352 $1,168,383

Personal Property Tax $31,000 $31,000 $31,000 $31,000 $31,000 $31,000

State Sales Tax $2,553,050 $2,629,641 $2,708,530 $2,789,786 $2,873,480 $2,959,684

State Income Tax $3,157,450 $3,220,599 $3,285,011 $3,350,711 $3,417,725 $3,486,080

Auto License Tax $1,573,717 $1,652,403 $1,735,023 $1,821,774 $1,912,863 $2,008,506

Total General Fund Revenue $12,423,074 $12,671,736 $12,928,800 $13,194,584 $13,469,420 $13,753,653

HURF Revenue $2,050,552 $2,112,068 $2,175,430 $2,240,693 $2,307,914 $2,377,152

Transportation Excise Tax Revenue $1,210,520 $1,246,835 $1,284,240 $1,322,767 $1,362,450 $1,403,324
Total Streets Fund Revenue $3,261,071 $3,358,904 $3,459,671 $3,563,461 $3,670,365 $3,780,475

Water User Fees $2,786,287 $2,814,150 $2,842,291 $2,870,714 $2,899,421 $2,928,415

Wastewater User Fees $2,686,999 $2,713,869 $2,741,008 $2,768,418 $2,796,102 $2,824,063

Department of Corrections Wastewater Fees $1,008,000 $1,018,080 $1,028,261 $1,038,543 $1,048,929 $1,059,418

Total Utility Revenue $6,481,285 $6,546,098 $6,611,559 $6,677,675 $6,744,452 $6,811,896



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

90 
 

 

Figure C2 indicates that when forecasted General Fund revenue is compared to the projection of persons 

and jobs in Florence over the next six years, total General Fund revenue per person and job decreases 

slightly over time, primarily due to a projected increase in sales and income taxes. Since General Fund 

revenue per person and job is likely to decrease overtime, while General Fund expenditures will increase, 

this leaves little or no revenue for growth-related capital infrastructure.  

Figure C2 – Graph of General Fund Revenues 

 
 
  

$0.00

$20.00

$40.00

$60.00

$80.00

$100.00

$120.00

$140.00

$160.00

$180.00

$200.00

FY 19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 24-25

General Fund Revenue per Person and Job

City Sales Tax

Property Tax

Personal Property
Tax
State Sales Tax

State Income Tax

Auto License Tax



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

91 
 

 

The methodology described above was also applied to Street Fund revenue, with the results graphed in 

Figure C3. The Street Fund revenue is projected to remain relatively flat when compared to projected 

increases in population and employment. This revenue source is used to street maintenance and is not 

available for capacity improvements.  

Figure C3 – Graph of Street Fund Revenue 

 

 

 

  

$0.00

$10.00

$20.00

$30.00

$40.00

$50.00

$60.00

$70.00

$80.00

$90.00

$100.00

FY 19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 24-25

Street Fund Revenue per Person and Job

HURF Revenue

Transportation
Excise Tax
Revenue



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

92 
 

 

Figure C3 indicates that forecasted water and sewer revenue is likely to decrease per account over time. 

Figure C3 – Graph of Utility Fund Revenue 

 
 
 
 

  

$0.00

$200.00

$400.00

$600.00

$800.00

$1,000.00

$1,200.00

FY 19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24 FY 24-25

Water and Sewer Revenue per Account

Water Revenue
per Account

Sewer Revenue
per Account



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

93 
 

 

APPENDIX C:  IMPLEMENTATION AND ADMINISTRATION 

 
As specified in ARS 9-463.05, there are certain accounting requirements that must be met by the Town: 

Monies received from development fees assessed pursuant to this section shall be placed in a 
separate fund and accounted for separately and may only be used for the purposes authorized by 
this section. Monies received from a development fee identified in an infrastructure improvements 
plan adopted or updated pursuant to subsection D of this section shall be used to provide the same 
category of necessary public services or facility expansions for which the development fee was 
assessed and for the benefit of the same service area, as defined in the infrastructure 
improvements plan, in which the development fee was assessed. Interest earned on monies in the 
separate fund shall be credited to the fund. 

All costs in the development fee calculations are given in current dollars with no assumed inflation rate 

over time.  If cost estimates change significantly the Town should update the fee calculations. 

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

As discussed below, residential development categories are based on data from the U.S. Census Bureau, 

American Community Survey. Florence will collect development fees from all new residential units, 

including mobile homes and Recreational Vehicles (RV). For a parcel intended for occupancy by multiple 

mobile homes and/or RVs, the landowner will pay a development fee for each site than can accommodate 

a residential unit. One-time development fees are determined by site capacity (i.e. number of residential 

units) and will not be imposed on replacement units. 

Single-Family: 

1. Single-family detached is a 1-unit structure detached from any other house, that is, with open 

space on all four sides. Such structures are considered detached even if they have an adjoining 

shed or garage. A one-family house that contains a business is considered detached as long as the 

building has open space on all four sides.  

2. Single-family attached (townhouse) is a 1-unit structure that has one or more walls extending 

from ground to roof separating it from adjoining structures. In row houses (sometimes called 

townhouses), double houses, or houses attached to nonresidential structures, each house is a 

separate, attached structure if the dividing or common wall goes from ground to roof. 

3. Mobile home includes both occupied and vacant mobile homes, to which no permanent rooms 

have been added, are counted in this category. Mobile homes used only for business purposes or 

for extra sleeping space and mobile homes for sale on a dealer's lot, at the factory, or in storage 

are not counted in the housing inventory. 

4. Boat, RV, Van, Etc. includes any living quarters occupied as a housing unit that does not fit the 

other categories (e.g., houseboats, railroad cars, campers, and vans). Recreational vehicles, boats, 



IIP and Development Fee Update 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

 

94 
 

 

vans, railroad cars, and the like are included only if they are occupied as a current place of 

residence. 

Multi-Family: 

1. 2+ units (duplexes and apartments) are units in structures containing two or more housing units, 

further categorized as units in structures with “2, 3 or 4, 5 to 9, 10 to 19, 20 to 49, and 50 or more 

apartments.” 

NONRESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

The proposed general nonresidential development categories (defined below) can be used for all new 

construction within Florence. Nonresidential development categories represent general groups of land 

uses that share similar average weekday vehicle trip generation rates and employment densities (i.e., jobs 

per thousand square feet of floor area).  

Commercial / Retail:  Establishments primarily selling merchandise, eating/drinking places, and 

entertainment uses. By way of example, Commercial / Retail includes shopping centers, supermarkets, 

pharmacies, restaurants, bars, nightclubs, automobile dealerships, and movie theaters. 

Office / Institutional:  Establishments providing management, administrative, professional, or business 

services; personal and health care services; lodging facilities; and public and quasi-public buildings 

providing educational, social assistance, or religious services. By way of example, Office / Institutional 

includes banks, business offices; hotels and motels; assisted living facilities, nursing homes, hospitals and 

medical offices; veterinarian clinics; and institutional facilities such as schools, universities, churches, 

daycare facilities, government buildings, and prisons. 

Industrial:  Establishments primarily engaged in the production, transportation, or storage of goods.  By 

way of example, Industrial includes manufacturing plants, distribution warehouses, trucking companies, 

utility substations, power generation facilities, and telecommunications buildings. 



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM 
8b. 

MEETING DATE:  May 6, 2019  
 
DEPARTMENT:  One Stop Shop 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Lisa Garcia/James Allen/John Kemp 
 
SUBJECT:  Resolution No. 1693-19: Adoption of the 2012 
International Building Codes and Declaring Said Codes a Public 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
  Other 
Subject:   Resolution No. 1693‐19 2012 IBC Codes                                                            Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

Record 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality        Economic Prosperity   Leadership and Governance     

 Partnership and Relationships         Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Adoption of Resolution No. 1693-19:   A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, 
PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, DECLARING AS A PUBLIC RECORD CERTAIN TECHNICAL 
CODE DOCUMENTS FILED WITH THE TOWN CLERK AND ENTITLED “2012 
INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL EXISTING BUILDING CODE”, 
“2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL FUEL GAS CODE”, “2012 
INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE”, “2012 
INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE”,“2012 INTERNATIONAL 
RESIDENTIAL CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL SWIMMING POOL AND SPA CODE”, “2012 
INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE” “2011 NATIONAL ELECTRIC CODE”, 
AND THE 2009 “ACCESSIBLE AND USABLE BUILDINGS & FACILITIES CODE”  
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
Building Codes are a set of rules that detail the minimum acceptable level of safety for erected 
Structures. The main purpose of the codes is to protect public health, safety and general 
welfare as it relates to construction and occupancy of building and structures. Once adopted 
the code becomes the formal regulation of the Town and is considered standard building 
practice. 
 
At the recommendation of the International Code Council (ICC), an association of building 
professionals which establish building and construction standards, the Town of Florence is 
taking steps toward updating and implementing 2012 International Building Codes to improve 
Town building standards. The International Codes (I-Codes) provide minimum building 



Subject:   Resolution No. 1693‐19 2012 IBC Codes                                                            Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

safeguards for commercial, residential, and institutional structures benefiting public safety and 
creating a building standard across the country without jurisdictional limitations. The I - Codes 
have been adopted in all fifty states and the District of Columbia; these codes are utilized at 
the local, state, and Federal level and have become the accepted practice in building 
construction. 
 
ICC Building Codes are updated every three years and can have significant impact on how 
future development is regulated within a Town or City. 
 
The Town of Florence has spent the past 18 months dedicated to: 
 Crafting necessary amendments to the 2012 ICC 
 Ensuring that our amendments are user and customer friendly with regard to 

understanding and life safety specific information and regulations 
 Cleaning up deficiencies and ambiguities in the 2006 ICC by way of removing 

sections that were no longer needed due to changes in the new Code 
 Adding language specifically applicable to the community we live in 
 Attempting to standardize requirements, as much as possible, to properly implement a 

"One Stop Shop" that will make it easier for the public and the building trades to work 
in this area, without compromising life safety 

 Come up with a product that would be understandable, enforceable, and life 
safety oriented while taking into consideration our customers' needs 

The attached document is for informational purposes only and includes a list of significant 
changes between the 2006 and 2012 International Codes. 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 
 
A no vote would mean that the Town of Florence will not proceed at this time with adopting the 
2012 Technical Codes.  
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 
 
A yes vote would mean that that Town of Florence has adopted the 2012 Technical Codes by 
reference and may move forward in the adoption process. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
If the Codes are successfully updated, the Town will need to advertise the adoption ordinance 
as well as codify the Exhibit of the Resolution into the Code of Ordinances. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Resolution No. 1693-19 
Exhibit A 
Code Handout (changes from 2006 to 2012) 
PowerPoint Presentation  



RESOLUTION NO. 1693-19 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, 
DECLARING AS A PUBLIC RECORD CERTAIN TECHNICAL CODE 
DOCUMENTS FILED WITH THE TOWN CLERK AND ENTITLED “2012 
INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL EXISTING 
BUILDING CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE”, “2012 
INTERNATIONAL FUEL GAS CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL 
CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL 
PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE”,   “2012 INTERNATIONAL RESIDENTIAL 
CODE”,   , “2012 INTERNATIONAL SWIMMING POOL AND SPA CODE”, “2012 
INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE” “2011 NATIONAL 
ELECTRIC CODE”, AND THE 2009 “ACCESSIBLE AND USABLE BUILDINGS & 
FACILITIES CODE”  

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and Council of the Town 

of Florence, Arizona, that certain documents entitled “2012 International Building Code”, 
“2012 International Performance Code”, “2012 International Existing Building Code”, “2012 
International Fire Code”, “2012 International Fuel Gas Code”, “2012 International 
Mechanical Code”, “2012 International Plumbing Code”,  “2012 International Property 
Maintenance Code”, “2012 International Residential Code”, “2012 International Swimming 
Pool and Spa Code”, “2012 International Energy Conservation Code” “2011 National 
Electric Code”, and the “2009 Accessible and Usable Buildings and Facilities Code”,   one 
copy of which are on file in the office of the Town Clerk, are hereby declared to be public 
records, and said copies are ordered to remain on file with the Town Clerk. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the Mayor and Council of 

the Town of Florence, Arizona, that certain documents Titled Technical Codes, attached 
as “Exhibit A”, one copy of which are on file in the office of the Town Clerk, are hereby 
declared to be public records, and said copy is ordered to remain on file with the Town 
Clerk and will be codified in the Code of Ordinance.  

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence, 

Arizona, this ______ day of ________ 2019. 
 
 
 

 

Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 
 
 

  

Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 



 

Technical Codes    Page 1 of 38 
 

 

Exhibit A  
TOWN OF FLORENCE  

CODE OF ORDINANCES 
TECHNICAL CODES 

 

§ 150.300 CODES ADOPTED  

 
A.  The Following publications are adopted by reference. 

 
1. Accessible and Usable Buildings and Facilities ICC A117.1, 2009 Edition 

Standards  
2. International Building Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix C & I; 
3. International Energy Conservation Code, 2012 Edition is voluntary; 
4. International Existing Building Code, 2012 Edition; 
5. International Fire Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix B, C, D, E, F, G, H & I 
6. International Fuel Gas Code, 2012 Edition; 
7. International Mechanical Code, 2012 Edition; 
8. International Plumbing Code, 2012 Edition 
9. International Property Maintenance Code, 2012 Edition; 
10. International Residential Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix G, H & P; 
11. International Swimming Pool and Spa Code, 2012 Edition; 
12. National Electrical Code, 2011 Edition; 

 
B. Addendums and alternatives to the Technical Codes shall be as follows:  
 
1. Accessible and Usable Buildings and Facilities ICC A117.1, 2009 Edition;  

 
a) Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the ”name of the 

jurisdiction.” 
 

2. International Building Codes, 2012 Edition shall be as follows: 
 
a) Section (A) 101.1 Title. shall be amended by inserting the jurisdictional name of 

Town of Florence. 
 

b) Section 101.2.1 Appendices.  The following appendices shall adopted as part of 
this code by the Town of Florence: Appendices C and I, as added. 
 

c) Section 101.4.3 Plumbing.  Amend by deleting the last sentence of the 
paragraph. 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 2 of 38 
 

d) Section 105.2 Work exempt from a permit.  Building, amend items 1 and 2 to 
read as follows: 
 
i. One-story detached accessory structures used as tool and storage sheds, play 

houses and similar uses, provided the floor area is not greater than 200 
square feet. 
 

ii. Fences not over 7 feet at the highest point to allow for decorative fence 
column or post features such as light fixtures, post caps, etc., the main fence 
height between the columns or posts shall be a maximum 6 feet high.   (Tab in 
as originally set up) 

 
e) Section 105.5 Expiration.  Amend to read, “Expiration of permit, extension.” 

Amend to read as follows:   Every permit issued shall become invalid unless 
substantial work, as determined by the Building Official, and authorized by such 
permit is commenced and required inspections are requested by the permittee 
and approved by the Building Official within 180 days after its issuance, or if 
more than 180 days elapses between approval of required inspections.  The 
Building Official shall be authorized to grant one or more extensions of time for a 
period not to exceed 180 days.  All requests for extensions shall be in writing.  As 
determined by the Building Official, a grace period of 30 days after expiration 
may be granted.  A reinstatement fee will be assessed after the 30-day grace 
period based on ½ of the original permit fee.  A permit shall not be reinstated if 
permit has been expired more than 180 days.   A new application shall be 
submitted and new full permit fee shall be paid based on the current fee schedule 
adopted by the Town. 
 
i. Section 109.4 Work commencing before permit issuance.  Amend by 

adding a sentence at the end of paragraph to read as follows:  This fee, as 
determined by the Building Official, shall be no greater than to two times the 
amount of the permit fee based on the current fee schedule adopted by the 
Town. 

 
f) Section 109.6 Refunds.  Amend by adding Subsection 109.6.1 Refund Policy, 

to read as follows:  The Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding 
of a fee paid hereunder which was erroneously paid or collected. The Building 
Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of not more than 80 percent of 
the plan review fee paid when an application for a permit for which a plan review 
fee has been paid is withdrawn or cancelled before any examination time has 
been expended.  Plan review fees shall not be refunded once the examination of 
plans has started.  Refunds shall be requested by written application and filed by 
the original permittee not later than 30 days after the date of fee payment. 

 



 

Technical Codes    Page 3 of 38 
 

The Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of not more than 80 
percent of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a permit 
issued in accordance with this code.  
 

g) Section 109.7 Re-inspection fees. New Subsection added to read as follows:  
 
Re-inspection fees, as determined by the Building Official, may be assessed for 
each inspection or re-inspection when such portion of work, for which an 
inspection is called, has not completed or when corrections called for are not 
made.  This section is not to be interpreted as requiring fees for the first time an 
inspection is rejected due to failure to comply with the requirements of the code, 
but as a means of controlling the practice of calling for inspections before the job 
is ready for such inspection(s) or re-inspection(s). 
 
A re-inspection fee may be assessed when the inspection record card is not 
posted or otherwise available on the work site, the approved plans are not readily 
available to the Inspector, for failure to provide access on the date for which 
inspection is requested, or for work performed deviating from approved permitted 
plans. In instances where re-inspection fees have been accessed, no additional 
inspection(s) shall be scheduled until the required fees have been paid in 
accordance with the fee policy established by the Building Official.  
 

h) Section 111.3 Temporary occupancy.  Amend to read as follows: If the 
Building Official finds that no substantial hazard will result from occupancy of any 
building or portion thereof before the same is completed or before all required on-
site and off-site improvements are completed, a Temporary Certificate of 
Occupancy (TCO) may be issued for the use of a portion or portions of a building 
or structure prior to the completion of the entire building or structure.  The TCO 
will be issued for a finite period of time, but in no event for more than sixty (60) 
calendar days.  The TCO may be renewed if satisfactory progress has been 
made toward completion of outstanding items.  The length of any renewal period 
will be determined at the sole discretion of the Building Official based on the 
amount of work remaining, but the extension shall not exceed sixty (60) 
additional days.  If the TCO and any extensions expire without completion of all 
outstanding items, the matter will be referred to Code Compliance for 
Enforcement.  Upon satisfaction of the outstanding items on the TCO, a 
Certificate of Occupancy will be issued. 
 

i) Section 111.4 Revocation.  Amend by adding Subsection 111.4.1 Unoccupied 
or Vacant structure to read as follows: 
 
i. The Building Official is authorized to, in writing, suspend or revoke a 

certificate of occupancy when a tenant space, building or structure has been 
determined to be vacant or unoccupied for a period of 24 180 daysmonths Formatted: Highlight



 

Technical Codes    Page 4 of 38 
 

or occupied and utilized outside the use or occupancy of current occupancy 
classification group. A new certificate of Occupancy shall be required and 
the tenant space, building or structure must meet all current ADA 
accessibility, building and fire codes as adopted, prior to reoccupying.  

 
ii. The Building Official is authorized to, in writing, suspend or revoke a 

certificate of occupancy when a tenant space, building or structure has been 
determined to be vacant or, abandoned or unoccupied with any or all utilities 
disconnected for a period of 24 180 daysmonths. A new certificate 
Certificate of Occupancy shall be required and the tenant space, building or 
structure must meet all current ADA accessibility, building and fire codes as 
adopted, prior to reoccupying.  

 
j) Section 113 Board of Appeal. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: In 

order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by 
the Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical 
codes, there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall 
have the right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals 
pursuant to section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 

 
k) Section 202 Definitions Amend by adding the following definitions as 

follows: 
 
ABANDONED. A building that is no longer used or occupied by its owner or 
other legally permitted occupant. Evidence of building being abandoned includes 
any two of the following: lack of visible activity or use; overgrown or dead 
vegetation; accumulation of trash, junk or debris; absence of furnishings; 
evidence of criminal mischief of criminal trespass; evidence of dilapidation, 
decay, damage, deterioration; nonpayment or disconnection of utilities. 
 
Unoccupied Structure.  A building with a documented Certificate of Occupancy 
that has maintained the appearance of the building, maintained the utilities, and 
is actively seeking occupancy either through sale or lease.  To maintain this 
status an owner must have owner-initiated inspections from the Town of Florence 
building officials every 12 months for up to 36 months.  After 36 months the 
structure becomes vacant. To maintain the Unoccupied Structure status beyond 
36 months the owner must have installed an approved fire alarm or sprinkler 
system, all other requirements must be met annually.  
  
VACANT. A building that is no longer used or occupied by its owner or other 
legally permitted occupant. A building that no longer meets the requirement of an 
unoccupied structure as defined. 
 

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Not Bold



 

Technical Codes    Page 5 of 38 
 

l) Section 310.5 Residential Group R-3. Amend by revising the last item of the list 
of R-3 occupancies to read as follows:  Congregate living facilities with 5 or fewer 
persons.  Where these facilities occur in a single family home, shall be permitted 
to comply with the International Residential Code. 
 

m) Section 310.5.1 Care facilities within a dwelling.  Amend by deleting the text 
“provide an automatic sprinkler system is installed in accordance with Section 
909.3.1.3 or with Section P2904 of the International Residential Code. 
 

n) Chapter 9, Fire Protection, is deleted in its entirety and in its place and stead 
the Town of Florence will use the 2012 International Fire Code, Chapter 9, Fire 
Protection Section and adopted Chapter 9 Code amendments.    

 
o) Table 1004.1.2 Maximum Floor Area Allowances per Occupant.  Amend by 

deleting, “Exercise rooms, 50 gross” and replacing with, “Exercise rooms with 
fixed equipment, 50 gross” and “Exercise rooms without fixed equipment, 15 
gross”. 
 

p) Section 1008.1.9.3 Locks and latches. Amend Sub item 2.2 of item 2 to read 
as follows: A readily visible durable sign is posted on the egress side on or 
adjacent to the door stating: THIS DOOR IS TO REMAIN UNLOCKED WHEN 
BUILDING IS OCCUPIED, or THIS DOOR MUST REMAIN UNLOCKED 
DURING BUSINESS HOURS. The sign shall be in letters 1 inch (25.4 mm) high 
on a contrasting background. 
 

q) Section 1704.2.1 Special Inspector qualifications.  Amend to read as follows: 
The registered design professional in responsible charge and engineers of record 
involved in the design of the project are permitted to act as the approved agency 
and their personnel are permitted to act as the special inspector for the work 
designed by them. 
 

r) Section 2304.11.6 Termite protection.  Amend by adding new paragraphs after 
the last sentence as follows: Within the perimeter of the foundation of any 
building which requires a building permit, the base course of all fill which is used 
to support a concrete slab shall be treated against termite infestation. The soil 
treatment shall be applied by a duly licensed applicator in accordance with the 
rules and regulations of the Arizona Pest Control Commission.  Termite retardant 
chemicals shall be applied prior to placing the concrete. If the soil has been 
treated and the fill is disturbed prior to pouring the slab, or if the concrete is not 
poured within the time limit specified for the chemical used, the soil must be 
retreated according to the same standards. If a concrete slab has been pour prior 
to pre-treatment, the site must be treated in accordance with the rules and 
regulations references herein above. Certification of such soil treatment shall be 



 

Technical Codes    Page 6 of 38 
 

furnished to the building official and shall include the name of the applicator, 
state license number, chemical used, time and location and length of warranty.  
Exception: Buildings accessory to Group R. Division 3 and buildings with floors 
and walls built of metal, masonry, concrete or other non-wood product.  
 

s) Section 2902 [P] Table 2902.1 Minimum Number of Required Plumbing 
Fixtures.  Amend by adding footnote (h) as follows: Within individual Group B or 
M occupancy tenant suites ADA accessible bottled water dispenser may 
substitute for an ADA accessible drinking fountain when the occupant load is 50 
or less.  
 

3. International Energy Conservation Code, 2012 Edition,  
 

a) Section C101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 
 

b) Section C101.4  Applicability. Add the following sentence.  All references to 
mandatory shall be referred to as recommended.  
 

c) Section C104.2 Required approvals. Deleted in its entirety. 
 

d) Section C104.3 Final inspection. Deleted in its entirety. 
 

e) Section C104.4 Re-inspection. Deleted in its entirety. 
 

f) Section C109 Board of Appeals. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: In 
order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by the 
Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical codes, 
there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the 
right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to 
section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 
 

g) Section C407.2 Mandatory Requirements. Deleted in its entirety. 
 

h) Section R101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 
 

i) Section R101.4  Applicability. Add the following sentence.  All references to 
mandatory shall be referred to as recommended 

 
j) Section R104.2 Required approvals. Deleted in its entirety. 

 
k) Section R104.3 Final inspection. Deleted in its entirety. 

 



 

Technical Codes    Page 7 of 38 
 

l) Section R104.4 Re-inspection. Deleted in its entirety 
 

m) Section R405.2 Mandatory Requirements. Deleted in its entirety. 
 

 
4.  International Existing Building Code, 2012 Edition  
  

a) Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 
 

b) Section 112 Board of Appeals. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: In 
order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by the 
Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical codes, 
there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the 
right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to 
section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 

 
5.  International Fire Code, 2012 Edition 
 

a) Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 
 

b) Section 101.2.1 Appendices. The following appendices are adopted as part of 
this code by the Town of Florence: Appendices B, C, D, E, F, G, H,  and I as added. 
 

c) Section [A] 102.6 Historic buildings.  [A] Section 102.6 Historic buildings. 
Amend by adding the words “and the currently adopted Fire Protection Plan and 
Fire Code Amendments.” 
 

d) Section [A] 105 Permits.  [A] Section 105 Permits, Section 105.1.1,  Amend by 
adding Subsection  
 

e) Section [A] 105.1.4 Permits required, to read as follows:   It shall be unlawful for 
any person, firm or corporation to use a building or premises or engage in any 
activities for which a permit is determined to be required by the Code Officials 
without having first obtained such permit from the Community Development  
Department.  
 

f) Section [A] 105.4 Construction documents. Add new Sub-section [A] 105.4.7 
Construction Documents to read as follows: Shall be provided in an approved 
electronic file format (PDF) upon request by the Fire Code Official.     
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 8 of 38 
 

g) Section [A] 105.7.17 Limited Access Gates. Add New section as follows: A 
construction permit is required to install or alter all gates, which obstruct a fire 
apparatus access road and shall be approved by the Fire Code Official.   
 

h) Section (A) 108 Board of Appeals. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: 
In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by 
the Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical 
codes, there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall 
have the right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals 
pursuant to section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 

 
 

i) Section [A] 113.3 Work commencing before permit issuance. Delete in its 
entirety and replace as follows: Any person who commences any work, activity or 
operation regulated by this code before obtaining the necessary permits shall be 
liable for two times the cost of the normal assessed permit fees. 
 

j) Section 202.  GENERAL DEFINITIONS amend by adding the following 
definitions as follows: 
 
ABANDONED. A building that is no longer used or occupied by its owner or other 
legally permitted occupant. Evidence of building being abandoned includes any 
two of the following: lack of visible activity or use; overgrown or dead vegetation; 
accumulation of trash, junk or debris; absence of furnishings; evidence of criminal 
mischief of criminal trespass; evidence of dilapidation, decay, damage, 
deterioration; nonpayment or disconnection of utilities. 
 
AIRBORNE LANTERNS. A device or any similar device designed to carry an open 
flame such as a small candle or fuel cell composed of flammable material as an 
airborne light. When lit, the flame heats the air inside the lantern lowering its 
density and causing the lantern to rise into the air. 
 
ALL WEATHER SURFACE. An all-weather surfaces (AW) is a road surface 
graded to drain standing water and engineered to bear the imposed loads of fire 
apparatus. The minimum surface shall be made up of materials compacted to 90% 
over an approved base. Alternate methods may be approved when designed and 
sealed by a professional engineer and approved by the Town Engineering 
Department and Fire Code Official.   
      
COMMERCIAL OCCUPANCY. A Commercial Occupancy is any building that falls 
under the International Building Code (IBC) occupancy classification. 
 
CROWD MANAGER: A person responsible for defining his/her establishment’s 
emergency plan for evacuation. He or she is also responsible for ensuring that the 



 

Technical Codes    Page 9 of 38 
 

employees properly understand their roles in crowd management is assisting 
directing the crowd in an orderly manner for evacuation. 
 
FIRE PROTECTION PLAN.  Fire/life safety mitigation measures that involve a 
combination of fire prevention procedures provided in designated historic buildings 
and structures and shall be provided in accordance of the Fire Code Official.  
 
GRADE. Grade is the degree of inclination of a slope, road, or other surface 
approved by the Engineering Department. (See slope).    
 
HARD SURFACE. Hard Surface is a drive surface of concrete, asphalt, or pavers 
designed to support vehicles in excess of 85,000 pounds GVW under any weather 
condition. 
 
HOSE LAY. Hose Lay is the extension of a hand-held fire hose as it is extended 
around the perimeter of the structure.  
 
PREEMPTION DEVICE. A listed and approved electronic device that receives a 
signal compatible with transmitters on emergency vehicles and that is used to 
automatically open or close fire apparatus access gates and all traffic control 
devices. 
 
REPAIR. Repair of any fire protection equipment is a “like for like” replacement of 
a component. The component replaced must be from the same manufacturer and 
be the same model and part number.  
 
REPLACEMENT. Replacement of any fire protection system component must be 
by the same manufacturer, the same model and part number. Replacement of a 
component by a different manufacturer, model or part number due to obsolescence 
is considered an upgrade.  
 
SECURITY GATE. Any manual or electronically operated gate that limits or 
restricts public access to or from a property. 
 
STANDBY PERSONNEL. Qualified fire service personnel, approved by the Fire 
Chief. When utilized, the number required shall be as directed by the Fire Chief. 
Charges for utilization shall be calculated by the Town approved fee schedule. 
 
TURN-A-ROUND. A turn-a-round is required for emergency vehicles when the 
structure is more than 200 feet from the road. This can be accomplished with a 
circle drive when designed and sealed by a professional engineer and approved 
by the Town Engineering Department and Fire Code Official.  
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 10 of 38 
 

Unoccupied Structure.  A building with a documented Certificate of Occupancy 
that has maintained the appearance of the building, maintained the utilities, and 
is actively seeking occupancy either through sale or lease.  To maintain this 
status an owner must have owner-initiated inspections from the Town of Florence 
building officials every 12 months for up to 36 months.  After 36 months the 
structure becomes vacant.  
  
 
WIRELESS PROTECTION SYSTEM. A system or a part of a system that can 
transmit and receive signals without the aid of interconnection wiring. It can consist 
of either a wireless control unit or a wireless repeater.  
 
VACANT. A building that is no longer used or occupied by its owner or other legally 
permitted occupant. A building that no longer meets the requirement of an 
unoccupied structure as defined. 
 
 

k) Section 307.2.1 Open Burning, Recreational, Fires and Portable Outdoor 
Fireplaces:  Authorization. Delete in its entirety and replace to read as flows: No 
fire shall be kindled or any weeds or debris burned on any premises, street, alley 
vacant lot or agricultural land within the Town limits without first obtaining a permit 
from the Pinal County Department of Air Pollution Control followed by issuance of 
a fire department Open Burning permit pursuant to IFC Section 105.6.30. Permits 
shall incorporate such terms and conditions which will reasonably safeguard public 
safety and property. Outdoor fires shall not be built, ignited or maintained in or 
upon hazardous fire areas under the following conditions:  

 
i. When high winds are blowing. 
ii. When a person age 18 or over is not present at all times to watch and tend 

fire. 
iii. When public announcement is made that open burning is prohibited. 
iv. When restricted by the fire code official. 

 
l) Section 308.1.2.1 Open Flames: Airborne Lanterns. Add new sub section as 

follows: The lighting and the release of airborne lanterns shall be prohibited. 
 
m) Section 308.1.4 Open Flame: Open Flame Cooking Devices. Amend to read as 

follows: Charcoal burners, chimneys, barbecues fixed or portable, and other open-
flame cooking devices shall not be operated on combustible balconies or within 10 
feet of combustible construction.  Exceptions: 1. One- and two- family 
dwellings. 2. Where buildings, balconies, and decks are protected by an automatic 
sprinkler system.  3. Deleted in its entirety. 

 

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt



 

Technical Codes    Page 11 of 38 
 

n) Section 308.3.3 Open Flames by adding new subsection titled Audience 
control. The audience shall be at least 30 feet away from the closest projection of 
an open flame device. Audience control shall be established by use of a physical 
barrier which can be easily moved or removed in the event of an emergency and 
shall remain in place throughout the entire performance.  
 

o) Section 308.3.4 Open Flames by adding new subsection titled Attendant. 
Performances shall be constantly attended by a person knowledgeable in the use 
of a fire extinguisher at the rate of at least 1 attendant for every 2 active devices. 
Attendants shall remain at the performance until all the fire has been extinguished.  
 

p) Section 308.3.5 Open Flames by adding new subsection titled Fire 
Extinguishers. Adequate fire extinguishing equipment including but not limited to 
buckets of water, water soaked rags, water extinguishers, charged hose lines, shall 
be readily available for use during the performance. Portable fire extinguishers 
shall be provided at a minimum of one 20BC extinguisher for every four 
simultaneous devices.  
 

q) Section 308.3.6 Open Flames by adding new subsection titled Clearance 
from Combustibles. A 25-foot clearance from all combustibles shall be 
maintained in all directions. 
 

r) Section 311.2.2 Fire Protection. Section 311 shall be amended to delete 
Exceptions 1 and 2 under Section 311.2.2. 
 

s) Section 319 by adding a new section titled Heat Producing Appliances. 
 

t)  Section 319.1 Heat Producing Appliances General by adding a new sub 
section titled General. Heating appliances shall be installed and maintained in 
accordance with their listing and the Building, Electrical, and Mechanical codes. 
Clearance from combustible material shall be maintained as set forth in the 
Building and Mechanical codes and the product listing.  
 

u) Section 319.2 1 Heat Producing Appliances General by adding a new sub 
section titled Clothes Dryers. Commercial grade clothes dryers shall be 
frequently cleaned to maintain the lint trap, exhaust vents, mechanical and heating 
components free from excessive accumulations of lint.  
 
EXCEPTION: Clothes dryers within private dwelling units of Group R occupancies. 

 
v) Section 401.1 Emergency Scope. Shall be amended by deleting the exception in 

its entirety. 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 12 of 38 
 

w) Section 403.3 Planning and Preparedness: Crowd Managers. Shall be 
amended and shall read as follows: crowd managers shall be provided for all public 
assembly occupancies or events with an occupant load of 250 or more and outdoor 
events with 1000 or more people. The minimum number of crowd managers shall 
be established at a ratio of one crowd manager to every 250 persons. 
 

x) Section 501 Fire Service Features: General.  Sub-Section 501.3 Construction 
Documents. Shall be amended to read as follows: Construction documents for 
proposed fire apparatus access, location of fire lanes, means of egress, shop 
drawings for fire protection systems, hydraulic calculations for fire hydrants and 
suppression systems, shall be submitted to the Town of Florence, Community 
Department, for review and approval prior to construction.  
 

y) Section 503 Fire Apparatus Access Roads. Subsection 503.1 Where required, 
shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with subsection 503.1 as follows: Fire 
apparatus access roads shall be provided and maintained in accordance with 
Subsections 503.1.1 through 503.1.3 and Appendix D. 
 

z) Section 503.1.4 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Temporary Fire Department 
Access, Shall be added new to read as follows: Temporary Fire Department 
access shall comply with Fire Department requirements. No combustible 
construction on any project may proceed until such time as the water supply, 
proper signage and temporary access road have been approved by the Fire Code 
Official. 
 

aa) Section 503.2.5 Fire Apparatus Access Roads. Dead ends. Shall be amended 
to read as follows: Dead-end Fire Apparatus Access Roads in excess of 150 feet 
or non-fire sprinklered structures and 300 feet for fully sprinklered structures in 
length shall be provided with an approved area for turning around fire apparatus.  
 

bb) Section 503.2.7.1  Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Grande. Shall be added new   
and read as follows: The grade of the fire apparatus access road shall be within 
the limits established by the Fire Code Official based upon the Fire Department’s 
apparatus.  
 

cc) Section 503.3 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Marking. Shall be amended to 
read as follows: Every fire Apparatus Access Roadway required under the 
authority of this section shall be posted with signs readable from either direction of 
travel and vertically installed at points not more than eighty (80) feet on center 
along the length of the required fire apparatus access roadway. In lieu of signs the 
curb can be painted red and marked “NO PARKING FIRE LANE” in four (4) inch 
white block letters on the vertical face of the curb and spaced eighty (80) feet on 
center. Only Fire Apparatus Access Roadways required under the authority of this 



 

Technical Codes    Page 13 of 38 
 

section or as approved by the Fire Code Official may be posted or identified as 
such. Unauthorized use of signs shall be removed. 
 

dd) Section 503.3.1 Fire Apparatus Access Roads:  Marking: Maintenance  shall 
be added new to read as follows: The person(s) in possession of the premises on 
and into which A Fire Apparatus Access Roadway is required shall be solely 
responsible for the maintenance of such roadways and all required signs. The 
person(s) in possession of the premises shall be responsible to ensure that Fire 
Apparatus Roadways are clear at all times. Annual compliance inspections shall 
be conducted by the Fire Code Official. 

 

ee) Section 503.6.1.1 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows: The gates shall be designed so that the access 
roadway or turning radius shall not be obstructed by the operation of the gate. 
Minimum set back from the public streets shall be a distance determined by the 
Town Engineer and allow the emergency vehicle the ability to safely operate the 
lock box or panel. 
 

ff) Section 503.6.1.2 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows:  Access controls shall be exterior to the gate and 
located for activation by the vehicle operator without dismounting from the vehicle. 
The height of the lock box/control panel shall be sixty-six (66) inches, measured 
from the finished grade line of the street.  
 

gg) Section 503.6.1.3 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows: The lock box, padlock or key switch, must be an 
approved model utilized by the Florence Fire Department.  
 

hh) Section 503.6.1.4 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows: Traffic Preemption opening device shall be on all 
motorized gates. Gates across fire apparatus access roads at gated community 
main entrances and where required by the Fire Code Official shall be electric and 
shall be provided with approved preemption controls, a Knox key switch and a 
manual release. Opticom, 3M, Model 722 receiver (no coding model) or compatible 
shall be used. Manual or electric gates at location other than the main entrance to 
gated communities shall be equipped with a Knox key switch and manual release 
or a Knox lock as applicable.  
 

ii) Section 503.6.1.5 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows: Clear width of the roadway shall be minimum of 
twenty (20) feet clear width on all entrances. Exit roadways shall be a minimum of 
sixteen (16) feet clear width or larger on all exits. Unless otherwise approved by 
the Fire Code Official. 



 

Technical Codes    Page 14 of 38 
 

 
jj) Section 503.6.1.6 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 

added new to read as follows:  Gates must open to a clear width of twenty (20) 
feet within twenty (20) seconds of activation and remain in the open position until 
closed by operation of the electrical control device. 
 

kk) Section 503.6.1.7 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows: The control pedestal must be identified with a 
minimum six (6) inch by Ten (10) inch sign with red letters on a white background. 
This sign must be securely fastened to the pedestal and legible from the 
approaching vehicle. EMERGENCY FIRE DEPARTMENT ACCESS.   
 

ll) Section 503.6.1.8 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows:  Battery back-up for all motorized gates is required, 
unless the gate opens in the event of a power failure. 
 

mm) Section 503.6.1.9 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall 
be added new to read as follows: Secondary “Exit Only” gates shall be set up for 
Fire Department emergency access. Exit only gates, which are not motorized, shall 
be installed per Town of Florence Fire Department Standard Detail.  
 

nn) Section 503.6.1.10 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows: Operation at the primary gate(s) shall be by pre-
emption device and key switch.  
 

oo) Section 503.7 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Manual Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows: An approved dual padlock locking system shall be 
required on all manual gates installed across a primary and secondary fire 
apparatus access road(s). An approved Fire Department pad lock shall be installed 
on one side and the owner/operator pad lock on the other side.  
 

pp) Section 505.1 Address Identification. Amend to read as follows: New and 
existing buildings shall have approved address numbers, building numbers or 
approved building identification placed in a position that is plainly legible and visible 
from the street or road fronting the property. Address numbers shall be installed in 
accordance with the Fire Departments Premise Identification 2012 Fire Code 
Interpretations & Regulations. 
 

qq) Section 505.1.1  Premises Identification, Interior Room Numbers. Shall be 
added new to read as follows: All buildings shall have an approved room and suite 
numbers identification placed in positions that are plainly legible and visible. 
Numbers shall contrast with their background; interior suite and room numbers 
shall be Arabic numeral or alphabet letters. Interior room and suite numbers shall 



 

Technical Codes    Page 15 of 38 
 

be a minimum of 1.25 (1 ¼) inches high with a brush stroke width of 0.25 (1/4) 
inches. 
 

rr) Section 505.3 1  Premises Identification, Address Directory. Shall be added 
new to read as follows:  An approved address directory shall be installed at 
properties containing one of the following: 1. More than one (1) principal building. 
2. Buildings with unit identification numbers. 3. When in the opinion of the Fire 
Code Official, emergency response may be delayed due to physical layout of the 
complex. 
 

ss) Section 505.3.1 1 Premises Identification, Specifications. Shall be added new 
to read as follows: Drawings and/or samples shall be submitted to the Fire Code 
Official for review and approval for all required address directories.  
 

tt) Section 505.3.2 1 Premises Identification, Protection. Shall be added new to 
read as follows: The address directory is to be suitably constructed to be installed 
outdoors. The graphics shall be protected from vandalism and weather by a clear 
polycarbonate cover. The cover shall be a minimum of 1/8” thick and sealed to 
protect the graphics from weather damage.  
 

uu) Section 505.3.3 1 Premises Identification,  Illumination. Shall be added new to 
read as follows: The address directory is to be illuminated internally by a white 
light. The light shall be sufficient to illuminate the entire site plan with even light. 
The address directory is to be illuminated from dusk to dawn. The illumination can 
be turned on and off by an automatic timer or photo cell.   
 

vv) Section 505.3.4 1 Premises Identification, Installation requirements. Shall be 
added new to read as follows:  The address directory is to be installed a minimum 
of thirty-six (36) inches above the finished grade. Larger sizes of address 
directories can be mounted no lower than twenty-four (24) inches when approved 
by the Fire Code Official. The support post or stanchions are to be set in concrete.  
 

ww) Section 505.3.6 1 Premises Identification, Setback requirements. Shall 
be added new to read as follows: The address directory shall be installed on the 
occupant’s property. A scaled plan shall be submitted showing the proposed 
location of the address directory, streets, drive aisles, any gate controls and traffic 
islands. 
 

xx) Section  506 Key Boxes, Amend Subsection 506.1 Where required. to read as 
follows: The Florence Fire Department is authorized to require a key box to be 
installed when a property within the Town of Florence is protected by an automatic 
fire alarm system or a fire sprinkler system, where access to or within a structure 
is restricted because of secured openings or where immediate access is necessary 
for life saving or firefighting purposes. 



 

Technical Codes    Page 16 of 38 
 

 
i) The first key box shall be installed at the main entrance of the structure. 

Additional key boxes may be required based on the size, layout, and 
location of fire sprinkler riser room 

ii) The key box shall be installed between 4'-0" to 6'-0" above finished grade. 
The key box shall be immediately visible to fire personnel from the 
emergency apparatus. Posts, fences, vehicles, vegetation, trash, storage 
and other materials shall not be placed or kept near the key boxes in a 
manner that would prevent the key boxes from being immediately 
recognizable.  

 
yy) Section 507.1.1 Fire Protection Water Supplies, Hydrant location. Amend by 

adding new Subsections to read as followings:  A fire hydrant shall be located 
within 100 feet of the fire department connection (FDC). The route is to be 
measured as the fire hose would be laid out and shall be approved by the Fire 
Plans Examiner.  
 

zz) Section 507.2.3 Fire Protection Water Supplies, Water Supply. Amend by 
adding new Subsections to read as followings: Fire Sprinkler water supply shall be 
a separate connection to public water supply and shall not serve domestic water 
service supply lines or fire hydrants. Exception: Detached one and two-family 
dwellings and their accessory structures. 
 

aaa) Section 507.2.4 Fire Protection Water Supplies, Operation of Valves. 
Amend by adding new Subsections to read as followings: Operation of fire sprinkler 
control valves, fire hydrants or street control valves shall be allowed only by 
properly authorized personnel. 
 

bbb) Section 507.3 Fire flow. Deleted in its entirety and replaced to read as 
follows:  Operation of Valves.  Requirements for buildings or portions of buildings 
and facilities shall be determined by an approved method and in accordance with 
Appendix B as amended. An approved independent third-party individual or firm 
shall conduct all required fire flow test prior to vertical construction.  
 

ccc) Section 507.3.1 Fire Flow Verification. Amend by adding new 
Subsections to read as followings: All new buildings or structures shall provide fire 
flow verification according to the requirements in Appendix B as amended. 
Verification shall be conducted by an approved separate third party certifying all 
the required fire flow data per NFPA. 25. All verification documentation shall be 
submitted to the Fire Code Official and Engineering Department. 
 

ddd) Section 507.5.1.2 Fire Flow Verification. Public Fire Hydrant Color. 
Amend by adding new Subsections to read as followings: All fire hydrants shall 



 

Technical Codes    Page 17 of 38 
 

have above ground barrels painted with a prime coat plus two coats of OSHA 
Yellow, as specified by the Town Engineering Department.  
 

eee) Section 507.5.1.3 Fire Flow, Hydrant Reflective Markers. Amend by 
adding new Subsections to read as followings: All fire hydrants and Fire 
Department Connections shall be clearly identified by installation of reflective blue 
markers as specified by the Town Engineering Department.  
 

fff) Section 507.5.1.4 Fire Flow Fire, Protection Water Supply. Amend by adding 
new Subsections to read as followings:.The water system is required to be looped 
with a minimum of two separate connections under the following conditions:  
 
i) Dead end water line exceeds 100’ for 6” lines or 400’ for 8” lines.  
ii) Water lines serving a building over 52,000 sq. ft. (40,000 sq. ft. when used 

for any amount of high-piled storage).  
iii) Water lines serving a building over two stories.  
iv) Water lines serving more than one commercial building.  
v) Water lines serving over 30 single-family residential units.  
vi) Water lines serving a Group “H” occupancy.  
vii) Where two water connections are required, they shall be placed a distance 

apart equal to not less than determined by the Engineer. Where two water 
connections are required, they shall be made to separate water lines where 
possible. 

 
ggg) Section 507.5.2.1 Required Installations. Amended by adding a new 

subsection to read:  Fire hydrants installed as a result of any order or permit shall 
be spaced so that short lose lines can be employed and so there are sufficient 
number of fire hydrants within reasonable distance to obtain the required fire flow 
as determined using Appendix B.  In other than single family residential areas, 
hydrants shall be spaced so that they are not more than 300 feet apart.  For single-
family residential areas, hydrants shall be spaced so that they are not more than 
500 feet apart from any structure.  Hydrant spacing and hose lay requirements 
may be modified by the Fire Code Official when all structures are protected with 
automatic fire sprinkler systems in accordance with Subsections 903.3.1.1, 
903.3.1.2 or 903.3.1.3  The Fire Department shall obtain the approval of the 
Engineering Department on submitted plans and specifications. 
 

hhh) Subsection 507.5.2.1 Public Fire Hydrants. Amended by adding a new 
subsection to read: All public fire hydrants must be flushed and maintained 
annually in accordance with the American Water Works Association, Manual of 
Water Supply Practices, Installation Field Testing and Maintenance of Fire 
hydrants, AWWA M17. Selected hydrants, as determined by the Utilities Director, 
shall be tested to determine Available Fire Flow according to test procedures 



 

Technical Codes    Page 18 of 38 
 

outlined in the American Water Works Association Manual of Water Supply 
Practices, Distribution System Requirements for Fire Protection, AWWA M31. 
 

iii) Subsection 507.5.2.2 Fire Hydrants. Amended by adding a new subsection to 
read: All fire hydrants shall be dry barrel as defined by AWWA M17 and specified 
by the Town of Florence Public Works/Engineering Department. Fire Hydrants 
used in commercial applications shall have two (2) – 2 ½ inch outlet and one (1) – 
4 ½ inch outlet. Fire Hydrants used in residential (R-3) applications shall have one 
(1) – 2 ½ inch outlet and one (1) – 4 ½ inch outlet.  
 

jjj) Subsection 507.5.2.3 Out of Service Hydrants. Amended by adding a new 
subsection to read: Any hydrant that is out of service shall have an out of service 
ring located on the 4-inch supply and shall remain in place until the hydrant is 
operational and approved by the Fire Chief.  
 

kkk) Section 507.5.3 Private fire service mains and water tanks. Shall delete 
in its entirety and replaced by adding Item 1 to read as follows: All private fire 
hydrants (those not on the Town of Florence water system and located on private 
property) must be inspected annually and after each operation; flushed and 
maintained annually in accordance with the American Water Works Association, 
Manual of Water Supply Practices, Installation Field Testing and Maintenance of 
Fire hydrants, AWWA M17. Selected hydrants, as determined by the Fire Code 
Official, shall be flow tested to determine Available Fire Flow according to test 
procedures outlined in NFPA 25. Request for testing must be submitted to the Fire 
Official and Town Engineer within 48 hours.  
 

lll) Section 507.5 Amend by adding Subsection 507.5.7 Separate water supply, to 
read as follows:  Water supply for sprinkler systems shall not be combined with the 
domestic water supply.  
 

mmm) Section 901.1 Fire Protection Systems, Scope.  New paragraph added 
to read as follows:  Wherever the words “Building Official or Fire Official” appear in 
sections 901 through 912 they shall be understood to mean that either the Building 
Official or Fire Code Official shall be the authority having jurisdiction.   
 

nnn) Section 901.2 Fire Protection Systems, Construction Documents.  
Amend by adding the following after the last sentence:  Plans for Fire Sprinkler 
Systems, complete plans and hydraulic calculations for fire sprinkler systems 
installations shall be submitted for review and approval prior to beginning 
installation, modification or alteration. Plans shall be drawn to an indicated scale, 
on sheets of uniform size and shall show, as a minimum the data required by NFPA 
13. Water supply data for hydraulic calculations shall be based on the available 
water supply as determined by flow test information less a 10 % safety factor. An 



 

Technical Codes    Page 19 of 38 
 

additional copy of these plans shall be submitted in an electronic format suitable 
to the Fire Department. 
 

ooo) Section 901.2 Construction Documents,  Amend by adding new 
Subsections 901.2.2,  to read as follows: Plan Certification for Fire Alarms and 
Occupant Notification. All fire alarm and occupant notification system plans shall 
be designed by a professional registrant in accordance with the Arizona Board of 
Technical Registration. Fire alarm installation shop drawings shall bear a review 
certification of a minimum NICET Level III in Fire Alarm. 
 

ppp) Section 901.2 Construction Documents,  Amend by adding new 
Subsections 901.2.3, to read as follows: Plan Certifications for Fire Sprinkler 
Systems. All fire sprinkler system plans shall be designed by a professional 
registrant in accordance with the Arizona Board of Technical Registration. Fire 
sprinkler installation shop drawings shall bear a review certification of a minimum 
NICET Level III in Fire Sprinklers.  
 

qqq) Section 901.2 Construction Documents,  Amend by adding new 
Subsections 901.2.5 to read as follows: On-Site Plans. Plans and specifications 
shall be submitted to the Fire Department for review and approval prior to 
construction. One set of Fire Department approved plans shall be on the job site 
for each inspection. 
 

rrr) Section 901.4.6 Pump and Riser Room Size. Amend by adding the following 
after the last sentence:  At the time of construction, a dedicated interior fire pump 
and automatic sprinkler system riser room shall be provided with adequate space 
for all equipment necessary for the installation, as defined by the manufacturer, 
with sufficient working space around the stationary equipment. Access shall be 
provided through direct exterior access side hinged door(s) with a minimum 32-
inch clear width and a minimum height of 80 inches. 
 

sss) Section 901.6 Inspection, testing and maintenance.  Amend by adding 
Subsection 901.6.3.1 to read as follows: Each fire protection system installation, 
modification, or inspection job shall receive “direct supervision” from a person 
possessing the following necessary approvals:   
 

ttt) Section 901.6 Inspection, testing and maintenance.  Amend by adding 
Subsection 901.6.3.2 to read as follows: For Fire Alarm installation, modification, 
or inspections one or more of the following: 1. National Institute of Certification in 
Engineering Technology (NICET) fire sprinkler level II; or 2. Successful completion 
of Local Exam; or 3. Other certification acceptable to the Fire Code Official. 
 

uuu) Section 901.6 Inspection, testing and maintenance.  Amend by adding 
Subsection 901.6.3.3 read as follows: For fire sprinkler system and underground 



 

Technical Codes    Page 20 of 38 
 

fire line installation, modification, or inspections one or both of the following 1. 
National Institute of Certification in Engineering Technology (NICET) fire sprinkler 
level II; or 2. Successful completion of Local Exam; or 3. Other certification 
acceptable to the Fire Code Official.  
 

vvv) Section 901.6 Inspection, testing and maintenance.  Amend by adding 
Subsections 901.6.3.4 to read as follows: Special hazard fire system installation, 
modification or inspection one or more of the following: 1. National Institute of 
Certification in Engineering Technology (NICET) special hazards suppression 
systems level II; or 2. Successful completion of Local Exam; 3. Other certification 
acceptable to the Fire Code Official. 
 

www) Section 903.2 Where required.  Add Exceptions 1 and 2 as follows: 1. 
Spaces or areas in telecommunications buildings, not exceeding 600 square feet 
in floor area and not intended for maintenance purposes, used exclusively for 
telecommunication equipment, associated electrical power distribution equipment, 
batteries and standby engines, provided those spaces or areas are equipped 
throughout with an automatic smoke detection system in accordance with Section 
907.2 and are separated from the remainder of the building by less than 1-hour fire 
barriers constructed in accordance with Section 707 or not less than 2-hour 
horizontal assemblies constructed in accordance with Section 711, or both.  2. 
Detached accessory use structures such as gazebos, pergolas, ramadas, 
guardhouses, restroom buildings at golf courses, parks and similar uses. 
 

xxx) Section 903.2.1.1(1) Group A-1, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: 
The fire area exceeds 5,000 square feet. 
 

yyy) Section 903.2.1.2(1) Group A-2, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: 
The fire area exceeds 2,500 square feet. 
 

zzz) Section 903.2.1.3(1) Group A-3, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: 
The fire area exceeds 5,000 square feet. 
 

aaaa) Section 903.2.1.4(1) Group A-4, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: 
The fire area exceeds 5,000 square feet.  
 

bbbb) Section 903.2.3 (1) Group E, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: The 
fire area exceeds zero (0) square feet. 
 

cccc) Section 903.2.4 (1) Group F-1, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: The 
fire area exceeds 5,000 square feet. 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 21 of 38 
 

dddd) Section 903.2.4 (3) Group F-1, Amend Condition 3, to read as follows:  The 
combined area of all Group F-1 fire areas on all floors, including any mezzanines, 
exceeding 5,000 square feet. 
 

eeee) Section 903.2.4.1 Group F-1, Woodworking operations. Amend to read 
as follows: An automatic sprinkler system shall be provided throughout all Group 
F-1 occupancy fire areas that contain woodworking operations in excess of zero 
(0) square feet in area which generate finely divided combustible waste or use 
finely divided combustible materials. 
 

ffff) Section. 903.2.6 Group I, Amend by deleting Exceptions 1, 2, 3 and 4, in their 
entirety and adding the following Condition 1:  Group I fire areas exceed zero (0) 
square feet. 
 

gggg) Section 903.2.7 (1) Group M, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: A 
Group M fire area exceeds 5,000 square feet. 
 

hhhh) Section 903.2.7 (3) Group M, Amend Condition 3, to read as follows:  The 
combined area of all Group M fire areas on all floors, including any mezzanines 
that exceeds 5,000 square feet. 
 

iiii) Section 903.2.8 Group R. Shall be amended to read as follows: An automatic fire 
sprinkler system installed in accordance with Section 903.3 shall be provided 
through all building with a Group R fire area, except this provision shall not be 
mandatory for one and two family dwellings.  
 

hhhh)jjjj) Section 903.2.8.1 Group R3 or R4,  Shall be amended to read as follows: 
All Group R4 occupancies licensed by the Department of Health Services for more 
than five residents or day care shall be required to install a residential fire sprinkler 
system for the livable area of the building.  If any portion of the patio has livable 
space directly above the patio space shall have fire sprinkler protection below the 
livable space.  
 

iiii)kkkk) Section 903.2.8 Group R.  Shall add new subsection 903.2.8.3 to read as 
follows:  Where the combined fire area of all floors including basement exceeds 
zero (0) square feet an automatic sprinkler system shall be installed in accordance 
with Subsection 903.3.1.1 
 

jjjj)llll) Section 903.2.8.1 Automatic sprinkler systems. Add Exception 1, to read 
as follows: A supervising station is not required for automatic sprinkler systems 
protecting one- and two-family dwellings and dwellings classified as Group R-3, 
congregate living facilities with 5 or fewer persons.  
 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.5", Space After:  8 pt,  No
bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 12 pt

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.5", Space After:  8 pt,  No
bullets or numbering



 

Technical Codes    Page 22 of 38 
 

kkkk)mmmm) Section 903.2.9 (1) Group S-1, Amend Condition 1, to read as 
follows: A Group S-1 fire area exceeds zero (0) square feet. 
 

llll)nnnn) Section 903.2.9 (3) Group S-1, Amend Condition 3, to read as follows: The 
combined area of all Group S-1 fire areas on all floors, including any mezzanines 
exceeds zero (0) square feet. 
 

mmmm)oooo) Section 903.2.9.1 (1) Repair garages. Amend Items 1, 2 & 4, to 
read as follows: 1. Buildings no more than one story above grade plane, with a fire 
area containing a repair garage exceeding zero (0) square feet. 2. Buildings having 
two or more stories above grade plane, including basements, with a fire area 
containing a repair garage exceeding zero (0) square feet. 4. A Group S-1, fire 
area used for the repair of commercial trucks or buses where the fire area exceeds 
zero (0) square feet. 
 

nnnn)pppp) Section 903.2.9.2 Bulk storage of tires. Amend to read as follows: 
Buildings and structures where the area for storage of tires exceeds zero (0) cubic 
feet shall be equipped throughout with an automatic sprinkler system in 
accordance with Subsection 903.3.1.1.   
 

oooo)qqqq) Section 903.2.10(1) Group S-2 Enclosed parking garages. 
Amend Item 1. to read as follows: Where the fire area of the enclosed parking 
garage exceeds 5000 square feet. 
 

pppp)rrrr) Section 903.4.1 Monitoring, Amend to read as follows: Signals. Alarm, 
supervisory and trouble signals shall be distinctly different and shall be 
automatically transmitted to an Underwriters Laboratory listed or Factory Mutual 
approved central station, remote supervising station, or proprietary supervising 
station as defined in NFPA 72. As an alternative, when approved by the Fire Code 
Official, such signals shall sound an audible signal at a constantly attended 
location. 
 

qqqq)ssss) Section 904 Alternative automatic fire extinguishing systems. 
Shall add Subsection 904.11.6.4 Additions, Alterations, or Repairs to read as 
follows: Existing automatic fire extinguishing systems shall be upgraded to an 
NFPA approved fire-extinguishing system, installed throughout all portions of any 
commercial cooking system when there are additions, alterations, or repairs made 
when an existing non-compliant system can no longer be serviced and maintained 
in a certified operational condition. 
 

rrrr)tttt) Section 905 Standpipe Systems.  Add new Subsection 905.3.9 Hose 
connections for access challenges, to read as follows:  Buildings exceeding 
10,000 square feet (929 m2) in area per story, and not otherwise required to be 
equipped with a standpipe system by section 905.3 of the 2012 IFC, shall be 



 

Technical Codes    Page 23 of 38 
 

equipped with class I manual hose connections (2-1/2” NST) for fire department 
use as directed by the Fire Code Official.  
 

ssss)uuuu) Section 907 Fire Alarm and Detection Systems. Add new 
Subsection 907.1.3.1 Fire Alarm Control Panel Location, to read as follows: 
The Fire Alarm Control Panel shall be installed in the automatic sprinkler system 
riser room or a system controlling fire alarm annunciation panel shall be installed 
in the automatic sprinkler system riser room. When an annunciation panel is 
present in the automatic sprinkler system riser room, a map indicating the location 
of the main fire alarm control panel shall be present. 
 

tttt)vvvv) Section 907.2.2 Group B, Exception, amend Exception by adding the 
following at the end of the last sentence: Automatic Fire Sprinkler System shall be 
installed where the fire area exceeds 5000 square feet. 
 

uuuu)wwww) Section 907.2.11.2  Amend by adding new Subsection 
907.2.11.2.1 Group R-3 Child care - Special Systems, to read as follows:  A child 
care facility that provides care for 6 to 10 children of any age for less than 24 hours 
when the rooms where such children are cared for are located on the level of exit 
discharge and each of these child care rooms has an exit door directly to the 
exterior, shall be classified as Group R-3. At least one smoke detector shall be 
located within this child care area and provided with third party monitoring. 
 

vvvv)xxxx) Section 907.5.2.3 amend by adding new Subsection 907.5.2.3.5 
Interior Tenant Notification to read as follows: Interior Tenant Notification shall 
be provided when monitoring of the fire sprinkler system is provided. Group R 
occupancies are exempt from this requirement.  Shell Buildings: 1 (one) horn 
strobe shall be installed and operational within the interior space prior to final. 
When demising walls are present, 1 (one) horn-strobe shall be installed for each 
space. Multistory buildings shall require a minimum of 1 (one) horn-strobe per 
level. Tenant Improvements (Shell build-outs): 1 (one) horn-strobe shall be 
provided for each individual tenant. When a common area is provided serving 
multiple tenants, a minimum of 1 (one) horn-strobe in the common area shall be 
provided. These requirements may be increased based on occupancy type or at 
the discretion of the Fire Code Official. 
 

wwww)yyyy) Section 912.2 Amend by adding new Subsection 912.2.3 Remote 
Fire Department Connections, to read as follows:   Remote fire department 
connections shall be located within four (4) feet to eight (8) feet of the curb line of 
an access road or public street, or as otherwise specified. The fire department 
connection line shall be a wet line with the check valve at the hose connection 
above grade. 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 24 of 38 
 

xxxx)zzzz) Section 912.3 Amend by adding new Subsection 912.3.4 Fire 
Hose Threads and Fittings. to read as follows: Fire hose threads and fittings used 
in connection with automatic sprinkler systems shall be National Standard Thread.  
 

yyyy)aaaaa) Section 1103.8 Fire Safety Requirements For Existing Buildings 
Amend by adding new Subsection 1103.8.4 Records and Maintenance, to read 
as follows: The landlord or owner of any rental property shall inspect all smoke 
detection devices as required under NFPA 72 annually and a record of all 
inspections and maintenance activities shall be kept by the landlord or owner and 
available for annual inspection upon request by the Fire Code Official. See fire 
department Interpretation and Applications Manual. 
 

zzzz)bbbbb) Section 2308.3  Motor Fuel – Dispensing Facilities and Garages, 
Amend by adding new Subsection 2308.3.2 Vehicle impact protection, to read 
as follows:  Vehicle impact protection for CNG gas storage containers, pumps and 
dispensers shall be provided in accordance with Section 2306.4. 
 

aaaaa)ccccc) Section 3312.1 Fire Safety During Construction, When required. 
Amend to read as follows: An approved water supply for fire protection, shall be 
made available before combustible material arrives on the site. At least one fire 
hydrant either temporary or permanent shall be within 500 feet of any combustible 
materials. The developer/contractor is responsible for ensuring that the water 
supply is available at all times. When the work is complete, developer/contractor 
shall coordinate with the Utilities Department to make sure that the fire hydrants 
are active and the valves are open. 
 

bbbbb)ddddd) Section 3504.2.6 Welding and other Hot Work, Fire Extinguisher. 
Amend to read as the following: A minimum of one portable fire extinguisher 
complying with Section 906 and with a minimum 2-A:20-B:C rating shall be readily 
accessible within 30 feet of the location where hot work is performed and shall be 
accessible without climbing stairs or ladders. 
 

ccccc)eeeee) 5003.4 Hazardous Materials General Provisions, Material safety 
data sheets. Amend by adding new Subsection 5003.4.1 Electronic Filing to 
read as the following:  There is hereby authorized to establish procedures for the 
electronic submittal of hazardous materials information. The format shall be 
determined by the Fire Code Official. 
 

ddddd)fffff) Section 5308.1 Scope. Carbon Dioxide used for beverage 
dispensing systems, whether stored as a liquid or gas, shall be required to obtain 
all necessary permits for all new and existing systems installed.  
 

eeeee)ggggg) Section 5308 Compressed gas systems utilizing carbon dioxide 
by adding a new 5308.2 Permits. The following permits are required: 



 

Technical Codes    Page 25 of 38 
 

 
fffff)hhhhh) Section 5308 Compressed gas systems utilizing carbon dioxide 

by adding a new 5308.2.1 Operational Permit. An Operational Permit is required 
to store, use or handle a previously approved compressed gas system utilizing 
carbon dioxide. A permit application and a Compressed Gases Permit Checklist 
are to be completed and submitted to Community Development. 
 

ggggg)iiiii) Section 5308 Compressed gas systems utilizing carbon dioxide 
by adding a new 5308.2.2 Construction Permit. A construction permit is required 
to install, repair damage to, abandon, remove, place temporarily out of service, 
close or substantially modify a compressed gas system utilizing carbon dioxide 
whether new or existing. A permit application, floor plan, data sheets, Compressed 
Gases Permit Checklist, and HMIS statement are to be completed and submitted 
to the Community Development. 
 

hhhhh)jjjjj) Section 5704.2.13.1.4 Flammable and Combustible Liquids. 
Tanks abandoned in place.  Delete in its entirety and replace it with the following: 
 

iiiii)kkkkk) Section 5704.2.13.1.4 Flammable and Combustible Liquids. Tanks 
abandoned in place. Shall be prohibited within the entire Town of Florence. 
 

jjjjj)lllll) Section 5706.2.5.2 Flammable and Combustible Liquids. Tanks for 
gravity discharge.  Delete in its entirety and replaced with the following: 
 

kkkkk)mmmmm) Section 5706.2.5.2 Flammable and Combustible Liquids. Tanks 
for gravity discharge. Tanks with a connection in the bottom or the end for 
gravity-dispensing of flammable or combustible liquids are prohibited. 
 

lllll)nnnnn) Appendix D Fire Apparatus Access Roads. D103.1.1 Shall amend 
by adding the following after the last sentence:  96-Foot Diameter Cul-De-Sac. 
Amended as follows: The minimum turning radius shall be 35 feet inside and 55 
feet outside face of curb.  

 
6.  International Fuel Gas Code, 2012 Edition 

a. Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 
 

b. Section 102.8  Referenced codes and standards. Amend by adding the 
following at the end of the paragraph: See also International Building Code, 2012 
Edition, Section 101.4 Referenced codes. 
 

c. Section 106.5.1 Approval of construction documents.  Amend the first 
sentence to read as follows: When the Building Official issues a permit where 



 

Technical Codes    Page 26 of 38 
 

construction documents are required, the construction documents shall be 
approved in writing or by stamp.  
 

d. Section [A] 106.5.3  Expiration and Section [A]106.5.4 Extensions shall be 
combined to a new 106.5.3 titled Expiration.  Amend to read, “Expiration of 
permit, extension.” Amend to read as follows:   Every permit issued shall become 
invalid unless substantial work, as determined by the Building Official, and 
authorized by such permit is commenced and required inspections are requested 
by the permittee and approved by the Building Official within 180 days after its 
issuance, or if more than 180 days elapses between approval of required 
inspections.  The Building Official shall be authorized to grant one or more 
extensions of time for a period not to exceed 180 days.  All requests for extensions 
shall be in writing.  As determined by the Building Official, a grace period of 30 
days after expiration may be granted.  A reinstatement fee will be assessed after 
the 30-day grace period based on ½ of the original permit fee.  A permit shall not 
be reinstated if permit has been expired more than 180 days.   A new application 
shall be submitted and new full permit fee shall be paid based on the current fee 
schedule adopted by the Town. 
 

e. Section 106.6.2 Fees.  Insert the Town of Florence Fee Schedule.  
 

f. Section 106.6.3 Fee Refunds. By amending subsection to read as follows: The 
Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of a fee paid hereunder 
which was erroneously paid or collected. The Building Official shall be permitted 
to authorize refunding of not more than 80 percent of the plan review fee paid when 
an application for a permit for which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn 
or cancelled before any examination time has been expended.  Plan review fees 
shall not be refunded once the examination of plans has started.  Refunds shall be 
requested by written application and filed by the original permittee not later than 
30 days after the date of fee payment. 
 
The Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of not more than 80 
percent of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a permit issued 
in accordance with this code.  
 

g. Section 109 Means of Appeal. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: In 
order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by the 
Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical codes, 
there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the 
right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to 
section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 
 

h. Section 302.4 Amend by inserting the words “six inches.” 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 27 of 38 
 

i. Section 303.3 Prohibited locations.  Add new Subsection 303.3.1 Liquefied 
petroleum gas appliances to read as follows: LPG appliances shall not be 
installed in an attic, pit or other location that would cause a ponding or retention of 
gas. 
 

j. Section 404.12 Minimum burial depth. Revised to read as follows: Underground 
piping systems shall be installed a minimum depth of 12 inches (305 mm) below 
grade for metal piping and 18 inches (457 mm) for plastic piping. 
 

k. Section 404.12.1 Individual outside appliances. Deleted in its entirety. 
 

l. Section 406.4 Test pressure measurement. Amend to read as follows and 
Subsections 406.4.1 and 406.4.2 shall be deleted in their entirety. This inspection 
shall be made after all piping authorized by the permit has been installed and prior 
to concealment. An additional inspection is required after all portions thereof which 
are to be covered or concealed are so concealed and before any fixtures or 
appliances have been attached thereto. This inspection shall include an air, Co2 
or nitrogen pressure test, at which time the gas piping shall stand a pressure of not 
less than ten (10) pounds per square inch (68.9 kPa) guage pressure, or at the 
discretion of the Administrative Authority, the piping and valves may be tested at 
a pressure of at least six (6) inches (152.4 mm) of mercury measured with a 
manometer or slope gauge. Test pressures shall be held for a length of time 
satisfactory to the Administrative Authority, but in no case for less than fifteen (15) 
minutes, with no perceptible drop in pressure. For welded piping, and piping 
carrying gas at pressures in excess of fourteen (14) inches (0.4 m) water column 
pressure, the test pressure shall not be less than sixty (60) pounds per square inch 
(413.4 kPa) and shall be continued for a length of time satisfactory to the 
Administrative Authority, but in no case for less than thirty (30) minutes. These 
tests shall be made using air, Co2, or nitrogen pressure only and shall be made in 
the presence of the Administrative Authority. All necessary apparatus for 
conducting tests shall be furnished by the permit holder. 
 

m. Section 602.2 Cooling.  Add a new subsection to read as follows; In addition to 
the requirements of Section 602.2, cooling facilities shall be supplied capable of 
maintaining a temperature of not greater than 80 degrees.  
 

n. Section 602.3 Heat supply.  Amend by adding the following in the inserts: 
“September” to “May” 
 

o. Section 602.3 Cooling.  Add new subsection 602.3.1 to read as follows; In 
addition to the requirements of Section 602.3, cooling facilities shall be supplied 
capable of maintaining a temperature of not greater than 80 degrees. 
 

p. Section 602.4. Amend by adding the following in the insert: “September” to “May” 



 

Technical Codes    Page 28 of 38 
 

 
7. International Mechanical Code, 2012 Edition 
 

a. Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 
 

b. Section 106.4.3 and 106.4.4 shall be combined to a new 106.4.3 titled 
Expiration.  Amend to read, “Expiration of permit, extension.” Amend to read 
as follows:   Every permit issued shall become invalid unless substantial work, as 
determined by the Building Official, and authorized by such permit is commenced 
and required inspections are requested by the permittee and approved by the 
Building Official within 180 days after its issuance, or if more than 180 days elapses 
between approval of required inspections.  The Building Official shall be authorized 
to grant one or more extensions of time for a period not to exceed 180 days.  All 
requests for extensions shall be in writing.  As determined by the Building Official, 
a grace period of 30 days after expiration may be granted.  A reinstatement fee will 
be assessed after the 30-day grace period based on ½ of the original permit fee.  
A permit shall not be reinstated if permit has been expired more than 180 days.   A 
new application shall be submitted and new full permit fee shall be paid based on 
the current fee schedule adopted by the Town. 
 

c. Section 106.4.9 Refunds. By adding a new subsection to read as follows:  The 
Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of a fee paid hereunder 
which was erroneously paid or collected. The Building Official shall be permitted 
to authorize refunding of not more than 80 percent of the plan review fee paid when 
an application for a permit for which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn 
or cancelled before any examination time has been expended.  Plan review fees 
shall not be refunded once the examination of plans has started.  Refunds shall be 
requested by written application and filed by the original permittee not later than 
30 days after the date of fee payment. 
 
The Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of not more than 80 
percent of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a permit issued 
in accordance with this code.  
 

d. Section 106.5.2 Fees. Amend by placing the following in the insert at the end: 
“Town of Florence Fee Schedule.” 
 

e. Section 108.4 Violation Penalties. Deleted in its entirety. Refer to International 
Building Code 2012 Edition Section 114.4.  
 

f. Section 108.5 Stop work orders. Deleted in its entirety. Refer to International 
Building Code 2012 Edition Section 115. 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 29 of 38 
 

t) Section 109 MEANS OF APPEAL. Deleted in its entirety and replace with the 
following: Amend to read as follows: In order to hear and decide appeals of 
orders, decisions, determinations made by the Code Official(s) relative to the 
application and interpretation of the technical codes, there shall be and is hereby 
created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the right to appeal a decision of 
the Code Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to section 150.301 of the 
Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 
 

g. Section 304.11 Guards.  Amend by adding an exception at the end of the 
subsection as follows; Exception:  The requirement of this subsection shall not 
apply to one and two-family dwellings. 
 

h. Section 306.5.1 Sloped Roofs.  Amend by adding an exception at the end of the 
subsection as follows; Exception: The requirements of this subsection shall not 
apply to one and two-family dwellings. 
 

i. Section 309.1 Space Heating Systems.  Amend by adding the words “and 
cooling” after Heating so the title reads Section 309.1 Heating and Cooling 
Systems. 
 

j. Section 309.1 Heating and Cooling Systems.  Add the following sentence to the 
end of the subsection; “Such spaces shall also be provided with a cooling system 
capable of maintaining a maximum indoor temperature of 80EF. (62EC.) at a point 
3’ above the floor.” 

 
8. International Plumbing Code, 2012 Edition 

 
a. Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 

jurisdiction. 
 

b. Section 102.8 Referenced codes and standards. Amend by adding the following 
at the end of the paragraph. See also International Building Code 2012 edition, 
section 101.4 Referenced codes. 
 

c. Section 106.5.1 Approval of construction documents. Amend the first sentence 
to read as follows: When the Building Official issues a permit where construction 
documents are required, the construction documents shall be approved in writing 
or by stamp.  
 

d. Section 106.5.3 and 106.5.4  shall be combined to a new 106.5.3 titled 
Expiration.  Amend to read, “Expiration of permit, extension.” Amend to read 
as follows:   Every permit issued shall become invalid unless substantial work, as 
determined by the Building Official, and authorized by such permit is commenced 
and required inspections are requested by the permittee and approved by the 



 

Technical Codes    Page 30 of 38 
 

Building Official within 180 days after its issuance, or if more than 180 days elapses 
between approval of required inspections.  The Building Official shall be authorized 
to grant one or more extensions of time for a period not to exceed 180 days.  All 
requests for extensions shall be in writing.  As determined by the Building Official, 
a grace period of 30 days after expiration may be granted.  A reinstatement fee will 
be assessed after the 30-day grace period based on ½ of the original permit fee.  
A permit shall not be reinstated if permit has been expired more than 180 days.   A 
new application shall be submitted and new full permit fee shall be paid based on 
the current fee schedule adopted by the Town. 
 

e. Section 106.6.3 Fee Refunds. By amending subsection to read as follows: The 
Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of a fee paid hereunder 
which was erroneously paid or collected. The Building Official shall be permitted 
to authorize refunding of not more than 80 percent of the plan review fee paid when 
an application for a permit for which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn 
or cancelled before any examination time has been expended.  Plan review fees 
shall not be refunded once the examination of plans has started.  Refunds shall be 
requested by written application and filed by the original permittee not later than 
30 days after the date of fee payment. 
 
The Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of not more than 80 
percent of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a permit issued 
in accordance with this code.  
 

f. Section 109 Means of Appeal. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: In 
order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by the 
Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical codes, 
there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the 
right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to 
section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 
 

g. Section 410.3 Substitution. The last sentence of the section shall be revised to 
read as follows: In other occupancies, where drinking fountains are required, 
bottled water dispensers or water coolers shall be permitted to be substituted. 
 

h. Section 903.1 Roof extension. Amended by inserting the number 6 as the 
number of inches and 152 as the number of mm. 

 
9. International Property Maintenance Code, 2012 Edition 

a. Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 
 

b. Section [A] 111 Means of Appeal. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: In 
order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by the 



 

Technical Codes    Page 31 of 38 
 

Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical codes, 
there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the 
right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to 
section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 

 
10.  International Residential Code, 2012 Edition 

a. Section R101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 
 

b. Section R102.5 Appendices. The following appendices are adopted as part of 
this code by the Town of Florence: Appendices G, H, and P, as added.  
 

c. Section R105.5 Expiration.  Amend to read, “Expiration of permit, extension.” 
Amend to read as follows:   Every permit issued shall become invalid unless 
substantial work, as determined by the Building Official, and authorized by such 
permit is commenced and required inspections are requested by the permittee and 
approved by the Building Official within 180 days after its issuance, or if more than 
180 days elapses between approval of required inspections.  The Building Official 
shall be authorized to grant one or more extensions of time for a period not to 
exceed 180 days.  All requests for extensions shall be in writing.  As determined 
by the Building Official, a grace period of 30 days after expiration may be granted.  
A reinstatement fee will be assessed after the 30-day grace period based on ½ of 
the original permit fee.  A permit shall not be reinstated if permit has been expired 
more than 180 days.   A new application shall be submitted and new full permit fee 
shall be paid based on the current fee schedule adopted by the Town. 
 

d. Section R108.5 Refunds. Amend by adding Subsection R108.5.1 Refund 
Policy, to read as follows: The Building Official shall be permitted to authorize 
refunding of a fee paid hereunder which was erroneously paid or collected. The 
Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of not more than 80 
percent of the plan review fee paid when an application for a permit for which a 
plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn or cancelled before any examination 
time has been expended.  Plan review fees shall not be refunded once the 
examination of plans has started.  Refunds shall be requested by written 
application and filed by the original permittee not later than 30 days after the date 
of fee payment. 
 
The Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of not more than 80 
percent of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a permit issued 
in accordance with this code.  
 

e. Section R108.6 Work commencing before permit issuance. New sentence 
added to the end of the paragraph to read as follows: This fee, as determined by 



 

Technical Codes    Page 32 of 38 
 

the Building Official, shall be no greater than to two times the amount of the permit 
fee based on the current fee schedule adopted by the Town. 
 

f. Section R108.7 Re-inspection fees.  New Subsection added to read as follows:  
A re-inspection fee, as determined by the Building Official, may be assessed for 
each inspection or re-inspection when such portion of work for which inspection is 
called is not complete or when corrections called for are not made. This section is 
not to be interpreted as requiring re-inspection fees the first time a job is rejected 
for failure to comply with the requirements of this code, but as controlling the 
practice of calling for inspections before the job is ready for such inspection or re-
inspection.  
 
Re-inspection fees may be assessed when the inspection permit card is not posted 
or otherwise available on the work site, the approved plans are not readily available 
to the inspector, for failure to provide access on the date for which inspection is 
requested, or for deviating from plans requiring the approval of the Building Official. 
In instances where re-inspection fees have been accessed, no additional 
inspection(s) of the work will be performed until the required fees have been paid 
in accordance with the re-inspection fee policy established by the Building Official. 
 

g. Section R111.4 Utility Company Agreement.  Inspection of service equipment 
and related apparatus will be required prior to re-connection of electric power or 
gas service for all buildings that have been vacant more than six months. 
 

h. Section R112 Board of Appeals.  Delete in its entirety and replace to read as 
follows: Amend to read as follows: In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, 
decisions, determinations made by the Code Official(s) relative to the application 
and interpretation of the technical codes, there shall be and is hereby created a 
Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the right to appeal a decision of the Code 
Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to section 150.301 of the Town of 
Florence Code of Ordinances. 
 

i. Section R113.1 Unlawful Acts.  Amended to read as follows:  It shall be unlawful 
for any person, firm or corporation to erect, construct, alter, extend, repair, move, 
remove, demolish, or occupy any building, structure, or equipment regulated by 
this code or any code referenced herein, or cause, or allow same to be done, in 
conflict with or in violation of any of the provisions of this code. 
 

j. Section R115 UNSAFE STRUCTURES AND EQUIPMENT., New Section and 
Subsections added to read as follows:  Subsection R115.1 Conditions. 
Structures or existing equipment that are or hereafter become unsafe, insanitary 
or deficient because of inadequate means of egress facilities, inadequate light and 
ventilation, or which constitute a fire hazard, or are otherwise dangerous to human 
life or the public welfare, or that involve illegal or improper occupancy or 



 

Technical Codes    Page 33 of 38 
 

inadequate maintenance, shall be deemed an unsafe condition. Unsafe structures 
shall be taken down and removed or made safe, as the Building Official deems 
necessary and as provided for in this section.  A vacant structure that is not 
secured against entry shall be deemed unsafe. 
 

k. Section R115.2 Record. The Building Official shall cause a record to be filed on 
an unsafe condition. The report shall state the occupancy of the structure and the 
nature of the unsafe condition.  
 

l. Section R115.3 Notice. If an unsafe condition is found the Building Official shall 
serve on the owner, agent or person in control of the structure, a written notice that 
describes the condition deemed unsafe and specifies the required repairs or 
improvements to be made to abate the unsafe condition, or that requires the 
unsafe structure to be demolished within a stipulated time. Such notice shall 
require the person thus notified to declare immediately to the Building Official 
acceptance or rejection of the terms of the order. 
 

m. Section R115.4 Method of service. Such notice shall be deemed properly served 
if a copy thereof is (a) delivered to the owner personally; (b) sent by certified or 
registered mail addressed to the Owner at the last known address with the return 
receipt requested; or (c) delivered in any other manner as prescribed by local law. 
If the certified or registered letter is returned showing that the letter was not 
delivered, a copy thereof shall be posted in a conspicuous place in or about the 
structure affected by such notice. Service of such notice in the foregoing manner 
upon the Owner’s Agent or upon the person responsible for the structure shall 
constitute service of notice upon the Owner. 
 

n. Section R115.5 Restoration. The structure or equipment determined to be unsafe 
by the Building Official is permitted to be restored to a safe condition. To the extent 
that repairs, alterations or additions are made or a change of occupancy occurs 
during the restoration of the structure, such repairs, alterations, additions or 
change of occupancy shall comply with the requirements of R105.2.2. 
 

o. Table R301.2 (1) Climatic and Geographic Design Criteria. Insert the following: 
Ground Snow Load - None 
Wind speed - 90 mph, Exposure C, 3 second gust 
Topographic effects - No 
Seismic Design Category - B 
Weathering - Negligible 
Frost Line Depth - 12”  
Termite - Moderate to Heavy 
Winter Design Temperature - 32 degrees F 
Ice Barrier Underlayment Required - No 
Flood Hazards - Per Town of Florence Town Manager 



 

Technical Codes    Page 34 of 38 
 

Air Freezing Index - 0 
Mean Annual Temperature - 69.9 
 

p. Section R302.1  Exterior Walls.  Add exceptions# 6-9, as follows: 
 
6. “In Legal Non-conforming RV parks with privately owned lots, that were 
existing at the time of this code adoption, replacement dwelling units, (Park 
Model type), are permitted to maintain their prior existing fire separation distance, 
subject to compliance with other city codes, but in no case shall fire separation 
distance be less than 1 foot with unlimited protected openings, and a 4 inch 
maximum eave projection past the exterior wall facing the lot line. 

 
7. “In Legal Non-conforming RV parks with privately owned lots, that were 
existing at the time of this code adoption, new dwelling units, (Park Model type), 
are permitted to be located with a fire separation distance less than 5 feet, 
subject to compliance with other city codes, but in no case shall fire separation 
distance be less than 3 foot with unlimited protected openings, and a 4 inch 
maximum eave projection past the exterior wall facing the lot line. 

8. “In Legal Non-conforming RV parks with privately owned lots, that were 
existing at the time of this code adoption, construction of new habitable and non-
habitable structures including patio covers, carports, awnings and storage sheds, 
are permitted to be located with a fire separation distance less than 5 feet, 
subject to compliance with other city codes, but in no case shall fire separation 
distance be less than 3 foot with unlimited protected openings, and no 
projections past the exterior wall facing the lot line. 

9. “In Legal Non-conforming RV parks with privately owned lots, that were 
existing at the time of this code adoption, legal non-conforming structure’s such 
as habitable and non-habitable additions, patio covers, carports, awnings and 
storage sheds, are permitted to maintain their prior existing fire separation 
distance less than 5 feet, subject to compliance with other city codes, but in no 
case shall fire separation distance be less than 2 foot with unlimited protected 
openings, and no projections past the exterior wall facing the lot line. 

 
q. Table R302.1 (1) Exterior Walls.  Amend in the column for Fire Resistance 

Rating, first row, after the words “both sides” add “or designed per the prescriptive 
requirements of Section 721 of the 2012 International Building Code. 
 

r. Table R302.1 (2) Exterior Walls-Dwelling with Fire Sprinklers.  Delete section 
in its entirety. 
 

s. Section R302.2 Townhouses. Exception as follows: 
At the first sentence delete 1 hour and change to 2 hours 



 

Technical Codes    Page 35 of 38 
 

 
At the end of first sentence, add the following “or as designed per Section 721 of 
the 2012 International Building Code.” 

 
At the last sentence add. “The common wall may be reduced to 1 hour when 
provided with a fire sprinkler system per P2904.” 
 

t. Section R302.3 Two Family Dwellings.  Amend by adding after the words 
“UL263” in the first sentence, “or designed per Section 721 of the 2012 
International Building Code.” 
 

u. Section R303.4. Delete in its entirety. 
 

v. Section R303.9 Required Heating.  Amend to read as follows: by revising the title 
to read “Required Heating and Cooling” and by adding the following sentence to 
the end of the subsection: “Every dwelling unit and guest room shall be provided 
with cooling facilities capable of maintaining a room temperature of not more than 
80E F. (62EC.) at a point 3 feet above the floor in all habitable rooms under the 
average local climate conditions.” 
 

w. Section R309.5 Fire Sprinklers. Delete in its entirety. 
 

x. Section R313 Automatic Fire Sprinkler Systems.  Delete in its entirety. Refer to 
ARS 9-807.  
 

y. Section R315.3 Where required in existing dwellings.  Amend to read as 
follows: Where alterations, repairs or additions requiring a permit occur in existing 
dwellings that have attached garages or in existing dwellings within which fuel-fired 
appliances exist, carbon monoxide alarms shall be provided in accordance with 
section R315.1. Exception: Work involving the exterior surfaces of dwellings, such 
as the replacement of roofing or siding, or the addition or replacement of windows 
or doors, or the addition of a porch or deck, are exempt from the requirements of 
this section. 
 

z. Section 901.6.1 Automatic sprinkler systems. Exception 1, Amend to read as 
follows: A supervising station is not required for automatic sprinkler systems 
protecting one and two family dwellings and dwellings classified as Group R-3, 
congregate living facilities with 5 or fewer persons. 

 
10.  International Residential Code, 2012 Edition, Chapter 11, ENERGY 

EFFICIENCY, shall be amended as follows: 
 
a. Section N1101.15 (401.2) Compliance.  Amended by adding the following: 

Amended by adding the following subsections (1) All references to mandatory in 



 

Technical Codes    Page 36 of 38 
 

this code shall be referred to as recommended.  (2) Field verification inspection 
shall be the responsibility of the owner/building.  
 

b. Section N1103.2.2.1 (R403.2.2.1) Sealed air handler.  Deleted in its entirety. 
 

c. Section M1307 APPLIANCE INSTALLATION. Add new Subsection M1307.7 
Liquefied petroleum gas appliances to read as follows: LPG appliances shall 
not be installed in an attic, pit or other location that would cause a ponding or 
retention of gas. 
 

d. Section G2406.2.1 (303.3.1) Liquefied Petroleum Gas Appliances.  Add new 
Subsection to read as follows: LPG appliances shall not be installed in an attic, pit 
or other location that would cause a ponding or retention of gas. 
 

e. Section G2407.6.1 (304.6.1) Two-Permanent-Openings Method.  Amended by 
adding the following after the first paragraph: For LPG appliances, any duct serving 
the lower opening shall be at floor level and slope to the outdoors without traps or 
pockets. 
 

f. Section G2415.12 (404.12) Minimum Burial Depth. Amend by adding the word 
“metallic” after Underground, and after the word grade, add “plastic piping shall be 
installed at a minimum depth of 18 inches below grade.”  Delete “except” as 
provided for in Section G2415.12.1.” 
 

g. Section G2415.12.1 Individual Outside Appliances.  Delete in its entirety. 
 

h. Section G2415.17 (404.17) Plastic pipe.  Deleted in its entirety and revised to 
read as follows: The Installation of plastic pipe shall comply with Sections 
G2415.17.1 through G2415.17.3. 
 

i. Section G2417.4 (406.4) Test pressure measurement.  Deleted in its entirety 
and revised to read as follows: This inspection shall be made after all piping 
authorized by the permit has been installed and prior to concealment. An additional 
inspection is required after all portions thereof which are to be covered or 
concealed are so concealed and before any fixtures or appliances have been 
attached thereto. This inspection shall include an air, Co2 or nitrogen pressure 
test, at which time the gas piping shall stand a pressure of not less than ten (10) 
pounds per square inch (68.9 kPa) guage pressure, or at the discretion of the 
Administrative Authority, the piping and valves may be tested at a pressure of at 
least six (6) inches (152.4 mm) of mercury measured with a manometer or slope 
gauge. Test pressures shall be held for a length of time satisfactory to the 
Administrative Authority, but in no case for less than fifteen (15) minutes, with no 
perceptible drop in pressure. For welded piping, and piping carrying gas at 
pressures in excess of fourteen (14) inches (0.4 m) water column pressure, the 



 

Technical Codes    Page 37 of 38 
 

test pressure shall not be less than sixty (60) pounds per square inch (413.4 kPa) 
and shall be continued for a length of time satisfactory to the Administrative 
Authority, but in no case for less than thirty (30) minutes. These tests shall be made 
using air, Co2, or nitrogen pressure only and shall be made in the presence of the 
Administrative Authority. All necessary apparatus for conducting tests shall be 
furnished by the permit holder. 
 

j. Section P2603.5.1 Sewer Depth. Insert 12” (inch) inside both bracket locations. 
 

k. Section P2801.5 Required pan. Amend to read as follows: Where a storage tank-
type water heater or a hot water storage tank is installed in an attic or furred space 
where water leakage from the tank will cause damage, the tank shall be installed 
in a galvanized steel pan having a material thickness of not less than 0.0236 inch 
(0.6010 mm) (No. 24 gage), or other pans approved for such use. Listed pans shall 
comply with CSA LC3. 
 

l. Section P2904.1 General. Amend by adding “When installed” at the beginning of 
the first sentence. 
 

m. Section P2904.1.1 Required Sprinkler Locations. Amend by adding “When 
installed” at the beginning of the sentence. 

 
11. International Swimming Pool and Spa Code, 2012 Edition  

 
a. Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 

jurisdiction. 
b. Section 108 Means of Appeal. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: In 

order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by 
the Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical 
codes, there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall 
have the right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals 
pursuant to section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 

 
12. National Electrical Code, 2011 Edition 

 
a. Article 230 Services. New section 230.11 Performance Testing, added to read 

as follows: All service entry equipment and associated equipment rated 1000 
amps or more, or as otherwise required by the servicing utility company, or 
registered design professional shall be performance tested (high potential testing) 
when first installed on site.  The test shall be conducted in accordance with 
instructions that shall be provided with the equipment.  A written record of the test 
shall be made and shall be submitted to the authority having jurisdiction. 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 38 of 38 
 

b. Article 210 Branch Circuits.  Amend Section 210.11 © Dwelling Units by adding 
an item 4 to read: 

 
c. Article 690 Solar Photovoltaic (PV) Systems. New subsections added to read 

as follows: 690.12 Rapid Shutdown of PV Systems on Buildings.  PV system 
circuits installed on or in buildings shall include a rapid shutdown function that 
controls specific conductors in accordance with 690.12(1) through (5) as follows: 

 
(1) Requirements for controlled conductors shall apply only to PV system 

conductors of more than 1.5 m (5 ft) in length inside a building, or more than 
3 m (10 ft) from a PV array. 
 

(2) Controlled conductors shall be limited to not more than 30 volts and 240 volt-
amperes within 10 seconds of rapid shutdown initiation. 
 

(3) Voltage and power shall be measured between any two conductors and 
between any conductor and ground. 
 

(4) The rapid shutdown initiation methods shall be labeled in accordance with 
690.56(C). 
 

(5) Equipment that performs the rapid shutdown shall be listed and identified.  
690.56 Identification of Power Sources. 
 
(C) Facilities with Rapid Shutdown. Buildings or structures with both utility 
service and a PV system, complying with 690.12, shall have a permanent 
plaque or directory including the following wording: PHOTOVOLTAIC 
SYSTEM EQUIPPED WITH RAPID SHUTDOWN. The plaque or directory 
shall be reflective, with all letters capitalized and having a minimum height of 
9.5 mm (3/8” in.), in white on red background.  

  



People Helping People Build a Safer World™

2012 International Codes®
New Codes for a Changing World

ORDER YOUR CODES TODAY!
1-800-786-4452  |  www.iccsafe.org/2012icodes scroll for more changes 

New Editions Coming  
Spring–Summer 2011
2012 International Building Code

2012 International Residential Code

2012 International Fire Code

2012 International Energy Conservation Code

2012 International Plumbing Code

2012 International Mechanical Code

2012 International Fuel Gas Code

2012 International Private Sewage Disposal Code

2012 International Existing Building Code

2012 International Property Maintenance Code

2012 International Wildland-Urban Interface Code

2012 International Zoning Code

2012 ICC Performance Code for Buildings and Facilities

New I-Codes Coming Spring 2012
2012 International Green Construction Code

2012 International Swimming Pool and Spa Code

What’s New in the 2012 I-Codes? 
Key changes include:

2012 IBC®

Nonstructural
• All definitions are included in Chapter 2.
•  Classifications for a variety of health-care related 

facilities have been clarified.
•  Covered- and open-mall provisions revised to fully 

address the construction of open malls.
•  Clarified provisions for incidental-use rooms and spaces.
•  Modified provisions addressing exterior wall projections.
•  Reformatted requirements for protection of vertical 

openings through floors.
•  Automatic sprinkler systems required where furniture 

and mattresses are manufactured or stored.
•  Increased capacity for stairways and other egress 

components in buildings with sprinklers and an 
emergency communication system.

•  Clarification of when unenclosed stairways can be used 
as a part of the means of egress system, including how 
travel distance is measured.

•  In three- and four-exit buildings, some exits are now 
permitted to serve a portion of a story rather than an 
entire story.

Structural
•  Wind design requirements extensively revised.
•  Wind load maps are now based on ultimate design wind 

speeds.
•  New terminology for wind speeds.
•  Updated seismic ground motion maps.
•  The term “occupancy category” changed to “risk 

category.”
•  Special inspection requirements for structural steel 

and masonry construction are now based on referenced 
standards.

•  Penetration firestop and fire-resistant joint systems 
in high-rise buildings and in Risk Category III or IV 
structures require special inspection.

•  Modifications to the seismic provisions of ACI 318 
Appendix D.



ORDER YOUR CODES TODAY!
1-800-786-4452  |  www.iccsafe.org/2012icodes

11-04655

2012 IRC®

• New Seismic Design Categories maps.
• Wind design including new maps.
• Exterior wall clearances to lot lines.
• Wireless smoke alarms. 
• Prescriptive roof connections to resist wind uplift forces. 
•  Required clearance between townhouse separation walls 

and roof penetrations.
•  Prescriptive requirements for isolated masonry pier 

foundations.
•  Gypsum board under non fire-resistance rated floor 

assemblies.
•  Wall bracing provisions including a new simplified 

method.
• Prescriptive design of whole-house ventilation systems.
• Gray water recycling systems.

2012 IFC®

•  Complete reformatting into eight different parts that 
correlate to a specific area of regulation.

•  New requirements for: photovoltalic solar cells on 
roofs; mass notification fire alarm systems in large 
stadiums; portable fire extinguishers in Group A, B, 
and E occupancies; sub-atmospheric gas systems; and 
automated LP-Gas cylinder exchange cabinets.

•  Revised definitions for health, day and ambulatory care 
occupancies.

•  Clarified automatic sprinkler protection requirements for 
upholstered furniture.

• Revised requirements for specific dry cleaning plants.

2012 IECC®

•  A comprehensive set of changes includes measures 
to improve the thermal envelope, HVAC systems and 
electrical systems of residential buildings up to three 
stories in height. 

•  Commercial enhancements include required energy 
savings for windows, doors and skylights; thermal 
envelope efficiency; and increased efficiencies for 
installed HVAC equipment.

2012 IPC®

•  All plumbing products and materials are now required to 
be listed by a third party certification agency.

 •   Requirements for the design of a Siphonic Roof Drainage 
System have been added.

•  Gray water recycling requirements have moved to the 
body of the code in a new Chapter 13.

•  “Hydro-mechanical” and “Gravity” are the new terms for 
the two general types of grease interceptors.

•  Air admittance valves complying with standard ASSE 
1049 are now allowed for venting chemical waste 
systems.

•  The length of a combination waste and vent system is 
now unlimited.

• The Single Stack Vent System method has been added.
•  The code expands on suitable materials for pressurized 

sewage discharge applications and ratings.

2012 IMC®

•  New and existing mechanical systems must be 
maintained in accordance with ASHRAE/ACCA/ANSI 
Standard 180.

•  Parking garage exhaust now defined as environmental 
air.

•  Includes specifications for grease reservoirs in 
commercial cooking exhaust duct systems.

• Includes requirements for underground grease ducts.
•  Requires any combustible material in a return air plenum 

to be listed and labeled to verify compliance with ASTM 
E-84 or UL 723.

• Air dispersion systems are now allowed.
• New requirements for evaporative coolers.

2012 IFGC®

•  All piping, tubing and fittings in a fuel gas system must 
bear the manufacturer’s identification.

•  Clarification that gypsum board requires reduced 
clearances to combustibles the same as any other 
combustible material.

•  Requirement of flashback arrestors and check valves in 
fuel gas systems used with oxygen.



Town of Florence

May 6, 2019 Council Meeting



 The One Stop Shop team has been actively 
working towards adoption of the 2012 
Technical Codes for 18 months.
Council held a Work Session on  January 29, 
2018 to review the 2012 Codes.
Staff is recommending the adoption of the 
2012 Technical Codes with an effective date of 
July 1, 2019. 



Resolution No.  1693-19.
Adopts the Technical Codes by reference
One copy in Clerk’s Office
Electronic copy on Town website
Adopts the amendments and modification by 
reference in Exhibit “A”
Recommend approval on April 15, 2019. 



Ordinance No. 674-19 
Adopts the Codes by Reference
Codifies the Code to include all amendments to 
the Technical Codes
Adoption recommended for May 6, 2019
Effective day July 1, 2019
Must be advertised after adoption and posted in 
three locations.



Ordinance No. 675-19
 Each Technical Code has an appeal section with 
independent appeal requirements.
The amendments strikes appeal section and refers 
to Section 150.301 of the Town Code.
Suggested amendment include
Decision rendered in writing
Special Meetings held when necessary
¾ vote to overturn Code Official decision



2009

Accessible and Usable 
Buildings and Facilities 
ICC A117.1, 2009 
Edition Standards 

2012

International Building 
Code, 2012 Edition, 
with Appendix C & I;

2012

International Energy 
Conservation Code, 
2012 Edition is 
voluntary;

2012

International Existing 
Building Code, 2012 
Edition;

2012

International Fire Code, 
2012 Edition, with 
Appendix B, C, D, E, F, 
G, H & I

2012

International Fuel Gas 
Code, 2012 Edition;

2012

International 
Mechanical Code, 2012 
Edition;



International 
Plumbing Code, 

2012 Edition

International 
Property 

Maintenance Code, 
2012 Edition;

International 
Residential Code, 
2012 Edition, with 

Appendix G, H & P;

International 
Swimming Pool 
and Spa Code, 
2012 Edition;

National Electrical 
Code, 2011 

Edition;



ABANDONED. A building that is no longer used or occupied by its owner or other legally permitted occupant and the building does not meet the 
definition of Unoccupied Structure as determined by the Building Official. Evidence of building being abandoned includes a vacant building with any two 
of the following: lack of visible activity or use; overgrown or dead vegetation; accumulation of trash, junk or debris; absence of furnishings; evidence of 
criminal mischief or criminal trespass; evidence of dilapidation, decay, damage, deterioration; nonpayment or disconnection of utilities.

Unoccupied Structure.  A building with a documented Certificate of Occupancy that has maintained the appearance of the building, maintained the 
utilities as required for fire protection and security, and is actively seeking occupancy either through sale or lease through customary commercial 
methods.  To maintain this status an owner must have owner-initiated inspections and approval from the Town of Florence building officials every 12 
months for a period of no longer than 36 months from initial vacancy.  If a building has an approved fire alarm or fire sprinkler system, the building may 
retain the classification of Unoccupied Structure beyond 36 months.   Buildings that no longer meet the definition of Unoccupied Structure are either 
Vacant or Abandoned. 

VACANT. A building that is no longer used or occupied by its owner or other legally permitted occupant. A building that no longer meets the 
requirement of an unoccupied structure as defined.



An extended time could be allowed for an Unoccupied Structure if the building 
complied with the following requirements:

1. Building must have a documented Certificate of Occupancy for the type of occupancy in 
current existence.

A. If an owner does not have a Certificate of Occupancy, one must be obtained prior to the building 
being vacated. (no permit fees). (This will assist in the Town’s voluntary C of O compliance 
process.)

B. Owner-initiated inspection with Code Officials and approval by Code Officials (Building and 
Fire Officials). This inspection will only address existing fire protection and life safety issues.  An 
example would include the following:  exit signs operational, exits not blocked or locked, fire 
extinguishers installed with current certifications, cooking equipment and hood vents and fire 
suppression systems operational and with current certification if applicable, unsafe exposed 
electrical, unsafe cords, or power strips, business is operating as permitted. Other items under 
typical annual inspection such as obvious life or fire safety items.



2. Utilities required for fire protection and security must remain connected and 
usable. 

3. Building must be maintained as if occupied.

4. Owner must be actively listing building for lease or sale through customary 
commercial methods.

5. An annual inspection by the Fire Department, must have been performed within 
12 months prior to vacancy and resulting in a passed inspection. 

6. Owner-initiated inspection upon vacancy resulting in a passed inspection. 



7. Owner-initiated inspections are required annually by Code Officials and 
conducted no greater than 12 months between inspections for a period no 
longer than 36 months from initial vacancy.

8. Buildings that does not have an approved fire alarm or sprinkler system and has 
been continuously unoccupied for more than 36 consecutive months the existing 
Certificate of Occupancy will be revoked.

9. At any point a new tenant occupies the building, under the same occupant type 
and similar use, the building would require an initial inspection by the Code 
Officials (Fire and Building).  

10. If annual inspections of unoccupied buildings are not scheduled and do not 
remain current, existing Certificate of Occupancy will be revoked



 The Town is continuing the no fee for application for a certificate of 
occupancy until December 31, 2019.  Note: This does not apply to change 
of occupancy.
 Buildings that are currently occupied, but do not have a certificate of 

occupancy, are required to obtain a certificate of occupancy.  

 At any point a buildings occupant classification or use changes the 
Certificate of Occupancy is revoked and building will be required to 
meet the required provisions of the adopted technical codes. 

 Anytime alteration work area exceeds 50 percent of the aggregate area of 
the building the building will be required to meet all provisions of the 
adopted technical codes. 

 Vacant or abandoned buildings that do not have a certificate of 
occupancy will require to meet all provisions of the adopted technical 
codes. 

 Individual cases are just that individual, each building may have varying 
compliance issues.   This is not a one size fits all type of process. 



Town of Florence

April 15, 2019 Council Meeting



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM 
 8c. 

MEETING DATE:  May 6, 2019  
 
DEPARTMENT:  One Stop Shop 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Lisa Garcia/James Allen/John Kemp 
 
SUBJECT:  Ordinance No. 674-19: Adoption of the 2012 
International Building Codes. 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
  Other 
Subject:   Ordinance No. 674‐19 adopting 2012 Codes   Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 1 of 3 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality        Economic Prosperity   Leadership and Governance     

 Partnership and Relationships         Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Adoption of Ordinance No.  674-19: AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL 
COUNTY, ARIZONA, ADOPTING THE FOLLOWING PUBLICATIONS WITH APPENDICES 
AND TOWN OF FLORENCE AMENDMENTS, AS LISTED HEREIN, ARE ADOPTED BY 
REFERENCE. REGULATING AND GOVERNING THE CONDITIONS AND MAINTENANCE 
OF ALL PROPERTY, BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES; BY PROVIDING THE STANDARDS 
FOR SUPPLIED UTILITIES AND FACILITIES AND OTHER PHYSICAL THINGS AND 
CONDITIONS ESSENTIAL TO ENSURE THAT STRUCTURES ARE SAFE, SANITARY AND 
FIT FOR OCCUPATION AND USE; AND CONDEMNATION OF BUILDINGS AND 
STRUCTURES UNFIT FOR HUMAN OCCUPANCY AND USE AND DEMOLITION OF SUCH 
STRUCTURES IN THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA; PROVIDING FOR THE 
ISSUANCE OF PERMITS AND COLLECTION OF FEES THEREFORE; REPEALING 
SECTION 150.300 OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES AND ALL 
OTHER ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF LAWS IN CONFLICT THEREWITH.   
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
Building Codes are a set of rules that detail the minimum acceptable level of safety for 
erected structures. The main purpose of the codes is to protect public health, safety and 
general welfare as it relates to construction and occupancy of building and structures. 
Once adopted the code becomes the formal regulation of the Town and is considered 
standard building practice. 
 



Subject:   Ordinance No. 674‐19 adopting 2012 Codes   Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 2 of 3 

At the recommendation of the International Code Council (ICC), an association of building 
professionals which establish building and construction standards, the Town of Florence 
is taking steps toward updating and implementing 2012 International Building Codes in 
an effort to improve Town building standards. The International Codes (I-Codes) provide 
minimum building safeguards for commercial, residential, and institutional structures 
benefiting public safety and creating a building standard across the country without 
jurisdictional limitations. The I - Codes have been adopted in all fifty states and the District 
of Columbia; these codes are utilized at the local, state, and Federal level and have 
become the accepted practice in building construction. 
 
ICC Building Codes are updated every 3 years and can have significant impact on how 
future development is regulated within a Town or City. 
 
The Town of Florence has spent the past 18 months dedicated to: 
 Crafting necessary amendments to the 2012 ICC 
 Ensuring that our amendments are user and customer friendly with regard to 

understanding and life safety specific information and regulations 
 Cleaning up deficiencies and ambiguities in the 2006 ICC by way of removing 

sections that were no longer needed due to changes in the new Code 
 Adding language specifically applicable to the community we live in 
 Attempting to standardize requirements, as much as possible, to properly 

implement a "One Stop Shop" that will make it easier for the general public and the 
building trades to work in this area, without compromising life safety 

 Come up with a product that would be understandable, enforceable, and life 
safety oriented while taking into consideration our customers' needs 
 

 Purpose for the adoption of the 2012 ICC 
o Our present code (2006 ICC) is 10 years old 3 code cycles have past 
o The 2012 ICC addresses new technology in the construction industry 
o Our present ISO Rating assumes code updates every 6 years 

 
The attached document is for informational purposes only and includes a list of significant 
changes between the 2006 and 2012 International Codes. 
 
Attached is the general tabular outline detailing the more significant changes that occurred 
from the 2006 I Codes to the 2012 I Codes.  
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 
 
A no vote would mean that the Town of Florence will not proceed at this time with adopting the 
2012 Codes.  
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 
 
A yes vote would mean that that Town of Florence has adopted the 2012 Technical Codes and 
they will be effective on July 1, 2019. 
 
 



Subject:   Ordinance No. 674‐19 adopting 2012 Codes   Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 3 of 3 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
If the codes are successfully updated, the Town will need to advertise the adoption ordinance 
as well as codify the Exhibit of the Resolution into the Code of Ordinances. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Ordinance No. 674-19 
 



ORDINANCE NO.  674-19 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, 
ARIZONA, ADOPTING THE FOLLOWING PUBLICATIONS WITH 
APPENDICES AND TOWN OF FLORENCE AMENDMENTS, AS LISTED 
HEREIN, ARE ADOPTED BY REFERENCE; REGULATING AND 
GOVERNING THE CONDITIONS AND MAINTENANCE OF ALL 
PROPERTY, BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES; BY PROVIDING THE 
STANDARDS FOR SUPPLIED UTILITIES AND FACILITIES AND OTHER 
PHYSICAL THINGS AND CONDITIONS ESSENTIAL TO ENSURE THAT 
STRUCTURES ARE SAFE, SANITARY AND FIT FOR OCCUPATION 
AND USE; AND CONDEMNATION OF BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES 
UNFIT FOR HUMAN OCCUPANCY AND USE AND DEMOLITION OF 
SUCH STRUCTURES IN THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA; 
PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF PERMITS AND COLLECTION OF 
FEES THEREFOR; REPEALING SECTION 150.300 OF THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES AND ALL OTHER ORDINANCES 
OR PARTS OF LAWS IN CONFLICT THEREWITH; AND PROVIDING 
FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF JULY 1, 2019. 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of Florence (the “Town”), 

Arizona, support the ongoing evaluation and assessment of the Technical Codes and the 
occasional adoption of new codes that are in the best interest of the Town; and 

 
WHEREAS, Technical Codes are provided for the purpose of protecting the public 

health, safety and welfare of the residents and visitors of Florence; and 
 
WHEREAS, a certain document entitled " Technical Code Updates", including all 

Appendices, one paper copy and one electronic copy on the Town’s website which is on 
file in the Office of the Town Clerk, of the Town of Florence, which document was made 
a public record by Resolution No 1693-19, is hereby referred to, adopted and made a part 
hereof as if fully set forth in this Ordinance; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the Technical Code updates as adopted by Resolution No. 1693-19 

are regulating and governing the conditions and maintenance of all property, buildings 
and structures; by providing the standards for supplied utilities and facilities and other 
physical things and conditions essential to ensure that structures are safe, sanitary and 
fit for occupation and use; and condemnation of buildings and structures unfit for human 
occupancy and use and demolition of such structures in the Town of Florence, Arizona; 
providing for the issuance of permits and collection of fees therefor; and all the 
regulations, provisions, penalties, conditions and terms of said codes; and   

 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the Town to amend the Town of Florence 

Code of Ordinances, as provided herein, to support the adoption of the Technical Codes 
with all Appendices as set forth in Exhibit “A” attached to Resolution No. 1693-19. 

 



NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of 
Florence, Arizona, as follows: 

 
Section 1.  Should there be any conflicting provision of the Technical Codes with 

any other Codes and regulations adopted by the Town of Florence, the more restrictive 
code requirement shall take precedence. 

 
Section 2.  That Title XV Land Usage of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances 

is hereby amended with the following amendments to Section 150.300 Codes Adopted of 
the of Technical Codes with addendums, appendices, and alternatives as included and 
on file at the Clerk’s Office and online electronically per Resolution No. 1693-19, Exhibit 
“A”, and as codified in the Town Code of Ordinances.   
The following publications are adopted by reference: 
 

TECHNICAL CODES 
§ 150.300 CODES ADOPTED 

 
A. International Building Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix B, C & I; 
B. International Residential Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix G, H & P; 
C. International Mechanical Code, 2012 Edition; 
D. International Plumbing Code, 2012 Edition; 
E. International Property Maintenance Code, 2012 Edition; 
F. International Fuel Gas Code, 2012 Edition; 
G. International Energy Conservation Code, 2006 Edition; 

International Energy Conservation Code, 2012 Edition is voluntary; 
H. International Existing Building Code, 2012 Edition; 
I. International Swimming Pool and Spa Code, 2012 Edition; 
J. National Electrical Code, 2011 Edition; 
K. Accessible and Usable Buildings and Facilities ICC A117.1, 2009 Edition 

Standards; 
L. 2015 ADA  
M. International Fire Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H & I 

 
Section 4.  That if any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this 

legislation is, for any reason held to be unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance.  The Town of Florence, Arizona hereby 
declares that it would have passed this law, and each section, subsection, clause or 
phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, 
sentences, clauses and phrases be declared unconstitutional. 

 
Section 5. That nothing in this legislation or in the Technical Codes hereby adopted 

shall be construed to affect any suit or proceeding impending in any court, or any rights 
acquired, or liability incurred, or any cause or causes of action acquired or existing, under 



any act or ordinance hereby repealed as cited in section 3 of this law; nor shall any just 
or legal right or remedy of any character be lost, impaired or affected by this legislation. 

 
Section 6. That the Town of Florence, Arizona is hereby ordered and directed to 

cause this legislation to be published on the Town’s website as and as and is hereby 
codified in the Town Code. 

 
Section 7. That this law and the rules, regulations, provisions, requirements, orders 

and matters established and adopted hereby shall take effect and be in full force and 
effect July 1, 2019. 

 
Section 8. Criminal Penalty: Among other penalties that may apply, including 

revocation or suspension of a license (when applicable), any person who violates any 
provision of this article, whether or not the act is specifically stated as being unlawful, 
shall be guilty of a class 3 misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished as 
provided in Section 10.99 of the Town Code.  

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence, 

Arizona, on this 6th day of May 2019. 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk    Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
8d.    

MEETING DATE:  May 6, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Administration 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 
 
SUBJECT:  Ordinance No. 675-19: Appeal Board Update  

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    
Subject:  Ordinance No. 675-19 Appeal Board Update Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Ordinance No. 675-19: AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, 
ARIZONA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES BY 
MODIFYING SECTION 150.301; TITLED BOARD OF APPEALS; BY INSERTING NEW 
TEXT AS UNDERLINED AND DELETING TEXT BY STRIKETHROUGH.  (First reading held 
April 15) 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
With the adoption of the 2012 Codes, staff has removed the appeal section of each code 
and replaced the language with the following:  
 
Appeal section of the Technical Codes will be deleted in its entirety and replace as follows: 
In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by the 
Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical codes, there 
shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the right to appeal 
a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to Section 150.301 of 
the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 
 
Staff is suggesting the following additions and or amendments Section 150.301:  
 
301(B) 6 is added to read as follows:  
 



Subject:  Ordinance No. 675-19 Appeal Board Update Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

1. The Board shall render all decisions and findings in writing to the appellant with a 
duplicate copy to the Building Official and Fire Code Official.  

 
130(C) 2 and 3 are amended to read as follows: 

  
1. The Board shall hold one regular meeting a month hold Special Meetings when 

business is pending before the Board, unless otherwise directed by the Chairman.  
Special Board meetings may be called by the Building Official, Fire Code Official, 
Chairman, or two members of the Board. 
 

2. Quorum.  Three members of the Board shall constitute a quorum.  The affirmative 
vote of the majority of members present shall be required for the passage of 
general business any matters before the Board.  In order to reverse the decision 
or modify, order, or determination of the Building Official or Fire Code Official a 
two-thirds affirmative vote of the voting members of the Appeals Board is required.  

The first reading of Ordinance No. 675-19 was done on April 15, 2019.  
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

A no vote would be that the code would remain unchanged. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

The Town Code would be codified to include the changes as listed in the background 
section.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Ordinance No. 675-19  



Ordinance No. 675-19 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL 
COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES BY MODIFYING 
SECTION 150.301; TITLED BOARD OF APPEALS; BY 
INSERTING NEW TEXT AS UNDERLINED AND DELETING 
TEXT BY STRIKETHROUGH.  
 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of Florence, 
Arizona, as follows: 

 Section 150.301, Board of Appeals. 

(A) CREATION, MEMBERSHIP, PURPOSE, FILING DEADLINE. 
 

1. In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions or determinations made 
by the Building Official, or Fire Code Official, relative to the application and 
interpretation of the Town’s adopted technical codes, there shall be and is hereby 
created a Board of Appeals (the “Board”).  The Board shall consist of five voting 
members, who are qualified by experience and training to pass upon matters 
pertaining to building construction, who are qualified by experience and training to 
pass on matters pertaining to hazards of fire, explosions, hazardous conditions or 
fire protections systems and the Town’s adopted technical codes.  Members shall 
not be employees of the Town of Florence. Members may include persons who 
reside outside the boundaries of the Town of Florence.  The Building Official and 
Fire Code Official shall be ex officio members of the Board and shall act as 
secretary to the Board, but they shall have no vote upon any matter before the 
Board. 
 

2. The Board is appointed by the Town Council and shall hold office at the pleasure 
of the Town Council.  The Board shall adopt rules of procedure for conducting its 
business.  
 

3. An application for appeal by an aggrieved person shall be based on a claim that 
the true intent of the relevant technical code or the rules legally adopted by the 
Town have been incorrectly interpreted, the provisions of the code do not fully 
apply, an equally good or better form of construction is proposed, or an equivalent 
method of protection or safety is proposed.  The Board shall provide a means by 
which aggrieved persons, after having proceeded through the administrative 
appeal process, may have a method by which to appeal said decision or 
regulations.  
 

4. The Administrative Appeal is the start of the appeal process to the Town’s adopted 
technical codes.  It is a weekly, no fee, informal procedure in which the applicant 
and Building Official and/or Fire Code Official meet to resolve the item under 
consideration.  



 
5. Appeals to the Administrative Appeal process or Board of Appeals are to be made 

within twenty (20) calendar days from receiving such notice of a final decision by 
the Building Official or Fire Code Official, on the form provided by the Building 
Official.  
 

(B) POWERS. 
 

1. The Board my approve the use of alternate materials or methods of construction; 
provided the alternate is for the purpose intended and the equivalent of that 
prescribed in the Town’s adopted technical codes in suitability, strength, 
effectiveness, fire-resistance, durability, safety, and sanitation.  
 

2. The Board on request or on its own motion, may provide reasonable  interpretation 
of the technical provisions of the adopted technical codes in special cases when it 
appears that the provisions of the code are inadequate and do not cover the point 
in question.  “Technical provisions” shall mean all provisions except the 
administrative provisions. 
 

3. Any person directly affected by a decision of the Building Official or Fire Code 
Official applying to the technical provisions of the adopted technical codes or to an 
alternate material or method of construction may request to appear before the 
Board. 
 

4. The Board shall have no authority to waive requirements of the technical codes. 
 

5. Any person directly affected by a decision of the Building Official or Fire Code 
Official or a notice or order issued under the technical codes shall have the right 
to appeal to the Board of Appeals, provided that a written application to appeal is 
filed in the Office of the Town Clerk within twenty (20) days after the decision, 
notice, or order was served.  Application for appeal shall be based on a claim that: 
the true intent of the relevant technical code or the rules legally adopted by the 
Town have been incorrectly interpreted, the provisions of the code do not fully 
apply, an equally good or better form of construction is proposed, or an equivalent 
method of protection or safety is proposed. The Board shall have no authority to 
waive the requirements of the technical codes.  
 

6. The Board shall render all decisions and findings in writing to the appellant with a 
duplicate copy to the Building Official and Fire Code Official.  
 

7. The Board may recommend new legislation to the Town Council, provided such is 
consistent therewith. 

(C) MEETINGS. 

1. General.  Upon receipt, in proper form, of the notice of appeal, the Board shall 
proceed to hold a public hearing upon the appeal at which all persons whose 



property is directly affected, and the general public shall be given an opportunity 
to be heard. 
 
The Town Council will receive and file all minutes of the Board in a public meeting.  
The Board’s minutes will include all Board proceedings, showing the vote of each 
member and all actions taken shall be kept.  Records of its examination, minutes, 
and other official actions shall be filed in the office of the Town Clerk and shall be 
open to public inspection except as otherwise specifically provided by law. 
 

2. The Board shall hold one regular meeting a month hold Special Meetings when 
business is pending before the Board, unless otherwise directed by the Chairman.  
Special Board meetings may be called by the Building Official, Fire Code Official, 
Chairman, or two members of the Board. 
 

3. Quorum.  Three members of the Board shall constitute a quorum.  The affirmative 
vote of the majority of members present shall be required for the passage of 
general business any matters before the Board.  In order to reverse the decision 
or modify, order, or determination of the Building Official or Fire Code Official a 
two-thirds affirmative vote of the voting members of the Appeals Board is required.  
 

4. Staying of Proceedings.  An appeal stays all proceedings in the matter appealed 
from, unless the Building Official or Fire Code Official certifies to the Board that, in 
his/her opinion by the facts stated in the certificate, there is reasonable cause that 
a stay could cause a hazard or is otherwise dangerous to human life or the public 
welfare.  Upon such certification, proceedings shall not be stayed, except by a 
restraining order granted by a Court of Record on application and notice to the 
Building Official and Fire Code Official.  
 

(D) APPOINTMENT. 

1. General. The Board shall consist of five members appointed by the Town Council.  
Members may be made up of qualified persons serving on Town boards or 
commissions or that may be otherwise qualified through their profession. Members 
may include persons who reside outside the boundaries of the Town of Florence.  
Those persons who are currently Board members shall continue to hold their 
positions pursuant to the terms and conditions of this chapter.  
 

2. Officers.  The Board shall elect a Chairman and Vice-Chairman from among its 
members, neither of whom shall be an ex officio member.  The Chairman (or the 
acting Chairman in the Chairman’s absence or disqualification) shall have the 
power to administer oaths and take evidence. 
 

3. Membership of Board. The Board of Appeals shall consist of five members who 
are qualified by experience and training to pass on matters pertaining to building 
construction and property maintenance and who are not employees of the Town 



of Florence.  The Building Official and Fire Code Official shall be ex-officio 
members but shall not vote on any matters before the Board.  
 

4. Term.  The term of office of a member shall be staggered and overlapping four 
years.   The Chairman and Vice-Chairman shall serve for a one-year period or until 
their successors are elected.  

(E) ADMINISTRATIVE APPEAL.  Whenever an applicant wishes to appeal the decision 
of the Building Official or Fire Code Official because of code interpretation, unreasonable 
hardship, special circumstances/conditions that are not self-imposed, or other acceptable 
reasons prior to the issuance of a final Certificate of Occupancy, such no fee appeal may 
be made to be heard by the Building Official or Fire Code Official as follows: 

1. The applicant shall file a written appeal fully describing the situation, on or before 
12:00 p.m.  Friday of each week. The application shall bear the name, address, 
and signature of the applicant, along with a description of the matter in sufficient 
detail to provide reasonable notice to the Building Official or Fire Code Official of 
the issues to be presented.   
 

2. The appeal will be heard at a regular time to be specified by the Building Official. 
 

3. The Building Official or Fire Code Official may use a nonvoting hearing committee 
consisting of such staff or other technical persons as she/he deems appropriate. 
 

4. If an appeal is disapproved, the applicant shall comply with the final decision of the 
Building Official or Fire Code Official or make application and pay the applicable 
fee to appear before the Board of Appeals.  Such application shall be made within 
twenty (20) days after the Building Official’s, or Fire Code Official’s final decision. 
 

(F)  BOARD CALENDAR.   The Board shall decide on any matter within twenty (20) 
calendar days after the date of the hearing thereon and such decisions shall be final. 

(G) COURT REVIEW.  Any person aggrieved by a decision of the Board may at any time 
within thirty (30) days after the Board’s decision file an appeal with the Pinal County 
Superior Court by the various methods of procedure as set forth by the applicable State 
Statues.  

(H) REAPPLICATION.  In the event that an appeal is denied or technically denied by the 
Board, the Board shall reserve the right to refuse to consider another appeal on the same 
subject matter under like circumstances within one year from the date of hearing of the 
previous appeal.  

(I) EXECUTIVE SESSIONS.  Executive Sessions of the Board of Appeals may be held 
for only those reasons and pursuant to those conditions authorized by State Law, 
including the Town’s adopted technical codes.  No executive sessions may be held for 
the purpose of taking any final action or making any final decision. 



(J) FINANCIAL.  The Board of Appeals shall not incur debts nor make any purchases or 
enter into any contracts binding the Town. 

(K) CONFLICT OF INTEREST.  Any member of this Board of Appeals who has a conflict 
of interest in any matter brought before this Board of Appeals, shall make known such 
interest in the minutes of the Board of Appeals and shall refrain from voting upon or 
otherwise participating in any manner in such matter.  The existence of conflict of interest 
shall be determined by reference to the State Law and Town Codes. 

(L) FEES. An Application to appear before the Board shall be accompanied by the 
necessary documents along with the prescribed nonrefundable application fee. 

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance or 
any part of these amendments to the Town Code adopted herein   is for any reason held 
to be invalid or unconstitutional by the decisions of any court of competent jurisdiction, 
such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence, 

Arizona, on this 6th day of May 2019. 
 
 

___________________________ 
 Tara Walter, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 

 
__________________________           
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk    Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 
 



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
8e. 

MEETING DATE:  May 6, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Administration 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town 
Manager/Town Clerk 
 
SUBJECT:  Ordinance No. 673-19: Regulation of Mobile Food 
Units 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 
Subject:  Ordinance No. 673-19 Regulation of Mobile Food Units Meeting Date: May 6, 2019 
Page 1 of 3 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Second reading and adoption of Ordinance No. 673-19: AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN 
OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCE, ARIZONA, TITLE XI BUSINESS REGULATIONS, BY ADOPTING A NEW 
CHAPTER 111 RELATING TO THE REGULATION OF MOBILE FOOD UNITS; 
ESTABLISHING A PURPOSE; SETTING FORTH DEFINITIONS; PROVIDING FOR 
PERMIT REQUIREMENTS; ESTABLISHING OPERATIONAL REQUIREMENTS; 
SETTING FORTH VIOLATIONS; ESTABLISHING PENALTIES; AND SETTING FORTH 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
In 2018 House Bill (HB) B2371 established a statewide food and health safety licensing 
standards for mobile food vending operations, intended specifically for food trucks.  Of 
interest to cities and towns are the provisions of the new law that standardize the local 
regulation of food truck operations, including provisions related to use of public parking 
spaces, required fire and safety inspections, operations on private property and required 
spacing distances from existing bricks-and-mortar restaurants, among others.  
 
The sponsor of this legislation, Representative Kevin Payne (R-Peoria), asserted the 
necessity for uniformity across the state due to the recent growth and popularity of the 
industry and operations that extend beyond jurisdictional boundaries of many 



Subject:  Ordinance No. 673-19 Regulation of Mobile Food Units Meeting Date: May 6, 2019 
Page 2 of 3 

communities, where the industry claims there has been inconsistent enforcement of local 
codes and ordinances.  
 
The League convened a small group of attorneys to draft a model ordinance to comply 
with the legislation and provide for consistent regulation the industry is seeking.  The 
League included suggestions from the National League of Cities and other city codes 
from across the country, feedback from the National Food Truck Association, and met 
with local food truck vendors to discuss the draft ordinance and incorporate their 
feedback.  
 
Vendors expressed these provisions are the most important to their industry to have 
standardized and adopting these will most likely avoid further state regulation and 
preemption in this area.  
 
Below are some highlights of the model ordinance:  
 
Parking  
The ordinance excludes parking in Town-owned lots unless a vendor has permission from 
the city or town. Vendors are limited to use one space on a Town-owned lot and must 
request permission to use more parking spaces.  
 
Time limits on use of legal parking spaces is limited to no more than six (6) hours in a 24-
hour period unless other restrictions apply.  Vendors are prohibited from establishing an 
exclusive right to park at a particular street location.  
 
Parking on private property will require proof of permission from the property owner and 
there is an option included to establish a 96-hour time limit with exceptions.  
 
Operational Requirements  
This section contains the provisions that are most important to the industry to have 
standardized among all cities and towns, including requirements for fire inspections, utility 
hookups, site management, trash removal, noise, and parking and location restrictions, 
among others.  
 
Fire and Safety Inspections  
Arizona Fire Marshall’s Association has approved the standard inspection protocol for 
food trucks.  The Arizona Fire Marshall’s inspection form was provided to all municipalities 
and in attached hereto.  
 
Fees  
The fee amounts are the same as the amount for an annual business license, $50 per 
year. 
 
The first reading of Ordinance No. 673-19 was held on April 15, 2019.  
 
 
 



Subject:  Ordinance No. 673-19 Regulation of Mobile Food Units Meeting Date: May 6, 2019 
Page 3 of 3 

A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

A No vote would mean that the Town of Florence would not be in compliance with House 
Bill B2371 which established a statewide food and health safety licensing standards for 
mobile food vending operations, intended specifically for food trucks. 

A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

A Yes vote would mean that the Town of Florence is compliant with House Bill B2371 
which established a statewide food and health safety licensing standards for mobile food 
vending operations, intended specifically for food trucks. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

None 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Ordinance No. 673-19 
Map 
Fire Cover Letter and Form 



ORDINANCE NO. 673-19 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, 
ARIZONA, AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCE, ARIZONA, TITLE 
XI BUSINESS REGULATIONS, BY ADOPTING A NEW CHAPTER 111 
RELATING TO THE REGULATION OF MOBILE FOOD UNITS; 
ESTABLISHING A PURPOSE; SETTING FORTH DEFINITIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR PERMIT REQUIREMENTS; ESTABLISHING 
OPERATIONAL REQUIREMENTS; SETTING FORTH VIOLATIONS; 
ESTABLISHING PENALTIES; AND SETTING FORTH AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE.  

 
WHEREAS, the Town is authorized to enact and enforce regulations and zoning 

codes regulating to mobile food units or mobile food vendors that are not otherwise 
prohibited by law; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Town is authorized to regulate mobile food vendors pursuant to 
applicable law, including Arizona Revised Statutes Sections 9-485, 9-485.01, 9-485.02, 
and 36-1761; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town recognizes that mobile food vendors create opportunities 

for economic development and can provide affordable, food [and goods] at a variety of 
locations and events; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town seeks to protect public health, safety and welfare through a 

reasonable regulatory program of mobile food vendors that includes safety standards and 
parking regulations; and 
 

WHEREAS, with these regulations, the Town ensures that mobile food vendors 
comply with applicable law, including building, health, and sanitation codes, as applicable; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town seeks to minimize potential traffic safety threats by mobile 

food vendors who may impede the free flow of traffic, distract vehicle operators from 
observing traffic regulations, obstruct the view of pedestrians and vehicle operators, and 
encourage pedestrians who wish to inquire about services to cross the street in an unsafe 
and illegal manner.  

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of 
Florence, Arizona, as follows:  

Section I. In General.  

The Code of Ordinances in Florence, Arizona, Article XI, Chapter 111, is hereby amended 
by adding a new Chapter 111, Mobile Food Vendors to read as follows:  
 
Chapter 111 
Sec. 111.01 Purpose  
Sec. 111.02 Definitions  



Sec. 111.03 Compliance with State Licensing Requirements  
Sec. 111.04 Licensing Requirements  
Sec. 111.05 Operational Requirements  
Sec. 111.06 Violations; Suspension; Revocation  
Sec. 111.07 Fines; Penalties  
  
Sec. 111.01 Purpose.  
 
This article is adopted to protect the health, safety and welfare of the community of the 
Town of Florence (“Town”) by enacting reasonable regulation for mobile food vendors, 
their employees, agents, lessees or independent contractors by requiring compliance with 
minimum standards for safety and security.  
 
Sec. 111.02 Definitions.  
 
The below words and phrases, wherever used in this article shall be construed as defined 
in this section unless, clearly from the context, a different meaning is intended.  Words 
used in the present tense include the future tense, words in the plural number include the 
singular number, and words in the singular number include the plural number.  
 

A. “Applicant” means the person who applies for a license pursuant to this article. 
 

B. “Controlling person” means a natural person who either (A) has a ten percent 
(10%) or greater interest in the ownership or earnings of the mobile merchant 
business, or (B) is any of the following:  
 
1. An officer, director, or any stockholder who owns ten percent (10%) or more, 

of a corporation licensee/applicant;  
 

2. A general partner of a limited partnership licensee/applicant or partner of a 
non-limited partnership licensee/applicant;  

 
3. An officer, president, member or secretary of a limited liability 

company/corporation licensee/applicant; or  
 
4. The sole proprietor of a sole proprietorship licensee/applicant.  

 
C. “Designated agent” means the person designated by the licensee/applicant to 

receive notices from the Town pursuant to this article.  
D. “Legal parking space”:  

 
1.  Means an area designated for vehicle parking in the Town right-of-way that 

may be paved or unpaved and may be delineated by road surface markings. 
  

2.  Does not include a parking space in a parking lot on property owned by the 
Town.  

 
E. “Permittee” means the person who applied for a permittee pursuant to this article 

and in whose name such permittee was issued by the Town pursuant to this article. 



F. "Mobile food unit" means a food establishment that is licensed by this state, that is 
readily movable and that dispenses food or beverages for immediate service and 
consumption and other incidental retail items from any vehicle as defined in 
Arizona Revised Statutes Section 28-101.  
 

G. "Mobile food vendor" means any person who owns, controls, manages or leases 
a mobile food unit or contracts with a person to prepare foods and vend from, drive 
or operate a mobile food unit.  
 

H. “Mobile merchant” means any person who sells any type of tangible personal 
property, including, but not limited to, food and drink, at or adjacent to the person’s 
mobile sales unit in which such tangible personal property is carried. This definition 
shall not include any person working or acting for a person holding a mobile 
merchant permit issued in accordance with this section.  
 

I. “Mobile sales unit” means any vehicle used for carrying tangible personal property 
for sale at or adjacent to the vehicle in which such tangible personal property is 
carried.  
 

J. Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation, association or any other 
entity of whatever kind or nature.  
 

K. “Right-of-way” means an area of land owned or controlled by the Town and is used 
for street or highway purposes.  
 

L. “Semi-permanent structure” means equipment, or any dining area, including, but 
not limited to, tables, chairs, booths, bar stools, benches, and standup counters.  

 
Sec. 111.03 Compliance with State Licensing Requirements.  
 

A. It shall be unlawful for any person to operate a mobile food unit or act as a mobile 
food vendor without having first obtained a valid license from the State of Arizona 
Department of Health Services, pursuant to A.R.S. § 36-1761.  
 

Sec. 111.04 Permit Requirements.  
 

A. It shall be unlawful for a person to operate a mobile food unit at any location within 
the Town without obtaining a permit from the Town Clerk in accordance with the 
Town Code. The mobile food vendor shall comply with the requirements of this 
article.  

 
B. A permit issued, pursuant to this article, including a renewal of a permit, is valid 

from the date of issuance through December 31st of that year if the mobile food 
vendor is in compliance with this article. The permit is nontransferable. 

  
Sec. 111.05 Operational Requirements.  
 

A. It is unlawful for any person to operate a mobile food unit that does not meet the 
requirements in this section. 



B. Fire Safety and Inspection.  A mobile food vendor must ensure that all mobile food 
unit comply with the version of the International Fire Code in effect at the time when 
the permit is issued, state law, and the Town Code relating to fire and explosion 
safety standards.  
 

C. A mobile food unit) shall be inspected by the Town’s Fire Department, or the mobile 
food vendor shall provide evidence that the mobile food unit passed a fire 
inspection by another city or town fire department in this state within the preceding 
twelve (12) months.  
 

D. Refuse, Trash and Litter Maintenance. A mobile food unit shall:  
 

1. Provide a minimum of one fifteen (15) gallon trash receptacle within fifteen 
(15) feet of each individual mobile food unit for customers and employees; 
 

2. Maintain an area around the mobile unit clear of litter, garbage, rubble and 
debris; and  

 
3. Transport the trash from the area of operation to an authorized waste disposal 

location.  
 

E. Noise Restrictions. 
  
1. A mobile food vendor shall not use, play, or caused to be used or played any 

amplifier, loudspeaker, microphone, amplified music, or any other amplified 
instrument or device used for the production of sound in a vending area when 
the motor vehicle or mobile food unit from which mobile food vendor is vending 
is stationary or mobile upon any right-of-way, park or other public place.  For 
the purposes of this subsection, the factors for determining whether a sound 
is amplified include, but are not limited to, the following:  
 

i. The proximity of the sound to sleeping facilities, whether residential or 
commercial; 
 

ii. The land use, nature, and zoning of the area from which the sound 
emanates and the area where it is received or perceived;  
 

iii. The time of day or night when the sound occurs; it shall be presumed that 
any amplified noise between 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. is disturbing to the 
public in violation of this section;  
 

iv. The duration of the sound; and  
 

v. Whether the sound is recurrent, intermittent, or constant.  
 
F. Security.  
 

1. The mobile food unit and the surrounding vending area shall be maintained in a 
safe and clean manner at all times.  
 



2. A mobile food unit shall have adequate lighting to ensure customer safety in the 
vending area.  Lighting shall be directed downwards and away from rights-of-way 
and adjacent properties.  

 
3. The mobile food unit and its customers shall not obstruct the movement of 

pedestrians or other vehicles using the sidewalk, street, alley, or other public right-
of-way.  

 
G. Insurance.  
 

1. If a mobile food vendor attends an event sponsored by the Town or operates on 
public property, including rights-of-way or property owned or controlled by the 
Town, the mobile food vendor shall obtain insurance policy naming the Town as 
an additional insured in amounts and coverage terms as required by the Town and 
in accordance with the requirements of A.R.S. Title 9, Chapter 4, Article 7.2.  
 

2. The insurance company issuing the policy shall be authorized to issue commercial 
liability policies in Arizona by the Arizona Department of Insurance.  
 

3. The policy shall designate by manufacturer’s serial or identification number all 
mobile food units for which coverage is granted.  

 
4. The policy shall insure the person named in the policy and any other person using 

the mobile food vendor, with the express or implied permission of the named 
insured, against any liability arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of 
the mobile food unit in Arizona.  
 

5. Additional terms for insurance coverage may be required by the Town.  
 

H. Location. A mobile food vendor shall operate a mobile food unit only in Downtown 
Commercial, Highway Business Commercial, Tourist Commercial, Professional 
Office, Public/Institutional, Neighborhood Business, Neighborhood Office, Light 
Industrial Heavy Industrial zoning districts in accordance with the Town Zoning Code 
and subject to the following limitations and conditions:  

 
1. Residential Area. A mobile food vendor shall not operate in an area zoned for 

residential use or within two hundred fifty feet (250’) of an area zoned for residential 
use, except:  
 
a. A mobile food vendor selling only ice cream may operate on public rights-of-

way in areas zoned for residential use; or  
 

b. Subject to applicable laws and the Town Code, a mobile food vendor may 
operate on private property in a residential area if the mobile food vendor 
obtains a separate agreement with the property owner to operate a mobile 
food unit for a maximum of six (6) hours within a twenty-four (24) hour period 
on the private property.  

 



2. Town-Owned Property. A mobile food vendor shall only operate in a legal parking 
space.  If the mobile food vendor desires to operate on Town property other than 
a legal parking space in a right-of-way, the mobile food vendor shall obtain from 
the Town:  
 
a. A separate licensing for use, services contract, or similar agreement, which will 

be entered into at the Town’s sole discretion and applicable law; or  
 

b. A special event permit or similar permission in accordance with the Town Code.  
 

3. Private Property: A mobile food vendor shall obtain written permission to use any 
private property where a mobile food unit is operating and shall provide proof of 
such written permission on demand by the Town.   

 
4. Notwithstanding the permission of a person owning or having lawful control of 

private real property, a mobile food unit shall not remain in one location on private 
property for longer than ninety-six (96) consecutive hours, unless the Town grants 
permission for a permitted event greater than four (4) days.  “One location” within 
this subsection means a location within a parcel of land and includes movements 
from different parked positions within the same parcel.  
 

I. Parking. A mobile food unit shall comply with this subsection and applicable law as it 
pertains to parking, unless parking is governed by a separate subsection in this article 
1.  A mobile food unit shall only operate in a legal parking space. 
 
2. A mobile food unit, including any semi-permanent structure used or associated 

with the mobile food unit, may use no more than one (1) legal parking space, 
unless the mobile food vendor has a separate agreement with the Town to use 
additional legal parking spaces or parking spaces on Town property other than 
right-of-way.  
 

3. No mobile food unit exceeding twenty-four (24) feet may park diagonally in a 
diagonal parking space or park in any manner that occupies more than one (1) 
diagonal parking space.  

 
4. No mobile food unit shall operate with the serving window facing street traffic. 
 
5. A mobile food unit shall abide by all parking regulations, including posted time 

limits.  If there are no other time restrictions on the use of a legal parking space, a 
mobile food unit shall not occupy a legal parking space for more than six (6) hours 
in a twenty-four (24) hour period. “Occupy” within this subsection means within one 
hundred (100) feet of the place in which the mobile food unit was initially parked.  
 

6. A mobile food unit shall not occupy a legal parking space with insufficient parking 
capacity as prescribed by Town Zoning Code and applicable law, and includes 
occupying a legal parking space that reduces the number of available parking 
spaces surrounding the area which is required for the principal use or uses of the 
property associated with the parking spaces as set forth in A.R.S. Title 9, Chapter 
4, Article 7.2.  



7. A mobile food vendor shall not claim or attempt to establish any exclusive right to 
park at a particular street location, unless the parking space is part of a permitted 
event.  

 
J. Signs. A mobile food vendor shall comply with the Town Sign Code, pursuant to Town 

Code.  
 
Sec. 111.06 Violations; Suspension; Revocation.  
 
A. It is a violation of this article for any person to provide false information on any permit 

application.  
 

B. It is a violation of this article for a person to operate a mobile food unit that fails to 
meet all the requirements in this article.  

 
C. It is a violation of this article for a mobile food vendor to fail to display the permit or 

other required documents, including proof of insurance or fire inspection, to a law 
enforcement officer or Town inspector on demand.  

 
D. The Town shall give written notice of a violation to the permittee or designated agent 

that may result in the suspension or revocation of the permit. The notice shall include 
a description of the violation, the statutory or code reference, how the permittee can 
comply with the requirements, a description of the process whereby a hearing may be 
requested, the time limit for requesting a hearing, and a warning that failure to timely 
request a hearing may result in suspension or revocation of the permit. The notice 
shall be served on the permittee or designated agent by either personal service or 
registered/certified mail. Service of the notice shall be deemed complete upon mailing 
to, or personal service on, the permittee or designated agent.  

 
E. The permittee or designated agent receiving a notice under this section may request 

a hearing, pursuant to Chapter 110.40. If the permittee fails to comply with the 
requirements of this article by the date provided in the notice, the Town may suspend 
or revoke the permit, as provided in this section.  

 
F. In addition to any penalties set forth in this article, a permittee shall be suspended if, 

during the term of the permit, the permittee or a controlling person has violated any of 
the provisions of this article. During the suspension period, the permittee shall not 
operate any mobile food unit associated with the suspended permit. If a fine is 
associated with the violation that is the basis for suspension, the suspension may 
continue beyond the period set forth in this subsection until such time as the permittee 
pays the fine. The penalty for a suspension of a permit shall be:  

 
1. For the first suspension of a permit during a twelve-month period, the permit shall 

be suspended up to fourteen (14) calendar days in addition to other penalties and 
fines. 
 

2. For the second suspension of a permit during a twelve-month period, the permit 
shall be suspended to a minimum of fifteen (15) calendar days up to a maximum 
of thirty (30) calendar days in addition to penalties and fines.  



3. For the third suspension of a permit during a twelve-month period, the permit shall 
be revoked.  

 
G. In addition to a revocation for a third suspension as set forth above, the Town may 

revoke a permit issued pursuant to this article if the Town determines that:  
 

1. A mobile food unit associated with the suspended permit was operated in the Town 
during the suspension period; 
 

2. A permittee or designated agent or controlling person, following the issuance of a 
permit, is convicted of any offense listed in Sec. 111.04(F)(7);  
 

3. The permittee or designated agent operated, or attempted to operate a mobile food 
unit without a permit;  
 

4. The Town previously issued three (3) or more notices of suspension or violation 
within a six (6) month period;  
 

5. The permittee or controlling person has not complied with a provision of this article 
or has failed to provide information as required by this article;  
 

6. The application fee, permit fee, or any transaction privilege tax has not been paid; 
or  
 

7. The permittee fails to pay outstanding fines or resolve any violations.   
 

8. If a permit is revoked pursuant to this section, the permit and its controlling 
person(s) may not apply for a permit under this article for a period of one (1) year 
from the date of revocation.  
 

Sec. 111.07 Fines; Penalties.  
 
A. Each day any violation of any provision of this article shall continue it shall constitute 

a separate offense.  
 

B. Criminal Penalty: Among other penalties that may apply, including revocation or 
suspension of a permit (when applicable), any person who violates any provision of 
this article, whether or not the act is specifically stated as being unlawful, shall be 
guilty of a class 3 misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished as provided in 
Section 10.99 of the Town Code.  

 
Section II. Providing for Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.  
 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 
Ordinance or any part of the Code adopted herein by reference, are hereby repealed.  
 
Section III. Recitals.  

 
The recitals above are fully incorporated in this Ordinance by reference.  



Section IV. Effective Date.  
 
The effective date of this Ordinance shall be thirty (30) days following adoption by 

the Town Council.  
 

Section V. Preservation of Rights and Duties.  
 
This Ordinance does not affect the rights and duties that matured, penalties that were 
incurred, or proceedings that were begun before the effective date of this Ordinance.  
Section VI. Providing for Severability.  
 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this Ordinance or any 
part of the Code adopted herein by reference, is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall 
not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof.  
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence, 
Arizona, on this 6th day of May 2019. 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk    Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 
 
 
 



[

[ [
[[

[

[

[ [

[

[

[

[

[

[

[

[
Subway

Circle K

Mt Athos

The Vault

Hong Kong

A & M Piza

Jalapeno's

Old Pueblo

McDonald's

Burger King

L & B Cantina

Windmill Winery

Taco Bell

Florence Cafe

The Donut Shop

Florence Fudge

Sonic Drive-In

Copyright:© 2014 Esri

[ [
[[

[

Subway

McDonald's

Anthem Grille

Valentino's Eatery

Chens Chinese Bistro

Copyright:© 2014 Esri

© OpenStreetMap (and) contributors, CC-BY-SA

·

[ Restaurant

TOF Parcels

State Highway

County Highway

Major Road

Local Road

Town Limits

1,700 0 1,700850 Feet

Location Map 1,400 0 1,400700 FeetResidential w 250' Buffer



 
 

 
 

 Arizona Fire Marshals Association 
P.O. Box 5070 Mesa, Arizona 85211 

AZFMA.net 
2019 Board of Directors 

President – Michael Brune, Peoria; Vice President – Barbara Rice, Casa Grande; Secretary – Brian Russell, Timber Mesa; 
Treasurer – Andrea Enriquez, Mesa; Member – Eric Kriwer, Arizona Fire Medical; Past President- Glenn D’Auria, Tucson 

 
 

 
 

 MOBILE FOOD UNIT INSPECTIONS 
 
The Board of Directors of the Arizona Fire Marshals Association, in support and with the consent of the 
membership, has developed a checklist for Fire Code inspections of Mobile Food Units. 
 
In accordance with A.R.S. §9-485.01(B)(4), a City or Town Fire Department may not require a Mobile Food Unit 
to be inspected if it has had an inspection within the previous twelve (12) months from another City or Town 
Fire Department within the State of Arizona. The purpose of this checklist is to provide each jurisdiction with 
the minimum basic inspection requirements, as defined by the membership. The requirements in the checklist 
have been taken from the 2018 edition of the International Fire Code and the applicable NFPA standards. The 
appropriate section numbers are included in the checklist for reference. 
 
The Arizona Fire Marshals Association is requesting that all jurisdictions use this checklist as the basis for your 
inspections of Mobile Food Units. Use of this checklist will help to provide uniformity across the State when it 
comes to inspections in different jurisdictions. A jurisdiction, may of course, choose to exceed the minimum 
standards when it comes to inspections, but the checklist provides the minimum requirements. 
 
Where a Mobile Food Unit is operating within a City or Town, they will need to provide a copy of this signed 
checklist to the Fire Department as proof that a proper inspection has been conducted. 
 
The checklist will be reviewed from time to time, especially when there is a change in the Fire Code or NFPA 
standards, and updated as necessary. The check list is available on the AFMA website in a fillable PDF or a .xlsx 
format so that you can add your department’s logo. Please share this checklist with other jurisdictions that 
may not be aware of it. 
 
As always, should you have any questions regarding this matter, please feel free to contact myself or any of 
the other Board or Director members. 
 
Thank you, 
 

 
 
Michael Brune 
President 
Arizona Fire Marshals Association 
 



 ARIZONA FIRE MARSHAL’S 
              ASSOCIATION MOBILE FOOD UNIT INSPECTION 

 

Business Name:  Date:  

Address:  Phone:  

City:  Zip Code:  

AHJ:  
 

GENERAL OFF-SITE YES NO N/A 

1. Portable fire extinguisher(s) 2A:20B:C are installed in kitchen cooking areas. [NFPA 96:10.9.3]    

2. 
Cooking appliances that produce grease-laden vapors protected by listed fire extinguisher (Class K).  [NFPA 
96:14.7.1]    

3. 
Flexible connector is installed between the regulator outlet and the fixed piping system. [NFPA 
58:6.26.5.1(B)]    

4. 
Cooking equipment that produces grease-laden vapor shall be provided with kitchen exhaust hood in 
accordance with 2018 IFC Section 607 [2018 IFC 319.3].    

5. 
The exhaust system including, hood, grease-removal devices, fans, ducts and other appurtenances, shall 
be inspected and cleaned in accordance with 2012 IFC Section 607.3 [2018 IFC 319.10.1].    

6. 
Cooking equipment shall be protected by automatic fire extinguishing system in accordance with 2018 IFC 
Section 904.12 [2018 IFC 319.4.1].    

7. 
Fire protection system and devices shall be maintained in accordance with 2018 IFC Section 906.1 [2018 
IFC 319.10.2].    

8. 
LP gas containers installed on the vehicle shall be securely mounted and restrained to prevent movement. 
[2018 IFC 319.8.2]    

9. 
LP gas system piping, including valves and fittings, shall be adequately protected to prevent tampering, 
impact damage, and damage from vibration [2018 IFC 319]    

10. 
Maximum aggregate capacity of LP gas containers transported on the vehicle and used to fuel cooking 
appliances only shall not exceed 200 pounds propane capacity. [2018 IFC 319.8.1]    

11. 
A listed LP gas alarm shall be installed within the vehicle in the vicinity of LP gas system components , in 
accordance with the manufacturer’s instruction. [2018 IFC 319.8.5]    

12. 

LP gas containers installed on the vehicle and fuel gas piping system shall be inspected annually by an 
approved inspection agency or a company that is registered with the US Department of Transportation to 
requalify LP gas cylinders , to ensure that system components are free from damage, suitable for the 
intended service and not subject to leaking.    

     
SOLID FUEL OPERATIONS: YES NO N/A 

1. Solid fuel is not stored above any heat-producing appliance or vent. [NFPA 96:14.9.2.2]    
2. Solid fuel is not stored closer than 3 ft from any cooking appliance. [NFPA 96:14.9.2.2]    

3. 
Solid fuel is not stored near any combustible flammable liquids, ignition sources, chemicals. [NFPA 
96:14.9.2.7]    

4. Solid fuel is not stored in the path of the ash removal or near removed ashes. [NFPA 96:14.9.2.4]    

5. 
Ash, cinders and other fire debris should be removed from the firebox at regular intervals and at least 
once a day. [NFPA 96:14.9.3.6.1]    

6. 
Removed ashes, cinders and other removed debris should be placed in a closed, metal container located 
at least 3 feet from any cooking appliance. [NFPA 96:14.9.3.8]    

 

Mobile Food Vendor Operator Signature:  Date:  

Inspector Name:  Title/Rank:  

Inspector Signature:  Date:  



 

 

 

GENERAL ON-SITE 
1. 10 foot clearance from buildings, structures, vehicles and any combustible materials. [NFPA 96:7.8.2; 96:7.8.3] 
2. Fire lanes and fire department vehicular access roads are maintained. [NFPA 1:18.2.4] 
3. Clearance is provided for fire department connections and fire hydrants. [NFPA 1:13.1.3-5] 

4. 
Fuel tanks are filled to capacity needed for uninterrupted operation during normal operating hours. [NFPA 
1:10.14.10.1] 

5. Ensure that refueling is conducted during non-operating hours. [NFPA 96:B.18.3] 

6. 
Engine sources of power are separated from the public by barriers (guards, fencing, enclosure, etc.). [NFPA 
96:B.16.2.2] 

7. Ensure any engine powered source of power is shut down prior to refueling. [1:11.7.2.1.2] 

8. 

Exhaust from engine-driven source of power complies with the following: 
A. At least 10 ft in all directions from openings and air intakes. [96:B.13] 
B. At least 10 ft from every means of egress. [96:B.13] 
C. Directed away from all buildings. [1:11.7.2.2] 
D. Directed away from all other cooking vehicles and operations. [1:.11.7.2.2] 

9. 
Operate cooking equipment only when all windows, service hatches and ventilation sources are fully opened. 
[NFPA 96:14.2.2, 96:14.2.3] 

 

COMMENTS: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 



 

 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
9a. 

MEETING DATE:  May 6, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Finance 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town Manager/ 
Town Clerk 
 
SUBJECT:  Resolution No. 1697-19: Signatories on Accounts 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
Subject: Resolution No. 1697-19 Signatories   Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

 
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Adoption of Resolution 1697-19:  A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, 
PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AUTHORIZING MAYOR TARA WALTER, TOWN 
MANAGER BRENT BILLINGSLEY, AND FINANCE DIRECTOR REY SANCHEZ TO ACT 
AS SIGNATORIES FOR THE TRANSACTION OF BUSINESS ON ALL TOWN OF 
FLORENCE BANK ACCOUNTS, AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
A resolution must be adopted naming staff authorized to sign on the Town’s bank 
accounts.  New signature cards need to be completed.  This resolution will add Finance 
Director as the appointed signatories for banking functions.  
 
The following accounts are included: National Bank of Arizona General Checking 
Account, National Bank of Arizona Payroll Account, Local Governmental Investment Pool 
#7, Local Governmental Investment Pool #5, Stifel, Nicolaus & Company Inc. Investment 
Account.  This resolution will be effective May 6, 2019.  
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

A no vote would mean that the Town of Florence would not have a financial signatory for 
banking purposes.  
 



 

Subject: Resolution No. 1697-19 Signatories   Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

A yes vote would mean that Town of Florence would have three signatories for banking.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Resolution No. 1697-19 
 



RESOLUTION NO.  1697-19 
 

A RESOLUTION OF TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, 
ARIZONA, APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING MAYOR TARA WALTER, 
TOWN MANAGER BRENT BILLINGSLEY, AND FINANCE DIRECTOR 
REY SANCHEZ TO ACT AS SIGNATORIES FOR THE TRANSACTION 
OF BUSINESS ON THE TOWN OF FLORENCE BANKING ACCOUNTS, 
AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY.   

 
 WHEREAS, The Town of Florence has appointed Rey Sanchez as Finance 
Director.  The Town requires he be added as signatory to all Town banking accounts, 
and     

 
 WHEREAS, The Town Council must approve new signature authorizations for 

the Town’s bank accounts. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that Mayor Tara Walter, Town Manager 
Brent Billingsley, and Finance Director Rey Sanchez are authorized as signatories for 
the following bank accounts: 
 

1. National Bank of Arizona - General Checking and Investment Accounts 
2. National Bank of Arizona Payroll Checking Accounts 
3. Zions Bank – Community Facility District Accounts 
4. Wells Fargo – Community Facility District Accounts 
5. State of Arizona Local Governmental Investment Pool-All Accounts 
6. Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Inc. Investment Accounts 
7. PFM Investment Accounts 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the immediate adoption of this resolution is 

necessary for preservation of the public peace, health and safety of the Town of 
Florence, and an emergency is hereby declared to exist; and this resolution shall be in 
full force and effect from the offer of its passage and adoption by the Mayor and Council 
of the Town of Florence, Arizona, with an effective date of May 6, 2019. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED BY the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence, 

Arizona, this 6th day of May 2019. 
 
       __________________________ 
       Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
___________________________  __________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk    Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
 9b. 

MEETING DATE:  May 6, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Public Works Department 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Christopher A. Salas, P.E. 
                                      Public Works Director 
  
SUBJECT:  Continental Flooring Company Contract for flooring 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
Subject:  Continental Flooring Company Contract  Meeting Date: May 6, 2019   
 

replacements  
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships     Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Motion to enter into a contract with Continental Flooring Company to purchase flooring 
for needed replacements at the Senior Center, Town Hall-Administration, Fitness Center, 
Fire Station No. 1 Day and Dormitory Rooms using the Mohave Contract No. 15S-CFC-
0415, in an amount not to exceed $50,059.64, which includes a 10% contingency. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
Facilities CIP included $45,000 for flooring in the budget; however, the total expense for 
flooring will exceed this amount by $5,059.64.  CIP savings from other categories will be 
used to make up the difference.  The flooring at the noted areas has exceeded its life 
expectancy.  The work will include the following: 
- The replacement at Senior Center will address the game room, library, halls and 

offices.   
- The last carpet replacement phase at Town Hall will be completed.   
- The Fitness Center is a high use facility and floor replacement is needed in several 

worn and damaged areas that are no longer aesthetically pleasing and could cause a 
safety concern.   

 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

Exposed deterioration of flooring would be visible to the public eye.  Potential safety 
issues would remain present. 



Subject:  Continental Flooring Company Contract  Meeting Date: May 6, 2019   
 

 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 
 
Enable the Town of Florence to replace damaged flooring at the Senior Center, Town 
Hall-Administration, Fitness Center and Fire Station No. 1 Day and Dormitory Rooms and 
the ability to keep stride with the long-term replacement plan for flooring throughout the 
Town Departments.   
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Funding from the Facilities Maintenance Capital Improvement Fund (GLA 011-531-211) 
for $50,059.64.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Exhibit 1 – Mohave Educational Services Cooperative Solicitations (MESC) 
Exhibit 2 – Mohave Contract No. 15S-CFC-0415, expiring 4/15/2020 
Exhibit 3 -  Proposals from Continental Flooring to the Town of Florence 
Exhibit 4 – Approved Bid Tabulation Form 
Exhibit 5 – Approved Requisition No. 54300 
Exhibit 6 - Town of Florence Contract with Continental Flooring Company 
 
 































































































































































































































 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
9c.  

MEETING DATE:   May 6, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Administration, Legal 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Brent Billingsley, Town Manager 
                                       Clifford Mattice, Town Attorney 
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  
Subject:  Town’s intervention and filing of an Application to Intervene in  Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
The ACCs regulatory proceedings involving Johnson Utilities, L.L.C.   
Page 1 of 2 

SUBJECT:   Approval and Ratification of the Town’s intervention 
and filing of an Application to Intervene in the Arizona 
Corporation Commission’s (“ACC”) regulatory proceedings 
involving Johnson Utilities, L.L.C.

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    

 Leadership and Governance     Partnerships and Relationships     Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Motion to approve and ratify the intervention and filing of an Application to Intervene by 
the Town of Florence (the “Application”) in proceedings before the Arizona Corporation 
Commission (ACC) (Docket No. WS-02987A-18-0329; Docket No. WS-02987A-99-
0583; Docket No. W-02234A-00-0371; Docket No. WS-02987A-00-0618; Docket No. W-
02859A-00-0774; Docket No. W-01395A-00-0784; Docket No. WS-02987A-06-0077; 
Docket No. WS-02987A-12-0136) (the “ACC regulatory proceedings”) involving 
Johnson Utilities, L.L.C. and adding the Town of Florence as a party in the ACC 
regulatory proceedings, including the authorization for the Mayor, the Town Manager, 
the Attorneys for the Town and other officers of the Town, on behalf of the Town, are 
authorized and directed, without further order of the Mayor and Council of the Town, to 
do all such acts and things, including the full prosecution of appeals, and to execute, file 
and deliver all such notices, certificates, filings, pleadings, correspondence, 
proceedings, agreements and other documents as may be necessary or convenient to 
be executed, filed and delivered on behalf of the Town, to evidence compliance with, or 
further the purposes of, all the terms and conditions of this approval and the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated by, and may be necessary to carry out 
the terms and intent of this approval. 
 
Staff recommends approving and ratifying the intervention and filing of the Application 
(filed on April 23, 2019). 
 
 



Subject:  Town’s intervention and filing of an Application to Intervene in  Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
The ACCs regulatory proceedings involving Johnson Utilities, L.L.C.   
Page 2 of 2 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
In 2018, the Town Council authorized intervention in the matter of the Arizona 
Corporation Commission’s investigation into billing practices and water quality issues of 
Johnson Utilities, L.L.C. (Docket No. WS-02987A-18-0050) and in the matter of water 
outages (Docket No. WS-02987A-18-0151).  Administrative Law Judge Harping issued 
a Recommended Order and Opinion that concluded that the evidence presented in the 
Arizona Corporation Commission hearings supported a decision to appoint an interim 
manager at Johnson Utilities.  On July 20, 2018, the Town Council adopted Resolution 
No. 1673-18 authorizing the Town of Florence to partner with the Town of Queen Creek 
to seek appointment through the Arizona Corporation Commission to be installed as 
Interim Manager for Johnson Utilities, L.L.C. with the Town of Queen Creek acting in the 
lead role in the Phoenix Active Management Area.  The Town desired to protect the 
health, safety and welfare of its citizens and other residents in the southeast valley 
region.  The Town was not selected as the interim manager for Johnson Utilities, L.L.C., 
but related ACC regulatory matters relating to Johnson Utilities remain ongoing. 
 
Florence provides water and wastewater utility service to customers both inside and 
outside the Town limits, in areas immediately adjacent to Johnson Utilities’ certificated 
wastewater and/or water utility service areas.  Approximately 7,500 Florence residents 
(about 3,000 customer accounts), currently receive water and/or wastewater services by 
Johnson Utilities.  Florence seeks to intervene in the above listed ACC regulatory 
proceedings to protect its interests, including its interest as a utility service consumer 
and provider, to promote the orderly and quality development, and to advocate for safe 
and environmentally compliant utility services in and adjacent to the Town.  Florence will 
be directly and substantially affected by a decision or order of the Arizona Corporation 
Commission in these ACC regulatory proceedings. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

Approval and ratification of the Town’s intervention and filing of the Application for the 
Town to become a party in the above listed ACC regulatory proceedings. 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

The Town does not become a party in these ACC regulatory proceedings. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The expenses for legal fees and related services, including retention of experts and 
consultants, are budgeted annually based upon the projected activities for the 
proceedings during the fiscal year. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
None 



  

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
9d.  

MEETING DATE: May 6, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Police 
 
STAFF PRESENTER: Dan Hughes, Chief of Police 
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  
Subject:   Child Abduction Response Team Interagency Agreement  Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

SUBJECT: Child Abduction Response Team (CART) 
Interagency Agreement (IGA) 

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    

 Leadership and Governance      Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and 

Infrastructure  Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION:    
 
Adoption of an Interagency agreement between the Town of Florence Police 
Department and the Host Agency for our participation and response to call outs with the 
Arizona Child Abduction Response Team. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:    
 
The Florence Police Department would be one of many municipal/county and tribal 
agencies participating in a joint and unified effort in responding to criminal child 
kidnapping, abduction and false imprisonment.  Florence Police Departments efforts 
would be to assist other CART agencies in nearby jurisdictions extending mutual aid in 
the form of law enforcement services and resources to adequately respond to 
continuing, multi-jurisdictional criminal activity.  
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN:    
 
The Town of Florence Police Department would not be part of a unified effort in 
responding to criminal child kidnapping, abduction and false imprisonment.  
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN:    
 
The Town of Florence Police Department would be part of a unified effort in responding 
to criminal child kidnapping, abduction and false imprisonment.  
 
 
 
 



Subject:   Child Abduction Response Team Interagency Agreement  Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  
 
There is no direct financial impact unless staff assists another jurisdiction. And if the 
Town needed assistance, those agencies involved in CART would assist without 
forwarding their expenses to the Town.   
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 
Interagency Agreement 



CART-FLORENCE  Page 1 of 7   IGA CART  5-06-19 
  

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
FOR THE CREATION AND PARTICIPATION IN THE ARIZONACHILD 

ABDUCTION RESPONSE TEAM 
 

This Agreement is entered into pursuant to A.R.S. §§11-951 et seq., and A.R.S. §13-3872 among 
the City of Apache Junction , the City of Avondale, the City of Casa Grande, the City of 
Chandler, Child Help, the Cochise County Sheriff’s Office, the Department of Child 
Safety/OCWI, the Department of Corrections, the Department of Public Safety, the City of El 
Mirage, the Federal Bureau of Investigation, the City of Florence, The Gila River Reservation, 
the Gilbert Fire Department, the Town of Gilbert, the City of Glendale, the City of Goodyear, the 
City of Marana, the Town of Maricopa, the Maricopa County Attorney’s Office, the Maricopa 
County Sheriff’s Office, the City of Mesa, the Town of Nogales, the Town of Oro Valley, the 
Town of Paradise Valley, the City of Peoria, the City of Phoenix, the Pima County Sheriff’s 
Office, the Pinal County Sheriff’s Office, the Town of Sahuarita, the City of Scottsdale, the City 
of Sierra Vista, the City of Surprise, the City of Tempe, the City of Tolleson, the City of Tucson, 
the U.S. Marshal’s and the Town of Wickenburg.  The aforementioned agencies shall herein 
after be known collectively as the Arizona Child Abduction Response team agencies (CART) 
and any other public agencies, as that term is defined in A.R.S. § 11-951, which after invitation 
by the CART chiefs, comply with the provisions of A.R.S. §§11-951 et seq. and files an 
authorizing document with the County Recorder in the County in which the agency is located in 
that references this Agreement.  A public agency shall become a Party to this Agreement as of 
the date that agency files with the appropriate County Recorder, notwithstanding that A.R.S. 
§§11-951 et seq., no longer requires such recording. Each CART agency shall provide a copy of 
its fully executed agreement to every other member agency.    In addition to the above, all 
members to this Agreement may also be collectively known as or referred to as the Parties. 
 
I. PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this Agreement is to create an Arizona Child Abduction Response Team 
(CART). The primary goal of the Arizona Child Abduction Response Team is to provide a pool 
of specialized investigators which are available to focus dedicated and intensive investigative, 
preventative, and general law enforcement efforts primarily with regard to cases involving 
abducted children. CART agencies may request and render law enforcement assistance from 
other CART agencies in dealing with serious violations of law including, but not limited to, the 
investigation, arrest and prosecution of those involved in criminal child kidnapping, abduction, 
false imprisonment and similar or related violations (utilizing state and federal law and 
prosecutions, as appropriate), the rescue of the abducted child or children and the seizure and 
forfeiture of assets of those engaged in child abduction or otherwise supporting such activity 
(utilizing state and federal forfeiture options, as appropriate). 
 
Additionally, the location of each Party’s jurisdiction in relation to each other makes it 
advantageous to enter this particular Agreement in order to receive and extend mutual aid in the 
form of law enforcement services and resources to adequately respond to continuing, multi-
jurisdictional criminal activity such at that described above. 
 



CART-FLORENCE  Page 2 of 7   IGA CART  5-06-19 
  

II. AUTHORITY 
 
A. The Parties are authorized and empowered to enter into this Agreement pursuant to A.R.S. 
§§11-951 et seq., A.R.S. §13-3872 and the respective provisions of their City Charters, Tribal 
Constitution or other governing statute or authority. 
 
If any Native American tribe that is a party to this Agreement request CART assistance, all 
assisting CART team members shall be granted tribal peace officer authority for the duration of 
the CART activation within the applicable tribal jurisdiction. 

 
III. ACTIVATION, PROCEDURES AND RESOURCES 
 
A.  Any Party to the Agreement may request activation of CART.  It shall be the responsibility of 
the Party requesting activation to contact assigned team leaders via the law enforcement 
communications center of each Party. 
 
B.  The Party that has jurisdiction over the incident or investigation will remain as the lead 
agency during the duration of a particular CART activation with support from CART agencies.   
 
C. Two CART Team Leaders will be selected by the CART Team members subject to final 
approval of chief law enforcement officers (chiefs) of the CART agencies on a rotating basis for 
a term of at least one year, which shall correspond with the effective date of the Agreement. In 
the event that a Team Leader is unable to complete his or her term due to resignation from his or 
her agency or for any other reason, the CART members shall name a replacement shall appoint a 
replacement subject to final approval of the chiefs. 
 
D. The CART Team Leaders or designees will be responsible for coordinating on-going training, 
meetings or other necessary supporting functions in support of the operational effectiveness of 
CART.  Team Leaders shall be responsible for mediating any jurisdictional disputes between the 
Parties during a CART activation. In the event such mediation fails, the issue shall be brought to 
the attention of the CART Chiefs for appropriate resolution.   
 
E.  Each Party shall to the best of its ability make at least one sworn law enforcement officer 
available along with supporting equipment such as vehicles in support of any CART activation. 
Each Party shall designate a primary CART member to participate in activations, meetings, 
trainings, etc. Each Party shall immediately inform other CART agencies when such 
designations change.  In the event a primary CART member is not available or as the situation 
dictates, a CART agency may provide officers not normally designated as CART members in 
support of a CART activation. 
 
F. Each Party shall have the sole discretion to determine how many or how long any of its 
personnel or resources shall be assigned in support of a CART activation. 
 
 



CART-FLORENCE  Page 3 of 7   IGA CART  5-06-19 
  

IV. COSTS AND ANY REIMBURSEMENT 
     
The Parties will be responsible for any and all associated costs accrued in implementing this 
Agreement that are incurred by their respective agencies to include but are not limited to 
employee salary, shift differential pay, overtime compensation, benefits, vehicles, equipment, 
etc.  If any Party receives grant funds designated for the Arizona Child Abduction Response 
Team, some or all of these expenses may be reimbursed to the Parties. In no event shall any 
Party charge other Parties for any administrative fees for any work performed pursuant to this 
Agreement. 
 
V. NONDISCRIMINATION 
 
The Parties to this Agreement shall comply with all applicable provisions of state and federal 
non-discrimination laws and regulations including, but not limited to Executive Order 75-5, as 
modified by Executive Order 99-4, which mandates that all persons, regardless of race, religion, 
sex, age, national origin or political affiliation shall have equal access to employment 
opportunities and all other federal and state employment and educational opportunity laws, rules 
and regulations, including the Americans with Disabilities Act; provided however, an Indian 
Community is subject to 25 U.S.C. § 450e(c).  No Party shall engage in any form of illegal 
discrimination. 
 
VI. INDEMNIFICATION 
 
To the extent permitted by law, each Party does hereby covenant and agree to indemnify, defend, 
and hold harmless the other Party, their elected officials, appointees, officers, employees, 
contractees, and agents from and against any and all suits, actions, legal or administrative 
proceedings, claims, demands or damages of any kind or nature relating to this Agreement 
which, are the result of any act or omission of the Party, its officers, employees, contractees, 
agents, and anyone acting under its direction or control, whether intentional or negligent, in 
connection with or incident to this Agreement.  Failure of a Party to comply with the terms of 
this Agreement shall not provide the basis of any third-party action against any of the Parties. 

 
VII. GOVERNING LAW 

 
The laws of the State of Arizona shall govern this Agreement.  Venue will be in the Maricopa 
County Superior Court unless the subject matter of the dispute involves an Indian Community, 
then venue shall be in the Federal District Court for the State of Arizona.  In the event of any 
litigation or arbitration arising out of this Agreement, the substantially prevailing Party in such 
litigation or arbitration shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorney fees, expert witness 
fees and other costs of litigation. 
 
 
 
 
 



CART-FLORENCE  Page 4 of 7   IGA CART  5-06-19 
  

VIII.  DURATION AND CANCELLATION OF AGREEMENT 
 
A. This Agreement shall become effective upon execution by the Parties hereto and filing with 
the appropriate County Recorder and shall remain in effect until July 1, 2020, unless otherwise 
terminated by the terms of this Agreement or operation of law. Failure by one or more Parties to 
execute the Agreement shall not invalidate the Agreement as to those Parties who did so.  Any 
Party may withdraw from this Agreement with or without cause by giving thirty calendar days 
written notice to the other Parties to the Agreement. 
 
B.  This Agreement may be administratively extended by each Party at the direction of the chief 
law enforcement officer for each Party on or before the Termination date for a period of an 
additional five years by notifying the other Parties in writing. Any Party which fails to do so by 
the termination date listed above shall no longer be a Party to the Agreement. 
 
IX. CANCELLATION PROVISIONS PURSUANT TO A.R.S §38-511 
 
The Parties reserve all rights that each may have to cancel this Agreement for possible conflicts 
of interest under A.R.S. § 38-511, as amended. 
 
X. MULTIPLE COUNTERPARTS 
 
This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  Neither a 
signature for every Party nor a signature line shall be required in each counterpart except that on 
a counterpart being brought forward by a Party to its legislative body or equivalent for approval, 
that particular counterpart shall have to be signed and executed in accordance with that Party’s 
practice.  The signature pages from one or more counterparts may be removed from such 
counterparts and such signature pages all attached to a single instrument so that the signatures of 
all Parties may be physically attached to a single document. 
 
XI. WORKER’S COMPENSATION 
 
Pursuant to A.R.S. §23-1022(D), for the purposes of worker’s compensation coverage, all 
employees of each Party covered by this Agreement shall be deemed to be an employee of all 
Parties.  The parent agency shall be solely liable for payment of worker’s compensation benefits. 
 
XII. OTHER PROVISIONS 
 
A. In the event that any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable by 
any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not affect the validity or enforceability of 
any other provision hereof. 
 
B.  This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the Parties with respect to the 
subjects hereof and supersedes all prior negotiations and agreements. This Agreement may be 
amended only by an instrument in writing and signed by all the participating Parties. The waiver 



CART-FLORENCE  Page 5 of 7   IGA CART  5-06-19 
  

of any breach of this Agreement shall not be deemed to amend this Agreement and shall not 
constitute waiver of any other subsequent breach.  Headings are for convenience and shall not 
affect interpretation.   
 
C. This Agreement shall be recorded with the appropriate County Recorder as described above 
upon its execution and a copy shall be forwarded to each Party.  
 
D. Pursuant to A.R.S. §§ 35-391.06 and 35-393.06, each Party certifies that it does not have a 
scrutinized business operation, as defined in A.R.S. §§ 35-391 and 35-393, in either Sudan or 
Iran. 
 
E.  Nothing within this Agreement shall be construed to limit the ability of participating Arizona 
Child Abduction Response Team members to provide or as otherwise allowed for by law, such 
assistance in any enforcement action as may be lawfully requested by a law enforcement officer 
having jurisdiction over an incident, crime or matter under consideration. 
 
 
XIII.  COMPLIANCE WITH E-VERIFY PROGRAM 
 
A. To the extent provisions of A.R.S. §41-4401 are applicable, all Parties warrant to each Party 
that they will comply with all Federal Immigration laws and regulations that relate to their 
employees and that each now complies with the E-Verify Program under A.R.S. §23-214(A). 
 
B.  A breach of this warranty will be considered a material breach of this Agreement and may 
subject the breaching party to penalties up to and including termination of this Agreement. 
 
C.  All of the Parties retain the legal right to inspect the papers of any employee who works 
pursuant to this Agreement or any related subcontract to ensure compliance with the warranty 
given above. 
 
D. Any Party may conduct a random verification of the employment records of any other Party 
to ensure compliance with this warranty.  
 
E. A Party will not be considered in material breach of this Agreement if it establishes that it has 
complied with the employment verification provisions prescribed by 8 USCA §1324(a) and (b) 
of the Federal Immigration and Nationality Act and the E-Verify requirements prescribed by 
A.R.S. §23-214(A). 
 
F. The provisions of this Article must be included in any contract either Party enters into with 
any and all of its contractors or subcontractors who provide services under this Agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 



CART-FLORENCE  Page 6 of 7   IGA CART  5-06-19 
  

XIV. NOTICES 
 
Any notice required to be given under this Agreement will be provided to all Parties to this 
Agreement.  The CART leaders shall compile a list of each Party’s address, phone number and 
contact person and distribute said list to each member to this Agreement. 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Party named below has executed this Agreement on May 6, 
2019. 
 
 
 

  Town of Florence, an Arizona municipal 
corporation 

 
  By:       
         Tara Walter, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 
_________________________ 

Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

_____________________________ 

Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 

 
 
Reviewed By:        
  Dan Hughes, Chief of Police



CART-FLORENCE  Page 7 of 7   IGA CART  5-06-19 
  

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT DETERMINATION 
 

 In accordance with A.R.S. §11-952, this Agreement has been reviewed by the 
undersigned who determined that this Agreement is in appropriate form and is within the powers 
and authority of the respective parties. 
 
Town of Florence 
 
By:        
     Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 
      
    
 
Date:         
 



Source Amount
Warrant Register-Checks and Credit Card Payments 1,331,845.47$   

Electronic Payments
Bank and Merchant Fees 4,515.71$          
Payroll for February-Net of Deductions 467,287.23$      

Town of Florence
Summary of Warrants Paid

As of March 2019
Payroll related Payments-Liens, Levys, Garnishments, Flexible 
Spending, AFLAC, Deposits to PCFCU (Employee Savings) 28,882.85$        
Retirement Contributions, Arizona State Retirement, Public 
Safety Retirement, Securian, Voluntary 401K Plan 231,882.97$      
Payroll Taxes, State and Federal 148,819.08$      
Transaction Previledge Taxes Collected Payable to State 22,422.43$        
Medical, Dental, Life, Vision and AFLAC payments 418,051.31$      

Community Facilities District Payments 
NFID Bank Charge-Managing Debt Service 1,400.00$          
CFD #2 Bank Charge - Managing Debt Service 3,750.00$          
 -$                   

Electronic Payments 1,327,011.58$   

Total Warrants 2,658,857.05$   



Warrant Register

Checks and Credit Card Payments

March 2019

GL Account Check Check Merchant Name Invoice Invoice Check

Number Issue Date Number Date Description Amount

Refunds

10160000 112954 3/8/2019 2nd Temp 719490 3/7/2019 SANITATION OVERPAYMENT 217.39                   

10160000 113097 3/21/2019 2nd Temp 11206501 3/15/2019 Water OVERPAYMENT 56.02                      

10160000 113102 3/21/2019 2nd Temp 10317301 3/15/2019 Water OVERPAYMENT 76.72                      

10160000 113121 3/21/2019 2nd Temp 11208208 3/18/2019 Water OVERPAYMENT 22.05                      

10160000 113144 3/28/2019 2nd Temp 707071 3/25/2019 SANITATION OVERPAYMENT 55.98                      

10160000 113184 3/28/2019 2nd Temp 510403 3/27/2019 Water OVERPAYMENT 11.51                      

Water/Sanitation Refunds 439.67                   

Liabilities

10202000 113055 3/21/2019 ARIZONA STATE TREASURER Feb‐19 3/14/2019 STATE JCEF‐FEB 2019 519.92                   

10202500 113055 3/21/2019 ARIZONA STATE TREASURER Feb‐19 3/14/2019 ZFAR 1‐FEB 2019 1,318.50                

10202501 113055 3/21/2019 ARIZONA STATE TREASURER Feb‐19 3/14/2019 ZFAR2‐FEB2019 562.55                   

10204000 113055 3/21/2019 ARIZONA STATE TREASURER Feb‐19 3/14/2019 STATE SURCHARGES‐FEB 2019 8,946.72                

10206000 112949 3/8/2019 2nd Temp CM2018‐ 3/4/2019 BOND REFUND CAE #CM20108‐93 294.00                   

10206000 113047 3/14/2019 2nd Temp MAR19/BARRERA 3/11/2019 BOND REFUND TR2010‐0208 83.19                      

10206100 113026 3/14/2019 2nd Temp M1141TR2011047 3/8/2019 OVERPAYMENT REFUND 18.20                      

10209000 113055 3/21/2019 ARIZONA STATE TREASURER Feb‐19 3/14/2019 Victim'S RIGHTS ENFORCEMENT 127.30                   

10232000 112923 3/8/2019 AZ DEPT OF REVENUE COLL  PPE 03/01/19 3/6/2019 LEVY 50.00                      

10232000 112932 3/8/2019 CAVALRY SPVI LLC PPE03/01/19 3/6/2019 LEVY 307.29                   

10232000 112968 3/8/2019 US DEPARTMENT OF  PPE 3/1/19 3/6/2019 LEVY 198.19                   

10232000 112969 3/8/2019 Village of Copper Basin  PPE 03/01/19 3/6/2019 Levy 183.23                   

10232000 113133 3/28/2019 AZ DEPT OF REVENUE COLL  PPE 03/15/19 3/20/2019 LEVY 50.00                      

10232000 113140 3/28/2019 CAVALRY SPVI LLC PPE 3/15/19 3/15/2019 LEVY 307.29                   

10232000 113181 3/28/2019 US DEPARTMENT OF  PPE 03/15/19 3/20/2019 LEVY 163.40                   

10232000 113183 3/28/2019 Village of Copper Basin  PPE 3/15/19 3/20/2019 Levy 150.35                   

10243000 113028 3/14/2019 NEW YORK LIFE INSURANCE 3/19‐006929080 7  3/4/2019 mARCH INVOICE 429.37                   

10250038 113055 3/21/2019 ARIZONA STATE TREASURER Feb‐19 3/14/2019 STATE FINES‐FEB 2019 2,723.56                

10260000 112944 3/8/2019 2nd Temp MAR19‐000075 3/5/2019 ReSTITUTION PMT #CM2017‐000075 1.27                        

10260000 112967 3/8/2019 2nd Temp MAR19  3/5/2019 ReSTITUION #CM2017‐000179 100.00                   

10260000 112998 3/14/2019 2nd Temp MAR19/0246 3/11/2019 ReSITUTION PMT CR2009‐0246 204.54                   

10260000 113075 3/21/2019 2nd Temp 03/19 REST 0162 3/14/2019 ReSTITUTION PMT CM2018‐000162 50.00                      

10260000 113112 3/21/2019 2nd Temp

MAR/19 

GREATHOUSE 3/18/2019 ReSITUTION PMT 50.00                      

Total Liability Payments 16,838.87              

Revenue

10339471 112937 3/8/2019 2nd Temp 2000586 2/20/2019 ReFUND FOR GALLAGHER TOURNAMENT 270.00                   

Town Council

10501205 113139 3/28/2019

Casa Grande Valley 

Newspaper Inc. 30561‐3017 3/14/2019 Impact Fee Notice 175.28                   

10501402 219 3/15/2019 CENTRAL AZ COLLEGE 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Catering for the new Councilmember 

swearing‐in ceremony. 796.52                   

10501402 219 3/15/2019 Dollar General 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Meeting Supplies 16.01                      

10501402 219 3/15/2019 Dollar General 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Supplies for Council meeting and Budget 

Committee meeting 16.27                      

10501402 219 3/15/2019 Pinal Partnership 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Pinal Partnership Breakfast ‐ Judy Hughes 

and Ben Bitter 20.00                      

10501402 113015 3/14/2019 JOHN ANDERSON

MAR/19 

ANDERSON 3/11/2019 Per Diem for 2019 Water Now Summit 109.72                   

10501402 113094 3/21/2019 JOHN ANDERSON

2019‐WATER 

SUMMIT 3/21/2019

Reinbursement of travel expeanses for 

2019 Water Now Summit 889.04                   

10501402 113158 3/28/2019 KISS THE CHEF CATERING BC‐042319 3/19/2019 Boards and Commissions Dinner‐2019 1,572.48                

10501404 219 3/15/2019 PINAL COUNTY RECORDER 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Registered voter information 96.87                      

3,692.19                

Administration

10502201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 ADMIN‐B. BITTER 36.74                      

10502201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 ADMIN ‐ B. BITTER 36.72                      

10502207 113041 3/14/2019 T‐MOBILE USA INC. FEB19‐963909583 2/28/2019 GPD‐ADMIN 27.82                      

10502231 112952 3/8/2019 KS STATEBANK CONT 03.04.19 3/4/2019

CONTRACT WITH AOT FOR MULTI‐

FUNCTION COPY MACHINES 150.75                   

10502301 219 3/15/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Employee only signs for office 8.06                        

10502301 113030 3/14/2019 OFFICE DEPOT INC 26978075001 3/1/2019 Office Supplies 103.16                   

10502301 113101 3/21/2019 OFFICE DEPOT INC 2.8204E+11 3/4/2019 CREDIT (24.97)                    

10502301 113101 3/21/2019 OFFICE DEPOT INC 2.8204E+11 3/4/2019 Office Supplies 96.51                      

10502301 113101 3/21/2019 OFFICE DEPOT INC 2.8204E+11 3/4/2019 Office Supplies 226.40                   

10502306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL‐ADMIN 86.79                      

10502401 113139 3/28/2019

Casa Grande Valley 

Newspaper Inc.

109225 ANNUAL 

RENEW 3/18/2019 Newspaper Renewal 34.00                      

10502402 219 3/15/2019 2nd Temp 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Parking fees for Hughes ‐ Opiate Crises 

meeting 8.00                        

10502402 219 3/15/2019 2nd Temp 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Parking for Billingsley ‐ Opiate Crisis 

Meeting 8.00                        

10502402 219 3/15/2019 AMERICAN AIRLINES 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Fight for IIMC National Conference ‐ Lisa 

Garcia 551.00                   



10502402 219 3/15/2019 L & B CANTINA 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Food for United Way Training session 28.17                      

10502402 219 3/15/2019 Pinal Partnership 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Pinal Partnership Breakfast ‐ Judy Hughes 

and Ben Bitter 20.00                      

1,397.15                

Courts

10503217 112948 3/8/2019 JANET MANNATO 19‐Feb 3/5/2019 Public Defender Services‐FEB 2019 1,050.00                

10503403 113088 3/21/2019 IRENE ENRIQUEZ MAR/19 AMC 3/5/2019 AMC TRAINING MAR‐2019 308.87                   

1,358.87                

Legal

10504217 113092 3/21/2019 Jennings Strouss Law Firm 566780 2/14/2019

legal services : Florence Copper  Jan 21‐29, 

2019 300.00                   

10504217 113092 3/21/2019 Jennings Strouss Law Firm 568346 3/12/2019

legal services: Florence Copper Feb 6‐25, 

2019 375.00                   

10504217 113154 3/28/2019 Jennings Strouss Law Firm 566784 2/14/2019

legal services: Florence Copper Jan 3‐29, 

2019 7,150.00                

10504217 113154 3/28/2019 Jennings Strouss Law Firm 568345 2/14/2019 legal services:  Feb 5‐28, 2019 5,200.00                

10504217 113171 3/28/2019

RYLEY CARLOCK & 

APPLEWHITE 287822 3/13/2019

legal services:  Adjudication Claims ADWR 

MAR 2019 486.50                   

10504401 112955 3/8/2019 LEXIS NEXIS 7804 2/28/2019 legal research Feb 2019 219.76                   

13,731.26              

Finance

10505202 112947 3/8/2019 Infosend 1458554 1/25/2019 JAN UTILITY BILLING SERVICE 2,501.43                

10505202 113086 3/21/2019 Infosend 150305 2/28/2019 FEB19 UTILITY BILLING 3,052.13                

10505204 113153 3/28/2019 Infosend 145233 10/31/2018 Contractual services 2,263.29                

10505217 113164 3/28/2019 MDZ HR Inc CONTRACT/FINAL 3/11/2019 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES/FINAL PAY 3,500.00                

10505219 113078 3/21/2019 FESTER & CHAPMAN PLLC 12601 2/28/2019 INTERIM PAYMNENT FOR AUDIT 7,650.00                

10505231 112952 3/8/2019 KS STATEBANK CONT 03.04.19 3/4/2019

CONTRACT WITH AOT FOR MULTI‐

FUNCTION COPY MACHINES 273.60                   

10505301 112959 3/8/2019 OFFICE DEPOT INC 2.66439E+11 1/29/2019 Office Supplies‐FINANCE 378.13                   

10505301 112964 3/8/2019 Staples Business Advantage 1623096974 2/25/2019 Office Supplies 259.83                   

10505301 113167 3/28/2019 OFFICE DEPOT INC 2.8595E+11 3/11/2019 Office Supplies 39.51                      

10505306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL‐FINANCE 21.82                      

10505401 113007 3/14/2019

Government Finance Officers 

Association MEMB/64652005 3/11/2019 June 30, 2018 GFOA Application 435.00                   

10505403 113057 3/21/2019 ASCPA

JOAN 

MILLER/1192 3/18/2019

Ethics to meet the AZ biennial Ethics CPE 

requirement registration fee. 136.00                   

20,510.74              

Human Resources

10508201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 ADMIN ‐ S. BARBER 22.28                      

10508201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 ADMIN ‐ S. BARBER 20.66                      

10508205 112931 3/8/2019

Casa Grande Valley 

Newspaper Inc. 26291/3017 2/1/2019 FIRE BATTALION CHIEF 33.15                      

10508205 112931 3/8/2019

Casa Grande Valley 

Newspaper Inc. 26609/3017 2/1/2019 MAINT WORKER 31.67                      

10508205 112931 3/8/2019

Casa Grande Valley 

Newspaper Inc. 28544/3017 2/1/2019 FINANCE DIRECTOR 25.56                      

10508205 113064 3/21/2019

Casa Grande Valley 

Newspaper Inc. 28814 3/18/2019 Classifed Ad 25.56                      

10508217 112922 3/8/2019

Az Department of Public 

Safety MAR19/FINGERPR 3/6/2019 Fingerprint background checks 22.00                      

10508217 112926 3/8/2019

Benefit Intelligence Inc. 

(ConsultADoc) 23243 3/1/2019 March Teledoc Services 573.75                   

10508217 112942 3/8/2019

GABRIEL & ASHWORTH 

P.L.L.C. 6069 3/5/2019 INVESTIGATIVE SERVICES 632.50                   

10508217 112946 3/8/2019 INFINISOURCE INC. 90376830 2/9/2019 Monthly Administrative Fee‐JAN19 267.30                   

10508217 112953 3/8/2019

LAB CORP of AMERICA 

HOLDINGS 24849185 2/21/2019 Blood Draw EMP# 1207 275.00                   

10508217 113156 3/28/2019 Jorgensen Brooks Group SAAS074589 3/15/2019 2nd quarterly fee for EAP services 864.00                   

10508301 113101 3/21/2019 OFFICE DEPOT INC 287327187‐001 3/12/2019 Office supplies 131.50                   

10508314 219 3/15/2019 BAUDVILLE 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Etched Glass Award ‐ Torch 60.99                      

10508314 112970 3/8/2019

WALMART COMMUNITY # 

0005 7118 9.06001E+11 3/1/2019

March and April Visa Gift Cards ‐ Service 

Awards 314.82                   

10508314 113158 3/28/2019 KISS THE CHEF CATERING

LUNCHEON‐

041719 3/19/2019 Annual Employee Appreciation Luncheon 2,691.78                

5,992.52                

Community Development

10510201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 COM DEV/DEV SVC 210.67                   

10510201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 COM DEV / DEV SVC 210.83                   

10510205 219 3/15/2019 Royal Sign Co., Inc. 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Zoning Hearing Sign/Publication of meeting 907.75                   

10510207 113041 3/14/2019 T‐MOBILE USA INC. FEB19‐963909583 2/28/2019 GPS COM DEV 27.82                      

10510207 113042 3/14/2019

Toshiba Business Solutions 

USA 15143428 2/4/2019

Maintenance Agreement Copier‐FINAL 

PRINTING INVOICE 55.91                      

10510207 113042 3/14/2019

Toshiba Business Solutions 

USA 15172604 2/13/2019

Maintenance Agreement Copier‐FINAL 

PRINTING INVOICE 133.94                   

10510215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 224 W 20 ST 480.53                   

10510215 113110 3/21/2019

SOUTHWEST GAS 

CORPORATION MAR/19 VAR 3/12/2019 200 W 20TH ST 104.31                   



10510217 113012 3/14/2019

HUB Planning & Urban Design 

LLC 1906 3/5/2019 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 1,420.76                

10510217 113152 3/28/2019

HUB Planning & Urban Design 

LLC 1812 9/7/2018 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES‐AUGUST 2018 1,666.98                

10510231 112952 3/8/2019 KS STATEBANK CONT 03.04.19 3/4/2019

CONTRACT WITH AOT FOR MULTI‐

FUNCTION COPY MACHINES 209.75                   

10510301 112959 3/8/2019 OFFICE DEPOT INC 2.64553E+11 1/24/2019 GEL INK PENS 2DZ 27.71                      

10510301 112959 3/8/2019 OFFICE DEPOT INC 2.64555E+11 1/24/2019 GEL INK PENS ‐ 2BX 74.70                      

10510304 219 3/15/2019 Sheplers.com 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Work boots for C. Williams from Sheplers 100.00                   

10510306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL COM DEVELOPMENT 125.32                   

10510402 219 3/15/2019 Hotel St. MIchael 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Hotel for Historic Dist. board members for 

conference in Prescott. 266.74                   

10510402 219 3/15/2019 Hotel St. MIchael 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Hotel for Historic Dist. board members for 

conference in Prescott. 266.74                   

10510402 219 3/15/2019 VEER CONSULTING, LLC 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

2019 AZ Historic Preservation Conf. Comm. 

Dev Director 240.00                   

10510402 219 3/15/2019 VEER CONSULTING, LLC 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

2019 AZ Historic Preservation Conf.‐Board 

Member #1 240.00                   

10510402 219 3/15/2019 VEER CONSULTING, LLC 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

2019 AZ Historic Preservation Conf.‐Board 

Member #2 240.00                   

10510403 113081 3/21/2019 FRED PRYOR SEMINARS 5240888 2/28/2019 ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP ‐ WILLIAMS C 99.50                      

10510408 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 14029 7/9/2018 COM DEV WATER/ICE 22.21                      

10510408 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 14171 7/30/2018 COM DEV WATER/ICE 19.75                      

10510408 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 14805 10/22/2018 COM DEV WATER/ICE 6.58                        

10510408 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 14953 11/15/2018 COM DEV WATER/ICE 22.49                      

10510408 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 400095 3/4/2019 COM DEV WATER/ICE 13.16                      

7,194.15                

Police Administration

10511201 112934 3/8/2019 CENTURYLINK FEB/2019 ALARMS 2/16/2019 868‐9627 POLICE 9‐1‐1 318.06                   

10511201 112935 3/8/2019 COX BUSINESS FEB/2019 VAR 1/11/2019 425 N PINAL ST 6.28                        

10511201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 POLICE ADMIN 1,547.38                

10511201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 Superior Fire 91.79                      

10511201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 POLICE ADMIN 1,429.42                

10511201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 Superior Fire 92.06                      

10511203 112983 3/14/2019 Arizona Correctional Industries 459287 3/5/2019 Parking stickers w/tax 210.68                   

10511215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 1817 N HUNT HWY 50% 62.61                      

10511215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 193 E 6TH ST 63.59                      

10511215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 425 N PINAL ST PD 986.32                   

10511215 112990 3/14/2019 BIA FEB19/VAR 3/4/2019 3949 N IOWA RADIO TOWER #2 SPLIT 50% 154.20                   

10511217 112963 3/8/2019 SHRED‐IT USA 8126628357 2/15/2019 Shred‐it services 68.00                      

10511217 113058 3/21/2019

Az ASSOC OF CHIEFS OF 

POLICE 512 2/28/2019 POST A & B TESTS FOR OFFICERS 810.00                   

10511301 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Asus Led Monitors for Chief 288.26                   

10511302 112971 3/8/2019 WATER SHED 40040 2/20/2019 Ice for PD 16.46                      

10511302 113185 3/28/2019 WATER SHED 4000154 3/18/2019 Ice for PD 17.83                      

10511306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL‐PD ADMIN 179.63                   

10511401 113030 3/14/2019 OFFICE DEPOT INC 2.6455E+11 3/1/2019 Office Supplies 490.63                   

6,833.20                

Police Support

10512215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 200 E 6TH ST 2,588.82                

10512215 113110 3/21/2019

SOUTHWEST GAS 

CORPORATION MAR/19 VAR 3/12/2019 200 E 6TH ST. 62.95                      

10512217 112960 3/8/2019

PINAL CO ANIMAL CARE & 

CONTROL 18‐Dec 2/25/2019 Monthly Billing: December 2018 513.85                   

10512217 112960 3/8/2019

PINAL CO ANIMAL CARE & 

CONTROL 19‐Jan 2/25/2019 Monthly Billing: January 2019 521.35                   

10512217 112960 3/8/2019

PINAL CO ANIMAL CARE & 

CONTROL 18‐Nov 2/25/2019

Monthly Billing Animal Control: November 

2018 843.45                   

10512301 113168 3/28/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ POLICE DEPT

PETTY 

CASH/MAR19 3/21/2019 45814: Supplies Christmas 38.29                      

10512301 113168 3/28/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ POLICE DEPT

PETTY 

CASH/MAR19 3/21/2019

45815: Supplies: Graffiti 

Abatement/Paint& Rollers 40.63                      

10512403 113141 3/28/2019

Chandler‐Gilbert Community 

College

31578338 

SPRING/JS 3/19/2019

2nd installment for LE Acadamy Training: 

Joe Sutton 1,220.00                

5,829.34                

Police Volunteer

10513209 113160 3/28/2019 L. N. CURTIS and SONS INV266277 3/19/2019 Electric plug ends 161.18                   

10513304 113174 3/28/2019 STITCH AMERICA 101121 3/12/2019 POLICE HATS ‐ VOLUNTEERS 715.88                   

10513306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL‐PD VOLUNTEER 39.14                      

916.20                   

Police Operations

10514209 112918 3/8/2019

AIRWAVE COMMUNICATIONS 

ENTERPRISES 53 2/13/2019 Triband whip for PD 121.81                   

10514209 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 766497 2/15/2019 OIL FILTR ADAPTER FOR PD‐G859FJ 14.40                      



10514209 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 766895 2/21/2019 BRAKLEEN for pd g‐859FJ 17.62                      

10514209 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 766927 2/21/2019 COOOLANT FOR PD G‐859FJ 41.47                      

10514209 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767193 2/25/2019 STOCK OIL & FILTERS FOR PD 37.51                      

10514209 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767858 3/4/2019 Stock oil & filters for PD 77.77                      

10514209 112950 3/8/2019 JONES AUTO CENTER 175987 2/20/2019 POWER STEERING PUMP FOR PD G‐859FJ 176.96                   

10514209 112950 3/8/2019 JONES AUTO CENTER 176027 2/22/2019 Credit (76.44)                    

10514209 112950 3/8/2019 JONES AUTO CENTER 176214 3/4/2019 HEATER HOSES FOR PD G‐418FF 97.67                      

10514209 113017 3/14/2019 JONES AUTO CENTER 176181 3/1/2019 OIL COOLER LINE FOR PD G‐043FM 119.73                   

10514209 113017 3/14/2019 JONES AUTO CENTER 176305 3/7/2019 HEADLIGHT ASY FOR PD G‐414FF 646.02                   

10514209 113017 3/14/2019 JONES AUTO CENTER 54822 3/7/2019 A/C REPAIR FOR PD G‐317HC 1,192.31                

10514209 113024 3/14/2019 MHQ OF ARIZONA 111484 3/4/2019 Electrical diagnose & repair PD G‐317HC 70.00                      

10514209 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768235 3/7/2019 TURN SIGNAL BULBS FOR PD G‐414FF 10.28                      

10514209 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768247 3/7/2019

HEADLIGHT CONNECTOR & HEADLIGHT 

FOR PD G‐414FF 62.51                      

10514209 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768257 3/7/2019 CREDIT (10.28)                    

10514209 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768360 3/8/2019 CREDIT (63.11)                    

10514209 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768473 3/11/2019 WIPER BLADE FOR PD G‐414FF 6.54                        

10514209 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768511 3/11/2019 STOCK OIL & FILTERS FOR PD 103.39                   

10514209 113087 3/21/2019

Interstate Battery System of 

Scottsdale 990010779 3/13/2019 STOCK BATTERY FOR PD 587.80                   

10514209 113098 3/21/2019 MHQ OF ARIZONA 111509 3/21/2019 Emergence lights for PD G‐330FG 1,977.77                

10514209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769136 3/18/2019 STOCK FILTER FOR PD 5.83                        

10514209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769218 3/19/2019 WINDOW REGULATOR FOR PD G‐869GE 100.15                   

10514209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769338 3/20/2019 A/C WASHERS FOR PD G‐987GB 5.55                        

10514209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769340 3/20/2019 CREDIT (9.53)                       

10514209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769354 3/20/2019 WIPER BLADES FOR PD G‐987GB 37.11                      

10514209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769409 3/20/2019 SILICONE FOR PD G‐987GB 21.28                      

10514209 113155 3/28/2019 JONES AUTO CENTER 55576 3/19/2019 ENGINE REPAIRS FOR FD G‐346ES 1,296.49                

10514209 113161 3/28/2019

LONG STAR AUTO GLASS 

SERVICES 2471 3/25/2019 WINDSHIELD FOR PD G‐848GE 256.22                   

10514209 113169 3/28/2019 PURCELL TIRE COMPANY 6778570 2/21/2019 10 TIRES FOR PD 1,506.13                

10514302 112983 3/14/2019 Arizona Correctional Industries 459287 3/5/2019 Misc.Forms (citations) 1,490.00                

10514302 113142 3/28/2019 CODE 3 TECHNOLOGY 18‐124 3/25/2019 Panasonic Desktop DOC (2) 713.86                   

10514302 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 51829 3/18/2019 OPS: Clear Seal for radar trailer 19.10                      

10514302 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 51829 3/18/2019 OPS: Terminal GM for radar trailer 0.67                        

10514302 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 51829 3/18/2019 OPS: Terminal GM for radar trailer 2.66                        

10514302 113168 3/28/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ POLICE DEPT

PETTY 

CASH/MAR19 3/21/2019 45813: Mat for OPS 29.30                      

10514302 113177 3/28/2019 The Office Center Inc. 0129480‐001 3/15/2019 gloves (lg,xl,xxl) (Total of 42 boxes) 696.78                   

10514306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL‐PD OPERATIONS 6,920.82                

10514309 112979 3/14/2019 AMMO MUNITIONS INC. NO S9297 3/5/2019

Ammo: 9mm luger; 9mm 47 grain (12 

cases total) 2,727.12                

10514309 113168 3/28/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ POLICE DEPT

PETTY 

CASH/MAR19 3/21/2019 Firearms: Elect.unit for trailer 59.16                      

10514401 113165 3/28/2019

National Canine Tracking 

System NCATS MEMB/19 3/5/2019 Annual Dues 100.00                   

10514403 113001 3/14/2019 DON CAMPBELL MAR/19 HIDTA 3/14/2019 Per Diem for training 3/14/19 14.00                      

10514403 113014 3/14/2019 JAMES K. NIXON MAR/19 NIXON 3/3/2019 Per diem for training 3/14/19 14.00                      

10514403 113070 3/21/2019 CRAIG MARTIN

CM PER 

DIEM/MAR19 3/1/2019 Per Diem for Training 14.00                      

21,232.43              

Fire Administration

10515201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 FIRE 666.17                   

10515201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 FIRE 788.99                   

10515207 113166 3/28/2019

NATIONAL FIRE PROTECTION 

ASSOC 7424707X 3/4/2019 National Fire Code Subscription 1,345.50                

10515209 113013 3/14/2019

Interstate Battery System of 

Scottsdale 25015932 3/6/2019 BATTEERY FOR FD G‐964GH 210.19                   

10515215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 1817 N HUNT HWY 50% 62.61                      

10515215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 72 E 1ST ST 1,333.73                

10515215 112990 3/14/2019 BIA FEB19/VAR 3/4/2019 3949 N IOWA RADIO TOWER #2 SPLIT 50% 154.19                   

10515215 113110 3/21/2019

SOUTHWEST GAS 

CORPORATION MAR/19 VAR 3/12/2019 72 E 1st Street 77.55                      

10515231 112952 3/8/2019 KS STATEBANK CONT 03.04.19 3/4/2019

CONTRACT WITH AOT FOR MULTI‐

FUNCTION COPY MACHINES 204.91                   

10515306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL‐FIRE ADMIN 622.99                   

10515402 219 3/15/2019 ARIZONA FIRE CHIEFS ASSOC 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Purchase Arizona Fire Chiefs Assoc class for 

Chief Strayer 109.00                   

5,575.83                

Fire Station 1

10516209 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768861 3/15/2019 BATTERIES FOR FD G‐346ES 357.85                   

10516209 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768969 3/15/2019 BATTERY FOR FD G‐346ES 139.61                   

10516209 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768972 3/15/2019 CREDIT (178.92)                  

10516209 113076 3/21/2019 FASTSIGNS 278‐52257 2/12/2019 Parking Signs 72.93                      

10516209 113176 3/28/2019

Superstition Fire & Medical 

District 5162 3/20/2019 shop 126 vehicle maintenance, travel 351.00                   

10516209 113176 3/28/2019

Superstition Fire & Medical 

District 5163 3/20/2019 shop 131 vehicle maintenance 73.00                      



10516209 113176 3/28/2019

Superstition Fire & Medical 

District 5164 3/20/2019

shop 138 vehicle maintenance, EC89 

Connector, frc‐xe,wlp..., travel 795.60                   

10516302 113079 3/21/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 2141219 3/8/2019 LIQUID NAIL 3.70                        

10516304 113118 3/21/2019 UNITED FIRE EQUIPMENT CO. 702163 2/25/2019 KARTCHNER UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 329.23                   

10516304 113118 3/21/2019 UNITED FIRE EQUIPMENT CO. 702701 3/5/2019 PINE UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 337.70                   

10516304 113118 3/21/2019 UNITED FIRE EQUIPMENT CO. 702702 3/5/2019 MONTGOMERY UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 370.86                   

10516304 113118 3/21/2019 UNITED FIRE EQUIPMENT CO. 702817 3/6/2019 EGGERS UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 78.71                      

10516304 113118 3/21/2019 UNITED FIRE EQUIPMENT CO. 702879 3/7/2019 HAWKINS UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 263.28                   

10516306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL FIRE 541 949.03                   

10516315 113049 3/14/2019 WAXIE SANITARY SUPPLY 78069835 2/15/2019 Janitorial Supplies St #1 103.45                   

10516315 113049 3/14/2019 WAXIE SANITARY SUPPLY 7807414474 2/19/2019 Janitorial Supplies St #1 33.14                      

10516403 219 3/15/2019 Temporary Vendor 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Credit Voucher Hotelbooking service fee 

reimbursement. (9.99)                       

10516403 113033 3/14/2019 RUMDOUL IN 88411EC010117 2/21/2019

room for class 2‐19‐19 through 2‐21‐19 for 

FF Pip 282.64                   

4,352.82                

Fire Station 2

10517201 112934 3/8/2019 CENTURYLINK FEB/2019 ALARMS 2/16/2019 723‐7347 HUNT FIRE 216.72                   

10517201 112996 3/14/2019 COX BUSINESS FEB19‐8801 3/3/2019 2035 N HUNT HWY 109.93                   

10517212 113016 3/14/2019 Johnson Utilities FEB/19 8081‐01 3/5/2019 2035 N HUNT HWY FD#2 31.53                      

10517212 113016 3/14/2019 Johnson Utilities FEB/19 8082‐01 3/5/2019 2035 N HUNT HWY FD#2 277.60                   

10517215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 2035 N HUNT HWY 939.27                   

10517215 113036 3/14/2019

SOUTHWEST GAS 

CORPORATION FEB/19 1‐002 3/5/2019 2035 N HUNT HWY 109.33                   

10517304 113118 3/21/2019 UNITED FIRE EQUIPMENT CO. 702551 3/1/2019 WALTER UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 9.40                        

10517304 113118 3/21/2019 UNITED FIRE EQUIPMENT CO. 702745 3/6/2019 RADNEY UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 360.23                   

10517304 113118 3/21/2019 UNITED FIRE EQUIPMENT CO. 702797 3/6/2019 CHRZANOWSKI UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 398.74                   

10517304 113118 3/21/2019 UNITED FIRE EQUIPMENT CO. 702888 3/7/2019 PRICE UNIFORM ALLOWANCE 200.00                   

10517306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL FIRE 542 892.52                   

10517311 219 3/15/2019

HOME DEPOT CREDIT 

SERVICES 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Purchase The Home Depot 408 purchase a‐

frame ladder and wet vac for station #2 325.42                   

10517315 113049 3/14/2019 WAXIE SANITARY SUPPLY 78083743 2/22/2019 Janitorial Supplies St #2 33.14                      

10517321 113135 3/28/2019

BANNER CASA GRANDE MED 

CENTER

00034196204‐2‐

19 3/11/2019 drug restock 22.80                      

3,926.63                

Information Technology

10519201 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Droid Turbo 2 Case and Screen Protector ‐ 

Patrick Miller 20.93                      

10519201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 IT / COUNCIL LAPTOPS 423.19                   

10519201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 NO‐COST CENTER/IT 215.26                   

10519201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 IT / COUNCIL LAPTOPS 409.69                   

10519201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 NO‐COST CENTER/IT 588.79                   

10519207 219 3/15/2019

ADOBE SYSTEMS 

INCORPORATED 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Creative Cloud Subscription 57.87                      

10519207 219 3/15/2019 RAMNODE.COM 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 florenceaz.gov website hosting 83.00                      

10519207 219 3/15/2019 SendGrid 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Town Website Email Marketing 14.95                      

10519207 113041 3/14/2019 T‐MOBILE USA INC. FEB19‐963909583 2/28/2019 GPS ‐ IT 27.82                      

10519211 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240145 1/4/2019 Misc mounts for Finance Move 1/4/2019 11.62                      

10519211 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240513 1/28/2019 Senior Center Wall Plate 8.46                        

10519211 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240571 1/31/2019

Galvanized Mounting Bracket for Milandr 

Gateways 1/31/2019 44.19                      

10519211 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240673 2/6/2019 Milandr Gateway Bracket Threaded Rods 9.09                        

10519211 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240681 2/7/2019 Milandr Gateway Bracket Threaded Rods 9.09                        

10519211 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240975 2/25/2019

Milandr Gateway Rubberized Tape and 

Electrical Tape 16.90                      

10519222 112935 3/8/2019 COX BUSINESS FEB/2019 VAR 1/11/2019 775 N MAIN ST 33.54                      

10519222 112935 3/8/2019 COX BUSINESS FEB/2019 VAR 1/11/2019 TOWN HALL INTERNET 688.00                   

10519302 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Easy Up Heavy Duty Pole to Pole Mounts 

for Milander Gateways 123.00                   

10519302 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019 ShoreTel 230 IP Phones ‐ QTY 10 350.00                   

10519302 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Tele‐Titan XG Modular Plug Crimp Tool 40.84                      

10519302 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019

USB Type C Charger for HP Spectre x360 ‐ 

Lisa Garcia 19.99                      



10519323 219 3/15/2019 Contronex, Inc 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Avira AntiVirus for all Town computers 2,230.00                

10519323 219 3/15/2019 Microsoft Corporation 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Microsoft Office 365 E1 Subscription 677.59                   

10519410 219 3/15/2019 FAST SPRING 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

VMIX Studio Broadcasting Software ‐ 

Government Access Channel 760.20                   

6,864.01                

Fitness Center

10520215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 133 N MAIN ST 238.33                   

10520215 113110 3/21/2019

SOUTHWEST GAS 

CORPORATION MAR/19 VAR 3/12/2019 133 N MAIN ST 61.70                      

300.03                   

Parks & Recreation Administration

10521207 113041 3/14/2019 T‐MOBILE USA INC. FEB19‐963909583 2/28/2019 GPS ‐ PARKS & REC 97.37                      

10521231 112952 3/8/2019 KS STATEBANK CONT 03.04.19 3/4/2019

CONTRACT WITH AOT FOR MULTI‐

FUNCTION COPY MACHINES 209.75                   

10521401 219 3/15/2019

National Recreation & Park 

Asocication 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Annual Membership ‐ Director (BHughes) 175.00                   

482.12                   

Parks 

10522201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 PARKS MAINT 288.55                   

10522201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 PARKS MAINT 202.85                   

10522207 112985 3/14/2019

Arizona's Best Choice Pest & 

Termite Svc 622684 2/7/2019

Gopher control at Heritage, Senior Center 

and Little League park 235.00                   

10522207 112985 3/14/2019

Arizona's Best Choice Pest & 

Termite Svc 623745 2/25/2019 GOPHER CONTROL HP, SENIOR CTR AND LL 235.00                   

10522208 113072 3/21/2019 DeVries Backflow 3/13/2019 3/13/2019

repair/replace backflow preventer‐ 

Heritage Park 1,260.00                

10522209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769513 3/21/2019 OIL & FILTERS FOR PR‐12 79.10                      

10522209 113175 3/28/2019 STOTZ EQUIPMENT P85347 3/6/2019 Blanket for P&R Mowers 99.93                      

10522215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 121 W 22 ST PARK 118.67                   

10522215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 218 E 8TH ST 100.71                   

10522215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 28 E 11ST ST 83.08                      

10522215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 289 N MAIN ST UNIT 1‐2 80.50                      

10522215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 290 N BAILEY ST 53.46                      

10522215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 300 W 1ST ST 2,524.58                

10522215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 364 N UNIVERSITY 99.82                      

10522215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 77 W RUGGLES ST 83.16                      

10522222 113170 3/28/2019 RICK HALL 26996 2/1/2019

Standard Portable Toilet Serviced 1x/week 

at Main St. Park 70.98                      

10522302 219 3/15/2019 BEACON ATHELITICS 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Base anchors and supplies 386.28                   

10522302 219 3/15/2019 COMPLIANCE SIGNS 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Restroom Signs & Door Stickers 109.50                   

10522302 219 3/15/2019

WALMART COMMUNITY # 

0005 7118 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Flowers for Main Street Planters 140.60                   

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240528 1/29/2019 BLK CABLE TIES 8.46                        

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240662 2/6/2019 TUXMIP ELBOW, BRS BUSHING 15.97                      

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240669 2/6/2019 NUTS, BOLTS, & SCREWS 6.88                        

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240682 2/7/2019 3/8 GROMMET REFILL" 10.55                      

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240725 2/9/2019 DUCT TAPE 26.40                      

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240744 2/11/2019

BLK REG PAINT MARKER/WHT PAINT 

MARKER 10.57                      

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240755 2/11/2019 ADJ ANTI SIPH BALL COCK 9.00                        

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240798 2/13/2019 17OZ ORG FIELD INV PAINT 76.13                      

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240831 2/15/2019 1/2 X 300 RULE TAPE" 38.12                      

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240876 2/19/2019 4 WHT COUPLING 85.14                      

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240877 2/19/2019 ELEC TAPE, RED WIRE CONNECTORS 20.51                      

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240899 2/20/2019 IRRIGATION SUPPLIES 23.04                      

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240912 2/20/2019 2PK HD BACKUP BULB 4.76                        

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240989 2/26/2019

Irrigation Supplies, nuts & bolts, field 

marking paint, PM supplies 63.84                      

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240999 2/26/2019 9 6T DEMOLITION BLADE" 8.35                        

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241028 2/27/2019 12PK WOOD SHIMS, BRAID FLUOPNK REEL 13.73                      



10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241031 2/27/2019 12PK WOOD SHIMS, DRY SCREW 18.98                      

10522302 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241057 2/28/2019

Irrigation Supplies, nuts & bolts, field 

marking paint, PM supplies 19.03                      

10522302 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 15281 1/23/2019

Drinking water and ice for Park 

Maintenance Staff 19.75                      

10522302 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 300029 1/23/2019

Drinking water and ice for Park 

Maintenance Staff 13.16                      

10522302 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 300032 2/4/2019

Drinking water and ice for Park 

Maintenance Staff 6.58                        

10522302 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 400096 3/4/2019

Drinking water and ice for Park 

Maintenance Staff 13.16                      

10522302 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 761320 12/11/2018 COUPLER/ADAPTER 9.88                        

10522302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 4000114 3/11/2019

Drinking water and ice for Park 

Maintenance Staff 34.01                      

10522302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 4000117 3/11/2019

Drinking water and ice for Park 

Maintenance Staff 13.16                      

10522302 113128 3/28/2019 ANOVA Furnsihings Inc. 609973 2/21/2019 MuttMitts for Central Bark Park 987.92                   

10522306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL PARKS MAINT 548.19                   

10522317 113054 3/21/2019

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF 

CORRECTIONS‐ITA

A04115B 

20190227 3/8/2019

INMATE LABOR/WORK PROGRAM‐ PARK 

MAINTENANCE 76.00                      

10522317 113054 3/21/2019

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF 

CORRECTIONS‐ITA

A04117B 

20181206 12/13/2018

INMATE LABOR/WORK PROGRAM‐ PARK 

MAINTENANCE 32.00                      

10522317 113113 3/21/2019 STOTZ EQUIPMENT P85346 3/6/2019 V‐BELT 64.94                      

10522317 113113 3/21/2019 STOTZ EQUIPMENT P85403 3/7/2019 GUIDE/FREIGHT 56.27                      

10522317 113131 3/28/2019

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF 

CORRECTIONS‐ITA

A04117B 

20190314 3/19/2019

INMATE LABOR/WORK PROGRAM‐ PARK 

MAINTENANCE 40.00                      

10522317 113137 3/28/2019

BRUTINEL PLUMBING & ELEC. 

INC 138490 2/19/2019 additional amount to cover invoice 138490 155.00                   

10522317 113137 3/28/2019

BRUTINEL PLUMBING & ELEC. 

INC 138490 2/19/2019 Irrigation repairs at Heritage park 1,000.00                

10522403 219 3/15/2019 ALCA 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

ACLP Workshops ‐ Lopez ACLP Workshops ‐ 

White 60.00                      

10522403 219 3/15/2019 ALCA 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

ACLP Workshops ‐ Lopez ACLP Workshops ‐ 

White 60.00                      

10522403 219 3/15/2019 ALCA 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

ACLP Workshops ‐ Lopez ACLP Workshops ‐ 

White 60.00                      

10522403 219 3/15/2019 ALCA 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

ACLP Workshops ‐ Lopez ACLP Workshops ‐ 

White 60.00                      

10522403 219 3/15/2019 ALCA 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

ACLP Workshops‐ Lopez ACLP Workshops‐ 

White 60.00                      

10522403 219 3/15/2019 ALCA 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

ACLP Workshops‐ Lopez ACLP Workshops‐ 

White 60.00                      

10522403 112939 3/8/2019 Elijah White

03/14/19 PER 

DIEM 1/28/2019 Per Diem for ACLA Workshops 15.00                      

10522403 112958 3/8/2019 MIKE LOPEZ JR. 3.14.19 PER DIEM 3/5/2019 Per Diem for ACLA Trainings 15.00                      

10,171.25              

Community Center

10523215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 778 N MAIN ST 3,273.66                

10523401 219 3/15/2019 MOOD MEDIA CORPORATE 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Pandora Music Subscription ‐ Library & 

Community Center 29.43                      

3,303.09                

Aquatics

10524207 112934 3/8/2019 CENTURYLINK FEB/2019 ALARMS 2/16/2019 868‐0265 322.51                   

10524215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 174 W 1ST ST UNIT 2 4,442.95                

10524215 113110 3/21/2019

SOUTHWEST GAS 

CORPORATION MAR/19 VAR 3/12/2019 174 W 1st ST #2 1,351.16                

10524302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 4000152 3/18/2019 DRINKING WATER FOR AQUATIC STAFF 13.16                      

10524310 113150 3/28/2019 HILL BROTHERS CHEMICAL CO. 50911527 6/25/2018

Chemicals for Pool‐ Past due Invoice 

50911527 (SB in FY17/18) 1,067.43                

10524310 113150 3/28/2019 HILL BROTHERS CHEMICAL CO. 50911527 6/25/2018

Chemicals for Pool‐ Past due Invoice 

50913407 1,590.28                

10524311 112920 3/8/2019 AQUATIC ENVIRONMENTAL  IN45346 2/20/2019 Strainer for PSP System 61.85                      

10524401 219 3/15/2019 MOOD MEDIA CORPORATE 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Pandora Music Subscription ‐ Aquatic 

Center 29.43                      

10524403 113162 3/28/2019 MARY JO MANN 20191 3/13/2019 Lifeguard Re‐Certification 584.00                   

10524403 113162 3/28/2019 MARY JO MANN 20192 3/13/2019 Lifeguard Certification Training 2,418.00                

11,880.77              

Recreation Programs

10525201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 RECREATION PROG 63.68                      

10525201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 RECREATION PROG 63.81                      

10525217 112951 3/8/2019 KIM A. HUNTER 19‐Feb 2/20/2019

FEBRUARY  FTC LEATERSHIP & 

PROGRAMING 3,000.00                

10525217 112951 3/8/2019 KIM A. HUNTER 19‐Jan 1/20/2019

JANUARY FTC LEATERSHIP & 

PROGRAMING 3,000.00                

10525217 113157 3/28/2019 KIM A. HUNTER 19‐Mar 3/20/2019 FTC LEADERSHIP & PROG/MARCH‐19 3,000.00                

10525302 219 3/15/2019 A & M PIZZA 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Lunch for Teen Symposium 396.64                   

10525302 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Spring Sport Supplies 21.27                      

10525302 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Supplies for Father Daughter and Mother 

Daughter Dance 80.00                      

10525302 219 3/15/2019 BSN Sports LLC 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Replacement Tennis Net 288.10                   



10525302 219 3/15/2019 Dollar Tree Stores Inc 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Valentine Supplies for Before and After the 

bell Program 68.25                      

10525302 219 3/15/2019 Humane Society of So. Arizona 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Pizza for Iddie Biddie Kiddies last day 28.36                      

10525302 219 3/15/2019 LOWE'S  022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Main Street Mural Project ‐ Lumber, 

Hardware and Paint/Primer 1,331.06                

10525302 219 3/15/2019 pickleballcentral.com 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Additional Pickleball Court Tape 95.53                      

10525302 219 3/15/2019 SAFEWAY INC. 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Breakfast Items for Teen Symposium 42.77                      

10525302 219 3/15/2019 SAFEWAY INC. 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Snacks and Refreshments for P&R 

Comprehensive Plan Focus Groups 26.14                      

10525302 219 3/15/2019

WALMART COMMUNITY # 

0005 7118 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 General Supplies 21.24                      

10525302 219 3/15/2019

WALMART COMMUNITY # 

0005 7118 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Main Street Mural Project‐Scaffolding 434.61                   

10525302 219 3/15/2019

WALMART COMMUNITY # 

0005 7118 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Supplies for Before and After the Bell 

Program 8.68                        

10525302 219 3/15/2019

WALMART COMMUNITY # 

0005 7118 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Supplies For Before and After the bell 

program 149.76                   

10525302 219 3/15/2019

WALMART COMMUNITY # 

0005 7118 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Supplies for Father Daughter Dance 67.61                      

10525302 219 3/15/2019

WALMART COMMUNITY # 

0005 7118 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Supplies for the Cupid's Ball 140.61                   

10525302 219 3/15/2019

WALMART COMMUNITY # 

0005 7118 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Supplies for the Father Daughter Dance 91.37                      

10525302 219 3/15/2019

WALMART COMMUNITY # 

0005 7118 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Valentine Party Supplies for Iddie Biddie 

kiddies 52.51                      

10525302 113093 3/21/2019 JIM HEET PHOTOGRAPHY 526 2/15/2019 Trophies Soccer 32.76                      

10525302 113114 3/21/2019 SURF & SKI ENTERPRISES 153331 2/6/2019 soccer shirts 504.29                   

10525302 113114 3/21/2019 SURF & SKI ENTERPRISES 153332 2/7/2019 Overage on invoice 256.67                   

10525302 113114 3/21/2019 SURF & SKI ENTERPRISES 153332 2/7/2019 Tball Shirts 1,440.00                

10525302 113114 3/21/2019 SURF & SKI ENTERPRISES 153395 2/22/2019 Additional Shirts 117.52                   

10525304 113114 3/21/2019 SURF & SKI ENTERPRISES 153438 3/3/2019 Uniform Shirts for Recreation Staff 1,576.48                

10525306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL PARKS REC 196.56                   

16,596.28              

Special Events

10526302 219 3/15/2019

HOME DEPOT CREDIT 

SERVICES 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Small Portable Lights for Special Events 216.04                   

10526302 219 3/15/2019 SAFEWAY INC. 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Supplies for the Home Tour Volunteer 

Appreciation 59.19                      

10526407 219 3/15/2019 Facebook 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Facebook advertising for special events 294.40                   

10526407 112975 3/14/2019 1013 Communications LLC 2019CI‐22633 2/15/2019 1/4 page ad in East Valley Tribune 484.85                   

10526407 113116 3/21/2019 The Arizona Republic #1531 R3288535150101 2/1/2019 2019 Home Tour Ad 80.50                      

10526407 113116 3/21/2019 The Arizona Republic #1531 R3288535150201 2/1/2019 2019 Home Tour Ad 6.00                        

10526407 113116 3/21/2019 The Arizona Republic #1531 R3388535150101 2/2/2019 2019 Home Tour Ad 80.50                      

10526407 113116 3/21/2019 The Arizona Republic #1531 R3388535150201 2/2/2019 2019 Home Tour Ad 6.00                        

10526407 113116 3/21/2019 The Arizona Republic #1531 R3488535130001 2/1/2019 2019 Home Tour Ad 637.50                   

10526407 113139 3/28/2019

Casa Grande Valley 

Newspaper Inc. 12285/2048 2/7/2019 HOME TOUR AD 606.21                   

10526407 113139 3/28/2019

Casa Grande Valley 

Newspaper Inc. 12286/2048 2/21/2019 CONCERT IN THE PARK ADS 459.00                   

10526407 113139 3/28/2019

Casa Grande Valley 

Newspaper Inc. 12287/2048 2/21/2019 POOCH PARTY AD 153.00                   

10526407 113178 3/28/2019 TUCSON LOCAL MEDIA 17371 1/31/2019

1/4 page Home Tour Ad in Tucson Local 

Media 502.00                   

3,585.19                

Senior Center

10528201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 SENIOR CENTER 18.11                      

10528201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 SENIOR CENTER 18.15                      

10528201 113069 3/21/2019 COX BUSINESS MAR/19 1701 3/10/2019 330 N PINAL ST/SENIOR CENTR 19.91                      

10528207 113041 3/14/2019 T‐MOBILE USA INC. FEB19‐963909583 2/28/2019 GPS ‐ SENIOR CTR 69.55                      

10528208 112957 3/8/2019 Mid State Refrigeration 135 1/28/2019

preventative maintenance Inspections on 

freezer and two refrigerators.  Including 

cleaning of coils, and check refrigeration. 550.00                   

10528208 112957 3/8/2019 Mid State Refrigeration 927575 1/10/2019

diagnostic on commercial freezer.  Leaking 

water 426.00                   

10528209 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767268 2/26/2019 OIL & FILTER FOR SC‐4 30.81                      

10528209 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767635 3/1/2019 SPARK PLUG & BOOT FOR SC‐16 72.72                      

10528209 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767690 3/1/2019 CREDIT (24.42)                    

10528215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 330 N PINAL ST 1,040.17                

10528215 113110 3/21/2019

SOUTHWEST GAS 

CORPORATION MAR/19 VAR 3/12/2019 330 N PINAL ST 52.52                      

10528217 112961 3/8/2019 PINAL NUTRITION PROGRAM 19‐Jan 1/31/2019

265 meals provided for the month of 

January 1,055.38                

10528217 112982 3/14/2019 AQUA CHILL INC #1 24330416 2/20/2019

monthly rental for 50 GPD Ro and rental 

for 3 gallon tanks 32.61                      

10528217 113104 3/21/2019 PINAL NUTRITION PROGRAM FEB/19 MEALS 2/28/2019

261 senior meals for the month of 

February 1,036.98                

10528217 113129 3/28/2019 AQUA CHILL INC #1 24331493 3/20/2019 1 MONTH RENTAL FOR TANK 32.43                      

10528217 113185 3/28/2019 WATER SHED 4000115 3/11/2019 monthly water and ice 18.10                      

10528217 113185 3/28/2019 WATER SHED 4000149 3/18/2019 monthly water and ice 6.58                        

10528302 219 3/15/2019 CENTRAL AZ COLLEGE 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Purchase Eb The Brothers Four 22.00                      



10528302 219 3/15/2019 CENTRAL AZ COLLEGE 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Purchase Eb The Brothers Four 154.00                   

10528302 219 3/15/2019 CENTRAL AZ COLLEGE 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Purchase Eb The Brothers Four 220.00                   

10528302 219 3/15/2019 Humane Society of So. Arizona 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Purchase Circle K # 03492 40.36                      

10528302 219 3/15/2019 MOOD MEDIA CORPORATE 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Pandora Music Subscription and ProFusion 

iO Music Player ‐ Senior Center 118.09                   

10528302 219 3/15/2019 SAFEWAY INC. 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Purchase Safeway #2835 full sheet cake for 

volunteer appreciation dinner 47.93                      

10528302 219 3/15/2019 Shope Enterprises 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Purchase Shope Enterprises‐dinner 

supplies for volunteer appreciation dinner 166.91                   

10528302 219 3/15/2019 SMART & FINAL STORES CORP 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Purchase Smart And Final 730‐ monthly 

supplies for kitchen and volunteer dinner 421.02                   

10528302 219 3/15/2019

WALMART COMMUNITY # 

0005 7118 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Purchase Wal‐Mart #2778 Gift Cards for 

Talent show  1st place $50.00 2nd place & 

25.00 3rd place 15.00 97.38                      

10528302 219 3/15/2019

WALMART COMMUNITY # 

0005 7118 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Purchase Wal‐Mart #2778‐ monthly 

supplies and food for Talent show 306.12                   

10528302 113027 3/14/2019

Nat'l Ctr For Safety Initiatives 

LLC 141281 3/1/2019 Give A Lift Background & Driving Records 16.00                      

10528302 113031 3/14/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ SENIOR CENTER JAN/19 BINGO 2/28/2019

dollar general store‐milk for biscuits and 

gravy 4.59                        

10528302 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 15285 1/24/2019 2 5 gallon water‐reciept 15284 13.16                      

10528302 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 15295 1/28/2019 2‐ 20 lbs ice, 1 5 gallon water reciept 15295 11.52                      

10528302 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 300028 2/24/2019 2 20 lb ice invoice 4001 13.16                      

10528302 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 40001 2/11/2019 12/10/19‐1‐ ice & 1 water‐receipt 15112 4.94                        

10528302 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 400039 2/20/2019

2 20lbs bags of ice & 2 5 gallon water‐

12/24/19‐reciept 15180 11.08                      

10528302 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 400060 2/25/2019

2 20lbs bags of ice & 2 5 gallon water‐

12/24/19‐reciept 15180 4.50                        

10528306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL SENIIOR CENTER 293.17                   

10528311 112941 3/8/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240426 11/22/2018 PAINTING SUPPLIES 14.28                      

10528401 219 3/15/2019 MOOD MEDIA CORPORATE 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Pandora Music Subscription and ProFusion 

iO Music Player ‐ Senior Center 29.43                      

10528444 219 3/15/2019 Humane Society of So. Arizona 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Purchase Sq *florence Fudge‐senior meal 

for 21 seniors at $5.00 per person.  From 

Donation account 105.00                   

10528444 113031 3/14/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ SENIOR CENTER JAN/19 BINGO 2/28/2019

99 cent store‐bingo produce (reimbursed 

by PGCSC) 4.81                        

10528444 113031 3/14/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ SENIOR CENTER JAN/19 BINGO 2/28/2019

99 cent store‐bingo produce (reimbursed 

by PGCSC) 9.18                        

10528444 113031 3/14/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ SENIOR CENTER JAN/19 BINGO 2/28/2019

food city‐ bingo produce (reimbursed by 

PGCSC) 19.86                      

10528444 113031 3/14/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ SENIOR CENTER JAN/19 BINGO 2/28/2019

Food City‐bingo produce (reimbursed by 

PGCSC) 16.65                      

10528444 113031 3/14/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ SENIOR CENTER JAN/19 BINGO 2/28/2019 frys‐ bingo produce (reimbursed by PGCSC) 5.66                        

10528444 113031 3/14/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ SENIOR CENTER JAN/19 BINGO 2/28/2019 Frys‐bingo produce (reimbursed by PGCSC) 8.80                        

10528444 113031 3/14/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ SENIOR CENTER JAN/19 BINGO 2/28/2019

produce for bingo‐99 cent store 

(reimbursed by PGCSC) 8.87                        

10528444 113031 3/14/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ SENIOR CENTER JAN/19 BINGO 2/28/2019

superstion ranch market‐bingo produce 

(reimbursed by PGCSC) 36.83                      

10528444 113031 3/14/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ SENIOR CENTER JAN/19 BINGO 2/28/2019

superstition ranch market‐ bingo produce 

(reimbursed by PGCSC) 35.76                      

10528444 113031 3/14/2019 PETTY CASH ‐ SENIOR CENTER JAN/19 BINGO 2/28/2019

superstition ranch market‐reiumburse 

40.00‐remaining 20.96 on reciept was 

donated by anonymous volunteer 40.00                      

6,756.66                

Library

10529202 113044 3/14/2019 U. S. Post Master MAR/19 POSTAGE 3/6/2019

postage renewal ‐ please put check in 

Library box. Thank you. 1,810.00                

10529302 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019 file folders, file boxes, sheet protectors 84.90                      

10529308 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Childrens book 22.46                      

10529308 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019 DVD 32.56                      

10529308 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019 NonFiction book 48.99                      

10529308 112924 3/8/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 40124764784 2/27/2019 YA books 31.32                      

10529308 112924 3/8/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012476482 2/27/2019 Juv and childrens Books 4.79                        

10529308 112924 3/8/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012476483 2/27/2019 Fiction books/CDs 54.95                      

10529308 112924 3/8/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012476485 2/27/2019 Childrens and Juv books 85.24                      

10529308 112924 3/8/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012476486 2/27/2019 NonFiction books and DVDs 13.79                      

10529308 112924 3/8/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012476487 2/27/2019 YA books 69.73                      

10529308 112924 3/8/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012476488 2/27/2019 Childrens and Juv Books 534.67                   

10529308 112924 3/8/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS H27338080 2/19/2019 NonFiction books and DVDs 22.49                      

10529308 112924 3/8/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS T00196730 2/27/2019 NonFiction books and DVDs 108.65                   

10529308 112924 3/8/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS T00196731 2/27/2019 NonFiction books and DVDs 34.46                      

10529308 112988 3/14/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012478947 3/1/2019 Childrens and Juv books 67.00                      

10529308 112988 3/14/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012478948 3/1/2019 NonFiction books and DVDs 15.40                      

10529308 112988 3/14/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012478949 3/1/2019 YA books 36.37                      



10529308 112988 3/14/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012478950 3/1/2019 Childrens and Juv Books 14.58                      

10529308 112988 3/14/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012478951 3/1/2019 Fiction books and CDs 802.46                   

10529308 112988 3/14/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS T00378450 3/1/2019 NonFiction books and DVDs 18.73                      

10529308 112988 3/14/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS T00590140 3/5/2019 NonFiction books and DVDs 26.24                      

10529308 112988 3/14/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS T00590141 3/5/2019 NonFiction books and DVDs 59.95                      

10529308 113134 3/28/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012490085 3/14/2019 Childrens and Juv books 9.34                        

10529308 113134 3/28/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012490086 3/14/2019 NonFiction books and DVDs 48.59                      

10529308 113134 3/28/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012490087 3/14/2019 Childrens and Juv Books 56.05                      

10529308 113134 3/28/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS 4012490088 3/14/2019 Fiction books and CDs 115.42                   

10529308 113134 3/28/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS T01038880 3/12/2019 NonFiction books and DVDs 85.44                      

10529308 113134 3/28/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS T01038881 3/12/2019 NonFiction books and DVDs 11.24                      

10529308 113134 3/28/2019 BAKER & TAYLOR BOOKS T01444740 3/19/2019 NonFiction books and DVDs 32.21                      

10529402 219 3/15/2019

PRESCOTT RESORT & CONF 

CTR 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Lodging for AzLA YA Summit 2019 and 

STAR Net and NASA at Your Library 2019 

Training for Gloria Moreno 100.00                   

10529402 219 3/15/2019

PRESCOTT RESORT & CONF 

CTR 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Lodging for AzLA YA Summit 2019 and 

STAR Net and NASA at Your Library 2019 

Training for Gloria Moreno 250.00                   

10529402 113018 3/14/2019 KATLIN NOLAN MAR/19 NOLAN 3/13/2019

Personal vehicle mileage reimbursement 

for Kaytlin Nolan 19.28                      

10529403 219 3/15/2019

PRESCOTT RESORT & CONF 

CTR 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Lodging for AzLA YA Summit 2019 and 

STAR Net and NASA at Your Library 2019 

Training for Gloria Moreno 95.88                      

10529403 113018 3/14/2019 KATLIN NOLAN MAR/19 NOLAN 3/13/2019

Personal vehicle mileage reimbursement 

for Kaytlin Nolan 5.25                        

10529403 113018 3/14/2019 KATLIN NOLAN

MAR/19 NOLAN 

MILEAGE 3/13/2019

Personal vehicle mileage and Per Diem 

meal for Kaytlin Nolan for Every Child 

Ready to Read Training 73.58                      

10529407 113000 3/14/2019 DEMCO Inc. 6561468 3/4/2019 Summer Reading Program supplies 646.37                   

5,548.38                

Engineering

10530201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 ENGINEERING 45.67                      

10530201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 ENGINEERING 45.63                      

10530306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL ENGINEEING 47.74                      

10530308 113023 3/14/2019 Maricopa Association of 2004781 2/19/2019 2019 SPECS & DETAILS BOOK / BINDER 110.21                   

249.25                   

Facilities Maintenance

10531201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 FACILITIES 138.57                   

10531201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 FACILITIES 130.02                   

10531207 112800 2/21/2019 BENSON SYSTEMS 211124 1/17/2019 JAN MCFARLAND PK 49.95                      

10531207 112927 3/8/2019 BENSON SYSTEMS 202506 2/28/2019 FITNESS CENTER ALARM 49.95                      

10531207 112927 3/8/2019 BENSON SYSTEMS 211124 1/17/2019 CREDIT FOR OVERPAYMENT (49.95)                    

10531207 112927 3/8/2019 BENSON SYSTEMS 212497 2/28/2019 PD EVIDENCE ALARM 24.95                      

10531207 112927 3/8/2019 BENSON SYSTEMS 212498 2/28/2019 TOWN HALL ALARM 74.90                      

10531207 112927 3/8/2019 BENSON SYSTEMS 212499 2/28/2019 ALARM SYSTEM MONITORING 35.95                      

10531207 112927 3/8/2019 BENSON SYSTEMS 212500 2/28/2019 IT ALARM 44.95                      

10531207 112927 3/8/2019 BENSON SYSTEMS 212501 2/28/2019 FS2 ALARM 39.95                      

10531207 112927 3/8/2019 BENSON SYSTEMS 212502 2/28/2019 SWWTP ALARM 32.95                      

10531207 112927 3/8/2019 BENSON SYSTEMS 212503 2/28/2019 AQUATICS FACILITY ALARM 72.90                      

10531207 112927 3/8/2019 BENSON SYSTEMS 212504 2/28/2019 COMMUNITY CTR ALARM 72.90                      

10531207 112927 3/8/2019 BENSON SYSTEMS 212505 2/28/2019 SILVER KING ALARM 65.90                      

10531207 112927 3/8/2019 BENSON SYSTEMS 212507 2/28/2019 MCFARLAND PARK ALARM 34.95                      

10531207 112940 3/8/2019 Flanigan Customs Elevators 6853 2/27/2019 PM SERVICES FOR SK/TOWN HALL 612.50                   

10531207 113041 3/14/2019 T‐MOBILE USA INC. FEB19‐963909583 2/28/2019 GPS ‐ FAC MAINT 55.64                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 AQUATIC CTR ‐ MAR2019 35.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 AQUATIC EQUIP ‐ MAR2019 10.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 BRUNENKANT 25.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 CEMETARY 10.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 COMMUNITY DEV 25.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 FiRE STA #1 25.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 FiRE STA #2 45.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 FiTNESS CTR 35.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 HERITAGE PARK ‐ MAR2019 25.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 HIGH PROFILE RR 10.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 IT OFFICES 25.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 Jacques Square 10.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 LIB/COM CTR ‐ MAR2019 80.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 MCFARLAND PARK 25.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 PADILLA PARK 10.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 PARKS GROUND OFFICE 25.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 PD ADMIN 35.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 PD EVIDENCE 35.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 PUBLIC WORKS 45.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 SENIOR CTR 35.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 SILVER KING 25.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 Town Hall 50.00                      

10531207 113117 3/21/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING MAR/19 VAR 3/1/2019 WWTP'S 50.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 AQUATIC CTR 35.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 AQUATIC EQUIP 10.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 BRUNENKANT 25.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 CEMETERY RR 10.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 COM DEV 25.00                      



10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 FIRE STA #1 25.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 FITNESS CTR 35.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 HERITAGE PARK RR 25.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 HIGH PROFILE RR 10.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 IT OFC 25.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 JACQUES SQ 10.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 LIB/COM CENTER 80.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 MCFARLAND 25.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 PADILLA PARK RR 10.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 PARKS GROUND OFC 25.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 PD EVIDENCE 35.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 POLICE 35.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 PUBLIC WKS 45.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 SENIOR CTR 35.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 SILVER KING 35.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 TOWN HALL 50.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/19 WWTPS 50.00                      

10531207 113179 3/28/2019 UNITED EXTERMINATING 19‐Feb 2/1/2019 FEB/2019 FIRE STA #2 45.00                      

10531208 113006 3/14/2019 GEN‐TECH 180504 3/8/2019

EVAL BATTERY NOT CHARGING PD 

GENERATOR 749.75                   

10531301 113101 3/21/2019 OFFICE DEPOT INC 2.65388E+11 1/25/2019 Office Supplies ‐ FACILITIES 360.90                   

10531302 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Amazon: harness for Fac. Maint. 96.96                      

10531302 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Amazon: Light bulbs for Facilities 23.98                      

10531302 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Amazon: polarized glasses for Facilities 

Maint. 17.90                      

10531302 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Amazon: Safety Glasses for Facilities 24.63                      

10531302 112945 3/8/2019

HOME DEPOT CREDIT 

SERVICES 622797 1/17/2019 THERMS., HOSPE BIB, PIPE 473.78                   

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 239846 12/13/2018 STUCCO MIX 40.60                      

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240930 2/22/2019 FILTER 2.45                        

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240965 2/25/2019 APRON 12.69                      

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240969 2/25/2019 WASP SPRAY 4.90                        

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240981 2/26/2019 MOUNT STRIPS 18.41                      

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240982 2/26/2019 HI‐VIZ GLOVES 7.85                        

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240987 2/26/2019 KNIFE/BLADES 11.31                      

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240991 2/26/2019 TRAY SET 5.27                        

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240994 2/27/2019 DROP CLOTH 2.64                        

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241020 2/28/2019 TAPE, ADAPTER 27.22                      

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241043 3/1/2019 AERATOR 6.20                        

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241047 3/1/2019 WALL PLATES 9.93                        

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241062 3/1/2019 GASKET 2.86                        

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241063 3/1/2019 BOLTS 10.92                      

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241067 3/1/2019 NUTS/BOLTS 18.03                      

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241072 3/1/2019 FLANGE 9.82                        

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241108 3/4/2019 LED COVER 37.03                      

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241206 3/8/2019 LEVEL 14.81                      

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241211 3/8/2019 NUTS/BOLTS 3.93                        

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241235 3/11/2019 CABLE TIES 20.56                      

10531302 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241244 3/11/2019 BATTRY 21.82                      

10531302 113008 3/14/2019 GRAINGER INC. 9078616035 2/5/2019 LOCK BODY ASSY 273.73                   

10531302 113053 3/21/2019

AMERICAN AIR FILTER 

COMPANY 216717 10/26/2018 Air Filters for all facilities 513.73                   

10531302 113151 3/28/2019

HOME DEPOT CREDIT 

SERVICES 8024996 2/4/2019 CEMENT, WAX RINGS, ETC. 220.77                   

10531304 219 3/15/2019 AMAZON.COM  022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Amazon: Safety Work Boots for Tom 

Celaya 168.76                   

10531304 112925 3/8/2019 BC GRAPHICS 12375‐1 12/28/2018 Uniform Allowance for three Custodians 755.08                   

10531306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL FAC MAINT 211.30                   

10531311 113148 3/28/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241164 3/7/2019 WHEEL 3.70                        

10531311 113148 3/28/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241375 3/18/2019 TAPE MEASURE 30.58                      

10531312 112978 3/14/2019 AGS SAFETY & SUPPLY 7481390 2/27/2019 BPO FOR SAFETY‐FACILITIES 28.28                      

10531315 113049 3/14/2019 WAXIE SANITARY SUPPLY 78003450 1/18/2019 CLEANING SUPPLIES 695.14                   



10531316 112938 3/8/2019 E & JC Heating & Cooling LLC 10460 2/21/2019 Town Hall Service Call 80.00                      

10531316 113037 3/14/2019 Stanley Access Tech  LLC 905536721 2/26/2019 Call‐Out Services for Library 186.00                   

8,091.20                

General Government

10532201 112933 3/8/2019 CENTURYLINK 1461644701 2/7/2019 520‐868‐7500 MAIN LINE/LONG DIST 155.25                   

10532201 112934 3/8/2019 CENTURYLINK FEB/2019 ALARMS 2/16/2019 868‐0236 FIRE ALARM SYSTEM 53.01                      

10532201 112934 3/8/2019 CENTURYLINK FEB/2019 ALARMS 2/16/2019 868‐0238 AS/SR 9‐1‐1 LOCATOR 79.28                      

10532201 112934 3/8/2019 CENTURYLINK FEB/2019 ALARMS 2/16/2019 868‐0593 INTERNET LINE 114.89                   

10532201 112934 3/8/2019 CENTURYLINK FEB/2019 ALARMS 2/16/2019 868‐7500 MAIN LINE 91.05                      

10532201 112935 3/8/2019 COX BUSINESS FEB/2019 VAR 1/11/2019 778 N MAIN ST 128.96                   

10532201 112994 3/14/2019 CENTURYLINK 19‐Feb 2/16/2019 AW/SR 9‐1‐1 LOCATOR 79.28                      

10532201 113066 3/21/2019 CENTURYLINK FEB19 7500 3/7/2019 868‐7500 MAIN LINE 334.89                   

10532201 113067 3/21/2019 CENTURYLINK Feb‐19 3/1/2019 868‐0118 TRUNK LINE 527.66                   

10532201 113067 3/21/2019 CENTURYLINK Feb‐19 3/1/2019 868‐0593 INTERNET LINE 237.78                   

10532206 112986 3/14/2019

AZ MUNICIPAL RISK 

RETENTION‐

40001519‐

03042019 3/4/2019

Liability Ins‐Excess Policy 2000239‐1 10/18‐

10/19 8,151.00                

10532206 112986 3/14/2019

AZ MUNICIPAL RISK 

RETENTION‐

40001519‐

03042019 3/4/2019 Liability Insurance‐2000238‐1 10/18‐10/19 111,069.00            

10532206 112993 3/14/2019 CentiMark Corporation 8400189534 11/20/2018 DEDUCTIBLE ‐ IT BLDG ROOF REPAIR 1,000.00                

10532214 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 440 N MAIN ST SILVER KING 97.88                      

10532214 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 440 N MAIN ST STE 101 203.91                   

10532214 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 440 N MAIN ST STE 102 171.77                   

10532214 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 440 N MAIN ST STE 201 85.19                      

10532214 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 440 N MAIN ST STE 202 104.94                   

10532214 112934 3/8/2019 CENTURYLINK FEB/2019 ALARMS 2/16/2019 868‐0705 SILVER KING 160.70                   

10532214 112934 3/8/2019 CENTURYLINK FEB/2019 ALARMS 2/16/2019 868‐8933 291.S BAILEY 148.72                   

10532215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 24 W RUGGLES ST 631.00                   

10532215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 24 W RUGGLES ST/MCFARLAND 60.05                      

10532215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 291 N BAILEY ST 130.05                   

10532215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 600 N MAIN ST/IT 223.29                   

10532215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 775 N MAIN ST/TOWN HALL 2,589.03                

10532314 112971 3/8/2019 WATER SHED 14310 8/15/2018 Water/ICE IT 19.75                      

10532314 112971 3/8/2019 WATER SHED 14561 9/17/2018 Water/ICE IT 13.16                      

10532314 112971 3/8/2019 WATER SHED 14887 11/5/2018 Water/ICE IT 19.75                      

10532314 112971 3/8/2019 WATER SHED 400097 3/4/2019 Wate/ICE TOWN HALL 23.86                      

10532314 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 4000116 3/11/2019 Water/ICE IT 6.58                        

10532314 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 4000118 3/11/2019 BLANKET PO FOR TOWN HALL ICE/WATER 22.49                      

10532314 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 4000153 3/18/2019 Water/ICE TOWN HALL 15.91                      

10532314 113172 3/28/2019 SHRED‐IT USA 8126842626 3/15/2019

MONTHLY SHREDDING FOR TOWN HALL 

AND PD 68.00                      

10532409 219 3/15/2019 Triangle Ranch.com 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Flight to Denver for Smart City Summit ‐ 

Brent Billingsley 327.60                   

10532409 219 3/15/2019 UNITED AIRLINES 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

Flight to Denver for Smart City Summit ‐ 

Trenton Shaffer 327.60                   

10532409 219 3/15/2019 UNITED AIRLINES 022819 STMT 2/28/2019

United Way Fee for name correction on 

Denver Flight ‐ Shaffer 30.00                      

10532409 112965 3/8/2019 SUBEX INC 40000354 2/28/2019 SUBEX CYBERSECURITY PROTECTION 2,083.33                

10532410 112919 3/8/2019

Allied 100 (dba 

AEDSuperstore) 1022052 2/26/2019 AED and Supplies 1,707.20                

10532410 113043 3/14/2019 TRENTON SHAFFER

APR/19 CONF‐

SHAFFER 2/13/2019 Per Diem for Smart Cities Conference 323.18                   

10532410 113060 3/21/2019 BRENT BILLINGSLEY

BB PER 

DIEM/APR19 2/3/2019 Per Diem for Smart Cities Conference 323.18                   

131,940.17           

Cemetery

10533317 113131 3/28/2019

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF 

CORRECTIONS‐ITA

A04116A 

20190117 1/31/2019

INMATE LABOR/WORK PROGRAM ‐ 

Cemetery 21.00                      

10533317 113131 3/28/2019

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF 

CORRECTIONS‐ITA

A04116A 

20190130 2/8/2019

INMATE LABOR/WORK PROGRAM ‐ 

Cemetery 24.00                      

10533317 113131 3/28/2019

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF 

CORRECTIONS‐ITA

A04117A 

20181206 12/13/2018

INMATE LABOR/WORK PROGRAM ‐ 

Cemetery 9.00                        

10533317 113131 3/28/2019

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF 

CORRECTIONS‐ITA

A04117A 

20181220 12/21/2018

INMATE LABOR/WORK PROGRAM ‐ 

Cemetery 9.00                        

63.00                      

Fleet Maintenance

10536207 113041 3/14/2019 T‐MOBILE USA INC. FEB19‐963909583 2/28/2019 GPS ‐ FLEET 27.82                      

10536306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL FLEET 102.52                   

10536311 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767509 2/28/2019 2 SAFETY CANS FOR SHOP 82.11                      



10536311 112999 3/14/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767873 3/4/2019 11p star bit set for shop 30.28                      

10536311 112999 3/14/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768136 3/6/2019 Cutoff wheels for shop 20.00                      

10536311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768842 3/14/2019 PARTS TRAY FOR SHOP 23.85                      

10536311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768875 3/14/2019

ANGLE GRINDER & TOOL TROLLEY FOR 

SHOP 176.55                   

10536314 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767412 2/27/2019 MOLY GREASE FOR SHOP 37.67                      

10536314 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768594 3/12/2019 WELDING HELMET BATTERIES FOR SHOP 17.33                      

10536314 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768968 3/15/2019 CAR WASH FOR FLEET 2.56                        

10536314 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769137 3/18/2019 HOSE CLAMPS FOR FLEET 2.82                        

523.51                   

Economic Development

10551201 112934 3/8/2019 CENTURYLINK FEB/2019 ALARMS 2/16/2019 868‐8030 MCFARLAND PARK 53.01                      

Capital Projects Fund‐General Government

11511505 112962 3/8/2019 San Tan Ford F190905 3/5/2019 3 2018 Ford Police Explorers 32,253.37              

11511505 112962 3/8/2019 San Tan Ford F190906 3/5/2019 3 2018 Ford Police Explorers 32,253.37              

11511505 112962 3/8/2019 San Tan Ford F190907 3/5/2019 3 2018 Ford Police Explorers 32,253.37              

11515505 113035 3/14/2019 San Tan Ford F182526 3/12/2019 2018 Ford F150 for FD 31,148.42              

11522217 113084 3/21/2019 GREENPLAY LLC 6366 3/10/2019 Parks and Recreation Comprehensive Plan 37,732.26              

11522217 113089 3/21/2019 J2 Engineering And 11128 3/14/2019 Poston Butte Open Space & Trails Dev 16,725.52              

11531211 113065 3/21/2019 CentiMark Corporation 8400192633 2/19/2019 ROOF ‐ POLICE BUILDING 37,626.70              

11531211 113065 3/21/2019 CentiMark Corporation 8400192645 2/19/2019 ROOF ‐ FITNESS CENTER 13,767.00              

11532507 112928 3/8/2019 BRONZEMAN BME051/DEPOSIT 2/26/2019

Majesty" Bronze Eagle Sculpture (Item 

#BME051)‐DEPOSIT" 3,500.00                

11532507 112930 3/8/2019 CARROT‐TOP INDUSTRIES INC. 41617500 3/4/2019 POW/MIA/AZ & US FLAGS 399.75                   

11532507 112976 3/14/2019

315 FIRE PROTECTION 

SERVICES 1065 2/18/2019 PW FIRE SUPPRESSION SYSTEM 54,186.15              

11532507 113062 3/21/2019 CARROT‐TOP INDUSTRIES INC. 41617400 3/15/2019 4X6' POLYESTER ARIZONA FLAG 118.00                   

11532507 113062 3/21/2019 CARROT‐TOP INDUSTRIES INC. 41617400 3/15/2019

4X6' POLYESTER POW/MIA DOUBLE‐SIDED 

FLAG 182.00                   

11532507 113062 3/21/2019 CARROT‐TOP INDUSTRIES INC. 41617400 3/15/2019 5X8' POLYESTER U.S. FLAG 91.90                      

11532507 113062 3/21/2019 CARROT‐TOP INDUSTRIES INC. 41617400 3/15/2019

FLAGPOLE‐ 25' INTERNAL HALYARD 

SENTRY ALUMINUM WITH 5 BUTT 2,080.25                  

11532507 113062 3/21/2019 CARROT‐TOP INDUSTRIES INC. 41617400 3/15/2019

FLAGPOLE‐ 30' INTERNAL HALYARD 

SENTRY ALUMINUM WITH 5 BUTT 1,545.00                  

11532507 113062 3/21/2019 CARROT‐TOP INDUSTRIES INC. 41617400 3/15/2019 Shipping 427.85                   

11532507 113136 3/28/2019 BRONZEMAN

BME051‐

REMAINDER 3/21/2019

Majesty" Bronze Eagle Sculpture (Item 

#BME051)" 3,000.00                

11532507 113136 3/28/2019 BRONZEMAN

BME051‐

REMAINDER 3/21/2019 Crating and Shipping 500.00                   

299,790.91           

Highway User Fund

12518201 112996 3/14/2019 COX BUSINESS FEB19‐9101 3/3/2019 425 E RUGGLES ST / DIG ADAPTER (3.14)                       

12518201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 PW / STREETS 575.97                   

12518201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 PW / STREETS 584.49                   

12518207 113041 3/14/2019 T‐MOBILE USA INC. FEB19‐963909583 2/28/2019 GPS ‐ STREETS 292.11                   

12518208 113147 3/28/2019 FERRELLGAS 1105695293 3/12/2019 Propane for the PW yard 364.52                   

12518209 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767030 2/22/2019 WIPER BLADES FOR ST‐4 18.54                      

12518209 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767201 2/25/2019 Oil & filter for ST‐13 120.86                   

12518209 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767205 2/25/2019 BRAKE PADS FOR ST‐13 72.32                      

12518209 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767313 2/26/2019 Oil & filterS FOR ST‐4 99.03                      

12518209 112950 3/8/2019 JONES AUTO CENTER 176171 2/28/2019 SELECTOR SHAFT & DAMPER FOR ST‐10 263.70                   

12518209 112950 3/8/2019 JONES AUTO CENTER 176240 3/5/2019 SHIFT LEVER FOR ST‐10 43.17                      

12518209 112980 3/14/2019 APD POWER CENTER INC. 227275 2/11/2019 Carb kit for ST‐15 140.48                   

12518209 112980 3/14/2019 APD POWER CENTER INC. 227830 2/26/2019 CREDIT (140.48)                  

12518209 112980 3/14/2019 APD POWER CENTER INC. 227839 2/16/2019 FUEL‐SOLENOID FOR ST‐15 134.59                   

12518209 112989 3/14/2019 BERGKAMP INC. 36730 2/27/2019 Hydraulic doors for ST‐23 6,227.77                

12518209 112989 3/14/2019 BERGKAMP INC. 36811 3/5/2019 BEARINGS & NUT JAM FOR ST‐23 49.85                      

12518209 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767680 3/1/2019 BIT SET FOR ST‐10 7.23                        

12518209 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768318 3/8/2019 HEADLIGHT BULB FOR ST‐81 12.00                      

12518209 113079 3/21/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 2141261 3/12/2019 3V BATTERY FOR SHOP 5.17                        

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768125 3/6/2019

WATER PUMP, GASKETS & HOSES FOR ST‐

27 541.38                   

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768146 3/6/2019 FUEL INJECTOR SEAL FOR ST‐27 14.76                      

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768229 3/7/2019 HEATER HOSE FOR ST‐27 14.82                      

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768241 3/7/2019 Credit (8.60)                       

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768315 3/8/2019 DISTRIBUTOR FOR ST‐27 141.15                   

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768633 3/12/2019 PLEX ULTRA SEAL FOR ST‐27 9.82                        

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768737 3/13/2019 DISTRIBUTOR CAP FOR ST‐27 73.17                      

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768952 3/15/2019 PAG OIL & FLUSH FOR ST‐27 20.61                      

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768966 3/15/2019 CREDIT (48.53)                    

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768967 3/15/2019 ALUMASEAL FOR ST‐27 3.59                        

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768973 3/15/2019 OIL FILTER CAP FOR ST‐27 10.06                      

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769106 3/18/2019 SERPENTINE BELT FOR ST‐27 29.47                      

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769164 3/18/2019 COOLANT FOR ST‐12 16.37                      

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769184 3/18/2019 BLUE DEF FOR ST‐61 11.65                      



12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769341 3/20/2019 Credit (7.38)                       

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769379 3/20/2019 RADIATOR FOR ST‐27 263.23                   

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769460 3/21/2019 COOLANT FOR ST‐27 49.11                      

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769509 3/21/2019 Credit (285.82)                  

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769512 3/21/2019 OIL & FILTERS FOR ST‐05 93.14                      

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769522 3/21/2019 Blanket for Fleet Parts (22.92)                    

12518209 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769547 3/20/2019 Credit (26.34)                    

12518211 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767388 2/27/2019 Oil & filter for ST‐9 202.86                   

12518211 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767537 2/28/2019 Wiper blades for ST‐3 7.96                        

12518211 112956 3/8/2019 Manatee Tire & Auto Inc. dba 186497 3/4/2019 4 tirew for ST‐3 (backhoe) 2,372.76                

12518211 113019 3/14/2019 KIRK'S TIRES 5411 3/5/2019 Labor to install 4 tires on ST‐3 195.00                   

12518211 113019 3/14/2019 KIRK'S TIRES 5412 3/8/2019 Labor to install 4 tires on ST‐3 325.00                   

12518211 113021 3/14/2019 Manatee Tire & Auto Inc. dba 186556 3/7/2019 4 TIRES FOR ST‐30 2,240.32                

12518211 113040 3/14/2019 Titan Machinery Inc. 1209091 GP 2/27/2019 U JOINTS FOR ST‐18 417.92                   

12518211 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769090 3/18/2019 TAIL LAMP FOR ST‐30 61.26                      

12518211 113163 3/28/2019 McClure Machine Shop LLC / 5057 3/21/2019 WELD MANIFOLD FOR ST‐27 220.00                   

12518211 113175 3/28/2019 STOTZ EQUIPMENT P84607 2/12/2019 D‐RINGS FOR ST‐6 MOWER 74.61                      

12518211 113175 3/28/2019 STOTZ EQUIPMENT P84608 2/12/2019 V‐BELT FOR ST‐6 MOWER 172.95                   

12518211 113175 3/28/2019 STOTZ EQUIPMENT P85975 3/22/2019 MOWER BLADES FOR ST‐21 293.40                   

12518211 113175 3/28/2019 STOTZ EQUIPMENT P85975 3/22/2019 MOWER BLADES FOR ST‐21 444.52                   

12518211 113175 3/28/2019 STOTZ EQUIPMENT W19704 1/8/2019 CREDIT (116.11)                  

12518215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 201 N GRANITE ST 36.23                      

12518215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 2028 N HUNT HWY FIRE ST 2 TRAF LT 107.16                   

12518215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 3180 N HUNT HWY 158.37                   

12518215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 444 N WARNER ST 636.19                   

12518215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 4552 N HUNT HWY 153.70                   

12518215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 460 N WARNER ST 12.61                      

12518215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 PINAL PKWY 83.89                      

12518215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 SW COR MAIN/BUTTE TRLG SIG 53.87                      

12518215 112981 3/14/2019 APS

FEB19/AR0480006

514 2/28/2019 Street light BILLING AR0480006514 3,266.77                

12518215 112984 3/14/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE 60000 FEB/19 3/4/2019 1206 N MAIN ST ST LTS 2,936.26                

12518215 112990 3/14/2019 BIA FEB19/VAR 3/4/2019 17 DD LTS @ FLO N FLO 233.75                   

12518215 112990 3/14/2019 BIA FEB19/VAR 3/4/2019 723 N PINAL PKWY TRAFFIC LIGHT 64.03                      

12518215 112990 3/14/2019 BIA FEB19/VAR 3/4/2019 FLO GRDN 4DD LTS 61.60                      

12518215 112990 3/14/2019 BIA FEB19/VAR 3/4/2019

HWY 79 FLORENCE GARDEN D‐D LIGHTS 

(8) 110.00                   

12518215 112990 3/14/2019 BIA FEB19/VAR 3/4/2019 HWY 87 & CAMPBELL 46.20                      

12518215 113002 3/14/2019 Electrical District  No. 2 MAR19/66606 3/4/2019 DIVERSION DAM RD HWY 79/BOWLIN 272.01                   

12518215 113073 3/21/2019 Electrical District  No. 2 MAR19/66289 3/11/2019

7158WW HUNT HWY (SIGNAL LIGHT ON 

HUNT) lOCATION 4828‐050 43.48                      

12518231 112952 3/8/2019 KS STATEBANK CONT 03.04.19 3/4/2019

CONTRACT WITH AOT FOR MULTI‐

FUNCTION COPY MACHINES 209.75                   

12518301 113101 3/21/2019 OFFICE DEPOT INC 2.65388E+11 1/25/2019 Office Supplies ‐ STREETS 30.10                      

12518302 112945 3/8/2019

HOME DEPOT CREDIT 

SERVICES 8023805 1/25/2019 HOSE BIBS 49.02                      

12518302 112945 3/8/2019

HOME DEPOT CREDIT 

SERVICES 8023805 1/25/2019 Hose bibs STREETS 243.50                   

12518302 112980 3/14/2019 APD POWER CENTER INC. 227474 2/15/2019 16 4X4 BLADE" 532.48                   

12518302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 300031 2/4/2019 Water and ice for PW 51.83                      

12518302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 4004 2/11/2019 Water and ice for PW 49.37                      

12518302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 550739 1/14/2019 Water and ice for PW 32.91                      

12518302 113148 3/28/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240985 2/26/2019 SIGN 2.73                        

12518302 113148 3/28/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241434 3/21/2019 PVC VALVE 59.14                      

12518302 113148 3/28/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241437 3/21/2019 SALT CRYSTAL 5.72                        

12518302 113148 3/28/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241446 3/22/2019 NUTS & BOLTS 3.71                        

12518302 113148 3/28/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241488 3/26/2019 THIMBLE 33.44                      

12518304 219 3/15/2019 Sheplers.com 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Work boots for C. Williams from Sheplers 54.55                      

12518304 112929 3/8/2019

C‐A‐L STORES COMPANIES 

INC. 2380/22 2/14/2019 Uniform Allowance for Adrian Remigio 174.71                   

12518306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL HURF 2,528.42                

12518317 113131 3/28/2019

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF 

CORRECTIONS‐ITA

A04116A 

20190117 1/31/2019 INMATE LABOR/WORK PROGRAM ‐ Streets 11.00                      

12518317 113131 3/28/2019

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF 

CORRECTIONS‐ITA

A04116A 

20190130 2/8/2019 INMATE LABOR/WORK PROGRAM ‐ Streets 36.00                      

12518317 113131 3/28/2019

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF 

CORRECTIONS‐ITA

A04117A 

20181206 12/13/2018 INMATE LABOR/WORK PROGRAM ‐ Streets 51.00                      

12518317 113131 3/28/2019

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF 

CORRECTIONS‐ITA

A04117A 

20181220 12/21/2018 INMATE LABOR/WORK PROGRAM ‐ Streets 51.00                      

12518318 113120 3/21/2019 VALUE‐CRETE LLC 120284 3/6/2019 Concrete needed for Sidewalk Repairs 264.26                   



12518322 112997 3/14/2019 CRAFCO INC 9401989437 2/1/2019 BPO FOR SEALANT‐STREETS 3,363.11                

12518322 112997 3/14/2019 CRAFCO INC 9401989437 2/1/2019 Sealant for streets 130.34                   

12518322 113122 3/21/2019 Vulcan Materials Company 80485509A 9/12/2018 BALANCE OF INVOICE 80485509 10.00                      

12518322 113122 3/21/2019 Vulcan Materials Company 80520837 12/26/2018 BPO FOR A/C COLD MIX‐STREETS 2,329.89                

12518322 113122 3/21/2019 Vulcan Materials Company 80544904 3/18/2019 BPO FOR A/C COLD MIX‐STREETS 2,526.83                

12518403 113081 3/21/2019 FRED PRYOR SEMINARS 5240863 2/28/2019 ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP ‐ JONAS 99.50                      

12518403 113081 3/21/2019 FRED PRYOR SEMINARS 5240888 2/28/2019 ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP ‐ WILLIAMS C 49.75                      

12518501 113065 3/21/2019 CentiMark Corporation 8400193278 3/13/2019 Skylights for Fleet Shop 7,670.39                

12536306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL FLEET 78.52                      

12536311 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767509 2/28/2019 2 SAFETY CANS FOR SHOP 62.89                      

12536311 112999 3/14/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767873 3/4/2019 11p star bit set for shop 23.19                      

12536311 112999 3/14/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768136 3/6/2019 Cutoff wheels for shop 15.32                      

12536311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768809 3/14/2019 LONG HANDLE BRUSH FOR SHOP 2.87                        

12536311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768809 3/14/2019 LONG HANDLE BRUSH FOR SHOP 3.73                        

12536311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768842 3/14/2019 PARTS TRAY FOR SHOP 18.27                      

12536311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768875 3/14/2019

ANGLE GRINDER & TOOL TROLLEY FOR 

SHOP 135.23                   

12536314 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767412 2/27/2019 MOLY GREASE FOR SHOP 28.85                      

12536314 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768594 3/12/2019 WELDING HELMET BATTERIES FOR SHOP 13.27                      

12536314 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768968 3/15/2019 CAR WASH FOR FLEET 1.96                        

12536314 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769137 3/18/2019 HOSE CLAMPS FOR FLEET 2.16                        

12581507 113107 3/21/2019

Regional Pavement 

Maintenance of Az Inc 2212 1/14/2019

CIP T‐60 1ST STREET PAVEMENT‐BUCKEYE 

CONTR 11,988.29              

57,978.49              

Water Fund

51219000 113022 3/14/2019 2nd Temp 10214321 3/8/2019 Water Deposit Refund 97.03                      

51219000 113032 3/14/2019 2nd Temp 10300751 3/8/2019 WATER DEPOSIT REFUND 137.93                   

51219000 113106 3/21/2019 2nd Temp 11200302 3/18/2019 Water Deposit Refund 61.26                      

51219000 113115 3/21/2019 2nd Temp 218573 3/18/2019 Water Deposit Refund 109.42                   

51219000 113127 3/28/2019 2nd Temp 11200506 3/25/2019 Water Deposit Refund 109.67                   

51219000 113182 3/28/2019 2nd Temp 10222101 12/7/2018 Water Deposit Refund 20.53                      

51574201 112934 3/8/2019 CENTURYLINK FEB/2019 ALARMS 2/16/2019 868‐0246 WATER 167.30                   

51574207 113041 3/14/2019 T‐MOBILE USA INC. FEB19‐963909583 2/28/2019 GPS ‐ WATER 111.28                   

51574207 113063 3/21/2019 CASA GRANDE COURIER INC. 1428 3/11/2019 FEB19 COURIER SERVICE 360.00                   

51574207 113096 3/21/2019 Legend Technical Svcs Inc. 1903423 2/28/2019 DRINKING WATER TESTING ‐ FEB/19 392.00                   

51574209 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767294 2/26/2019 Oil & filter for W‐10 202.86                   

51574211 113003 3/14/2019 EMPIRE SOUTHWEST EMPC0623256 3/8/2019 CREDIT (53.11)                    

51574211 113003 3/14/2019 EMPIRE SOUTHWEST EMPS4597226 3/6/2019 OIL & AIR FILTERS FOR W‐33 128.01                   

51574211 113003 3/14/2019 EMPIRE SOUTHWEST EMPS4598222 3/7/2019 HYD FILTER FOR W‐33 24.72                      

51574211 113003 3/14/2019 EMPIRE SOUTHWEST EMPS4598223 3/7/2019 O‐RINGS & FILTER FOR W‐33 69.39                      

51574211 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768059 3/6/2019 FUEL FILTER FOR W‐24 16.50                      

51574211 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768195 3/7/2019 GEAR OIL FOR W‐33 60.02                      

51574211 113074 3/21/2019 EMPIRE SOUTHWEST EMPS4600579 3/11/2019 HYD OIL FOR W‐33 57.02                      

51574215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 425 E RUGGLES ST 326.38                   

51574215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 425 E RUGGLES ST 956.41                   

51574215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 425 E RUGGLES ST REAR 71.84                      

51574215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 425 N RUGGLES ST 50% 2,155.33                

51574215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 565 S QUARTZ ST WELL 5 5,702.82                

51574215 112990 3/14/2019 BIA FEB19/VAR 3/4/2019 455 HWY 79 WELL 1 W/O RVBTTM 2,225.93                

51574215 112990 3/14/2019 BIA FEB19/VAR 3/4/2019 IOWA MTR @ WTR TANK ON HILL 1,622.78                

51574217 113068 3/21/2019

Controlled Energy Engineers 

LLC 18027‐01 10/25/2018 Professional SERVICES 4,150.00                

51574217 113109 3/21/2019 Rottweiler Controls LLC 2019‐1013 3/11/2019 WELL #1‐FAULT REPAIR ‐ WIRE #3 808.70                   

51574217 113126 3/26/2019

AZ DEPT OF WATER 

RESOURCES 56001204 3/25/2019 2018 ANNUAL GW WITHDRAWL FEE 5,040.00                

51574301 219 3/15/2019

ADOBE SYSTEMS 

INCORPORATED 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Purchase Adobe *stock 32.75                      

51574301 113111 3/21/2019 Staples Business Advantage 7213852275‐0‐1 2/20/2019 BINDERS/NOTES/MISC SUPPLIES 304.11                   

51574301 113111 3/21/2019 Staples Business Advantage 7213852275‐0‐3 2/20/2019 SIGN HERE AND POST IT FLAGS 65.02                      

51574302 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 15294 1/28/2019 BPO FOR WATER&ICE/WATER 26.33                      

51574302 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 15297 1/28/2019 BPO FOR WATER&ICE/WATER 39.49                      

51574302 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 40002 2/11/2019 BPO FOR WATER&ICE/WATER 27.97                      

51574302 113048 3/14/2019 WATER SHED 400061 2/25/2019 BPO FOR WATER&ICE/WATER 34.56                      

51574302 113119 3/21/2019 USABlueBook ‐ ACCT 703717 831105 3/6/2019 LMI REPAIR KIT 784.52                   

51574302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 300031 2/4/2019 Water and ice for PW 8.64                        

51574302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 4004 2/11/2019 Water and ice for PW 8.23                        

51574304 112991 3/14/2019

C‐A‐L STORES COMPANIES 

INC. 2368/22 2/8/2019 Work Boots ‐ N. ZAPATA 69.89                      

51574306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL WATER 795.57                   

51574311 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767509 2/28/2019 2 SAFETY CANS FOR SHOP 10.48                      

51574311 112999 3/14/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767873 3/4/2019 11p star bit set for shop 3.87                        

51574311 112999 3/14/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768136 3/6/2019 Cutoff wheels for shop 2.55                        

51574311 113011 3/14/2019

HOME DEPOT CREDIT 

SERVICES 8051470 2/14/2019 SHOVELS 370.93                   

51574311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768809 3/14/2019 LONG HANDLE BRUSH FOR SHOP 0.48                        



51574311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768842 3/14/2019 PARTS TRAY FOR SHOP 3.05                        

51574311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768875 3/14/2019

ANGLE GRINDER & TOOL TROLLEY FOR 

SHOP 22.54                      

51574314 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767412 2/27/2019 MOLY GREASE FOR SHOP 4.81                        

51574314 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768594 3/12/2019 WELDING HELMET BATTERIES FOR SHOP 2.21                        

51574314 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768968 3/15/2019 CAR WASH FOR FLEET 0.33                        

51574314 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769137 3/18/2019 HOSE CLAMPS FOR FLEET 0.36                        

51574317 112987 3/14/2019 B & BW Enterprises Inc. 8035 2/7/2019 WeLL SITES WEED SPRAY EMERGENCE 2,265.56                

51574320 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240593 2/1/2019 TEE / PVC PIPE / ADAPTER 18.75                      

51574320 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240939 2/22/2019

PVC PIPE / ADAPTERS / ELBOWS / CEMENT 

/ COUPLING 300.52                   

51574320 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 240997 2/26/2019 YELLOW THREAD SEAL 5.72                        

51574320 113004 3/14/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241134 3/5/2019 PVC PIPE/COUPLING 10.25                      

51574320 113005 3/14/2019 FORTILINE INC 4522731 2/12/2019 REP CLAMP/SADDLE TEE/FREIGHT 1,085.18                

51574320 113080 3/21/2019 FORTILINE INC 4539291 3/1/2019 PVC/QUANTUM CPLG 372.23                   

51574320 113107 3/21/2019

Regional Pavement 

Maintenance of Az Inc 2212 1/14/2019 CALIENTE PAVEMENT ‐ WATER LINE BROKE 4,272.51                

51574320 113149 3/28/2019 FORTILINE INC 4540692 3/12/2019 WATER ‐ REP CLAMP / SDL IPS PVC/CPLG 534.99                   

51574401 219 3/15/2019 AZ Water Association 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 AZ Water Association 32.50                      

51574402 219 3/15/2019 AZ Water Association 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 AZ Water Association 102.50                   

51574403 219 3/15/2019 AZ Water Association 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 2019 Annual Training 385.00                   

51574403 112995 3/14/2019 CHRISTOPHER SALAS 22519022619 2/26/2019 WIFA Workshop 2 day meal per diem CS 15.00                      

51574403 113029 3/14/2019 NICHOLAS ZAPATA 3191932119 3/6/2019 Meal Per Diem 3/19/19 ‐ 3/21/19 40.50                      

51574403 113034 3/14/2019

Rural Water Association of 

Arizona 401 2/12/2019 Operator Training Grade 1 & 2 N. Zapata 50.00                      

51574403 113038 3/14/2019 SUSAN JONAS 22519022619 2/25/2019 WIFA Workshop 2 day meal per diem SJ 15.00                      

51574403 113039 3/14/2019 Timothy Wainscott 22519022619 2/25/2019 WIFA Workshop 2 day meal per diem TW 15.00                      

51574403 113081 3/21/2019 FRED PRYOR SEMINARS 033928561‐19064 3/5/2019 ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP ‐ WAINSCOTT 149.50                   

51574403 113081 3/21/2019 FRED PRYOR SEMINARS 5240863 2/28/2019 ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP ‐ JONAS 99.50                      

51574507 112973 3/11/2019

Apache Underground & 

Excavating 1384 2/13/2019 CIP WU‐83 DOWNTOWN 12 LOOP" 222,482.80            

51574507 113050 3/14/2019 WESTLAND RESOURCES INC 48605015 2/14/2019

CIP WU‐83 12 WATERLINE 

AUGMENTATION" 7,468.25                

51574507 113052 3/18/2019

COOLIDGE ENGINE & PUMP 

L.L.C. 8105 11/15/2018

CIP WU‐23 Well 2B Outfitting dev test / 

step test/constant 31,900.00              

51574507 113061 3/21/2019 Capital Pump & Equipment 0101380‐IN 2/27/2019 RENTAL EQUIP FOR TEST PUMP 6,803.96                

51574507 113068 3/21/2019

Controlled Energy Engineers 

LLC 18025‐01 10/4/2018 CIP WU‐88 WELL PRESERCATION 8,730.00                

51574507 113124 3/21/2019 WESTLAND RESOURCES INC 48612005 3/11/2019 FIRE FLOW PIPELINE DESIGN 2,000.00                

51574507 113124 3/21/2019 WESTLAND RESOURCES INC 48612005 3/11/2019 FIRE FLOW PIPELINE DESIGN 2,062.34                

51574507 113143 3/28/2019

COOLIDGE ENGINE & PUMP 

L.L.C. 8130 2/28/2019

FINAL BILLING CIP WU‐23 WELL 2B 

OUTFITTING 107,751.39            

51574507 113159 3/28/2019

KP VENTURES WELL DRILLING 

& PUMP CO. 6910 3/17/2019

CIP WU‐84 WELL #4 REBUILD‐TEST 

PUMPING 25,747.20              

452,466.86           

Waste Water Fund

52575201 112934 3/8/2019 CENTURYLINK FEB/2019 ALARMS 2/16/2019 868‐2394 WASTEWATER 57.69                      

52575201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 WW ‐ 50% SPLIT 333.36                   

52575201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 WW ‐ 50% SPLIT 333.37                   

52575201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 WW ‐ 50% SPLIT 400.29                   

52575201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 WW ‐ 50% SPLIT 400.29                   

52575207 113063 3/21/2019 CASA GRANDE COURIER INC. 1428 3/11/2019 FEB19 COURIER SERVICE 1,240.20                

52575207 113096 3/21/2019 Legend Technical Svcs Inc. 1903425 2/28/2019

REGULATORY TESTING ‐ SOUTH WWTP FY 

18/19 3,074.00                

52575208 112943 3/8/2019 GEN‐TECH 180222 2/28/2019

SHUT OFF SOLENOID & LABOR FOR 

NWWTP 1,359.21                

52575208 113082 3/21/2019 Geuther Electrical LLC 3347 2/19/2019 SWWTP ‐ TESTED SBR 3 SAM 3 240.00                   

52575208 113082 3/21/2019 Geuther Electrical LLC 3348 2/19/2019 SWWTP REPLACEMENT RELAY VFD 255.10                   

52575208 113082 3/21/2019 Geuther Electrical LLC 3349 2/19/2019 SWWTP START FLOAT INFLUENT RAKE 400.00                   

52575208 113082 3/21/2019 Geuther Electrical LLC 3390 3/12/2019 SWWTP‐INFLUENT RAKE GEAR BOX 400.00                   

52575209 113132 3/28/2019 Auto Safety House (ASH) 01309851P 3/26/2019 Door handles for utility bed on WW‐6 860.02                   

52575211 113146 3/28/2019

EARHART EQUIPMENT 

CORPORATION W15493 3/13/2019 PATZ CONVEYOR EVALUATION 597.76                   

52575215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 100 S PLANT RD 15,187.51              

52575215 112921 3/8/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE

8742601000 

FEB19 2/4/2019 425 E RUGGLES ST 50% 2,155.33                

52575301 219 3/15/2019 OFFICE DEPOT INC 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Purchase Office Depot #5101 256.28                   

52575302 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767812 3/4/2019 1QT SYNGEAR 14.19                      

52575302 113083 3/21/2019 GRAINGER INC. 9048901053 1/7/2019 SWWTP SUBMERSIBLE SEWAGE PUMP 1,480.31                

52575302 113100 3/21/2019 nsilab Solutions 363754 3/7/2019 TRC‐AMPEROMETRIC TITRATION TUBES 90.00                      



52575302 113119 3/21/2019 USABlueBook ‐ ACCT 703717 830755 3/6/2019 HACH PH BUFFER 130.01                   

52575302 113119 3/21/2019 USABlueBook ‐ ACCT 703717 831053 3/6/2019 HACH IODINE STANDARD 52.67                      

52575302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 15280 1/23/2019 Water and ice for PW 19.75                      

52575302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 300031 2/4/2019 Water and ice for PW 4.32                        

52575302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 400043 2/20/2019 Water and ice for PW 13.17                      

52575302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 400092 3/4/2019 Water and ice for PW 25.92                      

52575302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 4004 2/11/2019 Water and ice for PW 4.11                        

52575304 112991 3/14/2019

C‐A‐L STORES COMPANIES 

INC. 2368/22 2/8/2019 Work Boots ‐ N ZAPATA 69.88                      

52575306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL‐S SEWER 138.51                   

52575310 113009 3/14/2019 HILL BROTHERS CHEMICAL CO. 50914603 2/8/2019 SODIUM BISULFITE  40% 619.59                   

52575310 113085 3/21/2019 HILL BROTHERS CHEMICAL CO. 50914786 2/27/2019 12.5% LIQUID BLEACH SSWTP 1,369.62                

52575310 113085 3/21/2019 HILL BROTHERS CHEMICAL CO. 50914836 2/28/2019 SODIUM BISULFITE  40% 619.59                   

52575310 113085 3/21/2019 HILL BROTHERS CHEMICAL CO. 50914933 3/8/2019 12.5% LIQUID BLEACH SSWTP 1,369.52                

52575311 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767509 2/28/2019 2 SAFETY CANS FOR SHOP 17.47                      

52575311 112999 3/14/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767873 3/4/2019 11p star bit set for shop 6.44                        

52575311 112999 3/14/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768136 3/6/2019 Cutoff wheels for shop 4.26                        

52575311 113045 3/14/2019 USABlueBook ‐ ACCT 703717 807168 2/7/2019 NITRILE GLOVES 590.81                   

52575311 113045 3/14/2019 USABlueBook ‐ ACCT 703717 808200 2/8/2019 NITRILE GLOVES 70.71                      

52575311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768809 3/14/2019 LONG HANDLE BRUSH FOR SHOP 0.80                        

52575311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768842 3/14/2019 PARTS TRAY FOR SHOP 5.08                        

52575311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768875 3/14/2019

ANGLE GRINDER & TOOL TROLLEY FOR 

SHOP 37.56                      

52575314 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767412 2/27/2019 MOLY GREASE FOR SHOP 8.02                        

52575314 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768594 3/12/2019 WELDING HELMET BATTERIES FOR SHOP 3.69                        

52575314 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768968 3/15/2019 CAR WASH FOR FLEET 0.55                        

52575314 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769137 3/18/2019 HOSE CLAMPS FOR FLEET 0.60                        

52575317 112987 3/14/2019 B & BW Enterprises Inc. 8035 2/7/2019 weed prevention SWWTP 2,428.21                

52575317 113131 3/28/2019

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF 

CORRECTIONS‐ITA

A04116A 

20190117 1/31/2019

INMATE LABOR/WORK PROGRAM ‐ 

SWWTP 6.00                        

52575320 112977 3/14/2019 A.C. Sanitation Service LLC 10058‐110 2/28/2019 BIO‐SOLIDS HAULING JANUARY 2019 13,290.83              

52575320 113010 3/14/2019

Hoffman Southwest 

Corporation‐dba A448666 12/17/2018 LOCATED/MARKED SEWER LINES 799.00                   

52575320 113077 3/21/2019 Ferguson Waterworks 354428 3/7/2019 THRD SWG CHK VLV 151.50                   

52575320 113079 3/21/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241133 3/5/2019 FLEX SEAL SEALANT 34.86                      

52575320 113079 3/21/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241272 3/12/2019 ADAPTER/FLUSH BUSHING 5.06                        

52575320 113148 3/28/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241389 3/19/2019 SPRING CLIPS 29.62                      

52575401 219 3/15/2019 AZ Water Association 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 AZ Water Association 32.50                      

52575402 219 3/15/2019 AZ Water Association 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 AZ Water Association 102.50                   

52575403 219 3/15/2019 AZ Water Association 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 2019 Annual Training 385.00                   

52575403 112995 3/14/2019 CHRISTOPHER SALAS 22519022619 2/26/2019 WIFA Workshop 2 day meal per diem CS 15.00                      

52575403 113029 3/14/2019 NICHOLAS ZAPATA 3191932119 3/6/2019 Meal Per Diem 3/19/19 ‐ 3/21/19 40.50                      

52575403 113034 3/14/2019

Rural Water Association of 

Arizona 401 2/12/2019 Operator Training Grade 1 & 2 N. Zapata 50.00                      

52575403 113038 3/14/2019 SUSAN JONAS 22519022619 2/25/2019 WIFA Workshop 2 day meal per diem SJ 15.00                      

52575403 113039 3/14/2019 Timothy Wainscott 22519022619 2/25/2019 WIFA Workshop 2 day meal per diem TW 15.00                      

52576201 112994 3/14/2019 CENTURYLINK 19‐Feb 2/16/2019 WATER WORKS ALARM 108.86                   

52576207 113041 3/14/2019 T‐MOBILE USA INC. FEB19‐963909583 2/28/2019 GPS ‐ WW 69.55                      

52576207 113063 3/21/2019 CASA GRANDE COURIER INC. 1428 3/11/2019 FEB19 COURIER SERVICE 137.80                   

52576207 113096 3/21/2019 Legend Technical Svcs Inc. 1903424 2/28/2019

REGULATORY TESTING ‐ NORTH WWTP FY 

18/19 561.00                   

52576208 113082 3/21/2019 Geuther Electrical LLC 3348 2/19/2019 NWWTP ‐ WIRED DIGESTER PUMP 255.10                   

52576209 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767440 2/27/2019 BATTERY FOR WW‐3 145.90                   

52576209 113020 3/14/2019

LONG STAR AUTO GLASS 

SERVICES 2447 3/5/2019 Frt windshield for WW‐26 212.08                   

52576209 113020 3/14/2019

LONG STAR AUTO GLASS 

SERVICES 2447 3/5/2019 Frt windshielF FOR WW‐26 67.91                      

52576210 113138 3/28/2019 Casa Gande Pumping Svc. Inc 12496 3/15/2019 3/7/19 7 LOADS & 3/13/19 9 LOADS 6,000.00                

52576211 112992 3/14/2019 Casa Gande Pumping Svc. Inc 12096 2/15/2019 SLUDGE HAUL 2/7 (5) AND 2/13 (3) 3,000.00                

52576215 112990 3/14/2019 BIA FEB19/VAR 3/4/2019

HWY 79 WASTE WATER PLANT W/SD OF 

INS 3,368.59                

52576301 219 3/15/2019 OFFICE DEPOT INC 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Purchase Office Depot #5101 256.28                   

52576302 113119 3/21/2019 USABlueBook ‐ ACCT 703717 830755 3/6/2019 HACH PH BUFFER 130.00                   

52576302 113119 3/21/2019 USABlueBook ‐ ACCT 703717 831106 3/6/2019 FLOAT SWITCH WEIGHT ASSEMBLY 448.17                   

52576302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 15280 1/23/2019 Water and ice for PW 19.74                      

52576302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 300031 2/4/2019 Water and ice for PW 4.32                        



52576302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 400043 2/20/2019 Water and ice for PW 13.16                      

52576302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 400092 3/4/2019 Water and ice for PW 25.91                      

52576302 113123 3/21/2019 WATER SHED 4004 2/11/2019 Water and ice for PW 4.11                        

52576306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL ‐ N SEWER 522.64                   

52576317 112987 3/14/2019 B & BW Enterprises Inc. 8035 2/7/2019 NWWTP WEED SPRAY ‐ EMERGENCE 2,260.80                

52576317 113131 3/28/2019

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF 

CORRECTIONS‐ITA

A04116A 

20190117 1/31/2019

INMATE LABOR/WORK PROGRAM ‐ 

NWWTP 6.00                        

52576320 113079 3/21/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241146 3/6/2019 PVC FIP / ADAPTER / PVC UNION 60.90                      

52576320 113079 3/21/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241184 3/7/2019 NIPPLE/THREAD SEAL/COUPLING BLADES 94.39                      

52576320 113079 3/21/2019

FLORENCE TRUE VALUE 

HARDWARE 241249 3/11/2019 3/8 GAL CAP #2/ NIPPLE 3.51                        

52576320 113149 3/28/2019 FORTILINE INC 4545311 3/8/2019 NWWTP‐3 PVC FLAPPER CHECK VLV" 76.62                      

52576403 113081 3/21/2019 FRED PRYOR SEMINARS 033928561‐19064 3/5/2019 ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP ‐ WAINSCOTT 149.50                   

52581506 113105 3/21/2019 Pump Systems Inc. 47564 3/15/2019 Repairs for 6 water pump" 17,118.62              

52581507 113050 3/14/2019 WESTLAND RESOURCES INC 48603021 12/18/2018 PROF SERVICES ‐DIP SU 20 RECHARGE 1,350.00                

52581507 113050 3/14/2019 WESTLAND RESOURCES INC 48603022 2/18/2019 PROF SERVICES ‐ CIP SU‐20 RECHARGE 1,577.57                

89,767.17              

Sanitation Fund

53219000 113059 3/21/2019 2nd Temp 710829 3/18/2019 Refund Sanitation Deposit 25.00                      

53219000 113090 3/21/2019 2nd Temp 735150 3/13/2019 Refund Sanitation Deposit 16.36                      

53219000 113091 3/21/2019 2nd Temp 737240 3/13/2019 ReFUND SANITATION DEPOSIT 42.33                      

53219000 113095 3/21/2019 2nd Temp 707602 3/14/2019 Refund Sanitation Deposit 51.99                      

53219000 113099 3/21/2019 2nd Temp 708962 3/15/2019 Refund Sanitation Deposit 25.00                      

53571201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

DEC/18 

9820770332 12/21/2018 SANITATION 56.59                      

53571201 113046 3/14/2019 Verizon Wireless

FEB/19‐

99824662000 2/21/2019 SANITATION 56.93                      

53571207 113041 3/14/2019 T‐MOBILE USA INC. FEB19‐963909583 2/28/2019 GPS ‐ SANITATION 27.82                      

53571217 113108 3/21/2019 RIGHT AWAY DISPOSAL LLC 2441720 2/1/2019 MARCH INSTITUTIONAL BILLING 8,044.05                

53571217 113108 3/21/2019 RIGHT AWAY DISPOSAL LLC 2441720 2/1/2019 MARCH RESIDENTIAL BILLING 61,582.77              

53571217 113108 3/21/2019 RIGHT AWAY DISPOSAL LLC CM2033177 2/1/2019 RESIDENTIAL CREDIT FOR FEB/19 (412.58)                  

53571304 219 3/15/2019 Sheplers.com 022819 STMT 2/28/2019 Work boots for C. Williams from Sheplers 50.00                      

53571306 112972 3/8/2019 WEX BANK 58019680 2/28/2019 FUEL SANITATION 224.37                   

53571311 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767509 2/28/2019 2 SAFETY CANS FOR SHOP 1.75                        

53571311 112999 3/14/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767873 3/4/2019 11p star bit set for shop 0.64                        

53571311 112999 3/14/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768136 3/6/2019 Cutoff wheels for shop 0.43                        

53571311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768809 3/14/2019 LONG HANDLE BRUSH FOR SHOP 0.08                        

53571311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768842 3/14/2019 PARTS TRAY FOR SHOP 0.50                        

53571311 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768875 3/14/2019

ANGLE GRINDER & TOOL TROLLEY FOR 

SHOP 3.75                        

53571314 112936 3/8/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 767412 2/27/2019 MOLY GREASE FOR SHOP 0.80                        

53571314 113071 3/21/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768594 3/12/2019 WELDING HELMET BATTERIES FOR SHOP 0.37                        

53571314 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 768968 3/15/2019 CAR WASH FOR FLEET 0.05                        

53571314 113145 3/28/2019 Day Auto Supply Inc 769137 3/18/2019 HOSE CLAMPS FOR FLEET 0.07                        

53571403 113081 3/21/2019 FRED PRYOR SEMINARS 5240888 2/28/2019 ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP ‐ WILLIAMS C 49.75                      

69,848.82              

Grant Funds

249510408 113025 3/14/2019 MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS  INC. 41261815 3/5/2019

Remainder of funds due for purchase of 

radios 620.00                   

249510506 113025 3/14/2019 MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS  INC. 41261815 3/5/2019

(2) APX 8000 band radios/3 yr.service: 

Grant funded 13,948.10              

250510312 113180 3/28/2019

UNIVERSAL POLICE SUPPLY 

INC 232212 3/11/2019 Grant Funded Vest: Klix 918.80                   

15,486.90              

Streetlight Improvement Districts

300506215 112984 3/14/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE MAR19 SLIDS 3/4/2019 ANTHEM @ MERRIL RNCH SLID 1 2,512.94                

301506215 112984 3/14/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE MAR19 SLIDS 3/4/2019 ANTHEM@ MERRILL RNCH SLID 2 2,519.20                

302506215 112984 3/14/2019 ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE MAR19 SLIDS 3/4/2019 ANTHEM @ MERRILL RNCH SLID 3 2,280.76                

7,312.90                

Development Impact Fee Funds

501506217 112966 3/8/2019 TischlerBise Inc 19‐Feb 3/1/2019 Land Use Assumptions, IIP,Develop 808.00                   

511506217 112966 3/8/2019 TischlerBise Inc 19‐Feb 3/1/2019 Land Use Assumptions, IIP,Develop 807.28                   

532503231 113056 3/21/2019 ARIZONA SUPREME COURT 2019‐00000180 3/5/2019 COMPUTER RENTAL 01/01/19‐06/01/19 2,256.25                

540503403 113130 3/28/2019 Arizona Courts Association 2019 CONF 3/19/2019 AZ COURTS ASSOC ANNUAL CONF 340.00                   

598506217 112966 3/8/2019 TischlerBise Inc 19‐Feb 3/1/2019 Land Use Assumptions, IIP,Develop 152.36                   

599506217 112966 3/8/2019 TischlerBise Inc 19‐Feb 3/1/2019 Land Use Assumptions, IIP,Develop‐FEB19 2,664.36                

7,028.25                

CFD Debt Service Funds

911315701 113051 3/14/2019 2nd Temp 10.1401023.0 3/11/2019 ASSESSMENT PD OFF ‐ 4/9/18 134.94                   

911315703 113051 3/14/2019 2nd Temp 10.1401023.0 3/11/2019 ASSESSMENT PD OFF 04/09/19 123.92                   

911315777 113051 3/14/2019 2nd Temp 10.1401023.0 3/11/2019 ASSESSMENT PD OFF ‐ 4/9/18 34.00                      

292.86                   

CFD #1 Adminstration Fund

957506217 113125 3/25/2019 EPS  GROUP INC 16‐417‐16 1/17/2019 AREA 9‐3 GO 2019 968.75                   

957506217 113125 3/25/2019 EPS  GROUP INC 16‐417‐17 2/27/2019 AREA 9‐3 2 GO 2019 1,187.50                

957506217 113125 3/25/2019 EPS  GROUP INC 16‐418.13 11/28/2018 MRPP3& FELIX ROAD, UNIT 38 883.77                   

957506217 113173 3/28/2019 SIMS MACKEN LTD 24235 2/28/2019 PrELIMINARY RESEARCH CFD 1,395.00                

957506217 113125 3/25/2019 EPS  GROUP INC 16‐418‐14 12/27/2018 MERRILL RANCH PARKWAY 500.00                   

957506217 113125 3/25/2019 EPS  GROUP INC 16‐417‐15 11/28/2018 CFD #1 / GO 2019 156.25                   

5,091.27                



CFD #2 Adminstration Fund

958506217 113125 3/25/2019 EPS  GROUP INC 16‐418‐15 2/27/2019 UNITS 41 & 43 125.00                   

958506217 113125 3/25/2019 EPS  GROUP INC 16‐417‐15 11/28/2018 CFD #1 / GO 2019 156.25                   

281.25                   

Total Warrants 1,331,845.47        



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
10a.  

MEETING DATE: May 6, 2019   
 
DEPARTMENT:  Human Resources 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Scott Barber, HR Director 
 
SUBJECT:  FY2019/20 Employee Benefit Package 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
Subject: Employee Benefit Package Renewal   Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 1 of 3 

 Other 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  Community Vitality       Economic Property    

 Leadership and Governance     Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Staff recommends approval of Fiscal Year 2019-2020 Employee Benefit Program with 
United Healthcare of Arizona for medical, dental, life and vision insurance; Teladoc for 
24/7 physician access benefits; Jorgensen Brooks Group for Employee Assistance 
Program; AFLAC for supplemental insurance products; and Infinisource to administer 
our Section 125 Flexible Benefit Account Plan. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
The Employee Insurance Benefit Package renews on July 1, 2019.   We are concluding 
our third year with United Healthcare of Arizona (UHC).  Eric Johnson of Garry L. 
Johnson & Associates, our employee benefit plan consultant, received initial renewal 
quotes from the incumbent carrier, UHC.  We directed Mr. Johnson to ask UHC what 
they would be willing to do for our renewal if we did not shop the package to other 
providers.  UHC responded with a 1% renewal increase for health and 10% for dental, 
which yields an overall net increase of approximately 1.4%.  Based on that offer, we 
decided to recommend renewal with UHC.  Staff continues to be very appreciative of 
the work done on behalf of the Town by Eric Johnson and his staff. 
 
Medical Insurance – Renewal with UHC keeps us in a fully-insured, PPO-type plan for 
the 2019/20 policy year, with a 1.0% premium increase from current rates.  The plan 
design remains essentially unchanged.  The plan has a $1,000 maximum out-of-pocket 
limit for the employee, and a maximum of $3,000 for a family.  The Town fully pays the 
employee premium and shares the dependent coverage premium with those 
employees who need and want dependent coverage on a 78%/22% split. 



Subject: Employee Benefit Package Renewal   Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 2 of 3 

Teladoc – We’re completing our 6th year with this coverage which provides our 
employees 24/7 medical consultations via telephone or internet.  Teladoc is a free-
standing benefit which supplements our medical insurance.  Employees can connect 
with a licensed physician for information, advice, and treatment including prescription 
medication when appropriate.  At a rate of $4 per month per insured family (up to 5 
family members, paid fully by the Town), we think this coverage continues to be a good 
value for the Town and our employees. 
 
Dental Insurance – The recommendation is to renew our fully-insured dental plan with 
UHC, with a 10.0% increase from current rates.  The increase is due to our claims 
experience.  The Town shares in the same percentage as medical insurance for those 
employees with dependent coverage. 
 
Group Life/AD&D Insurance – Staff recommends renewing our group life/AD&D 
insurance to UHC for all eligible employees and dependents for FY19-20.  Group 
Life/AD&D coverage is 2X an employee’s annual salary up to a maximum of $150,000.  
The monthly premium is $0.167 per $1,000 of employee coverage, and $0.79 for 
dependent coverage.  There is no change in premiums from the current year.  Group 
Life is paid 100% by the Town.  Voluntary supplemental coverage is also available to 
covered employees. 
 
Vision Insurance – Staff recommends renewing our vision insurance with UHC with no 
change in premiums.  The FY19-20 policy year premiums are $7.53 per month for 
employee coverage, $17.66 per month for family coverage.  Vision Insurance is paid 
100% by the employee. 
 
Employee Assistance Program – Staff is recommending renewal of our EAP contract 
with Jorgensen Brooks Group.  The Town currently pays 100% of the cost for this 
service ($1.80 per employee per month). 
 
AFLAC offers a variety of supplemental insurance products to employees through 
payroll deduction, paid entirely by the employees opting for the coverage. 
 
Section 125 Plan Administration has been provided by Infinisource.  Through this 
program employees can pay qualified medical expenses on a pre-tax basis.  We’ve 
been very satisfied with the service provided and the company will hold the line on rates 
for the upcoming year ($4.95 per employee per month) so we are therefore 
recommending renewal.  The Town covers the cost of this program. 
 
The following chart illustrates monthly medical, dental and vision coverage premiums 
paid by employees for the 2019-20 plan year: 
 

Medical/Dental Insurance 
Coverage Premiums 

Medical 
FY18-19

Medical  
FY19-20

Dental 
FY18-19

Dental 
FY19-20 

Vision* 
FY19-20

Employee Only $ PAID $ PAID $ PAID $ PAID $7.53
Employee + Spouse $156.45 $158.19 $5.44 $5.98 $17.66
Employee + Child(ren) $127.30 $128.62 $8.91 $9.80 $17.66
Employee + Family $283.97 $286.81 $16.15 $17.76 $17.66

*vision is an optional benefit paid 100% by employee 



Subject: Employee Benefit Package Renewal   Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 3 of 3 

A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

We would need to consult with our agent/broker representative and go into the 
marketplace and find another plan. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

Renewing our employee benefit package coverages as noted above. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The Town’s share of the estimated annual cost for the employee benefit package for 
FY19-20 is included in the various departmental proposed budgets. We estimate the 
overall net cost increase to the Town to be $32,000. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
None 



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
 10b. 

MEETING DATE:  May 6, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Public Works 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Christopher A. Salas P.E. 
                                      Public Works Director 
 
SUBJECT:  Regional Pavement Maintenance of Arizona, Inc. 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
Subject:  Regional Pavement Maintenance CIP T-69  Meeting Date: May 6, 2019  
 

contract for CIP T-69 Pavement Preservation for crack seal, 
micro seal. 

 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Motion to enter into a contract with Regional Pavement Maintenance of Arizona, Inc., to 
mill and replace 2.5” R12 asphalt for CIP T-69 Pavement Preservation, for the amount of 
$1,116,071.08, plus a 20% Town contingency of $223,214.23, making the not to exceed 
amount $1,339,285.31, under Job Order Contract (JOC) 2014-007 for the City of 
Buckeye.  
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  
 
To add life and provide safer and smoother surfaces to the proposed streets by 
performing the following applications: 

 Arizona Farms Road from the eastern town limits to Cooper Road – 9,574 linear 
feet of milling with an asphalt overlay and fresh striping. This road has a high 
volume of traffic and is in very poor condition with heavily deteriorating edges. 
($587,364) 

 Felix Road from Hunt Highway to the railroad tracks – 13,705 linear feet to be first 
crack sealed followed by a micro seal application and fresh striping. ($190,916) 

 Felix Road from Arizona Farms Road one mile south – 5,280 linear feet to be first 
crack sealed followed by a micro seal application and fresh striping. ($65,549) 

 Hunt Highway from Franklin Road south to the big curve – 9,090 linear feet to be 
first crack sealed, followed by a micro seal application and fresh striping. 
($269,239) 



Subject:  Regional Pavement Maintenance CIP T-69  Meeting Date: May 6, 2019  
 

 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN:  

Another year of traffic causing more damage resulting in a potentially higher costing 
maintenance project for the following year. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN:  

Restoring and adding life to the proposed streets as well as making them safer with more 
distinct paint markings. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:  
 
$1,116,071.08 plus a 20% contingency, not to exceed $1,339,285.31 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Exhibit 1 - JOC No. 2014-007 between the City of Buckeye and Regional Pavement  
Exhibit 2 - Scope of Work for FY18-19 CIP Pavement Preservation projects remaining 
Exhibit 3 - Regional Scope of Work for Project No. P2591-0 (Arizona Farms Road, from 
                 Herseth Road to Copper Road); Map included 
Exhibit 4 - Regional Scope of Work for Project No. P2475-0 (Felix Road, Hunt Highway  
                  to Arizona Farms Road); Map included 
Exhibit 5 – Regional Scope of Work for Project No. P2465-0 (Hunt Highway, E. Franklin 
                  Road and N. Hunt Highway); Map included 
Exhibit 6 – Regional Scope of Work for Project No. P2509-0 (Felix Road, Arizona Farms 
                  Road and E. Heritage Road); Map included 
Exhibit 7 – Approved Bid Tabulation Form 
Exhibit 8 - Approved Requisition No. 54071 
Exhibit 9 - Contract for Coop Use of City of Buckeye Contract No. 2014-007 for JOC 
                 Services between TOF and Regional Pavement  



































































































































 
 

 

TOWN OF FLORENCE
COUNCIL ACTION 

FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
10c.  

MEETING DATE:  May 6, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Public Works 
 
STAFF PRESENTER: Christopher A. Salas  
                      Public Works Director/Town Engineer 
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  
Subject:  Ratification and Acceptance to Apache Underground                                                 Meeting Date: May 6, 2019 

Page 1 of 2 

SUBJECT:   Ratification and acceptance to Apache 
Underground Contract in the amount of $721,008.11 for 
CIP WU-83 Downtown 12” Loop.

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality    Economic Prosperity   Leadership and Governance     

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Ratification and acceptance to Apache Underground Contract for the installation 
of valves, fire hydrants, tapping sleeves, concrete encased sewer and for 
replacement of curb, sidewalk and asphalt as necessary, in an amount not to 
exceed $721,008.11 for CIP WU-83 Downtown 12” Loop (Phase 2A 
$249,590.00, Phase 2B $352,690.00, Change Order #1 $10,721.79 and Change 
Order #2 $108,006.32). 
  
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  
 
This partially federally funded project consists of a water line improvement 
project as follows: 

 
- Installation of approximately 3,000 linear feet (LF) of water line improvements 

in the Town of Florence, Arizona, along Ruggles Street from N. Park Street to 
N. Phoenix Street, then south on N. Phoenix Street to 12th St, west on 12th 
Street and south on N. Warner Street to Butte Avenue.   

 
The improvements include: 
- Replacement of 6-inch PVC or DIP pipe 
- Installation of connections to existing system 
- Installation of valves, fire hydrants, tapping sleeves, and concrete encased 

sewer 
- Replacement of curb, sidewalk and asphalt, as necessary 



 
 

Subject:  Ratification and Acceptance to Apache Underground                                                 Meeting Date: May 6, 2019 

Page 2 of 2 

A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 
 
Not Applicable 

 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 
 
Not Applicable 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
$249,590.00 Phase 2A 
$352,690.00 Phase 2B 
$  10,721.79 Change Order #1 
$108,006.32 Change Order #2 
$721,008.11 Total  

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Revised Phase 2A and 2B Bid Tabs 

 



Date:

Date:

Item No Unit
Bid 

Quantity

Construction 

Quantity

1 LF 1200 1200

2 LF 60 20

3 LF 50 50

4 EA 2 2

5 SY 530 1065

6 LS 2 2

7 LS 3 3

8 LS 3 3

9 LS 3 3

10 LS 1 1

11 EA 1 1

12 SY 5 9

13 EA 2 1

14 LS 1 1 4,000.00$       

249,590.00$   

Traffic Control

Subtotal

Phase 2A - Station 80+00 to 91+87.81 (Park St. to 6th St.)

CWL

TMB

City of Florence

6/19/2018

2,700.00$       

12,000.00$     

3,000.00$   

66.00$        

1,500.00$   

5,000.00$   

6" Gate Valve B & C

12" Gate Valve B & C

Prepared by:

Checked by:

Client:

 

Item Description

12-inch P.V.C. Pipe

Project Name:

Project No.:

Location:

7,000.00$       

900.00$          

2,700.00$       

3,000.00$       

4,000.00$   

Amount

117,600.00$   

2,400.00$       

3,000.00$       

6,000.00$       

70,290.00$     

3,000.00$       

15,000.00$     

900.00$      

4,000.00$   

7,000.00$   

900.00$      

300.00$      

3,000.00$   

Unit Price

98.00$        

120.00$      

60.00$        

Description:

Florence 12-inch Augmentation Phase 2

486-.05

Florence, Arizona

System Upgrades

12" Tapping Sleeve

Fire Hydrant Removal

Curb Sidewalk Replacement

Concrete Encased Sewer

12-inch D.I.P Pipe

6-inch D.I.P. Pipe

Pipeline connections to existing system

Asphalt Replacement

1" Air Release Valve

New 6" Fire hydrant



Date:

Date:

Item No Unit
Bid 

Quantity

Construction 

Quantity

1 LF 1800 1924

2 LF 30 0

3 LF 103 103

4 EA 9 8

5 LS 2 2

6 EA 1 1

7 SY 1270 1390

8 LS 2 2

9 LS 4 5

10 LS 5 6

11 LS 8 9

12 LS 0 0

13 EA 4 4

14 SY 15 35

15 EA 2 0

16 LS 1 1

Subtotal 2A 249,590.00$   

Total Project Costs 721,008.11$   

6,000.00$       

Change Order #2 108,006.32$   

Subtotal 2B 352,690.00$   

10,721.79$     Change Order #1

Concrete Encased Sewer 3,000.00$   -$                

Traffic Control 6,000.00$   

Fire Hydrant Removal 900.00$      3,600.00$       

Curb and Sidewalk replacement 350.00$      12,250.00$     

12" Gate Valve B & C 4,000.00$   36,000.00$     

12" Tapping Sleeve 7,000.00$   -$                

New 6" Fire hydrant 5,000.00$   25,000.00$     

6" Gate Valve B & C 900.00$      5,400.00$       

Asphalt Replacement 50.00$        69,500.00$     

1" Air Release Valve 1,500.00$   3,000.00$       

Abandonment of Existing 4-inch 800.00$      1,600.00$       

Pipeline connections to existing system 3,000.00$   3,000.00$       

6-inch D.I.P. Pipe 60.00$        6,180.00$       

Service Tie Overs 1,000.00$   8,000.00$       

12-inch P.V.C. Pipe 90.00$        173,160.00$   

12-inch D.I.P. Pipe 120.00$      -$                

Description: System Upgrades  

Item Description Unit Price Amount

Project No.: 486-.05 Checked by: TMB

Location: Florence, Arizona Client: City of Florence

Phase 2B - Station 62+00 to 80+87.81 (6th St. to Phase 3)

Project Name: Florence 12-inch Augmentation Phase 2 Prepared by: CWL 6/19/2018



 
 

 

TOWN OF FLORENCE
COUNCIL ACTION 

FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
10d.  

MEETING DATE:  May 6, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Administration 
 
STAFF PRESENTER: Brent Billingsley, Town Manager 
 
SUBJECT:   Authorization to enter into an Associated 
Partner Agreement with the Electrum Foundation. 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 
Subject:  Electrum Foundation Assoc. Partner Agreement   Meeting Date: May 6, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality    Economic Prosperity   Leadership and Governance     

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Authorization to enter into an Associated Partner Agreement with Electrum 
Foundation. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  
 
Staff attended the 2019 Smart Cities Connect Conference in Denver, Colorado, 
from April 1-4, 2019.  The Smart Cities Connect Conference offers the most 
comprehensive conference, exposition and accelerator of smart city innovation in 
North America.  The conference offered networking and educational 
opportunities with a focus on city leaders and their priorities.  Working closely 
with the technology community, Smart Cities Connect brings together the largest 
collection of intelligent systems providers. 
 
The highlight of the trip was the Smart Cities Connect Exposition.  Staff was able 
meet industry innovators, entrepreneurs, and enterprise leaders representing 150 
plus world class companies, universities and startups.  Recognized as the largest 
gathering of smart IoT technologies and services companies serving cities across 
North America and the globe, the exposition floor included a program with 
exciting content and presentations from leading organizations and startups. 
 
During the Smart Cities Exposition staff was able to connect with Petra Dalunde 
and her team with the Electrum Foundation. The Electrum Foundation has 
founded Urban ICT Arena in collaboration with Kista Science City AB, corporate 
(“KSCAB”). Urban ICT Arena is an open testbed and co-creation arena for 



 
 

Subject:  Electrum Foundation Assoc. Partner Agreement   Meeting Date: May 6, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

technical development and innovation in an urban environment where the 
opportunities of digitalization for the future and society can be developed, tested 
and showcased. 
 
Through our ongoing discussions with the Electrum Foundation and its corporate 
and educational partners it is clear that the Town of Florence has ideas and 
partnerships that are of value in the Smart Cities arena.  Therefore, a partnership 
between the two parties may be constructive for both.  Staff is currently working 
on a testing protocol for Electrum partners and has agreed to share data from 
deployment and testing of our new LaRaWAN network. 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 
 
The Town would not enter into an Associated Partner Agreement with Electrum 
Foundation. 

 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 
 
The Town would ratify an Associated Partner Agreement with Electrum 
Foundation to partner on development of Smart Cities technologies and 
programs. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
There is no financial commitment associated with the agreement.     
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 
Associated Partner Agreement 
 



  

 
  

 

 

1 

 

    

 
 

 

Associated Partner Agreement  

under the auspices of 

 
 

 
  



  

 
  

 

 

2 

 

ASSOCIATED PARTNER AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE TOWN OF FLORENCE AND ELECTRUM 

FOUNDATION 
 

 

This associated partner agreement (the “Agreement”) has been entered between 
the: 

(1) Town of Florence, a municipal corporation in the State of Arizona, United 
States of America (“Associated Partner”, or “Town”), and  

(2) Stiftelsen Elektronikcentrum i Kista, corporate ID no. 802012-4387, (the 
“Electrum Foundation”). 

Associated Partner and the Electrum Foundation are hereinafter referred to 
individually as “the Party” and jointly as “the Parties”.  

The following appendices have been drafted and constitute an integral part of this 
Agreement:  

Appendix 1  Mission Statement v. 1.0 

Appendix 2  Operational Plan for Current Calendar Year 

Appendix 3  Communications Platform 1.0 

1 Background 

1.1 The Electrum Foundation has founded Urban ICT Arena in collaboration 
with Kista Science City AB, corporate ID no. 556567-6953, (“KSCAB”) 
and several founders (“Founding Partners”). Urban ICT Arena is an 
open testbed and co-creation arena for technical development and 
innovation in an urban environment where the opportunities of 
digitalization for the future and society can be developed, tested and 
showcased. 

1.2 An associated partner (“AP”) is an entity that is associated with Urban 
ICT Arena, its values and the content of its operations. An AP contributes 
to Urban ICT Arena by making a monetary contribution or providing 
other resources of choice that add value to the partners and project 
owners of Urban ICT Arena. In exchange for this, APs gain logo exposure 
on Urban ICT Arena’s website and can participate in seminar activities 
within Urban ICT Arena. 

1.3 The Parties have agreed to enter into this Agreement to define the Town’s 
role as an AP in detail.   



  

 
  

 

 

3 

 

2 Obligations of Associated Partner 

2.1 AP is obligated to provide support for Urban ICT Arena’s operations for 
every twelve-month period during which this Agreement is in force by: 

a) Sharing information about the progress and implementation of the 
Town’s local SMART City initiatives and providing input to the ICT 
Arena relating to digitization, sustainability and connectivity for 
citizens in the municipal government context. 

b) Attending colloborative events and seminars related to the ICT Arena 
innovations remotely and when financially beneficial to and feasible for 
the Town, in the Town’s sole discretion. 

3 Obligations of Urban ICT Arena 

3.1 For each twelve-month period during which AP has a partnership with 
Urban ICT Arena under 2.1, AP is entitled to:  

a) logo exposure on Urban ICT Arena’s website, 

b) relate its operations and projects to Urban ICT Arena, as long as this is 
done in conformity with Urban ICT Arena’s overall communications 
and core values (see Communications Platform, Appendix 3), and 

c) priority to seminars and events organized within Urban ICT Arena. 

4 Term of Agreement and termination 

4.1 The term of an associated partnership is twelve months. Consequently, 
this Agreement is valid from the date it is signed by both Parties until 
May 31, 2020 and is extended automatically by twelve months if notice of 
termination is not given two months prior to the end of the term. The 
maximum term of the Agreement is through May 31, 2022, at which time 
this Agreement automatically terminates and the Town shall not be 
subject to any penalties or recourse nor have any further obligations 
under the Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions in this 
section, the parties acknowledge and agree that the Town may terminate 
this Agreement, or any part thereof, for its sole convenience at any time 
and without penalty or recourse. 

4.2 However, the Agreement will be null and void with immediate effect in 
the event that the collaboration agreement for Urban ICT Arena between 
the Electrum Foundation, KSCAB and the Founding Partners is 
terminated early  (“Arena Termination Event”).  Electrum Foundation 



  

 
  

 

 

4 

 

shall give 10 days written notice to the Town of any Arena Termination 
Event. 

4.3 Each Party is entitled to terminate the Agreement with immediate effect 
in the event that the other Party breaches provisions of the Agreement 
which are material to the terminating Party.  

4.4 In addition, Urban ICT Arena is entitled to terminate this Agreement 
with immediate effect in the following cases: 

a) AP defaults on payment of taxes or fees to the government, is declared 
bankrupt, opens composition proceedings, goes into liquidation or 
otherwise can be assumed to be insolvent, or  

b) there is a risk of damage to Urban ICT Arena’s reputation as a result of 
AP’s actions. 

5 General provisions  

5.1 The Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties 
pertaining to the subject matter hereof. All written and verbal obligations 
and commitments preceding the Agreement are therefore replaced by the 
contents of this Agreement. Amendments and modifications to the 
Agreement are not binding for the Parties unless they are in writing and 
signed by all Parties.  

5.2 The rights and obligations of either Party under this Agreement may not 
be assigned without the written consent of the other Party.   

5.3 Notice of termination or other notices must be given by courier,  or 
registered mail to the addresses listed below for the Parties. When 
couriers are used, notice is considered received by the recipient at the 
time of delivery, and when registered mail is used, three days after 
delivery to the postal service. 

Town of Florence, Arizona 
Attn: Brent Billingsley, Town Manager 
PO Box 2670 
775 N. Main Street 
Florence, AZ 85132 
   
Stiftelsen Elektronikcentrum i Kista 
Attn: CEO Electrum Foundation 
c/o Kista Science City AB 
Box 1073 
164 25 Kista, Stockholm 



  

 
  

 

 

5 

 

5.4 The following contact persons are available for any questions relating to 
this Agreement: 

for Associated Partner: Brent Billingsley, Town Manager 

for Urban ICT Arena: Petra Dalunde, COO Urgan ICT Arena 

5.5 The other Party must be notified in accordance with clause 5.3 if a new 
contact person is appointed. 

6 Miscellaneous 

6.1 Disputes arising as a result of this Agreement shall be subject to non-
binding mediation with costs equally divided among the parties.  The 
venue of the mediation proceedings may be Stockholm, however, the 
parties acknowledge and agree that the Town may participate by 
telephone in any proceedings not physically conducted in Phoenix, 
Arizona.  

6.2 This Agreement shall be governed and interpreted according to the laws 
of the State of Arizona, without reference to choice of law or conflicts of 
laws principles thereof. 

6.3 This Agreement is subject to cancellation pursuant to Arizona Revised 
Statutes section 38-511. 

6.4 Pursuant to A.R.S. section 35-393.01, the Electrum Foundation, by 
execution of this Agreement, certifies that it is not currently engaged in, 
and agrees for the duration of this Agreement to not engage in, a boycott 
of Israel. 

6.5 This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, and each 
originally executed duplicate counterpart of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to possess the full force and effect of the original. 

 
*** 



  

 
  

 

 

6 

 

This Agreement has been executed in two counterparts, and each party has taken one.  

 

Town:  

 

Date:  

 

 
ATTEST:      

 
 
_____________________________  
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk    
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 
 

 

 
 

 

 

   

Town of Florence  Stiftelsen Elektronikcentrum i Kista 
 
 
 

  

   

______________________________ _______________________________

By: Tara Walter, Mayor  By: Johan Ödmark, CEO 



 

 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
10e.  

MEETING DATE:  May 6, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Administration 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town Manager/       
                                      Town Clerk 
 
SUBJECT:  Removal of Kendra Johnson from Florence Youth 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
Subject:  Florence Youth Commission   Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 1 

Commission.  
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Removal of Kendra Johnson from the Florence Youth Commission.  
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
From time to time staff has to request that an appointed member be removed from a 
board or commission.   Staff is requesting that Council remove Kendra Johnson from the 
Florence Youth Commission pursuant to Section 35.005 (A) of the Town Code. 
 
32.005  REMOVAL FROM OFFICE. 
 Any one of the following shall constitute the resignation of a member and authorize the 
appointment of a new member to fill the unexpired portion of the term so vacated: 
   (A)   Absence from three consecutive regular meetings of the board, commission or 
committee; 
   (B)   Ceasing to be a resident of the municipality; 
   (C)   Insanity when judicially determined; 
   (D)   Conviction of a felony or an offense involving a violation of his or her official 
duties; and 
   (E)   A violation of the town's Code of Ethics. 
 
Ms. Johnson has missed three or more Youth Commission Meetings without notice.   
 
 



 

Subject:  Florence Youth Commission   Meeting Date:  May 6, 2019 
Page 2 

A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

A no vote would mean Kendra Johnson would remain on the Florence Youth Commission. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

A yes vote would mean that Kendra Johnson would be removed from the Florence Youth 
Commission.  The Council appointed alternate, Jayden McMillin, would automatically fill 
the vacated spot with a term to expire October 31, 2020. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
None 



MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  Mayor and Town Council  

From:  Brent Billingsley, Town Manager 

Copy:  Department Heads 

Date:  May 6, 2019 

Re:  Town Manager’s Report  

 
I thought that it would be important to make the connection between the Council Strategic 
Plan and current Town priorities; therefore, this memo provides select updates by Strategic 
Plan Area.  It is not intended to be an exhaustive list, just an update on one project, per 
1 
 

area.  I do not want to supplant or duplicate the individual department reports that Council 
receives on a monthly basis. 
 
Community Vitality:  This time of year, is very busy for the Community Services 
Department.  The department is proud to host numerous impactful and successful 
programs for Town residents.  The following is a list of some of these offerings: 
 

 Dr. Seuss’ Birthday Bash – (Friday, March 1st) The library held its annual celebration 
of Dr. Seuss’ birthday with a special Storytime/Craft event.  This free program had 
30 children attending along with seven adults supervising.   

 
 Women’s Bands in America – (Friday, March 1st) The library hosted an AZ 

Humanities presentation by Dr. Jill Sullivan.  She discussed the history of Women’s 
Bands in America, from World War II to the present day.  Ten people attended this 
free program sponsored by the Friends of the Florence Community Library.  The 
feedback from surveys after the presentation was enthusiastic. 

 
 March Library Movie – (Saturday, March 9th) The library’s March Movie Discussion 

focused on remakes, with a showing of last year’s popular remake of A Star Is Born. 
 Fifty-one people attended this free program.  Very positive feedback was received 
from those exiting the program and from those who turned in written feedback 
forms.  The library holds a movie discussion and screening monthly. 

 
 “Full STEAM Ahead” – (Wednesday, March 13th) The library made STEAM (science, 

technology, engineering, art & mathematics) kits and projects available to children of 
all ages, including Snap Circuits, Bionic Blox, a flying saucer/fan unit, and a model 
T-Rex.  Eleven children and five supervising adults participated in this free activity.  
Children were absorbed for the full hour of the program, with children and parents 
expressing eagerness for future STEAM-related programs.  STEAM resources were 
gained through grants from the Arizona State Library and from a recent LSTA mini-
grant and will continue to be made available at relevant library programs.  
 

 Hurts Emergency Donut Vehicle – (Wednesday, March 20th) Hurts Donuts is a 
national company featuring oversized, specialized donuts.  This vehicle, based in 
Tempe, delivers donuts to select locations.  Mayor Tara Walter rode with Lt. Terry 



2 
 

Tryon, in a police escort from Florence Gardens to the Pinal County Courthouse on 
Pinal Street.  The truck arrived around noon to a waiting crowd estimated at over 
100.  People began arriving about 10:30 a.m.  Recreation staff provided music, 
cornhole play and helped assemble people in manageable waiting lines.  
Reportedly, the donuts were sold out in less than 20 minutes.   

 
 75th Anniversary of the G.I. Bill – (Saturday, March 30th) To celebrate the 

anniversary of the G.I. Bill, a parade was held along Main Street beginning at 10:00 
a.m.   After the parade, a ceremony was held at Padilla Park beginning 
approximately at 11:00 a.m.  Mayor Tara Walter read a proclamation, a 
representative from Governor Ducey’s office also attended with a proclamation and 
members of the McFarland Family were present.  Food and merchandise vendors 
and entertainment were on hand.  Parks and Recreation, in addition to preparing the 
park for this event, also provided the sound system and chairs for the ceremony. 
Police Department and Public Works assisted with street closures.   
 

 Florence Little League Opening Ceremonies – (Saturday, March 30th) Little League’s 
opening ceremonies were held at Heritage Park beginning at 1:00 p.m.  The 
ceremonies were held later in the day to accommodate the use of the park by the 
G.I. Bill Parade.  The ceremony began with a parade of teams, coaches and 
players.  League officials then introduced themselves, players and coaches to the 
assembled crowd.  The league gave recognition and thanks to the Town of Florence 
for our assistance.  The league had bounce houses, raffles to raise money to 
support league functions, food and DJ music.   Following the ceremony, Boys and 
Girls Major League baseball and softball games were played.  The league has 10 
teams playing with 126 participants.  The regular season runs through the first week 
of June and is traditionally followed by All-Star teams and tournament play into early 
July.     

 
 60-Day Challenge – (Monday, April 1st) Staff at the Dorothy Nolan Senior Center 

started a “60-Day Exercise Challenge” today.  The program is a work-out at your 
own pace and fitness level but is structured and supervised.  Participants will receive 
introductory wellness and fitness tips from certified senior fitness instructor Rhoda 
Feierstein and a two-month free membership to the Town of Florence’s Fitness 
Center.  Seven seniors appeared at the Fitness Center today to begin their exercise 
challenge.  Fitness Center Supervisor, Megan Cetta introduced those seniors to the 
various types of fitness equipment and provided instruction on how to the use the 
machines.  
 

  50s Sock Hop – (Thursday, April 5th) - The Florence Teen Council and staff from 
the Dorothy Nolan Senior Center partnered to present a ‘50s Sock Hop at the Senior 
Center.  Last year, both entities presented a Senior (Citizen) Prom but decided to 
offer a less formal, more active event.  Eleven members of Teen Council provided 
DJ music and entertainment including trivia and prizes.  Senior center staff 
decorated and served hamburgers, tater tots and root beer floats to help celebrate 
the ‘50’s theme.  The event was held earlier than last year which according to 
reports, was much appreciated by those who attended.  Fifty-two seniors danced, 
ate, reminisced and enjoyed themselves from 5:00 p.m. to 6:30 p.m. 
 

 Main Street Mural Dedication – (Saturday, April 6th) Weeks of planning and a 



3 
 

month’s worth of work on the new downtown mural at 364 N. Main Street was 
celebrated at its dedication at 4:30 p.m., just prior to Road to Country Thunder.  
Florence Arts and Culture Commission members and community volunteers worked 
diligently over the last several weeks to create an attractive mural in downtown 
Florence.  Commission chair Ann Rankin, Mayor Tara Walter and Councilmember 
Bill Hawkins spoke at the dedication.      

 
Economic Prosperity Trenton Schaffer and I attended the 2019 Smart Cities Connect 
Conference in Denver, Colorado, from April 1st through the 4th.  The Smart Cities Connect 
Conference offers the most comprehensive conference, exposition and accelerator of smart 
city innovation in North America.  The conference offered networking and educational 
opportunities with a focus on city leaders and their priorities.  Working closely with the 
technology community, Smart Cities Connect brings together the largest collection of 
intelligent systems providers. 
 
The highlight of the trip was the Smart Cities Connect Exposition.  Trenton and I were able 
meet industry innovators, entrepreneurs, and enterprise leaders representing 150 plus 
world class companies, universities and startups.  Recognized as the largest gathering of 
smart IoT technologies and services companies serving cities across North America and 
the globe, the exposition floor included a program with exciting content and presentations 
from leading organizations and startups.  
 
Leadership and Governance:  It was requested that this report provide a look forward to 
future Town Council agenda items.  The following is a list of future items for potential Town 
Council action. This list is not intended to be comprehensive but represents important 
forthcoming items: 
 

 Town of Florence Development Impact Fee Study 
 2019/20 Budget and Capital Improvement Program (CIP) 
 Advanced Metering Infrastructure Bid award 
 Cuen Building Bid 
 Streetlight Improvement District 4&5 AMR 
 Bid award for the Silver King code compliance project 
 Citizen Survey results 
 Active Transportation Plan 
 Regional Transportation Plan Update 
 Parks Trails and Open Space Plan 
 Spirit Loop Ach Culvert 4.0 acceptance 
 SR 79B/SR 287 intersection Design Concept Report (DCR) 

 
Partnerships and Relationships:   In partnership with Country Thunder, the Town of 
Florence hosted its fifth annual “Road to Country Thunder Music Festival” on Main Street 
before a crowd estimated at 3,500 people.  Four country artists played before a crowded 
Main Street audience with Cameron Byfield opening the show at 5:00 p.m. followed by 
Ryan and the Renegades, Austin Burke and Harry Luge, Jr., at 8:30 p.m.  The event 
featured a beer garden along with seven food vendors, five information booths and one 
merchandise vendor.  Community Services staff were responsible for the overall 
coordination and promotion of the event while Country Thunder provided the stage and 
back-line company to run the sound and coordination with bands.  KMLE recruited the 



4 
 

bands, provided an emcee and hosted a booth for pictures and Country Thunder ticket 
giveaways.  The Pinal County Mounted Posse secured a special event liquor license and 
secured a provider to host a beer garden.  The Greater Florence Chamber of Commerce 
recruited all the vendors.  Arizona Correctional Industries (ACI) from the Arizona 
Department of Corrections, provided free hay bales for seating comfort.  The Community 
Services Department also appreciates the assistance from the Police and Public Works 
Departments.   Department staff believes this was the largest crowd yet for this event and 
noticed that many of the attendees not only stayed for the entire show, but also to purchase 
food from the vendors before leaving.  This event is becoming a major attraction, not only in 
Florence but within Pinal County, judging from this year’s attendance. 
 
Transportation and Infrastructure:  The Town just completed its spring 2019 Polymer 
Modified Asphalt Rubber (PMAR) projects.  The streets improved with this project include: 

 Pinal Street from Butte Avenue to 1st Street 
 12th Street from Willow Street to Pinal Street 
 Arizona Avenue from Florence Boulevard west, in Florence Gardens 
 South Dakota Avenue south of Maricopa Boulevard, in Caliente Del Sol 

 
The 12 Inch Water Loop Project (Phase 3A/Florence K8) is complete.  The 8-inch portion of 
the project is expected to get started the week of April 25th.  Phases 3B and 3C will be bid 
this summer and will likely be completed by the end of the calendar year. 
  
Upcoming Events/Meetings/Forums:   

 May 3rd  10:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m.  Cinco De Mayo 
Dorothy Nolan Senior Center 

 May 9th  10:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m.   Mother’s Day Celebration               
                           Dorothy Nolan Senior Center  

 May 18th   12:00 p.m. - 5:00 p.m.  Summer Safety/Family Resource 
Day                    Florence Aquatic Center 

 May 23rd   1:30 p.m. – 5:00 p.m.      Summer Kick Off                             
                                  Florence Aquatic Center 

 May 31st   6:00 p.m.   Dive In Movie                           
    Florence Aquatic Center 

 
Success Stories:   

 AMRRP 
o The Town received notice from the Arizona Municipal Risk Retention Pool in 

April.  The AMRRP Board of Directors has declared a $10 million dollars 
dividend to members this year.  This is the largest dividend ever declared by 
the Pool.  AMRRP returned $5 million dollars to members last year, which 
was the largest dividend ever given out in one year, until now. 

 
o Florence received about $50,000 last year so we anticipate about $100,000 

back with this latest AMRRP Board action. 
 

 Arizona Economic Indicators 
o According to the Cromford Report, active residential listings increased in 

Greater Phoenix by 9% to 23,790 over a year ago. While the number resales 



5 
 

increased in March (8,492) from February (6,526), it is still below last year's 
number (9,645). 

 
o According to the Information Market, new home sales bounced back in 

Maricopa County.  The March sales volume increased (1,302) compared to 
February (1,222) but are still below the levels seen last year (1,536). 

 
Current Advertisements: 
 
The following Requests for Proposals are currently Open: 

1. None 
 

The following Requests for Proposals are Under Review: 
1. Purchase and Installation of an Advanced Metering Infrastructure System 
2. 2019 Aquatic Center Concession Services 



TOWN OF FLORENCE  
Community Development 

224 W. 20th Street 
Florence, AZ 85132 

Office:  520-868-7542 
Fax:  520-868-7546 

 
COUNCIL MEETING DATE:   May 6, 2019 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Larry Harmer 
 
SUBJECT:       Community Development Monthly Report 
 
Projects: 
1 | P a g e  
Community Development Report – Prepared April 19, 2019 

 
Anthem at Merrill Ranch 

 Unit 5   
o Landscape Plan submitted 2/13/19  
o Paved 4/10/19 

 
 Unit 7  

o Landscape Plan submitted 2/13/19 
o Paved 4/10/19 

 
 Unit 24  

o Improvement Plan approved 
o Final plat approved and recorded 
o Landscape Plan submittal 2020 

 
 Unit 32  

o Improvement Plan approved 
o Final plat approved and recorded 
o Landscape Plan submittal 2019 

 
 Unit 34  

o Improvement Plan approved 
o Landscape Plan submittal 2020 

 
 Unit 52  

o Paved – working on adjustments 
o Landscape completed 
o Letter of Acceptance being completed 

 



2 | P a g e  
Community Development Report – Prepared April 19, 2019 

 
 Unit 55A 

o Start sewer May 2019 
 

 Units 56B and 58 
o Preplat late 2019 

 
 Unit 57 

o Preplat in 2019 
o Grading with Unit 55 

 
 Unit 60  

o Improvement Plan approved 
o Final Plat recorded 
o Landscape Plan submittal – 2nd Quarter 2019 
o Grading 2019 
o Sewer start 4/15/19 

 
Attaway Crossing Annexation 

 A preliminary land plan was shared showing primarily single family residential with a 20-
acre commercial site 

 Updates have been received from Applicant 
o A new annexation petition needs to be submitted 
o A revision to the cost-benefit has been prepared that addresses years 11-20 
o A new PUD will be submitted to address this development as free-standing 

(separate from Merrill Ranch) 
 Met with property owner 4/2/19 – proceeding with application 

 
Building Code 

 FINAL 2012 ICC Code Adoption is being prepared for Town Council adoption 
 

Florence Artisan Acres (Windmill Winery)  

 Meeting with owner 4/16/19 
 

Monarch/Aspen Farms   
 Submittal for new Planned Unit Development (PUD) under review 
 1st review comments have return to the applicants for response/revisions 
 Town staff has been meeting with applicant to discuss revisions 

 
Smith Building 

 Remodeling continuing under current permit 
 
 
 



3 | P a g e  
Community Development Report – Prepared April 19, 2019 

Parking and Sign Code Amendments 
 Planning and Zoning Commission held their first Public Hearing on December 20 

with a second Public Hearing on January 17, 2019.  Recommendation for adoption. 
 Town Council Public Hearings are scheduled for March 4 and March 18, 2019. 
 A Council work session has been scheduled for March 25 to review. 

 
470 South Main Street 

 A rezoning request has been received from the property owner to rezone from NO-
Neighborhood Office to B-2 Downtown and Highway Business. 

 Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing is scheduled for March 7, 2019 
 Town Council Public Hearings are scheduled for March 18 and April 1, 2019. 

 
Permits Issued March 2019 (April 2019 totals should available the 2nd week in May) 
 

 BLD-RES-SFR-NEW – 28 (Total of 55 for the calendar year) 
 OTHER – 51 

TOTAL – 79 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Memorandum 

To:  Brent Billingsley, Town Manager 

From:  Bryan C. Hughes, Community Services Director 

Date:  April 19, 2019 

Re:  April 2019 Department Report 

Project Updates: 
Page 1 
Community Services 

April 2019 Monthly Report 

 Town staff and our consultants, WestLand Resources and J2 Engineering and 
Environmental Design, will walk the Poston Butte site on Wednesday, April 24th 
to review the cultural impact of the proposed improvements associated with the 
acquisition and development of additional Bureau of Land Management (BLM) 
parcels. 

 Michael Baker International (MBI), the consultant working on the Active 
Transportation Plan, presented a draft plan to a joint work session with the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board 
on Thursday, April 18th.  Earlier that day, MBI hosted Public Open Houses at 
Florence Gardens, Sun City Anthem and the Library and Community Center to 
present information on the Regional Transportation Plan and the Active 
Transportation Plan.  The project continues to move forward and is scheduled to 
be completed in June.   

 GreenPlay, the consultant working on the Parks and Recreation 
Comprehensive Plan, continues to collect information for the plan.  The parks 
and recreation survey was mailed to homes in late March and made available to 
the general public in mid-April. Once the data collection is complete, it will help 
GreenPlay to develop the final plan with recommendations for future programs, 
parks and facilities. 

 The Veterans Memorial meeting for April was cancelled and the group will get 
together in early May to keep the project moving.  The American Legion 
continues to accept donations, which may be eligible for a tax deduction. 

 
Special Events 

 There were several successful events in Florence over the past month, including 
the 75th Anniversary of the G.I. Bill event on Saturday, March 30th, Florence 
Little League Opening Day also on Saturday, March 30th, the Road to Country 
Thunder on Saturday, April 6th, and the Eggstravaganza and Pinal County 
Resource Fair on Saturday, April 13th. 

 Movie in the Park, featuring Disney’s Coco, will be held Saturday, April 27th at 
the Multi-Purpose Fields at the Aquatic Center. 

 
  



Page 2 
Community Services 

April 2019 Monthly Report 

Program Updates 
 The Summer Activity Guide will hit homes the last week of April with lots of 

information on programs and activities for kids and their families.  The highlight is all 
the activities scheduled at the Aquatic Center over the next few months, as well as 
the Fourth of July Freedom Fest activities. 

 Staff continues to explore options for programming next school year after the 
announcement by the Florence Unified School District that there will be a new 
provider of after school programs.  Ideas are focused on off-campus programming 
options for those parents that may not be able to afford the new provider fees on-
campus. 

 The Aquatic Center will kick-off the 2019 season on Saturday, May 18th, from 12:00 
p.m. to 5:00 p.m., with the Summer Safety and Family Resource Day. 

 
Boards and Commissions 

 Arts and Culture Commission 
o The Commission met on Thursday, April 11th. 
o The Commission held the dedication of the Main Street Mural before the 

Road to Country Thunder event on Saturday, April 6th. 
 Youth Commission 

o The Commission held their third meeting on Thursday, April 18th. 
 Parks and Recreation Advisory Board 

o The next quarterly meeting is scheduled for Thursday, April 25th. 
 Library Advisory Board 

o The Board held their quarterly meeting on Wednesday, April 17th. 
 
The Florence Teen Council (FTC) is in the slow season of the year. The council is 
taking advantage of every opportunity to get its name out there. 

 Florence Teen Council Members assisted with the 50’s Sock Hop. 
o Provided Music 
o Provided Trivia with Prizes 
o Provided food servers  

 Florence Teen Council members walked around on stilts at the Road to Country 
Thunder event to promote the FTC and provide entertainment. 

 Florence Teen Council provided entertainment and volunteers for 2019 Easter 
Eggstravaganza. 

o Face Painting 
o Balloon Animals 
o Extra Volunteers 

  



Page 3 
Community Services 

April 2019 Monthly Report 

Parks and Recreation Department 
Divisions Report 

March 2019 
 

Recreation/Aquatics/Special Events Programs 
Recreation Programs  Participants Revenue Notes 
B&A Bell – Anthem 17 $670
B&A Bell – Florence 22 $924
Drop-In Intersession 25 $500
Spring Intersession WK1 16 $1,238
Spring Intersession WK2 14 $1,050
Boxing Bootcamp 88 $3,190
Drop-In Boxing 1 $10
Pickleball Lessons 14 Free Program
Fine Art for Teens Free Program - Arts & Culture
Open Studio 3 Free Program – Arts & Culture
Drum Circle Free Program – Arts & Culture
Guitar & Cello Lessons 8 Free Program – Hermalene
Soccer 86 $1,760
Lifeguard Re-
Certification 

4 $600 

Lifeguard Certification 14 $2,590
Flow Yoga Evening  5 $200
Introduction to Yoga 2 $80  
Restorative Yoga 1 $25
Pooch Party ? Special Event
 

 
Facility Use Permits 

Number of Facility 
Use Permits 

Number of Bookings 
Estimated Number 

of Participants 
Revenue 

Generated 

55 300 7,579 $645 
 
  



Page 4 
Community Services 

April 2019 Monthly Report 

Fitness Center – Membership Package 
Fitness Package      Sales Renewals Total Revenue
Adult Annual   
Adult Monthly 23 35 58 $1,200
Adult Six Months   
Employee Membership 3 7 10 Free
Green Tree Inn 12 0 12 Billed thru A/R
Senior Annual   
Senior Monthly 4 26 30 $390
Senior Six Months  1 1 $66
Youth Monthly 5 2 7 $91
Youth Six Month   
Drop-In Fitness  9 9 $54
Total Memberships 56 71 127 $1,801

 
 

Fitness Center Classes 
 
 

 Estimated member sign-ins throughout the month: 1,182 
 Total membership packages sold: 56 
 Fitness Center revenue for membership package sales: $1,801 
 Fitness Classes revenue: $0 
 Total Revenue: $2,089 

 
 

Miscellaneous Revenue 

Program Resident Non-Resident Revenue Notes
Silver Sneakers Classic $0 
Silver Sneakers Classes $0 
Optum Fitness $0 

Product Total Revenue Notes
Paper & Markers $
150th Mug $
Drop in Yoga $
Replacement Key FC 3 $3
Replacement Key AC $
Swim Diapers $



Page 5 
Community Services 

April 2019 Monthly Report 

Dorothy Nolan Senior Center 
Activity Monthly Total 
Anthem Pharmacy 05
Angel Care Discussion 08
Back Space 3, Yahtzee, Skip Bo, Dominoes, Cards, Cribbage, Phase 10, Wii 
Bowling, Bunco-12, Pool 

271 

 Bingo- – Steward Health 17
Birthday Cards 11
Bible Study     34
Breakfast 237
Angel Care -In Service 08
Blood Pressures – Florence Fire 0 
Building Use 1,038
CAHRA 06
Crafts- with Doris -   Jewelry- 3   Creations & Libations- 2  05
Coolidge Shopping 10
Computer Use 19
Town Rumors- 25
Dinner Date- Lola Empanada 13
Dollar Store 04
Dental Clinic 22
Exercise with Rhoda - Pizzazz, - Hand weights and walk a mile, Dining Room  78
Extension Food Program  0 
Fitness Center 01
Grief Support 19
Guardian Angel Installation 4 
Hair Cuts by Mary Helen  02
Healthy Eating by Lou 10
Home Delivered meals –     168
Knit/Crochet Club 0 
Lost Meals -39
  
Movie & Popcorn 0 
Music by Rudy/ 117 Music with Hermalene-190 Coffee Tyme Players14 321
Senior Donation Account Meal Participant -Florence Café 20
Senior Hot Topics 15
Staff Cooked meals & senior meal 98/16 114
Volunteer Hours 256
Wii bowling /Volleyball  21

Accomplishments:    
The Center served 296 meals to participants.  We had 8 new senior participant this 
month. Rides were provided for 479 riders, 117 trips to the Center, 86 errands.  
We traveled a total of 1620 miles. The Give A Lift Program had 5 volunteers who 
delivered 32 medical transportation trips to 6 participants resulting an additional 587 
miles and 43.25 additional volunteer hours. 
Spring Training Game- 23, AARP Taxes -140, Alzheimer’s Support Group-8,  
St Patrick’s day -43, Girl scouts -18, Tucson 4th Avenue Street Fair-23 



Page 6 
Community Services 

April 2019 Monthly Report 

 Florence Community Library 
March 2019 

 
 
March Statistics  
 14,500 total items were circulated in March 
 99 library cards were issued 
 924 patrons signed up for use of the computer lab computers 
 2,511 wireless sessions were held  
 208 person(s) attended 14 program(s) presented by the library   
 
March Activities  
3/01/19 Dr. Seuss’ Birthday Bash 
3/01/19 AZ Humanities Program: Women’s Bands in America 
3/05/19 Family Storytime 
3/06/19 Book Club 
3/09/19 March Library Movie  
3/11/19 Bricks N Blocks  
3/11/19 Library Manager Jasper Halt and Librarian Gloria Moreno attended a 

meeting of the Pinal County Business & Education Committee.  
3/12/19 Family Storytime 
3/13/19 STEM Kits 
3/13/19 Librarian Kaytlin Nolan attended an “Every Child Ready to Read” 

workshop. 
3/14/19 ‘Tween Code Club 
3/15/19 Family Flick 
3/15/19 Librarian Gloria Moreno attended a meeting of the Pinal County Library 

District. 
3/19/19 Family Storytime 
3/22/19 AZ Humanities Program: How the Keyboard Changed the World 
3/26/19 Family Storytime 
3/27/19 “Color Me Puzzled” Adult Coloring 
3/29/19 Librarian Kaytlin Nolan attended a “What’s New in Early Literature” 

session. 
 
Summer Reading 2019 
Summer is fast approaching, and planning is under way for the 2019 Summer Reading 
Program, themed A Universe of Stories.  All ages are invited to sign up to receive 
prizes for reading! Sponsorships are lined up, and performers have been confirmed. We 
will be hosting several programs, including: Fantastic Firetruck, Mark Carter Science, 
and a reptile show with Florence’s own David Lewis! Adults can also enjoy summer 
reading by completing entries for a weekly drawing for every book read.  Adult-themed 
programs will include a visit by Shari Keith, aka the “Junk Lady,” who will guide adult 
participants in creating a personal narrative necklace.  
 
  



Page 7 
Community Services 

April 2019 Monthly Report 

Spotlight: 3rd Annual Library Comicon 
As part of the library’s Summer Reading Program, the Florence Community Library will 
host its third annual ComiCon.  All ages are invited to enjoy a variety of themed 
activities and crafts, and to take photos with life-sized standups and special costumed 
guests.  Confirmed guests include: the Umbrella Corporation, representing the 
Resident Evil franchise; the Disney Princesses; and the Knights of Umbria. Also 
attending will be the library ComiCon’s first-ever vendor: Tucson’s Harley’s Toys and 
Comics. 
 



 

Finance Department 

Memo 
To: Honorable Mayor and Town Council 

 Brent Billingsly, Town Manager 
1 

 Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town Manager  

 

From: Rebecca Jimenez, Interim Finance Director 

 

Date: April 19, 2019 

 

Re: Finance Department Report 

Finance Department Update 

Annual Audit  
 
The annual audit and CAFR was presented to Town Council and has been accepted. We are now 
closing out fiscal year 17-18 and are advancing into this year.   
 
Finance Reports 
 
The financial report for the General Fund indicates revenues are strong and covering expenditures.  The 
Enterprise funds continue to cover their obligations and the Highway User fund indicates the ability to 
cover costs associated with operations and maintenance and capital projects.  
 
I have an agenda item to move budget into the General Fund.  A full explanation is provided in the 
agenda item. 
 
We are currently reviewing our General Fund revenue accounts and making corrections to where certain 
monies were posted.  We just worked with Community Development to clarify fees and where they 
should be posted within the revenue accounts. We have moved Building Permits revenue into the 
Community Development section of revenue, as this is where these funds are generated from.  They 
were previously in Licenses and Permits.  
 
I have included a breakdown or revenues and expenditures by category for your review.  Also reported 
are the Development Impact Fee Funds. 
 
 
 
 



 Page 2 
 

Budget 
 
We are currently finalizing the budget, fine-tuning and making minor adjustments.  The budget work 
sessions are being scheduled.   
 
 
 



Memorandum

Date:

To: Brent Billingsly, Town Manager
Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town Manager

From: Becki Jimenez, Interim Finance Director

Subject: Departmental Report - March 2019

Major Fund Position

Fund Name

Year to Date 
Revenue  Actual  

FY 18-19
Revenue Budget  

FY 18-19
% Actual to 

Budget

Year to Date 
Expense  
Actual       

FY 18-19

Expense  
Budget       

FY 18-19

% Actual 
to 

Budget

General $10,784,819 $15,229,790 70.81% $10,598,304 $15,185,620 69.79%

Capital Improvement $1,352,428 $1,230,000 109.95% $650,962 $1,457,640 44.66%

Highway Users Tax $2,322,635 $3,238,310 71.72% $2,623,754 $7,966,495 32.93%

Construction Tax - 4% $220,894 $161,000 137.20% $0 $0 0.00%

Town Water $2,901,252 $3,045,080 95.28% $2,605,604 $4,276,360 60.93%

Town Sewer $2,996,466 $3,861,650 77.60% $2,515,010 $7,823,320 32.15%

Sanitation $721,473 $864,700 83.44% $687,051 $841,290 81.67%

Total $21,299,966 $27,630,530 77.09% $19,680,685 $37,550,725 52.41%

 

The month of March represents 75% of the fiscal year.  The following chart compares the FY 2018-2019 actual revenue and expenses to the 
budget amounts for the Town's major Funds. Expenditures posted into the current month do not always reflect current month expense.  
Expendiutures run 30 to 45 days in arrears.

 



Police Administration 304,328.32$        432,140.00$        70.4%
Police Support Services 539,033.58$        837,440.00$        64.4%
Police Volunteer Services 3,943.71$            12,300.00$          32.1%
Police Operations 1,853,978.98$     2,545,370.00$     72.8%

2,701,284.59$     3,827,250.00$     

Fire Administration 354,966.90$        519,960.00$        68.3%
Fire Station One 1,054,623.02$     1,504,120.00$     70.1%
Fire Station Two 992,609.80$        1,294,080.00$     76.7%

2,402,199.72$     3,318,160.00$     

Fitness Center 50,053.23$          93,510.00$          
Parks & Recreation Administration 172,916.34$        234,310.00$        73.8%
Parks Maintenance 384,626.27$        544,950.00$        70.6%
Community Center Facility 36,756.74$          76,700.00$          47.9%
Aquatics Programs 117,717.63$        284,380.00$        41.4%
Reqcreation Programs 340,059.25$        477,050.00$        71.3%
Special Events 101,920.55$        149,020.00$        68.4%
Senior Center 192,386.46$        301,990.00$        63.7%
Library 217,885.36$        325,390.00$        67.0%

1,614,321.83$     2,487,300.00$     64.9%



Fire Department 
 

 

M E M O R A N D U M   

  
 

DATE:        April 5, 2019 

 
TO:  Brent Billingsley, Town Manager 
  

FROM: David Strayer, Fire Chief 
 
SUBJ: Summary of March 2019 and Plans for April 2019 

 

The fire responses for 2019-2017 are as follows: 

March 2019  Location of Calls  

Type of Calls 
                            

Florence 
Proper 

Florence 

Gardens 

Anthem Prisons Mutual 
Aid 

Totals 

Brush Fires 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Structure Fires 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Vehicle Fires 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Trash Fires 0 0 0 0 0 0 

EMS 73 24 31 60 0 188 

HazMat 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Electrical Arching 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Police Asst./Public Asst. 6 2 4 0 0 12 

Unauthorized Burning 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Good Intent 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Controlled Burning 0 0 0 0 0 0 

False Alarm/System Malfunction 1 2 0 3 0 6 

Emergency Stand by (move up) 3 0 47 0 6 56 

Other Calls 8 1 6 2 1 18 

TOTALS 91 29 89 65 9 283 

       

Three Year View 2019  2018           2017 

 March YTD March YTD March YTD 

EMS 188 559 182 455 183 524 

Fire Calls 2 10 1 7 2 8 

All other Calls 93 259 157 299 99 332 

TOTALS 283 823 340 761 284 864 



Summary of March 
 

Fire Chief Report 

 
• Attended March Town Council Meetings 

• Attending March Leadership Team Meetings 

• Conducted weekly Fire Staff Meetings. 

• Attended All-Hazards Incident Management Team Training March 18-22 This 40-hour 

course focuses on the importance of developing and operating as a functional U.S. Fire 

Administration (USFA) Type 3 All-Hazards Incident Management Team (AHIMT). 

This course meets the needs of the National Incident Management System (NIMS) and 

the National Response Framework (NRF).   

• Attended multiple meetings with Human Resources in March 

• Attended a meeting on Everbridge March 5th.  

• Attended a meeting with Superstition FD Chief March 5th.  

• Attended a one-stop-shop meeting with Community Development on March 6th. 

• Attending a Country Thunder Incident Planning meeting March 12th. 

• Attended a conference call on a new records management system March 14th.  

• A meeting with the Florence Hiking Club was held a Fire Station 1 on March 26th. 

• A meeting has held with the Area Manager of American Medical Response (AMR) at 

Fire Station 1 on March 28th.  

• Citizen Emergency Response Team (CERT) recruitment was conducted on March 30th 

throughout the Town of Florence. 30 people signed up for the training. CERT is a 

positive and realistic approach to emergency and disaster situations where citizens may 

initially be on their own and their actions can make a difference. While people will 

respond to others in need without the training, one goal of the CERT program is to help 

them do so effectively and efficiently without placing themselves in unnecessary danger. 

• Florence FD participated in the G.I. Bill parade held on March 30th in Florence. This 

included on-duty crew as well the recently-restored antique fire engine representing the 

Pinal County Historical Society.  

• Florence FD participated in the annual Caliente Spring Fling parade March 16th.  

• Florence FD participated in the annual Women’s Club event held March 23rd.  

  

 

 

 

 

 



Division Report – Administration 
  

 

Threat Vulnerability Assessment Program 

• PC-Superior Court                                                                           

• TVA Document review 

 

Plan Reviews 

• Pinal Gila Head Start                                                                                                        

• Fire Sprinkler Review  

 

Special Event Permit Review/Inspections 

• Multiple Event Reviews 

 

Inspections  

• 822 Saguaro                                                                                                                  

• 749 E Gila                                                                                                                            

• Terra Del Sol                                                                                                            

• Town Fire Line                                                                                                                    

• K-8 Fire Line Site Inspection 

• 220-230 main street                                                                                                        

• Anthem Hospital Fire Access                                                                                 

• Anthem Hospital DOC egress and 

Security                                                                                                                    

• Florence Gardens Club House         Fire Alarm Notification Installation Final  

• Florence Gardens Annex                 Fire Alarm Notification Installation Final  

 

COMPLETED RE-INSPECTIONS 

• ICE Correctional Facility 3250 N Pinal Parkway                                                         

 

MEETINGS 

• Training Meeting Gilbert FD-PD and PCSO                                                                          

• Gilbert Fire Department 

• PCSO Ironwood Sub-station                                                                                         

• Town Fire Line Project                                                                                                    

• Pinal Museum Board Meeting-Inspection 

Review                                                                             

• New tenant 110 Willow                                                                                                   

• New tenant property 822 saguaro                                                                             

• New tenant property 749 Gila                                                                                     

• Vacant Property    223-230 Main  

• PCSO Country Thunder Ops/Planning                                                                       

• Code Adoption                                                                                                        

• Threat Assessments                                                                                                



• 822 Saguaro/749 Gila Property Review  

• Large scale exercise Meeting Pinal County Emergency management 

• Anthem Hospital DOC section ops State DOC wardens Office 

• Road To Country Thunder 1st Meeting                                                                      

 

TRAINING 

• Dept Sexual Harassment Training Fire Station 1 

• Homeland Security Advanced Terrorism Liaison Officer Florence PD 

• PCSO Country Thunder tactical Planning Meeting PCSO Sheriff Facility 

• Active Shooter training. Multi agency Fire/PD PCSO Ironwood Facility   

 

SPECIAL ASSIGNMENTS/PROJECTS 

Wireless Fire Alarm Project-On going 

• Terrorism Liaison Officer (TLO) updates 

• Code Amendment Project updates 

• Town Fee Updates  

• PC Active Shooter Planning Project 

• Web site update project 

• Engine Company-Response Guide and Safety Survey project (training) 

• Existing Building Safety Surveys  

• Burn Permit Procedures  

• FD-Training and development 

 

 

 

Division Report – Operations 
Apparatus 

• TRV 541 back in-service following repairs 

Uniforms/Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 

• No PPE Sent for cleaning,  

• Working with FF Calise on Turnout Tracking 

 

Communications Equipment 

• Drager Radio Connection suggested to be removed, working to get lapel mics to replace 

• Apparatus phones programed for testing at Country Thunder 

• Backup systems charged and prepared for Country Thunder 

 

Emergency Medical Services (EMS) 

• DHS Audit Complete 



• Tracking System for Narcotics and Drug Box Checkoffs approved by EMS Committee 

and in use 

• E-541 Tablet out of service unrepairable 

• All Life Pak 15 monitors updated, PM, and recall software loaded. 

• Medications Restocked from Mt. Vista 

 

 

 

Fire Investigation Reports Reviewed 

 

  

Incident Number Incident Date Incident Address 

 243460 2/22/2019 1850 Diversion Dam Rd 

   

   

   

 

 

Training 

• Tactical Tuesday Cycle – Alpha Bravo Charlie vs. Geographic for hazard zone 

sectorization and department standardization. 

 

Special Projects 

• Utility Truck Equipment List Being Formulated by FF Adamczyk 

• CERT Team meetings attended 3/30 Florence Gardens, Downtown, Sun City, Parkside 

23 people signed up to attend training 

• Meetings attended for Country Thunder Planning 

• SCBA compressor cascade for breathing air ordered and shipped for station 2 

• Blood draw for annual physicals open, scheduling dates for annual physicals. 

 

Town Committees 

• Health and Safety 

• Grants 

• Timekeeping and paperless review 

• Initiatives, rewards, and recognition 

• Emergency Communications 

• Public Safety Planning Group 

 

 

 



Public Education and Community Risk Reduction 
 



 



 
From: Al&Pat <alanpatc@yahoo.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, March 05, 2019 9:05 AM 
To: David Strayer <David.Strayer@florenceaz.gov> 
Subject: Thanks 
 
Good morning, David 
Please thank the firemen who took part in the Caliente Parade on Saturday. 
The residents enjoyed visiting with the young men and showing them another side of retirement life. 
It is so important for these older people to have the connection with your service. 
 
Have a good summer and we will hope to see you next winter. 
Pat Chapman 

mailto:alanpatc@yahoo.com
mailto:alanpatc@yahoo.com
mailto:David.Strayer@florenceaz.gov
mailto:David.Strayer@florenceaz.gov


 

 
 



 

What is CERT? 

Local government prepares for everyday emergencies. However, during a disaster, the 
number and scope of incidents can overwhelm conventional emergency services. The 
Community Emergency Response Team (CERT) program is an all-risk, all-hazard 
training. This valuable course is designed to help you protect yourself, your family, 
your neighbors and your neighborhood in an emergency situation. 

CERT is a positive and realistic approach to emergency and disaster situations where 
citizens may initially be on their own and their actions can make a difference. While people 
will respond to others in need without the training, one goal of the CERT program is to help 
them do so effectively and efficiently without placing themselves in unnecessary danger. In 
the CERT training, citizens learn to: 

• manage utilities and put out small fires, 
• treat the three medical killers by opening airways, controlling bleeding, and treating 

for shock, 
• provide basic medical aid, 
• search for and rescue victims safely, 
• organize themselves and spontaneous volunteers to be effective, 
• and collect disaster intelligence to support first responder efforts. 

 

WHY DO THE CERT TRAINING? 
Well, it’s like paying for car insurance. You might never need either; you’d hope not to. But if 
the occasion arises, having the CERT training, just like having car insurance, means you’re 
as ready as you can be to help yourself, your family and your neighborhood. 
  

HOW DO I JOIN? 
Sign up to either join one of our existing CERT’s in the City of Maricopa or Town of Oracle, 
or be a part of starting a new CERT in the Town of Florence. 

 
CERT members receive 24 hours of initial training.  

CERT training is provided free of charge to anyone 18 or over. 



Classes are taught in a variety of dates and times continually throughout the year.  

If you are interested in joining CERT or would like more information on CERT,  
Florence Fire & Medical Department 
Phone: (520)868-7609 
FlorenceCERT@florenceaz.gov 

HOW DID CERT START? 

1985:  
The idea to train volunteers from the community to assist emergency service personnel 
during large natural disasters began. In February of 1985, a group of Los Angeles City 
officials went to Japan to study its extensive earthquake preparedness plans. The group 
encountered an extremely homogenous society that had taken extensive steps to train 
entire neighborhoods in one aspect of alleviating the potential devastation that would 
follow a major earthquake. These single-function neighborhood teams were trained in 
either fire suppression, light search and rescue operations, first aid, or evacuation. 

In September of 1985, a Los Angeles City investigation team was sent to Mexico City 
following an earthquake there that registered a magnitude 8.1 on the Richter scale and 
killed more than 10,000 people and injured more than 30,000. Mexico City had no 
training program for citizens prior to the disaster. However, large groups of volunteers 
organized themselves and performed light search and rescue operations. Volunteers 
are credited with more than 800 successful rescues; unfortunately, more than 100 of 
these untrained volunteers died during the 15-day rescue operation. 

The lessons learned in Mexico City strongly indicated that a plan to train volunteers to 
help themselves and others, and become an adjunct to government response, was 
needed as an essential part of overall preparedness, survival, and recovery. 

1986: 
The City of Los Angeles Fire Department developed a pilot program to train a group of 
leaders in a neighborhood watch organization. A concept developed involving multi-
functional volunteer response teams with the ability to perform basic fire suppression, 
light search and rescue, and first aid. This first team of 30 people completed training in 
early 1986 and proved that the concept was viable through various drills, 
demonstrations, and exercises. Expansion of the program, however, was not feasible 
due to limited City resources, until an event occurred in 1987 that impacted the entire 
area. 

1987: 
On October 1, 1987, the Whittier Narrows earthquake vividly underscored the threat of 
an area-wide major disaster, and demonstrated the need to expedite the training of 
civilians to prepare for earthquakes and other emergencies. Following the Whittier 
Narrows earthquake, the City of Los Angeles took an aggressive role in protecting the 
citizens of Los Angeles by creating the Disaster Preparedness Division (now the 
Disaster Preparedness Section) within the Los Angeles Fire Department. Their 



objectives included: 

• Educate and train the public and government sectors in disaster preparedness 
• Research, evaluate, and disseminate disaster information 
• Develop, train, and maintain a network of Community Emergency Response 

Teams (CERTs). 

1993: 
The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) decided to make the concept 
and program available to communities nationwide. The Emergency Management 
Institute (EMI), in cooperation with the LAFD, expanded the CERT materials to make 
them applicable to all hazards. 

2002: 
In January 2002, CERT became part of the Citizen Corps, a unifying structure to link a 
variety of related volunteer activities to expand a community’s resources for crime 
prevention and emergency response. 

2011: 
As of November 2011, 50 states, three territories and six foreign countries are using the 
CERT training. 

 

Plans for April 
 

• Road to Country Thunder is scheduled for April 6th 

• Country Thunder is schedule for April 11-14 

• A Public Safety Agency meeting is planned for late April or early May (TBD) 

• The Florence Hospital is tentatively scheduled for opening April 24th.  

• AMR is scheduled to present three new ambulances, dedicated to the Town of Florence, 

at the April 15th Council meeting.  

• CERT Training is scheduled to begin in April or early May (TBD) 

• A new self-contained breathing apparatus compressor and fill station is scheduled to be 

installed at Fire Station 2 in April.  

 



 

 

 

    

 

1 

 

MARCH 2019 
FLORENCE POLICE DEPARTMENT 

 

 

 

Daniel R. Hughes, Chief of Police 

425 N. Pinal Street., 

P.O. Box 988 

Florence, AZ 85132 

Phone: 520‐868‐7681 
 



 

 

2 

 

 

Florence Police Department Monthly Report 
March 2019 

The information contained in this report outlines significant information and activity 

within the Florence Police Department (FPD) during the month. The monthly report is 

prepared for the Town Council’s review and furthermore for the use by FPD to examine 

the current activity within the department and community to identify short‐term and 

long‐term needs, and to develop plans for improvement to provide the highest level of 

service.  

 

 
 

 

“The men and women of the Florence Police Department stand firm in our pursuit for justice and 
public trust. We will stay true to our mission of providing service and safety to our community with 
honor, respect, and integrity. We are committed to providing fair and equal treatment to those we 

encounter.” 



 

 

3 

 

PERSONNEL 

 

Employee  Position  Effective 

New Hire 

None     

     

Resignations/Terminations 

None     

Stacey Deitch  Dispatcher  3/8/19 

Vacancies 

2 Full‐time  1 Patrol Supervisor, 1 Officer  Open continuous 

2 Full‐time  Dispatcher  Open continuous 

Conducted applicant testing. Six applicants (1 lateral, 5 recruits) completed written exams. Five of the six 

completed physical assessment. Three applicants proceeded to background check. 

 

 

CHIEF OF POLICE 

 

Chief of Police, Daniel R. Hughes attended the following meetings during the month: 
   
 Town Council Meetings 

 Management Team Meetings 

 Weekly FPD Administrative Meetings 

 Purchasing Committee Meeting 

 Fire and Police Communications Meeting 

 Alliance to Combat Transnational Threat – Field Area 2 (ACTT FA‐1) Planning Meeting 

 Pinal County Law Enforcement Association (PCLEA) Meeting   

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

4 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE/SUPPORT SERVICES 

 

The Support Services area includes the following: Communications Division, Evidence 
and Property, Crime Scene Investigator, Records Division, Departmental 
Budget/Finances and Public Information‐Media. 
   
The Support Services Manager had the following monthly activities: 
   Accreditation Meeting 

   Review of guidelines for accreditation 

   Analyzation of budget for end of year 

   ACJIS Certification 

   Employee evaluations 

   Preparation of inventory of vehicles/kits 

   Review of policies (on‐going) 

   Laserfiche project (on‐going) 

   Dispatch testing 

   Records employee completed NIBRS Training 

 

Communications 
The Dispatcher Supervisor had the following monthly activities: 
   Dispatch Supervisor & 1 Dispatcher completed Certification for AZ CART (Arizona Child 

Abduction Response Team) 

   2 full‐time Dispatcher positions vacant 

   1 Dispatcher completed training 

   1 Dispatcher in training 

   Scheduling and testing new applicants 

   Revision of draft policies and procedures 

   Worked on Superior FD billing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

5 

 

Calls for Service
Below is a table that depicts the total calls for service handled by FPD Dispatchers during the 
month. The numbers are shown by the incident locations and how the incident was reported. 

 

How Calls Are Received, Totals by How Received 
  Beat 1  Beat 2  Beat 3  TOTAL 

911 Line  44  13  30  87 

Crime Stop Line  0  0  0  0 

Officer Report  197  74  178  449 

In Person  58  6  10  74 

Radio Transmission  1  0  0  1 

State TT/NLETS  0  0  0  0 

Telephone  167  46  95  308 

TOTAL  467  139  313  919 

 

 

 

 

Average Response Time to Calls for Service 
 

6 Month Reporting Period: October 2018 to March 2019 
  Oct  Nov  Dec  Jan  Feb  Mar 

Priority 1  5:13  5:35  5:20  5:39  4:50  5:13 

Priority 2  7:15  8:09  6:05  6:28  7:12  6:47 

Priority 3  21:10  25:55  24:04  5:21  16:30  17:24 

Priority 4  3:01  None  4:48  None  None  None 

Definitions: 
Priority 1  There priorities are those in which there is an imminent danger to life or 

major damage/loss to property or an in progress or just occurred major 
felony. 

Priority 2  There priorities are those in which a crime in progress might result in a 
threat of injury to a person, or major loss of property or immediate 
apprehension of a suspect. 

Priority 3  These priorities are those in which there is no threat of personal injury or 
major loss of property. 

Priority 4  These priorities are those of a report nature only. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

6 

 

Uniformed Crime Reporting (UCR)
 

Classification of Offense  Offenses 
Reported 

Unfounded 
Complaint 

Actual 
Offense 

Offenses 
Cleared 

Juvenile 
Clearance

CRIMINAL HOMICIDE  0  0  0  0  0 

a. Murder/Non‐neg Manslaughter  0  0  0  0  0 

b. Manslaughter by Negligence  0  0  0  0  0 

           

FORCIBLE RAPE  0  0  0  0  0 

a. Rape by Force  0  0  0  0  0 

b. Attempt Forcible Rape  0  0  0  0  0 

           

ROBBERY  0  0  0  0  0 

a. Firearm  0  0  0  0  0 

b. Knife or Cutting Instrument  0  0  0  0  0 

c. Other Dangerous Weapon  0  0  0  0  0 

d. Hands, Fist, Feet, etc.  0  0  0  0  0 

           

ASSAULT  8  0  8  8  3 

a. Firearm  0  0  0  0  0 

b. Knife or Cutting Instrument  0  0  0  0  0 

c. Other Dangerous Weapon  1  0  1  1  0 

d. Hands, Fist, Feet, etc.  1  0  1  0  0 

e. Other Assaults – Simple  6  0  6  7  3 

           

BURGLARY  1  0  1  0  0 

a. Forcible Entry  0  0  0  0  0 

b. Unlawful Entry/No Force  1  0  1  0  0 

c. Attempt Forcible Entry  0  0  0  0  0 

           

LARCENY – THEFT  3  1  2  1  0 

           

MOTOR VEHICLE THEFT  0  0  0  0  0 

a. Autos  0  0  0  0  0 

b. Trucks  0  0  0  0  0 

c. Other Vehicles  0  0  0  0  0 

GRAND TOTAL  0  0  0  0  0 

           

Clearance(s) by Adult Arrest  4         

Clearance(s) by Juvenile Arrest  3         
**All data presented in this report is tentative. 

 

 

 



 

 

7 

 

Property & Evidence 
During the month, there were 133 envelopes/packages involved in 56 incident cases that were 
submitted for processing by the Property & Evidence Section. Of the total envelopes/packages: 
Total evidence items: 88 
Released  Stored  Destroyed  Out to lab 
3  75  4  6 
Total safekeeping items: 39 
Released  Stored  Destroyed  Out to lab 
5  32  0  2 
Total disposal items: 5 
Released  Stored  Destroyed  Out to lab 
0  5  0  0 
Total found items: 1 
Released  Stored  Destroyed  Out to lab 
0  1  0  0 

 

The items of evidence involved the following crimes: 

   15 drug incidents 

   0 DUIs 

 

Other considerations: 

   The status of the Police Evidence Trust Fund bank account, involving $2,634.19. 

   17 pending items:  
o 11 are for safekeeping/found property 
o 5 are pending RICO forfeiture/evidence 
o 1 is to be returned to owner, if located 

   Request to transfer funds from the trust fund to general fund were sent for the 
following cases: 

o F060315002 11/20/2008 $86.00 
o F16120271 6/30/2017 $12.00 
o F17040251 6/30/2017 $1.00 
o F18010889 1/19/2018 $450.00 
o F18020481 2/13/2018 $14.49 
o F18080162 8/6/2018 $0.50 

   Fingerprints were taken for 27 citizens by the Property & Evidence Section and Police 
Volunteers this month. The prints included volunteers, employee applicants and 
private citizens. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

8 

 

Operations/Patrol 

 

The Operations/Patrol Division is under the direction of Lt. Terry Tryon. 
   
The Operations Lieutenant attended the following meetings during the month: 
   Town Council Meetings 

   FPD Management Team Meetings 

   Weekly FPD Administrative Meetings 

   Workflow Committee Meeting 

   Alliance to Combat Transnational Threat – Field Area 2 (ACTT FA‐2) Planning Meeting 

 

Professional Standards 
The Professional Standards Section had the following monthly activities: 
   No complaints received. 

   No internal administrative investigations initiated. 

   No use of force reports received for the month. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

9 

 

Criminal Investigations Unit 
 

Observed Offense  Assigned Detective  Case 
Status

Notes 

# of new cases assigned this month: 15 

Sex offense (juvenile)  J. Ballard  Closed Suspect identified and interviewed 
waiting on victim’s parent for a 
decision on whether to file charges 
Parent has declined prosecution 

Narcotics  D. Helsdingen  TOT  Suspect selling drugs in local 
business Pinal County Narcs will be 
make arrest after two more buys 

Sex offense (juvenile)  J. Ballard  Closed Charges filed for revenge porn 

Fraud  D. Helsdingen  Closed Computer fraud unable to further 
investigation  

Assault  J. Ballard  Closed Misdemeanor Charges filed 

Suspicious act  D. Helsdingen  Closed Animal Problem 

Sex offense (PREA)  J. Ballard  Closed Unfounded 

Assault  D. Helsdingen  TOT  ADOC Investigations 

Aggravated assault 
(prison) 

J. Ballard  Closed Inmate spat on Corrections Officer 
Felony Charges Filed 

Sex offense (juvenile)  D. Helsdingen  Closed Search Warrant executed suspect 
arrested SANE exam and medical 
preformed  

Aggravated assault 
(prison) 

J. Ballard  Closed
Felony Charges Filed 

Sex offense (PREA)  J. Ballard  Closed Unfounded 

Sex offense (juvenile)  J. Ballard  Open  Parents report inappropriate sexual 
relationship involving their 
daughter and an adult make.  
Juvenile is not willing to assist 

Sex offense (PREA)  D. Helsdingen  Closed SANE Exam unfounded 

Promote prison 
contraband 

J. Ballard  Closed Juvenile turned 18 felony charges 
filed 

# of cases carried over into this month: 4 

Hit & run  D. Helsdingen  Open  Witness came forward with 
information‐report completed and 
forwarded Charges to PCA, PCA 
requesting additional investigation 

Accident with injuries 
(Hit & run) 

D. Helsdingen  Closed Suspect and vehicle located search 
warrant on vehicle completed 
Victim does not remember accident 
has not decided to pursue charges 
medical records from victim 



 

 

10 

 

obtained cases appears to be 
handle through civil attorneys 

Sex offense  D. Helsdingen  Open  Victim returned from California‐
interviewed completed‐workup on 
suspects sent to DPS Felony charges 
forth coming Confrontation call 
computed suspect did not disclose 

Sexual abuse  D. Helsdingen  Open  Confidential Felony Charging packet 
completed, and charges have been 
approved follow‐up investigation 
continuing/ still waiting on call back 
from victim  

# of joint cases worked this month: 4 

Observed Offense  Primary/Secondary 
Detective 

Case 
Status

Notes 

Warrant arrest  J. Ballard/D. Helsdingen  Closed Suspect arrested on warrant across 
the street from the PD 

Type offense here  D. Helsdingen/L. Gaston  Open  1st Degree Murder Charges Filed 

Type offense here  L. Gaston/ D. Helsdingen  Open  Several female subjects disclosed 
inappropriate sexual abuse. Grand 
Jury indictment currently in pre‐
trial status‐possible change of plea 
to dismissed capacity  

Type offense here  L. Gaston/ D. Helsdingen  Open  Reported long time sexual abuse 
from Illinois to AZ ending in 
Florence. Working with LE in Illinois 
search warrant on residence 
suspect arrested. Suspect 
rearrested on Agency Assist felony 
warrant from Illinois. Suspect 
currently in custody awaiting 
extradition.   Images of Child 
pornography found on suspect’s 
computer additional charges being 
filed Evidence returned from PCSO 
forensics  

Other activity: 

D. Helsdingen/J. 
Ballard 

Quarterly CART Meeting 

D. Helsdingen  DPS Sex Kit Tracking 

D. Helsdingen  Forensic Interview 

D. Helsdingen  Grand Jury 
 

 

 



 

 

11 

 

BEAT 1 
 

Beat Statistics: 
Beat 1 Supervisor: Sgt. D. Peterson 
There are 6 officers assigned to Beat 1 
Total number of calls for service (including traffic): 452 
Total number of traffic stops: 141 
Total number of accident reports taken: 9, 5 of which were on private property 
Total number of citations issued: 26 for 39 violations 
Total number of DUI: 1 
 
Crimes against persons 
Assault: 2 
Sexual assault: 1 
 
Property crimes 
Burglary: 1 
Criminal damage: 1 
Shoplifting: 1 
 
Monthly Activities 
Total calls for service were up from last month (417). Person crimes (3) were down from last month 
(8). Property crimes (3) were down from last month (4). Officers in Beat 1 conducted Directed 
Patrols in the areas of previously reported crimes. Officers also conducted Field Interviews of 
persons throughout Beat 1 and inquired if there was any knowledge of any crimes being 



 

 

12 

 

committed. The Directed Patrols and Field Interviews were utilized to gather information/suspects 
and also to provide a presence in the community to help deter additional crimes. There were 28 
warrant arrests in Beat 1 during the month. 
In addition to normal patrol, officers also conducted 168 directed patrols of businesses, apartment 
complexes, Florence Gardens and Caliente communities and the prisons. 
 
Community Involvement and Education 
Area schools were closed for two weeks during the month (Spring Break). Officers continued their 
visits to schools and grounds to prevent and/or detect any crimes. Officers were also assigned to 
schools to monitor crosswalks and school speed zones when school returned to session. 
 
Special Events 
None 
 
Upcoming Special Events 
None 
 
Significant Calls for Service 
Sex Offense reported on S. Park Street – While investigating a runaway juvenile; she was located 
staying with an adult male friend. While she was staying with this adult male, they were having 
sexual relations. The male was arrested and booked into the Pinal County Jail. 
 
Assault reported on N. Bowling Road – Awaiting information from the prison. 
 
Assault reported on S. Park Street – A boyfriend and girlfriend were in an argument about property 
belonging to him. When the male did not receive his property fast enough, he began to punch the 
girlfriend three times in the chest area. The male was arrested and booked into the Pinal County 
Jail. 
 
Burglary from a vehicle reported on E. Collingwood Street – A woman reported that someone 
entered her fenced in backyard and went through her vehicle. Two rachet straps (valued at $50.00) 
were taken without her permission. The suspect fled on foot and was not located or identified. 
 
Shoplifting reported on N. Pinal Parkway – A male entered the store and removed a sweater 
(valued at $15.00). The male then fled the location on foot. An officer located the suspect a short 
distance away. The male stated he had a receipt for the sweater. The male was then unable to 
provide the receipt. Charges have been filed and forwarded to the court.  
 
Criminal Damage reported on E. Butte Avenue – A female reported that her ex‐boyfriend came to 
her residence and during an argument he broke a picture frame. The male was arrested and 
booked into the Pinal County Jail. 
 
Accident reported on N. Pinal Parkway & E. 12th Street – Two vehicles were travelling southbound 
on Pinal Parkway, one vehicle in front of the other. The vehicle in the back drove into the back of 
the vehicle in front. Minor damage, no injuries. The at‐fault driver was cited.  



 

 

13 

 

 
Accident Private Property reported on S. Main Street – Two vehicles that were backing out of 
parking spaces in the restaurant parking lot struck each other. The drivers exchanged information. 
 
Accident reported on E. Butte Avenue & N. Pinal Parkway – Two vehicles were travelling 
southbound on Pinal Parkway in separate lanes. One vehicle then changed lanes without signaling 
and struck the other vehicle. There were no injuries. The at‐fault driver was cited. 
 
Accident Private Property reported N. Pinal Parkway – Two vehicles struck each other in the 
restaurant parking lot. The drivers exchanged information. 
 
Accident Private Property reported on N. Pinal Parkway – As a vehicle was backing into a parking 
spot at the prison, it backed into a vehicle that was already parked and unoccupied. The owner of 
the unoccupied vehicle was located. The drivers exchanged information. 
 
Accident Private Property reported on N. Pinal Parkway – While attempting to park a U‐Haul truck 
in the restaurant parking lot, the U‐Haul truck struck another parked vehicle. The drivers 
exchanged information. 
 
Accident reported on S. Pinal Parkway & Florence Heights Drive – A motorist reported that as she 
was travelling southbound on Pinal Parkway a black vehicle pulled out in front of her and she drove 
into the back of that vehicle.  The vehicle that was struck from behind kept on southbound, leaving 
the scene.  The first vehicle sustained damage to the front bumper.  No injuries reported. 
 
Accident Private Property reported on N. Pinal Parkway – As a motorist attempted to turn into the 
gas station driveway, he struck a vehicle that was waiting on traffic to exit the gas station. Minor 
damage to both vehicles, no injuries reported. 
 
Training 
Less Lethal Training attended by officers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

14 

 

 

BEAT 2 
 

Beat Statistics: 
Beat 1 Supervisor: Sgt. D. Campbell 
There are 5 officers assigned to Beat 2 
Total number of calls for service (including traffic): 132 
Total number of traffic stops: 50 
Total number of accident reports taken: 3 
Total number of citations issued: 15 for 26 violations 
Total number of DUI: 1 
 
Crimes against persons 
Assault: 4 
Sexual assault: 1 
 
Property crimes 
Criminal damage: 4 
 



 

 

15 

 

 
Monthly Activities 
Officers conducted 32 directed patrols of the local business and issuing warning citations for 
parking violations (8) to include (10) field interviews. FPD has been conducting stationary 
surveillance on various locations to determine narcotic activity. Beat #2 officers conducted 10 
separate investigations regarding suspicious activity. 
Citations were issued for speeding, expired registration, vehicles not having mandatory insurance, 
passing a stop sign and driving without a license.  
During the month, crime increased in the area of assaults and criminal damage. Due to spring break 
and additional calls at Florence High School and Horizon Healthcare assaults and criminal damage 
were reported.   
 
Community Involvement and Education 
FPD increased directed patrols and conducted various field interviews during the month.  
 
Special Events 
GI Bill Parade: A small crown turned out with no calls of service reported. 
 
Upcoming Special Events 
None 
 
Significant Calls for Service 
Criminal Damage reported on West 9th Street. The reporting party advised someone used a knife to 
scratch her vehicle. During the review of the surveillance video, no suspects were reported. The 
value to get the car fix was estimated at $200.00. 
 
Fight reported at Florence High School. During the investigation, a male subject hit another male 
that did not fight back. As FPD continued with the investigation it was discovered one of the males 
was sending nude photos of his current girlfriend via snap‐chat. This case was turned over to 
Florence Police Department Detective Division for disseminating child pornography. Florence Police 
Department has seen an increase in school offenses during the month of March.  
 
Assault reported on West Adamsville. Horizon reported that a male subject assaulted a caregiver 
who received a bloody nose. Florence Fire Department arrived and treated the victim. Due to the 
actions of the suspect, he was transported to another mental institute for additional care. Florence 
Police Department responded twice to Horizon this month for assaults. 
 
Training 
FPD officers were provided information on local events that was discussed during daily briefings on 
recent intelligence and training videos. Additional officers and a sergeant attended drug related 
courses provided by HIDTA. 

 

 

 

 



 

 

16 

 

 

BEAT 3 
 

Beat Statistics: 
Beat 1 Supervisor: Sgt. S. Morris 
There are 6 officers assigned to Beat 3 
Total number of calls for service (including traffic): 291 
Total number of traffic stops: 121 
Total number of accident reports taken: 7 
Total number of citations issued: 31 for 42 violations 
Total number of DUI: 0 
 
Crimes against persons 
Sexual assault: 1 
Other (domestic): 1 
 
Property crimes 
Burglary: 1 
Criminal damage: 1 
Theft: 1 



 

 

17 

 

 
Monthly Activities 
For the month of March, the total calls for service was 291, compared to 277 in February. A 5.05 % 
increase. No influx of major crime. A total of 103 directed patrols were conducted. 
 
The Juvenile Detention Log was completed as required by state law. The Florence Police 
department did not detain any juveniles for the month of March.  
 
The speed signs logged the following data: 

o The Main Street speed sign for southbound traffic. 105,894 vehicles. Average speed was 33 
mph. Speed limit is 35 mph. 46,617 were between 33‐38 mph. 8,532 were between 39‐44 
mph, and 674 were 45‐50 mph. 

o Anthem/ Hunt Highway ‐ The speed sign for westbound traffic. 149,255 vehicles. Average 
speed was 36 mph. Speed limit is 45 mph. 3162 were between 33‐38 mph. 16,298 were 
between 39‐44 mph, and 45,001 were 45‐50 mph. 21,894 vehicles were 50 and above. 

 
The portable speed sign #2 was placed on Sun City Blvd, and #3 was placed on Florence Heights for 
a two‐week period.  
 
For the month of March, traffic enforcement in beat three consisted of 121 traffic offenses, with 31 
citations, and 42 violations. 
 
Community Involvement and Education 
The Beat 3 officers continue to look for code enforcement violations and enforced 18 parking 
violations. The officers continue to monitor the school zones every morning and afternoon, 
monitoring traffic, and student pickup and drop‐off. 
 
Special Events 
Anthem Spring Festival on March 23rd. There was a large turnout, no issues reported. 
 
Upcoming Special Events 
Anthem Triathlon on April 6th. 
 
Significant Calls for Service 
Two major accidents on Hunt Hwy resulting in three individuals being transported by air. 
 
W. Millerton Ct. – Parent caught their daughter with a boy in her room, which is against their 
religion and house rules. Verbal argument only.  
 
N. Presidential Dr. – A sixteen‐year‐old female was exchanging sexually explicit text messages with 
a 21‐year‐old male from out of state. No charges filed, and the female is now getting mental health 
treatment.  
 
N. Anthem Way – A female had her Beat headphones valued at $390 taken from her backpack 
while she was at the gym. No suspects or witnesses.  



 

 

18 

 

 
N. Hudson Ct. – Unknown persons entered the victims 1997 F250 that was parked in his driveway 
and removed a Smith & Wesson .45 caliber handgun valued at $600. Victim claims his truck was 
locked. No signs of forced entry. No suspects/witnesses. 
 
Felix / Merrill Ranch Pkwy – While driving her BMW down Felix road, an unknown person threw a 
rock and struck her windshield causing it to crack. No suspects/ witnesses. 
 
Training 
Officer uniforms were inspected this month, with no discrepancies noted. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

19 

 

K‐9 Unit 
How many officers assigned to K‐9 Unit: 1 ‐ K‐9 Murphy 
Total number of vehicle stops: 38 
Total number of K‐9 utilizations: 4 
Total number of vehicle hand searches: 4 
Total amount of narcotic seizures in weight: 5.0 grams 

Type of drug:  Narcotics  Weight: 5.0 grams 

Type of drug:  Paraphernalia  # of items: 25 individual items 

Type of drug:  Liquid methamphetamine  Weight: 40 ml 

 
Monthly Activity: 
Officer Murphy attended weekly K9 detection along with the Pinal County Sheriff’s Office K9 Unit 
Training Unit. Officer Murphy’s service dog Rexo, detected marijuana, cocaine, methamphetamine 
and heroin without incident. Officer Murphy is certified through the (NCAT) National Canine Audit 
Tracking Systems using K9 Rexo. 
 
K9 Murphy self‐initiated (51) cases which included vehicle stops, field interviews and on‐view 
criminal activity.   
 
Traffic Stop:  Officer Murphy conducted a traffic stop in the area of 1000 South Main Street in 
Florence. During the stop, the female driver appeared nervous but stated her passenger was 
diabetic. During the consent search, 5.0 grams and drug paraphernalia a was located in the driver’s 
purse. The female driver was processed and booked into Pinal County Sheriff’s Office Adult 
Detention Center without incident.   
 
Traffic Stop:  Officer Murphy conducted a traffic stop in the Butte Avenue and Pinal Street in 
Florence.  During the stop with the assistance from K9 Rexo, 17 used hypodermic needles with 
residue to include 40ml of liquid methamphetamine was located. The vehicle was towed, and 
driver processed into Pinal County Sheriff’s Office Adult Detention Center without incident.  
 
Traffic Stop:  Officer Murphy conducted a traffic stop in the area of Virginia and Pinal Parkway. 
During a wants/warrant check the male passenger had two outstanding warrants issued out of 
Florence City Court and Saint John’s Police Department. The driver was processed and booked into 
Pinal County Sheriff’s Office Adult Detention Center without incident.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

20 

 

Volunteers 
The Florence Volunteers put in a total of 121.25 hours for the month of March. There was a total of 
6 volunteers that donated their time this month. The Victim Services Unit was not utilized this 
month. The volunteers continue to assist the police department with fingerprinting, funeral 
escorts, and any special events hosted by the Town of Florence. The volunteer program is actively 
involved in house watches, school zones and business checks. There were nine 3511 hearings this 
month, conducted by a volunteer. The vehicles were released to their respective owners and tow 
companies, and a total of $450.00 was collected for fees.  

 

Grants 
 GOHS Radars ordered for FY2019. Scheduled installs with vendor. 
 Radios received for DOHS reallocation grants. Radios issued to officers. Remaining need 

amount for future funding is 16. 
The following are statistics reported to GOHS for both special events and sustained (regular) 
activity: 
Total citations for the month: 99 
Total traffic contacts for the month: 455 

 

Type of Citation  Total Number of Citations 

Civil traffic  76 

Criminal traffic  2 

DUI  1 

DUI drugs  0 

Other (CT, CR, CV)  20 

 
 

Training 
Efforts are continually made by the training staff to incorporate and provide quality training to all 
FPD officers. FPD staff has worked diligently to reduce training costs by providing required internal 
training.  

 

Traffic 
Total number of citations issued for the department: 72 for 107 violations 

 

Directed Patrol 
The Police Department conducted 303 directed patrols during the month. Directed patrols are a 
proactive, police‐initiated, approach which focuses patrol resources on the places with highest risks 
of serious crime to increase crime prevention. Statistics have proven that an increased pro‐active 
patrol in high crime areas has decreased crimes. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

21 

 

 

ACCOMPLISHMENTS/COMMENDATIONS/KUDOS 

 

 
 

Congratulations to Dispatch Supervisor Rita Francis and Dispatcher Nicole Calomino 

for receiving their Arizona Child Abduction Response Team Certification (CART).  Rita 

and Nicole will now be able to assist in a multi‐agency task force when a child 

abduction occurs. 

 

Congratulations to Belinda Sichling who completed training on Introduction to 

National Incident Based Reporting (NIBRS).  This federally mandated reporting will 

replace the Uniformed Crime Report (UCR) in 2021. 

 



TOWN OF FLORENCE  
PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 

444 N. Warner Street 
Florence, AZ 85132 

Office:  520-868-7614 
FAX:  520-868-7546 

MEMO 
 

MEETING DATE:  May 6, 2019 
 
STAFF PRESENTER: Christopher A. Salas, Development Services Director/Town Engineer 
 
SUBJECT:   Staff Report 
1 | P a g e  
Public Works Staff Report – May 6, 2019 
 

 
Cemetery Division: 

 
Monthly Activity 

 Inquiries – 5 
 Burials - 2 
 Lots Sold – 13 
 Spaces – 13 

 
Engineering Division: 
 

APS Solar Covered Parking  
 Submitted Library/Community Center design proposal for FY’19 consideration 
 Would allow APS to construct a 108-space car covered parking area, roof being made 

of solar panels. Approximate kW yield is 270 kW 
 Action pending 2019 eligibility consideration from APS 

 
Kokopelli Moon Saloon – Demolition - Completed 

 
Cuen Building – Pre Demolition 

 Terracon report complete - asbestos and lead paint present 
 Town is opening the bid for a Buyer and complete repairs 

 
CFD Feasibility 

 Wilson & Company – ON CALL Engineers 
 

Cox Irrigation Ditch 
 Preliminary ditch design received from EPS, forwarded to SCIDD for review 
 4/23/19 Still waiting on SCIDD 
 Pursuing alternative approvals via direct consultation with affected landowners 



2 | P a g e  
Public Works Staff Report – May 6, 2019 
 

 NRSC on design and getting quotes for construction 
 

Anthem at Merrill Ranch 
 Unit 52 approved for Letter of Acceptance 

 
Florence Hospital Drainage 

 Dibble Eng. in dialog with Baxter Design to assess drainage issues and search 
for original Drainage Report. Town does not have this report 

 5/6/19 No updates 
 

SCIDD Canal Sunrise Estates 
 SCIDD performed aerial survey (UAV) early December, pending survey results to 

determine Towns participation in resolving severe erosion issues – nothing new 
to report 

 4/1/19 Still awaiting response from SCIDD  
 Approximately 700 cubic yards of soil acquired from FUDS baseball field project 

and placed on Langley 3 property for use as backfill 
 5/6/19 – Communication ongoing 

 
CAG EPC (Environmental Protection Committee) 

 Next scheduled meeting May 2019 
 

EVIT (East Valley Transportation Committee) 
 Next scheduled meeting April 26, 2019 

 
CIP T-60 - E. 1st Street Pavement (HURF Bond) 

 Milling – Complete 
 As of 5/6/19 Soil Sampling – Soil/Cement – Waiting design – outside company 

 
Facilities Maintenance: 
 

Brunenkant 
 F/A and circuits for transmitter – In Process 

 
Community Development 

 HVAC - Pending 
 
Public Works Building 

 Fire Suppression System - Complete 
 Fleet skylights – Complete 
 Heaters – Complete 

 
Town Hall  

 French Drain – Complete 
 Patch & Paint – Complete 
 Carpeting – Chambers – Complete 



3 | P a g e  
Public Works Staff Report – May 6, 2019 
 

 Window Seals – Complete 
 Lighting Retrofit – Complete 
 Flooring – ADMIN - on RCA to Council 5/6/19 
 Roof Repairs - Centimark – Authorized 3/20/19 pending schedule 

 
Senior Center 

 Electrical Drop – Complete 
 Flooring – ADMIN - on RCA to Council 5/6/19 
 Overhang repair estimated approximately- $5000 - Pending 

 
Safety Walkthroughs 

 Southwest Risk & Town staff completed on 1/10/19, Departments are currently working 
on addressing identified issues – On Going 

 
Community Services Building / Library 

 Art Display Hangers – Complete 
 Roof Warranty Work - Complete 

 
Fire Station #1 

 Touch up painting 
o Hallway, restroom 1111 and kitchen - Pending 

 Flooring - Dorm - on RCA to Council 5/6/19 
 Electrical – Heli Pad - Complete 

 
Fire Station #2 

 Repair Bay Door Damage – In Process 
 Compressor Circuits – In Process 
 Door Safety Lighting - Pending 

 
Fitness Center 

 Roof – Completed 
 Electrical Panel – Complete 
 Fire Alarm – Complete 
 Ceiling work – paint – waiting to schedule 
 Flooring – on RCA to Council 5/6/19 

 
Police Department 

 Roof - ADMIN – Complete 
 Generator Circuits – ADMIN – Complete 
 Dog Door Replacement - Complete 

 
IT Building 

 Roof Repairs– Complete 
 
Silver King 

 Motley Design Group – egress designs – Complete 
 Egress Improvement Formal Bid Solicitation – Posted 4/25/2019 



4 | P a g e  
Public Works Staff Report – May 6, 2019 
 

 Deck – In Process 
 

McFarland 
 Fire panel – Completed 

 
North Wastewater Treatment Plant 

 Window A/C Unit Replacement – Complete 
 Ceiling Repairs – Roof Leak - Complete 

 
South Wastewater Treatment Plant 

 Lighting Retrofit – Complete 
 HVAC - Pending 

 
Total Concept 

 Adobe Repairs – In Process 
 
Fleet Services: 
 

Monthly Work Orders 
 Preventative Maintenance (PM’s) – 13 
 Other Services – 40 
 Total vehicles serviced – 57 

 
Streets (HURF) Division: 
 

Roads 
 Chip Seal - Complete 
 Patch potholes 
 Blading drainage ditches 

 
Water Division: 

 
SCADA Upgrade 

 To coordinate between well sites 
 Fill tanks at night for energy savings 
 Need operational plans and programming 
 New server installed 

 
Wastewater Division: 
 
 
Sanitation: 

RAD Service Orders 
 Town 55 pickups of bulk trash 
 Florence Gardens 50 pickups of bulk trash 
 Anthem had 106 pickups of bulk trash                                                

 



5 | P a g e  
Public Works Staff Report – May 6, 2019 
 

Capital Improvement Projects: 
 

CIP GG-25 - Silver King Balcony Repairs 
 Motley Design Group –egress designs - Complete 

o Electric 
o Fire suppression 
o Door hardware 

 Budgetary figures for repairs and deck surface have been received with exception of 
optional budgetary figures for stamped/colored concrete for west deck 

 4.25.2019 – Advertised Formal Bid 
 

CIP GG-26 - Signal Light @ SR79 & Hunt Highway 
 ADOT Traffic study is complete 
 Met with ADOT to discuss project options 
 ADOT is using CMAR Process, Contractor selected, but designer has not be selected 

 
CIP GG-29 – Territory Square Expansion – Phase 1 

 Extend 8” waterline within Main Street @ Town Hall 
 Funds not available until FY 19/20 
 Confirmed on budget 19/20 

 
CIP PSP-18 - HVAC @ Police Department 

 Three units replaced after failures in FY16/17, remaining two are newer and are not 
scheduled for replacement in 17/18 

 
CIP SU-06 – Wastewater Main Extensions & Replacements 

 Budget is to allow for unplanned repairs 
 Currently – no scheduled projects 

 
CIP SU-13 – Wastewater Main Extension (Main Interceptor / Lift Station) NORTH 

 Bar Screen and Compactor on order as of 10/19/18 
 Delivered and installed – testing on-going 

 
CIP SU-20 – Recharge Facility 

 Council approved on 1/7/2019  
 Notice to Proceed sent to Scholz Contracting and Jayco (Earth Moving) 
 Project started 1/22/2019 
 2/14/19 Earthwork COMPLETED by Jayco 
 4/23/19 Scholz Piping started  

 
CIP SU-83 – SCADA Tie-Ins – Wastewater Controls 

 SOW provided 9/13/18 
 As of 3/4/19 – Under review, searching for alternatives 
 5/6/19 no update 

 
CIP SU-84 – Wastewater System Preservation 

 Pro-tec started cleaning 4/22/2019 



6 | P a g e  
Public Works Staff Report – May 6, 2019 
 

 
CIP SU-85 - Recharge Permitting & Design 

 Completed 
 

CIP SU-88 – SWWTP Expansion Headworks 
 10/19/18 – Construction documents to be submitted 
 Meeting with Engineering consultant and town – plans review - Complete 
 Plan revisions necessary 

 
CIP SU-89 – WWTP Compliance / Permitting Equipment 

 Complete for FY 
 

CIP SU-90 – SWWTP Improvement Modifications 
 Complete 

 
CIP T-12 – Butte Avenue Bridge Replacement 

 11/9 Certified letter to all utilities 
 On-going – Feasibility Study 
 Trying to find funding sources 

 
CIP T-14 – Roundabout / Intersection Improvement SR 79B & SR287 

 MAG close out funds 
 Design concept report completed 
 Presentation at future council meeting and (JPA) Joint Project Agreement will be going 

to council for approval 5/20/2019 
 

CIP T-28 – Hunt Highway Fire Station #2 Traffic Signal / Turn Lane 
 1st Phase design completed & reviewed 
 11/7/18 – Bid Tab approved to complete the next stage – Lee Engineering $10,925 
 Design Complete 
 Awaiting CFD Feasibility report to be completed 

 
CIP T-41 – Pinal Street Drainage (aka Main Street Butte to Ruggles Ditch) 

 Formal bidding process followed 
 Notice to Proceed and project started by T Y Lin 
 Design underway 

 
CIP T-60 - E. 1st Street Pavement (HURF Bond) 

 Milling Complete 
 

CIP WU-23 - 2B Outfitting 
 Approved by Council on 11/5/2018 – Coolidge Engine & Pump 
 Completed 

 



7 | P a g e  
Public Works Staff Report – May 6, 2019 
 

CIP WU-25 – Water Line Relocation 
 Relocate 12” water line outside of INS property 
 Funds not available until FY 22/23 

 
CIP WU-38 - Water Line Replacements 

 Westland Resources to complete design, ADEQ permitting, utility location and 
construction documents 

 8” Water Line Extension (Elizabeth – Virginia – Orlando) – JOC Contract with 
Pine/Strawberry – Apache Underground 

 To be completed by May 15, 2019 
 

CIP WU-74 – Transmission Line & Pressure Zones 
 Report on feasibility of project and pump curves 
 Project still being scoped 
 Alternatives being evaluated 

 
CIP WU-83 – Downtown 12” Loop (CBDG) 

 Phase 1, 2a, 2b and 3a are completed 
 Phase 3b is being advertised for construction – tentatively scheduled for July 1, 2019 

 
CIP WU-84 – Well #4 Pump Inspection and Rebuild 

 KP Ventures – Completed 
 

CIP WU-85 – Hydrant Replacement 
 Replace aging fire hydrants 
 Cooperative utilized for parts, Council approved on 5/21/2018 
 Work being completed in-house 
 Project is on-going  

 
CIP WU-86 – 8” Line Extension (410 feet) Willow to High School 

 7/1/2018 – Project ON HOLD until 3rd quarter FY 18/19 
 5/6/19 No update 

 
CIP WU-87 – Line Extension on Adamsville Road (Quartz to 79B) 

 9/18/18 Project COMPLETED – line was extended to hydrant 
 

CIP WU-88 – Well Preservation (Well #5) 
 Tentative to start April 2019 


	May 6, 2019 Agenda
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5

	7. PUBLIC HEARING AND PRESENTATION
	7a. Green Tree Liquor License Application
	7c. Poclamation declaring Municipal Clerks Week
	7d. JPA Roundabout SR 287 and SR 79B

	8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	8a. Ordinance No. 672-19 IIP Adoption
	8b. Resolution No. 1693-19  2012 ICC Code Adoption
	8c. Ordinance No. 674-19 2012 ICC Code Adoption 5.07
	8d. Ordinance No. 675-19 Board of Appeals
	8e. Resolution No. 673-19 Mobile Food Unit

	9. CONSENT
	9a. Resolution No. 1697-19 Bank Signatories
	9b. Continental Flooring Company
	9c. Arizona Corporation Commission docket 0329 Intervention
	9d. Child Abduction Response Team CART IGA
	9e. Warrant Register

	10. NEW BUSINESS
	10a. EmployeeBenefitPkgRenewal FY19-20
	10b. Regional Pavement Maint of AZ Inc Contract
	10c. Ratification of Apache Junderground Contract for WU-83 Downtown Loop
	10d. Electrum Foundtion Assoc Partner Agmt
	10e. Removal of Kendra Johnson frorm Florence Youth Commission

	12. MANAGER'S REPORT
	12. Manager's Report

	13. DEPARTMENT REPORTS
	13a. Community Development Report
	13b. Community Services Report
	13c. Finance Report
	13d. Fire Report
	13e. Police Report
	13f. Public Works Report




